
KPU Board of Governors – Regular Meeting 
Date:   September 25, 2024 
Time:   4:00 pm – 5:45 pm 
Via MS Teams:  Click here to join the meeting 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS – REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
September 25, 2024 

4:00– 5:30 pm 
Via MS Teams 

Attending: Kwuntiltunaat (Kim) Baird, Erin Barnes, Rhiannon Bennett (Vice 
Chair), Amrit Chahal, Ivy Chen (Chair) Alan Davis, Mehtoj Ghuman, Gabby 
Gill, Muhammad Afzal Malik, Kim McGill, Lyndsay Passmore, Stephanie 
Smith, Amanda Smith-Weston, Joe Vosburgh  

Regrets: 

Presenters & Administrative Resources: Sonia Banwait, Laurie Clancy, Lily Chong, Brent Elliott, 
Chervahun Emilien, Randall Heidt, Lori McElroy, Zena Mitchell, Diane Purvey, Asma Sayed, Peter 
Smailes 

Regular Board Meeting 
Closed Board Meeting to follow 

In Camera Debriefing Session to follow 

AGENDA ITEM RESOURCE ACTION TIME PAGE 

1. Call to Order & Introductory Remarks Ivy Chen 4:00 

We at Kwantlen Polytechnic University respectfully acknowledge that we live, work and study in 
a region that overlaps with the unceded traditional and ancestral First Nations territories of the 
Musqueam, Katzie, Semiahmoo, Tsawwassen, Qayqayt, and Kwikwetlem, and with the lands of 
the Kwantlen First Nation, which gifted its name to this university. 

1.1. Welcome by KPU Elder in Residence Elder Lekeyten 4:02 

2. Approval of Agenda Ivy Chen M 4:12 2 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approve the regular meeting agenda for September 25, 
2024. 

3. Conflict of Interest Ivy Chen 4:13 5 

4. Consent Agenda
4.1. Minutes of the June 26, 2024 Regular

Board of Governors Meeting 

Ivy Chen M 4:14 6 

M = Motion to Approve 
D = Discussion 
I = Information 
E = Education 
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MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve the following items on the Consent Agenda: 
4.1. Minutes of the June 26, 2024 Regular Board of Governors Meeting. 

5. Board Committee Chairs Lily Chong M 4:15 15 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approve an exception to the Board Governance Manual 
to allow Amanda Smith-Weston to chair the Governance Committee in recognition of their 
respective background and areas of expertise. 

6. Governance Committee Report Amanda Smith-
Weston 

6.1. Committee Chair Report Amanda Smith-
Weston 

I 4:18 

6.2. Academic Plan 2024-2027 Diane Purvey I 4:20 17 

6.3. Accountability and Planning Report 
2023/24 

Lori McElroy M 4:30 29 

MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve the 2023/24 Accountability Plan & Report for 
submission to the Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills, as recommended by 
the Board Governance Committee. 

7. Human Resources Committee Report
7.1. Committee Chair Report Rhiannon Bennett I 4:40 

8. Audit Committee Report
8.1. Committee Chair Report Ivy Chen I 4:43 

9. Finance Committee Report
9.1. Committee Chair Report Ivy Chen I 4:45 

9.2. Request for Proposal – Technical
Studies for KPU Communities Trust 

Peter Smailes / Brent 
Elliott 

M 4:47 182 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approve the that staff be authorized to initiate a 
Negotiated Request for Proposals process to evaluate and select the necessary consultant 
support to advance the required planning and technical studies in support of KPU Communities 
Trust, where any amount in excess of $750,000 shall be subject to 2026/27 budget availability, as 
recommended by the Board Finance Committee. 

9.3. Executive Statement of Financial 
Information (SOFI) Public Bodies Report 
as at March 31, 2024  

Chervahun Emilien M 5:00 185 
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MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approve the Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 
Public Bodies Report as at March 31, 2024 for submission to the Ministry of Post-Secondary 
Education and Future Skills, as recommended by the Board Finance Committee. 

9.4. RBC Signing Authority Update Chervahun M 5:10 263 

MOTION:  THAT the Board of Governors approve the RBC Banking Resolution, which grants 
signing authority to certain individuals to act on behalf of Kwantlen Polytechnic University, as 
recommended by the Board Finance Committee. 

10. President’s Report
10.1. Report to the Board

Alan Davis I 5:15 

11. Provost’s Report
11.1. Report to the Board

Diane Purvey I 5:20 

12. Senate Report – meeting held on June 24,
2024

Alan Davis I 5:25 274 

12.1. Senate Meeting Dates 2024-25 Lily Chong 276 

13. Next Meeting Agenda Contribution Ivy Chen D 5:27 

14. For the Good of the Order All D 5:28 

15. Feedback on the Meeting All D 5:29 

16. Closing Remarks Ivy Chen 

17. Appendix:
17.1 Phase One Posting:

• AD4 Continuing Education and
Contract Services

• AC15 Micro-Credentials
• AC16 Academic Title Awards

N/A 

18. Next Meeting: Regular Board Meeting
Wednesday, November 27, 2024
MS TEAM Meeting
4:00 – 7:00 pm

Ivy Chen 

19. Adjournment Ivy Chen 5:30 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS - REGULAR MEETING 
Agenda Number: 4 

Meeting Date: September 25, 2024 
Presenter(s): Ivy Chen 

AGENDA TITLE: CONSENT AGENDA 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the following items on the Consent Agenda: 
4.1. Minutes of the June 26, 2024 Regular Board of Governors Meeting. 

Attachments 

1. Minutes of the June 26, 2024 Regular Board of Governors Meeting.

Submitted by 

Sonia Banwait, Executive Assistant to the Board of Governors 

Date submitted 

September 9, 2024 
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Minutes of Regular Meeting 
Wednesday, June 26, 2024 

4:00 p.m. – 5:23 p.m. 
MS Teams 

Present: Board 
Kim (Kwuntiltunaat) Baird, Chancellor 
Rhiannon Bennett, Vice-Chair 
Ivy Chen, Chair 
Alan Davis, President & Vice- 
Chancellor 
Muhammad Afzal Malik 
Lyndsay Passmore 
Rod Ross 
Amos Kambere 
Ishant Goyal 

University G8 members 
Chervahun Emilien, Chief Financial Officer 
Zena Mitchell, Vice-President, Students 
Diane Purvey, Provost & Vice-President, Academic 
Peter Smailes, Vice-President, Administration 
Brent Elliott 

Presenters and Administrative Resources 
Sonia Banwait, Executive Assistant, Board of 
Governors 
Lily Chong, University Secretary & Executive 
Assistant to the President & Vice Chancellor 
David Connop Price, Director, Communications 
and Media Relations 
Lori McElroy, Associate Vice-President, Planning 
and Accountability  

Regrets: Michael Chang 
Paul Choi 
Laurie Clancy 
Randall Heidt 
Aryan Kalia 
Takashi Sato 
Asma Sayed 
Amanda Smith-Weston 
Waheed Taiwo 

1. Call to Order and
Introductory Remarks

The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:01pm. 

The Chair acknowledged KPU’s commitment to reconciliation 
and recognition that we live, work and study in a region that 
overlaps with the unceded traditional and ancestral First 
Nations territories of the Musqueam, Katzie, Semiahmoo, 
Tsawwassen, Qayqayt, and Kwikwetlem, and with the lands of 
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the Kwantlen First Nation, which gifted its name to this 
university.  

2. Approval of Agenda MOTION #42-23/24  
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED THAT the Board of 
Governors approve the regular meeting agenda for June 26, 
2024. 

3. Conflict of Interest No other conflict of Interest was declared. 

4. Approval of Consent Agenda  MOTION #43-23/24
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED the amended motion THAT 
Board of Governors approve the following item on the Consent 
Agenda as circulated: 
4.1. Minutes of the May 22, 2024 Regular Board of Governors 

Meeting. 

5. Annual Report to the Board
on SR14 Sexual Violence and
Misconduct Policy

Jennifer Jordan, Director, Student Rights and Responsibilities, 
presented the annual report on the Sexual Violence and 
Misconduct Policy (SR14) and shared the report has been 
prepared after consultations with KPU’s Sexual Violence & 
Misconduct Advisory Group to inform the President and Board 
of Governors of policy-related implementation activities that 
have taken place over the past year. Jordan informed the 
Board that the Student Rights and Responsibilities Office 
(SRRO) has a broader mandate than just the implementation 
and administration of Policy SR14, it also handles 
administering policy ST7 Student Non-Academic Misconduct 
and handling reports of students displaying behaviors of 
concerns.  

Jordan highlighted key points of the report, noting that that 
the SRRO is also working with instructors from various 
institutions to explore restorative justice and prevention of 
sexual violence. Additionally, the office has created an 
anonymous reporting webpage for students and employees to 
submit information. Jordan noted that SRRO has utilized 
Ministry funding to enhance the reporting system by creating 
four videos that aid in conveying important information to 
students in an engaging format. The SRRO also offers a digital 
badge for completion of online modules in Safer Campuses for 
Everyone, which is available to the whole KPU Community.  
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Lastly, Jordan shared SRRO’s goals for the next year and will 
report on them next June.  

6. Governance Committee
Report

6.1. Committee Chair Report 

Amos Kambere, Committee Chair, informed the committee 
met on June 19, 2024 and noted the items discussed at the 
meeting are on the agenda.   

6.2. Accountability Plan & Report 2023/24 

Lori McElroy, Associate Vice-President, Planning & 
Accountability, shared the Accountability Plan Report for 2023-
24 and noted that the report is currently in draft mode and 
missing some metrics that will soon be incorporated into the 
report. The report will also include new metrics from Vision 
2026. McElroy shared that the Ministry has changed their 
reporting process and Accountability Plan will be reviewed by 
the Ministry and be finalized in the summer. It will then be 
brought to the Board for approval in the Fall, as opposed to it 
normally coming to approval in the June meeting.  

Lastly, McElroy noted that the theme of the report focuses on 
research at KPU and there is a chapter focusing on student 
researchers, as well as the cover page highlighting research.  

6.3. Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) Program Update 

Diane Purvey, Provost, informed the committee that the 
Ministry’s Degree Quality Assessment Board (DQAB) has 
required that KPU offer more Arts and Sciences courses or a 
practicum option before the TCM program can be approved at 
a master’s level. Therefore, KPU is adding an additional (tenth) 
semester to the program to include an option for students to 
either enroll in Arts/Sciences courses or to complete a 
practicum term, so they can be licensed and practice in BC 
upon completion of the program.  

The Provost noted there would be no additional costs 
associated for the option of an additional term as the classes 
are already available, however there would be a cost to the 
practicum of 1.25 FTE which can be absorbed by the Faculty of 
Health or the Provost Office.  

DQAB has verbally approved the changes and KPU is currently 
waiting for the formal acceptance letter. 
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6.4. Board Appointments: Appointed and Elected Members 

Lily Chong, University Secretary, provided an update on Board 
appointments for the 2024-25 year and noted KPU has not 
received an update from the Ministry on appointment and re-
appointments as it normally does around this time this year. 
Updates will be shared once the information from the Ministry 
is received.  

The University Secretary shared a list of the newly elected 
student and faculty representatives for 2024-25 and 
acknowledged the outgoing members attending the meeting. 
The University Secretary and Board Chair thanked the 
departing members for their hard work and service over their 
terms. 

7. Human Resources Committee
Report

7.1. Committee Chair Report 

Amos Kambere, Committee Vice- Chair, informed the 
committee met on June 6, 2024 and there was nothing to 
report.  

8. Audit Committee Report 8.1. Committee Chair Report 

Ivy Chen, Committee Chair, informed that the committee met 
on June 18, 2024 and there was nothing to report.  

9. Finance Committee Report 9.1. Committee Chair Report 

Ivy Chen, Committee Chair, informed that the committee met 
on June 18, 2024 and items are on the agenda. 

9.2. FY2025-26 University Draft Budget Principles and 
Priorities 

Chervahun Emilien, Chief Financial Officer, commented that 
the FY 2025-26 university budget development process is 
in the planning stages and noted that the budget principles 
and priorities are used to guide and support decision 
making throughout the budget process. Emilien noted that 
the FY 2025-26 budget principles and priorities have not 
changed from those presented and approved by the Board 
for FY 2024-25 and informed that strategic priorities from 
Vision 2026 are being incorporated into the budget and 
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priorities to ensure that the University is working towards 
the same goals.  

MOTION #44-23/24  
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED THAT the Board of 
Governors approve the University Draft Budget Principles and 
Priorities for FY2025-26, as recommended by the Board 
Finance Committee. 

9.3. FY2024-25 Consolidated Budget Document 

Chervahun Emilien shared the FY2024-25 Consolidated Budget 
Document that outlines the FY 2024-25 operating budget 
details, operating expense budget by executive leadership 
portfolio and capital budget which also includes side-by-side 
comparison of the FY2023-24 principles and priorities. Emilien 
noted the purpose of the document is to have all budget 
statements accessible in one document and informed the 
budget process and appendices will be posted publicly. 

MOTION #45-23/24  
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED THAT the Board of 
Governors approve the FY 2024-25 Consolidated Budget 
Document, as recommended by the Board Finance Committee. 

9.4. KPU Community Trust Lease 

Brent Elliott, Associate Vice-President, Campus and 
Community Planning, informed that KPU Communities Trust 
(KPUCT) has been operating virtually since inception and are 
now looking to obtain their first office space. KPU and KPUCT 
have been in conversations to license office space on the 9th 
floor of the KPU Civic Plaza for their first premises. Elliott noted 
that as KPUCT is a for-profit organization, KPU will collect fees 
to cover operational and overhead costs.  

MOTION #46-23/24  
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED THAT the Board of 
Governors approve the execution of a License Agreement 
between the KPU Communities Trust (KPUCT) and KPU, based 
on the terms and conditions provided in the report titled “KPU 
Communities Trust License Agreement’, dated June 7, 2024, for 
the term of July 1st, 2024 to June 30th, 2027, having 
determined that the licensed disposal will not affect the future 
delivery of educational programs, as recommended by the 
Board Finance Committee. 
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9.5. New License – Paterson Park 

Brent Elliott presented the Paterson Park License between KPU 
and the City of Delta and shared that the renewal terms are for 
five years starting July 1, 2024 to May 31, 2029, with an option 
to extend for an additional five years, subject to mutual 
agreement between the two parties. 

Elliott noted the only new change in the renewal is the new 
provision that the City of Delta us required to monitor 
conditions and use of the park, and pay for any costs of repairs 
that arise. Peter Smailes, Vice-President, Administration, noted 
that the lease has a 30-day out-clause should something arise 
that necessitates terminating the lease.  

MOTION #47-23/24  
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED THAT the Board of 
Governors approve the renewal of the License Agreement 
between the City of Delta and KPU for the City’s use of KPU’s 
portion of Paterson Park for a five-year term from July 1, 2024 
to May 31, 2029, as recommended by the Board Finance 
Committee. 

9.6. Maple Leaf Education North America (MLENA) License 
Agreement 

Brent Elliott informed that KPU and Maple Lead Education 
North America (MLENA) has expressed interest in exercising 
one of its 1-year renewal options to accommodate an evolution 
of MLENA’s offerings of an additional Mandarin testing center 
at the KPU Richmond campus. Although, there are no changes 
to the existing tenant use, the changes in the use of space to 
accommodate the offering has necessitated that a number of 
new terms and conditions be added to the agreement, hence 
the need to establish a Third Amended and Restated License 
Agreement. The License term will commence on September 15, 
2024 to September 14, 2025, with an option to renew for one 
additional year.  

MOTION #48-23/24  
MOVED, SECONDED AND CARRIED THAT the Board of 
Governors approve the execution of a Third Amended and 
Restated License Agreement between the Maple Leaf 
Education North America (“MLENA”) and KPU, based on the 
terms and conditions provided in the report titled “Maple Leaf 
Education North America Third Amended and Restated License 
Agreement’, dated June 7, 2024 , for the term of September 15, 
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2024 to September 14, 2025, having determined that the 
likened disposal will not affect the future delivery of 
educational programs, as recommended by the Board Finance 
Committee. 

9.7. KPU Communities Trust CARG Application Update 

Peter Smailes informed that KPU has shared their Capital Asset 
Reference Guide (CARG) Application with the Ministry and have 
had discussions on what they are looking for in the 
submissions. KPU has learned that the Ministry is prioritizing 
housing as the main concern and as such, KPU will shift its 
focus to address how to target the housing concern in the 
application prior to taking it back to the Ministry for approval, 
after the Provincial election.  

10. President’s Report 10.1. Report to the Board 

Alan Davis, President, noted the report is attached to the 
package as well as in the Board Report included in the 
Appendix. 

11. Provost’s Report 11.1. Report to the Board 

Diane Purvey, Provost, shared the full report is included in the 
attached Board Report. The Provost highlighted that KPU and 
KFA have come to an agreement to find special projects for 
faculty in departments with low enrollment numbers, to avoid 
potential layoffs in the Fall and Summer terms. These projects 
include community engagement by working with high schools 
to endorse KPU, develop new programs and explore 
partnerships.  

Additionally, the Provost highlighted the work the Faculty 
Trades and Technology has been doing and acknowledged 
their work on offering inmates at the Correctional Services of 
Canada training in carpentry and welding as means of 
rehabilitation. Further, the Provost added that Youth Train and 
Trades, a program for high school students to enroll and 
receive credits towards their post-secondary apprenticeship, 
has now expanded to 15 school districts. The Faculty of Trades 
and Technology will also be providing additional training for 
high school teachers in Trades programs during Spring break 
on KPU campuses as means of upgrading to in the changing 
trades.  
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12. Senate Reports Senate reports from May 27, 2024 and June 24, 2024 was 
included in the meeting package.  

13. Next Meeting Agenda
Contribution

Board members were asked to send contributions for the next 
meeting agenda to the Board Office at least two weeks in 
advance of the meeting. 

14. For the Good of the Order There were no additional items identified.   

15. Feedback on the Meeting There was no other feedback on the meeting. 

16. Closing Remarks The Chair thanked everyone, including Board Members for 
attending and contributing to the discussions. The Chair also 
thanked the guests who attended the meeting.  

17. Election of Board Chair and
Vice-Chair

Lily Chong, University Secretary, informed two elections will be 
conducted for Board Chair and Board Vice-Chair. There will be 
three calls for nominations and nominees must have been 
notified of their nominations in advance. 

The University Secretary conducted the first call of 
nominations for Board Chair, Board of Governors, for the term 
of August 1, 2024 – July 31, 2025.  

First call: Rhiannon Bennett nominated Ivy Chen 
Second Call: Ishant Goyal nominated Muhammed Afzal Malik 
Third Call: No nominations 

Voting was conducted by a show of hands and Ivy Chen was 
elected as Board Chair of the KPU Board of Governors. 

Lily Chong conducted another call of nominations for Board 
Chair, Board of Governors, for the term of August 1, 2024 to 
July 31, 2025. 

First call: Ivy Chen nominated as Rhiannon Bennett 
Second call: No nominations 
Third call: No nominations 

Rhiannon Bennett was acclaimed as Board Vice-Chair of the 
KPU Board of Governors. 

18. Recognition of Departing
Board Members

Ivy Chen and the Board acknowledged Amos Kambere, Takashi 
Sato, Ishant Goyal, Waheed Taiwo and Michael Chang for their 
service and contributions as Board members over their terms.  
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19. Next Meeting The next meeting has been scheduled for Wednesday, 
September 25, 2024 and is in-person in Cedar 2110 at the 
Surrey Campus.   

20. Adjournment The meeting adjourned at 5:23pm. 

__________________________________________ 
Board Chair 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS - REGULAR MEETING 
Agenda Number: 5 

Meeting Date: September 25, 2024 
Presenter(s): Lily Chong 

AGENDA TITLE: BOARD COMMITTEE CHAIRS 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approve an exception to the Board Governance Manual to allow 
Amanda Smith-Weston to chair the Governance Committee in recognition of their respective 
background and areas of expertise. 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only  

Context and Background 

The Board Governance Manual sets out the governance structure and principles pursuant to which the 
Board exercises its responsibilities and carries out its duties of stewardship and accountability. 
Exceptions to the designated committee chairs have been approved by the Board in the past in 
recognition of individual board members’ specific skill sets and experience.  

Key Messages 

1. An example of a current exception includes the Board’s approval at the September 27, 2023
Meeting, that the Board Chair, Ivy Chen, chair the Audit and Finance Committee in recognition of
their respective backgrounds and areas of expertise (motion #03-23/24).

This is an exception to the Board Governance Manual, as the Audit Committee Terms of Reference
(13) states that the Chair of the Audit Committee must not be the Chair of the Board.

2. The Governance Committee Terms of Reference (16) state that the Board Chair is the Chair of the
Governance Committee.

3. The Board of Governors is therefore asked to approve an exception to the Board Governance
Manual to allow Amanda Smith-Weston to chair the Governance committee in recognition of their
respective backgrounds and areas of expertise.
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Implications/Risks 

Adherence to the requirements set out in the Board Governance Manual regarding Board Committee 
Chairs would not result in optimum matches between board member skills and expertise and 
committee mandates. 

Attachments 

1. Board Governance Manual

Submitted by 

Lily Chong, University Secretary 

Date submitted 

September 6, 2024 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS - REGULAR MEETING 
Agenda Number: 6.2 

Meeting Date: September 25, 2024 
Presenter(s): Diane Purvey 

AGENDA TITLE: ACADEMIC PLAN 2024-2027 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the 2024-2027 Academic Plan, as recommended by the 
Board Governance Committee. 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

On September 18, 2024, the Board Governance Committee received, reviewed and recommended that 
the Board of Governors approve the 2024-2027 Academic Plan. 

Context and Background 

Since Fall 2023 we have been developing a new academic plan for KPU which will run from 2024 until 
the end of 2027. The attached document includes more details on the development process, as well as 
consultations to date. Our consultations have led to the creation of a ‘realignment plan’ built around 
the central theme of coherence. The most common theme to emerge from the NAP27 consultations 
concerned the lack of coherence among our programs, courses, academic Faculties, and campuses. 
Interviewees consistently called for a more holistic approach to all elements of our academic 
programming. The goal of NAP27 is not simply to reach a series of markers by 2027, but rather to show 
continuous improvement in key areas over the life of the plan.  

The four main goals of the New Academic Plan are listed below. Each goal has an accompanying set of 
key actions designed to produce measurable progress towards the goal. 

Key Messages 

1. The new academic plan will improve student success and engagement

2. The new academic plan will improve faculty, staff, and administrative success and engagement

3. The new academic plan will expand and promote experiential learning and scholarship

4. The new academic plan will update and futureproof the curriculum
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Consultations 

1. Please see the attached document for a synopsis of the consultations and surveys undertaken in
the preparation of the new academic plan

Attachments 

1. AKPU Academic Plan 2024-2027

Submitted by 

Diane Purvey, Provost and VP, Academic 

Date submitted 

September 20, 2024 
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KPU Academic Plan 2024 – 2027 

Context 

Academic Plan 2023 was developed in 2018 and launched in the winter of 2019. The plan included 

an ambitious set of goals built around innovation, inclusion, flexibility, and digital 

transformation. Open Education, multiple delivery models, and innovative pedagogy would all 

contribute to excellence in teaching and learning, and from there to student success. In launching 

the plan, Dr Salvador Ferreras, Former Provost and Vice President Academic, noted the potential 

for increased access and inclusion inherent in an increasingly interconnected and interdependent 

world.  

One year later, in the late spring of 2020, the ambitious goals of Plan 2023 met the realities of a 

public health pandemic in that globally connected world. Teaching modes shifted, not out of 

preference or planning, but out of necessity. Everyone at KPU – whether student, staff, 

administrator, or faculty – was required to adapt, innovate, and demonstrate inordinate 

flexibility. By the time the campus reopened fully, the world of higher education looked very 

different. Covid had created space for innovation but had revealed serious challenges in the areas 

of inclusion, access, and more broadly, mental health and work-life balance.  

This new plan aims to build on the potential revealed by the pandemic, while addressing several 

of the structural challenges that continue to impact our institution in its wake.  

Approach and Development Process 

The new academic plan parallels Vision 2026 but will extend to the end of 2027. Thereafter, it is 

hoped that the Vision and Academic Plan will run parallel so that the academic plan supports, 

reinforces, and achieves the Vision.1  

In Fall 2023 Dr. Tracey Kinney was appointed as the plan coordinator. Dr. Kinney has been a 

member of the History Department since 1994. Over thirty years they have chaired the History 

1 What follows here is a ‘realignment plan’ built around the central theme of coherence. The most common theme to 

emerge from the NAP27 consultations concerned the lack of coherence among our programs, courses, academic 

Faculties, and campuses. Interviewees consistently called for a more holistic approach to all elements of our academic 

programming. The goal of NAP27 is not simply to reach a series of markers by 2027, but rather to show continuous 

improvement in key areas over the life of the plan. Specific goals may need to be adjusted depending on environmental 

changes in higher education generally, and at KPU more specifically. By building the plan around flexibility and 

ongoing improvement, we will have hopefully “planned for the unplanned”.  



Department three times, served as Asian Studies coordinator, and chaired various Faculty- and 

University-wide committees, including Arts Curriculum and Arts Planning & Priorities. In 

assembling this new academic plan, we issued an open call to participate to the KPU community. 

Contributors were invited to meet with the plan coordinator for 30 minutes or more as needed, 

and to identify key priorities, specific areas in need of improvement, and systemic challenges. In 

total 69 members of KPU faculty, staff, and administration participated in this process. The plan 

coordinator also sought input from academic council and met regularly with the Provost & Vice 

President Academic, Dr Diane Purvey, throughout the development process. In Spring 2024, 1945 

administrators, faculty, and staff were surveyed on the proposed goals and key actions. 392 

responses were received for a survey response rate of 20%. Finally, input from KPU’s student 

body was collected via a series of facilitated meetings on each of KPU’s five campuses. Students 

were provided with QR codes which allowed them to comment on each of the key actions under 

Goal 1 and to provide more general feedback on issues impacting student success and 

engagement. Almost 300 student responses were received. Further edits to the key actions were 

made on the basis of all of these survey responses.  

Vision 2026 and the Academic Plan 

Vision 2026, the goals of which are excerpted below, was the foundation upon which this new 

academic plan was built. By the end of 2027 it is hoped that the public value2 of KPU will be more 

clearly defined for our communities. Rather than diving further into neoliberal HE paradigms, 

the new academic plan builds upon the ideas of Henry Giroux, aiming “to create curricula and 

programs throughout the university that provide students with the humanistic knowledge, technical 

knowledge, scientific skill, and mode[s] of literacy that enables them to engage and transform, when 

necessary, the promise of a global democracy.”3 

• Experience: We will enhance the experience of our students; Enrich the experience

of our employees; Support the health and wellness of our students and employees

• Sustainability: We will foster environmental sustainability through our offerings,

research, and operations; Integrate planning to sustain institutional health by

aligning KPU operations with our resources; Ensure financial sustainability for KPU

through long-term financial and enrolment planning

2 On public value governance see John M. Bryson, Barbara C. Crosby, and Laura Bloomberg. "Public Value Governance: 

Moving Beyond Traditional Public Administration and the New Public Management," Public Administration Review 74, 

no. 4 (2014): 445-456. 
3 Henry A. Giroux, "Bare Pedagogy and the Scourge of Neoliberalism: Rethinking Higher Education as a Democratic 

Public Sphere," The Educational Forum 74, no. 3 (2010): 191. Emphasis and pluralization added.  



• Creativity: We will foster teaching excellence and expand innovation in teaching,

learning and curriculum; Expand activity, funding, intensity and impact of research,

scholarship, and innovation in partnerships; Embolden creative problem

solving across KPU’s operations

• Justice: We will foster decolonization and reconciliation; Advance Antiracism

across KPU; Advance equity, diversity, inclusion, and accessibility across KPU

• Quality: We will ensure continuous improvement of all KPU programs and

services; Hold each other responsible for our promises and our expectations; Be

accountable and transparent to our friends, communities, partners, and

governments4

New Academic Plan 2027 (NAP27) 

The aspirational statements that follow each main objective in the draft plan were developed 

from the consultative meetings in Fall 2023. They are intended to guide, rather than direct our 

actions.  

Goal A: Improve Student Success and Engagement 

By 2027 KPU will have made demonstrable progress towards the provision of proactive supports 

for students, including a comprehensive mental health strategy. Access and support will be 

foregrounded in our admissions processes and will aim to assist and support a diverse range of 

learners in coming to KPU. UDL and Supported Learning course will have been designated and 

made identifiable and transparent to students. We will continue to innovate with delivery 

modalities such as enquiry-based learning, that facilitate decolonization and Indigenization. 

Flexible program pathways and pacing will be introduced where possible. Supports for BIPOC 

students, 2SLGBTQIA+ students, and students from equity-denied communities will be provided 

and students will have opportunities to engage in anti-racism and decolonization work through 

a variety of university-wide initiatives, built upon the Accessibility Plan, the Anti-Racism Task 

Force Report, and the xéʔelɬ Pathways Framework. Our culture of academic integrity will be built 

around the twin pillars of reciprocity and respect.  

4 https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Institutional%20Analysis%20and%20Planning/VISION%202026%20-

%20April%2027%202023.pdf, accessed September 12, 2023. 

https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Institutional%20Analysis%20and%20Planning/VISION%202026%20-%20April%2027%202023.pdf
https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Institutional%20Analysis%20and%20Planning/VISION%202026%20-%20April%2027%202023.pdf


Students at KPU will have been provided with meaningful global educational opportunities, as 

well as increased opportunities for research and mentorship, including in key areas such as 

climate change and sustainability. Students will be provided opportunities to undertake 

internships, practica, and other forms of work integrated learning. Internationalization at KPU 

will be a holistic process that recruits, retains, and supports a diverse international student base. 

As a part of our commitment to lifelong learning, KPU will build programming and facilitate 

access for mid-career and mature learners, while engaging actively with the university’s own 

retired community of staff, faculty, and administrators.  

Key Actions: 

A1. Providing proactive supports, including accessibility supports, for all KPU students in our 

admissions processes and our program pathways, including a comprehensive mental health 

strategy 

A2. Providing opportunities for students to engage in decolonization and anti-racism work  

A3. Providing global educational opportunities and internships/practica to all KPU students 

A4.  Expanding mentorship, applied research opportunities, and internships/practica for all KPU 

students, including opportunities focused on climate, sustainability, and other key 

initiatives 

A5.  Facilitating access and developing pathways for mid-career and mature learners 

A6. Expanding innovative program delivery methods that facilitate decolonization and 

Indigenization 

Strategies5

• create multiple, flexible access pathways AND the supports necessary to ensure student

success (examples include PLAR, ePortfolios, supported admissions, KPU Flex, and so on)

o ensure UDL and Supported Learning courses are designated, identifiable and

made transparent to students

• revise outward-facing KPU documents and websites to reflect best practices in equity and

inclusion (including UDL principles)

• create a core set of courses that are guaranteed to be offered in online mode and ensure

that students can complete a credential successfully if they select an online learning

environment

5 The strategies listed are intended to highlight ways in which we can make progress towards the goals listed. This is 
not an exhaustive list.



• develop open resources for the KPU community that support the implementation of the

recommendations of the xéʔelɬ Pathways Framework, the Anti-Racism Task Force Report,

and the Accessibility Plan

• increase broad-ranging student supports that recognize and ameliorate housing precarity,

mental health issues, and food insecurity; improve the physical learning environment,

mindful that learning happens both on campus and off

• expand and make meaningful the connections between the Faculty of Trades and

Technology6 and KPU’s other Faculties, including the implementation of academic credit

for students in programs governed by SkilledTradesBC

• increase undergraduate research and mentorship opportunities, including in anti-racism

and decolonization work, in climate action, and in sustainability initiatives

• build a culture of academic integrity around the principles of reciprocity and respect7

• provide equitable access to career guidance and other supports as students transition out

of KPU

Goal B: Improve Faculty, Staff, and Administrative Success and Engagement 

By 2027 KPU will have made demonstrable progress towards supporting faculty professional 

development and celebrating faculty achievements. We will have developed innovative 

approaches to support and encourage faculty service. Hiring, onboarding, and ongoing training 

will be provided equitably and consistently across the institution. KPU will have expanded its 

support for research-informed teaching, encouraged the scholarship of teaching and learning, 

advanced new, applied graduate credentials, and expanded access to professional development 

in key areas such as anti-racism, cultural safety, decolonization, Indigenization, accessibility, and 

gender and sexual equity.  

KPU will have expanded and made clear its polytechnic advantage by further developing 

initiatives such as experiential learning and applied research, and by continuing to enhance its 

role as a leader in open education. We will have reconfigured our campuses spaces – both physical 

and online – to foreground community, engagement, sustainability, and multidisciplinarity, as 

well as recognizing the requirements of our faculty and programs. We will have increased 

6 In interviews with leaders and students in the Faculty of Trades and Technology the disconnect between Trades & 

Technology and KPU’s other Faculties was clear. Specific reference has been made in this plan to initiatives that would 

build on preliminary work to more fully connect Trades & Technology to KPU’s academic programs, while still 

recognizing the unique needs of the programs governed by SkilledTradesBC.  
7 Some of the points on academic integrity have been drawn from Keeta Gladue’s presentation to the KPU community: 

“Indigenous Paradigms, Pedagogies, and Academic Integrity” October 16, 2023. 



opportunities to participate in internationalization initiatives and KPU will be a place where we 

allow our Deans and Associate Deans to become creative, proactive leaders.  

Key Actions: 

B1. Championing equitable and consistent hiring, onboarding, and training opportunities to all 

members of the KPU community 

B2. Expanding support for research-informed teaching and the scholarship of teaching and 

learning 

B3. Expanding access to professional development in key areas including, but not limited to, 

anti-racism, cultural safety, decolonization and Indigenization, accessibility, and gender and 

sexual equity   

B4.   Expanding KPU’s role as a leader in open education  

B5.   Increasing opportunities to participate in internationalization 

initiatives 

Strategies:
• promote and support research-informed teaching

• acknowledge and build upon existing expertise, including engaging meaningfully with

the university’s retired community through initiatives such as KPURA and TALK

• expand access to applied graduate studies opportunities, including attracting students

with varied backgrounds and from a variety of age groups

o create supported pathways that would allow students from the Faculty of Trades

and Technology to access and succeed in applied graduate programs

• ensure that all graduate credentials under development foreground accessibility, anti-

racism, cultural safety, decolonization and Indigenization, and gender and sexual equity

and that these elements are reinforced through the program review process

• expand, promote, and support professional development opportunities, including those

related to anti-racism, cultural safety, decolonization, gender and sexual equity,

accessibility, and Indigenization

• implement a proactive recruitment process within the institution that provides advance

training to faculty interested in moving into administration

• create innovative departmental clusters as a way to promote interdisciplinarity, break

down silos, reduce the service load, and begin to decolonize the academy

o support and expand cross-Faculty collaborations such as Arts & Design, Design &

Business, and inter-Faculty collaborations such as ENTA, POLI, and MUSI

o create a staff office to support and facilitate interdisciplinarity and to manage the

challenges associated with these initiatives (Moodle, ETFs, RFCs, and so on)



Goal C: Expand and Promote Experiential Learning and Scholarship 

By 2027 we will consider learning outside the classroom and in simulated practical settings to be 

equally as valuable as in-class learning. KPU will have increased the number and quality of 

community and industry partnerships, recognizing that our students benefit greatly from 

learning in our communities. Every KPU student will have been given the opportunity to 

undertake some form of work integrated or applied learning or internship. Sampler courses in 

the Faculty of Trades and Technology will allow students across the KPU community to gain 

hands-on experience in for-credit courses.  

We will provide consistent support for faculty-student research initiatives and will build 

connections across Faculties and with the Office of Research Services. KPU will have developed 

two applied graduate degrees which embed the core principles of anti-racism, experiential 

learning, decolonization, Indigenization, and sustainability from the outset. Program review will 

ensure that applied and work integrated learning and scholarship is effectively integrated into 

our existing programs.  

Key Actions: 

C1. Expanding opportunities for learning outside the classroom, in nature, and in simulated 

practical settings 

C2. Increasing the number and quality of community and industry partnerships 

C3. Providing work-integrated learning opportunities to all KPU students 

C4.   Promoting for-credit sampler courses in the Faculty of Trades and Technology 

C5.   Providing consistent support for faculty-student research initiatives  

C6.   Developing new community initiatives that support decolonization and Indigenization 

Strategies:

• recognize and reward learning outside the classroom, including simulated practical

settings, place-based learning, and learning in the community

• weave Indigenous ways of knowing, doing, being and becoming in education, personally

and professionally within the KPU community (xéʔelɬ Pathway 4) and support the

inclusion of oral and visual storytelling in all of our courses

• increase the number of community and industry partnerships



• support the university-wide implementation of program advisory committees, tracked

via a single, readily-accessible database

• foreground global Indigenous partnerships, exchanges, and remote learning

opportunities in all Faculties and programs

• create an office to support the integration of WIL initiatives, simulated learning,

cooperative education, and to ensure the sustainability of these initiatives over time

• support the Faculty of Trades & Technology in the development and promotion of

‘sampler’ courses in the trades

• support the scholarship of applied and experiential learning through the ORRS and the

Teaching and Learning Commons

Goal D: Update and Futureproof8 the Curriculum 

By 2027 KPU will have made demonstrable progress towards revising its programs and 

curriculum in such a way as to foreground anti-racism, decolonization, equity, inclusion, 

accessibility, Indigenization, and sustainability. The university will continue to identify the 

systems that perpetuate colonialism and will have begun the transformation of those systems. 

The priorities identified in the xéʔelɬ Pathways Framework will be integrated within every new 

program. KPU’s Department of Indigenous Studies will be fully supported and resourced, and 

the university will have developed new global and community initiatives that support 

decolonization and Indigenization. An anti-racism and decolonizing lens will be applied to every 

new and revised credential and program, including new initiatives in graduate studies.  

Sustainability9 – environmental, academic, and social – will be a guiding principle in the 

development and revision of programs and courses at KPU. A focus on the climate crisis will be 

integrated into courses and programs across KPU. The KPU community will be actively engaged 

in responding to the potential inherent in generative AI, as well as its challenges.  

8 “Futureproof” in this context is intended to mean that programs and courses will be developed and revised 

proactively, anticipating new and emerging trends and technologies.  
9 Drawn from the UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development 2005-2014 guidance on reorienting educational 

programs which calls for “[r]ethinking and revising education from nursery school through university to include a 

clear focus on the development of knowledge, skills, perspectives, and values related to sustainability.” UNESCO, “UN 

Decade of Education for Sustainable Development, 2005-2014: the DESD at a glance,” 

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000141629, accessed October 10, 2023; on the importance of all three 

dimensions see: Eleni Sinakou, Jelle Boeve-de Pauw, Maarten Goossens, and Peter Van Petegem. "Academics in the 

Field of Education for Sustainable Development: Their Conceptions of Sustainable Development." Journal of Cleaner 

Production 184, (2018): 321-332. 

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000141629


Key Actions: 

D1. Ensuring that the program and curricular development and revision process foregrounds 

the recommendations of the KPU Accessibility Plan, including anti-ableist pedagogy 

D2. Integrating the priorities identified in the xéʔelɬ Pathways Framework into every new and 

existing program 

D3.  Applying an anti-racism lens to every new and revised credential and program, guided by 

the report of the Task Force on Anti-Racism 

D4.  Ensuring that gender and sexual equity are key considerations in all program and course 

development and revision 

D5. Facilitating and prioritizing course and program development, including experiential 

learning, in the Department of Indigenous Studies 

D6. Developing a comprehensive climate strategy to guide KPU’s policies, programs, and 

curriculum while ensuring that sustainability10 – environmental, social, and economic – is a 

guiding principle in the development and revision of all KPU programs  

D7. Involving the entire KPU community in the creation of a broad-ranging institutional 

response to the potential and challenges of generative AI 

Strategies:

• facilitate and prioritize course and program development, including experiential learning,

in the Department of Indigenous Studies

• create a resource bank for anti-racism, decolonization, and Indigenization curricular

initiatives with a single point of access

• encourage and model curricular and pedagogical shifts that reflect best practices in anti-

racism, decolonization, inclusivity, anti-ableism, and anti-oppression, and that embody

the principles of the Scarborough Charter11

• include program review questions that foreground a variety of decolonization initiatives

10 Here, the academic plan has incorporated the definition of sustainability developed through the KPU Sustainability 

Hub and approved by the Provost & Vice President Academic: “Sustainability means conducting all activities in such 

a way that fosters environmental health, social justice, and economic responsibility. KPU recognizes that human society 

and its economy are wholly encompassed by and inherently dependent on a healthy environment and the ways we 

care for the Earth. For all life forms to flourish, now and in perpetuity, it is paramount that Indigenous worldviews are 

integrated into sustainability practice. Indigenous peoples – the original stewards of the land – offer invaluable insights 

and perspectives rooted in generations of co-existence and reciprocity with nature. KPU is committed to a holistic, 

forward-looking, and ethical approach to navigating the complexity, interrelatedness, and intersectionality of 

sustainability challenges. We acknowledge that sustainability is an ongoing, collective responsibility that requires 

collaborative action and accountability for the impact of all our activities. Together, we will listen, learn, and act as 

stewards of the land and our communities.” 
11 KPU signed the Scarborough Charter in November 2021. See 

https://wordpress.kpu.ca/antiracism/files/2021/11/Scarborough-Charter-ENG-final.pdf 

https://wordpress.kpu.ca/antiracism/files/2021/11/Scarborough-Charter-ENG-final.pdf


• ensure that departmental action plans include concrete steps towards decolonization,

guided by the xéʔelɬ Pathways to Systematic Transformation, and anti-racism, guided by

the recommendations of the Task Force on Anti-Racism

• lobby for changes in legislation and government policy/funding to support anti-racism,

decolonization, anti-ableism, gender and sexual equity, and Indigenization

• foreground sustainability learning outcomes oriented around environmental health,

social justice, and economic responsibility through the program review process

• foreground actionable responses to the climate crisis through program and curricular

revision, as well as other initiatives across KPU

• engage the entire KPU community in discussions of and policy development surrounding

generative AI

• create a more nimble program revision timeline to ensure sustainability and

futureproofing
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AGENDA TITLE: ACCOUNTABILITY AND PLANNING REPORT 2023/24 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the 2023/24 Accountability Plan & Report for submission 
to the Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills, as recommended by the Board 
Governance Committee. 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

On September 18, 2024, the Board Governance Committee received, reviewed and recommended that 
the Board of Governors approve the 2023/24 Accountability Plan and Report for submission to the 
Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills. 

Context and Background 

The Accountability Plan & Report is an annual report that fulfills the requirements of the Ministry of 
Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills (PSFS) Accountability Framework. The purpose of the 
Framework is two‐fold: 
• To ensure individual public post‐secondary institutions are accountable to government, their

boards, students and the public for their performance related to ensuring students receive quality
educational opportunities relevant to their needs and the needs of the labour market; and

• To ensure the ministry is accountable to the public for the performance of the public post‐
secondary education system in BC, with the aim that it should benefit all BC residents by ensuring
the system’s ongoing contribution to social and economic development.

Key Messages 

1. The Board was provided with a draft of this report in June. Since then it has been completed,
submitted to the Ministry in July, reviewed by the ministry and revised slightly to address ministry
feedback. It is now ready for Board approval.
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2. Once approved by the Board, and the accountability statement signed by both the Board chair
and KPU’s president, it will be submitted to the ministry.

3. The final report will be posted on both the ministry’s and KPU’s websites.

Resource Requirements

N/A 

Implications/Risks 

Failing to submit a complete Accountability Plan & Report to PSFS by July 12, 2024 could have a 
negative impact on our reputation with the ministry. 

Consultations 

The content of this report is the result of collaborative effort across KPU. Deans provided content for 
the Faculty profiles. Marketing is creating the cover. The Office of Research Services provided the 
information on some of the student researchers. The Office of Communications and Media Relations 
provided photos. Senior leaders helped identify content and sources to address the strategic 
priorities, and a number of people, including faculty, administrators and staff, provided information 
on the strategic priorities and the work KPU has been doing on reconciliation. The Office of Planning & 
Accountability wrote, edited, analyzed data, created graphs and other content and laid out the report. 

Attachments 

1. Final 2023/24 Accountability Plan & Report.

Submitted by 

Dr. Lori McElroy  

Date submitted 

September 18, 2024 
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Territorial Acknowledgement 
We at Kwantlen Polytechnic University respectfully acknowledge that we live, work, and study in a 
region that overlaps with the unceded traditional and ancestral First Nations territories of the 
Musqueam, Katzie, Semiahmoo, Tsawwassen, Qayqayt, and Kwikwetlem; and with the lands of the 
Kwantlen First Nation, which graciously bestowed its name on this university. 

In the cause of Reconciliation, we recognize our commitment to address and reduce ongoing systemic 
colonialism, oppression, and racism that Indigenous Peoples continue to experience. 

Cover Photos 

Clockwise, from the top-left. 

Mohammad Ameri, Institute for Sustainable Horticulture research assistant, works on an aeroponic 
basil growing trial, which helped develop a standard growing procedure that can be used for a future, 
larger-scale sustainable agriculture operation. 

Chester Fan, Interior Design student, presents his capstone research project – a design of a co-working 
space with work-life integration. Laser cutting was used to make the model showcasing the different 
heights of two buildings and how his concept “overlap” works to connect two buildings together. 

Sue Fairburn, Product Design faculty member and Wilson School of Design researcher, works on the 
“FULLAIR / ECHO project” where a team of 10 product design students researched, designed, and 
prototyped an inflatable habitat for a crew of three analogue astronauts to stay two nights in a lava 
tube in Iceland. 

Jackson Kereliuk, Applied Genomics Centre student research assistant, loads DNA samples into the 
molecular high-resolution gel imaging system. Gel image systems are widely used in molecular biology 
laboratories to visualize DNA. 



   

 
 
 

  
  

  

  

 

     

       
         

          
        

    

  
     

       
   

     
     

           
            

 

        
    

       

         
        

     

 

 
 
 

       
        

Accountability Statement 

The Honourable Lisa Beare 
Minister of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills 
Government of British Columbia 

July 12, 2024 

Dear Minister, 

We are pleased to submit KPU’s Institutional Accountability Plan and Report for 2023/24. 

The report describes how KPU addressed the ministry’s 2023/24 priorities. This includes how 
KPU is contributing to ministry engagements such as the Stronger BC: Future Ready Action Plan, 
aligning education and skills training to goals of the B.C. Economic Plan, skilled trades 
certification, and the sexualized violence policy review. We also report on other institutional 
priorities with respect to KPU’s strategic plan, VISION 2026, and our 2023 Academic Plan. 

The report reflects how we continue to provide culturally sensitive and safe learning 
environments for Indigenous learners to maximize their participation and success, as well as 
how we are working to ensure that Indigenous voices are reflected in the curriculum and in 
decisions that affect Indigenous learners, employees, and communities. In addition, it 
describes actions KPU is undertaking to support lasting and meaningful reconciliation with 
Indigenous learners and communities, as well as work on equity and anti-racism. 

KPU has achieved or substantially achieved all targets set by the Ministry of Post-Secondary 
Education and Future Skills for 2023/24 with the exception of FTE targets and credentials 
awarded. 

KPU continues to meet its financial targets, with a surplus of $66 million for FY2023/24. We 
continue to comply with the Tuition Limit Policy, limiting tuition increases to a maximum of 
two percent per year. The report includes a summary of the financial context for KPU. 

We affirm that, in accordance with KPU’s governance structure, the Board Chair and the 
President/Vice Chancellor are accountable for the Institutional Accountability Plan and Report, 
and have included KPU’s major achievements and progress on achieving its objectives. 

Sincerely, 

Ivy Chen Alan Davis 
Board Chair President and Vice Chancellor 

Accountability Statement i 
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1. Strategic Direction and Context 

KPU’s Strategic Direction: VISION 2026 

In 2026, KPU is a learning ecosystem rooted in a culture of sustainability, 
creativity, justice, and quality that inspires our people and our communities. 

Goals – We Will… 

A. Experience 
A1. Enhance the experience of our students 
A2. Enrich the experience of our employees 
A3. Support the health and wellness of our students and employees 

B. Sustainability 
B1. Foster cultural, social, and environmental sustainability through our offerings, 

research, and operations 
B2. Integrate planning to sustain institutional health by aligning KPU operations with 

our resources 
B3. Ensure financial sustainability for KPU through long-term financial and enrolment 

planning 

C. Creativity 
C1. Foster teaching excellence and expand innovation in teaching, learning, and 

curriculum 
C2. Expand activity, funding, intensity, and impact of research, scholarship, and 

innovation partnerships 
C3. Embolden creative problem solving across KPU’s operations 

D. Justice 
D1. Foster decolonization and reconciliation 
D2. Advance anti-racism across KPU 
D3. Advance equity, diversity, inclusion, and accessibility across KPU 

E. Quality 
E1. Ensure continuous improvement of all KPU programs and services 
E2. Hold each other responsible for our promises and our expectations 
E3. Be accountable and transparent to our friends, communities, partners, and 

governments 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 1 



    

 
     

    
   

        
       

       

          
    

    
     

 

        
   

 
   

       
      

     

   
   

   

 
  

 
    

  

Regional Context 
KPU serves the region south of the Fraser River that overlaps with the unceded traditional and 
ancestral lands of the qʼʷa:n̓ ƛʼən̓ (Kwantlen), Máthxwi (Matsqui), xʷməθkʷəy̓ əm (Musqueam), 
q̓ ic̓ əy̓ (Katzie), SEMYOME (Semiahmoo), sc̓ əwaθən məsteyəxʷ (Tsawwassen), qiqéyt (Qayqayt), 

̓and kʷikʷəƛəm (Kwikwetlem) Peoples. This region includes the cities of Richmond, Delta, 
Surrey, and White Rock, and the City and Township of Langley. It also covers the school 
districts of Richmond (#38), Delta (#37), Surrey (#36), and Langley (#35). 

The KPU region is projected to experience a high level of growth, both demographically and 
economically, over the coming decades. The following section profiles the economic strategy 
of each of the municipalities in the region in preparing for these changes, and provides an 
overview of the labour market expectations of the region as a whole. 

Surrey 

The City of Surrey’s economic strategy for the next five years1 focuses on attracting investment, 
optimizing industrial and commercial lands, fostering innovation, developing talent/the 
workforce, and enhancing local business vibrancy and distinct communities. The city projects 
that it may reach a population of one million by the end of 2042 (see Figure 1.1), becoming the 
largest city in BC and requiring the creation of over 300,000 jobs. KPU is expected to play a key 
role in training and upskilling this workforce. The city aims to create opportunities within 
Surrey itself, so that residents can work in the same city as where they live. 

Figure 1.1 – Estimated and Projected Population of Surrey, 2001 to 2051 
Population estimates are solid lines. Population projections are dotted lines. 

Three projection scenarios are visualized, originating from BC Stats, Metro Vancouver, and the City of Surrey. 
1,200,000 

BC Stats 

400,000 

600,000 

800,000 

1,000,000 

Metro Vancouver 

Municipal 

200,000 

0 
2001 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046 2051 

Sources: BC Stats Population Projections; City of Surrey Population Estimates & Projections; Metro Vancouver Regional Data Projections 

1 See “Investing in Our Future: A Roadmap to Realizing the Opportunities of Tomorrow” (City of Surrey Economic 
Strategy 2024): https://investsurrey.ca/media/22946 
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Notably, the City of Surrey had the youngest population among KPU region municipalities in 
2023, with a median age of 37.5 years. The population of Surrey is expected to age fairly rapidly 
over the next couple decades, reaching a median age of 41.4 by 2046. The importance of care 
economy, healthtech, and health care sectors will increase in Surrey to accommodate the needs 
of a larger and older population. 

Priority sectors identified by the city include cleantech, healthtech, advanced manufacturing, 
agritech, information and communication technology, care economy, and digital media and 
entertainment. Most of these priority sectors have also been identified by Trade and Invest BC 
as key sectors for the Lower Mainland/Southwest region as a whole.2 To position itself, the city 
plans to activate more industrial land, promote office development projects, and add 
commercial space across Surrey. The city also emphasized working with universities to 
increase seats and develop programs to train the workforce in much-needed technical skills, 
including in the areas of computer science, engineering, health care, finance, robotics systems, 
bioenergy, food processing, and skilled trades. 

Richmond 

The City of Richmond’s strategy is centred around its position as a distribution hub to the rest 
of BC and Canada. The city is host to both the Vancouver International Airport, which is the 
second-busiest passenger airport in Canada, and the Richmond Auto Terminal, which is a 
major contributor to the Port of Vancouver and provides over 6,000 jobs in the city. Other 
major logistics projects include: the Fraser River Improvement Initiative, to keep the Fraser 
River navigable as a major trade artery; Area IV site preparation for future development 
within the Richmond Logistics Hub; the Portside Blundell Road Improvements Project to 
improve traffic flow within Richmond’s industrial areas; and habitat enhancement projects at 
McDonald Tidal Marsh, South Arm Jetty Tidal Marsh, and Finn Slough to protect or restore fish 
habitats affected by trade activity. 

Food and agriculture are also important components of Richmond’s economy. Richmond is 
home to the Steveston Harbour, Canada’s largest small craft commercial fishing harbour. 
Richmond also has substantial cranberry and blueberry crops. The city reports that their 
agrifoods sector produces $12 billion annual revenue and provides 55,000 jobs; Richmond 
alone produces 30% of all cranberries in BC.3 

The population of Richmond is expected to increase by as much as 37% over the next couple 
decades (see Figure 1.2). Although not growing as fast as Surrey, this is still substantial. 
Richmond also has an older population than Surrey: between 2023 and 2046, Richmond’s 
median age is expected to increase from 41.4 to 43.9. Due to a population that is both increasing 
and aging, health and care economy have the potential to become more important sectors in 
Richmond. 

2 Trade and Invest BC: Lower Mainland/Southwest, British Columbia: https://www.britishcolumbia.ca/about-british-
columbia-canada/regions/lower-mainland-southwest/ 
3 Richmond Economic Development: Agrifoods: https://businessinrichmond.ca/key-sectors/agrifoods/ 
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Figure 1.2 – Estimated and Projected Population of Richmond, 2001 to 2050 
Population estimates are solid lines. Population projections are dotted lines. 

Two projection scenarios are visualized, originating from BC Stats and Metro Vancouver. 
400,000 

BC Stats 

200,000 

300,000 

Metro Vancouver 

100,000 

0 
2001 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046 2051 

Sources: BC Stats Population Projections; Metro Vancouver Regional Data Projections 

Langley 

Combined, the City and Township of Langley have a population of about 180,000 people. About 
30,000 reside within the City of Langley, and about 150,000 reside within the Township. Over 
the next couple decades, the population of Langley is expected to grow by 51%, nearly 
matching the growth of Surrey. This high rate of growth is not unusual for Langley, which grew 
by 57% between 2001 and 2023. However, Langley is also expected to have a higher rate of 
population aging, reaching a median age of 45.6 in 2046 (from 40.4 in 2023) and overtaking 
Delta to become the oldest KPU region municipality by 2037. 

Figure 1.3 – Estimated and Projected Population of Langley, 2001 to 2050 
Population estimates are solid lines. Population projections are dotted lines. 

Two projection scenarios are visualized, originating from BC Stats and Metro Vancouver. 
400,000 

300,000 BC Stats 

Metro Vancouver 
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100,000 
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Sources: BC Stats Population Projections; Metro Vancouver Regional Data Projections 
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Agriculture is a key sector for Langley. Nearly half of the farms in Metro Vancouver are located 
in Langley, with annual gross farm receipts of $340 million in 2016.4 Most of the land parcels 
are small (75% are smaller than 10 acres), which encourages intensive operations rather than 
large scale operations. Langley also promotes agritourism, including wineries and equestrian 
activities. 

Advanced manufacturing is another key sector for Langley. In partnership with BC Tech, the 
City of Richmond, and the City of Surrey, the Township of Langley has created a DEMO (de-
risking emerging market opportunities) toolkit designed to support the advanced 
manufacturing sector and other emerging sectors such as eCommerce, digital marketing, and 
online sales. The DEMO toolkit identifies that 70% of all manufacturing in BC is located in 
Langley, Richmond and Surrey.5 The toolkit is targeted to existing BC manufacturers with the 
hope that it will support and enable BC companies to assess opportunities, adopt technological 
solutions, and grow their businesses. 

Delta 

In 2023, Delta had a population of about 117,000 people. Between 2001 and 2023, Delta’s 
population grew by a fairly meager 16% – the lowest among municipalities in the KPU region. 
However, Delta’s population growth is expected to accelerate over the next couple decades, 
and increase about 30% by 2046. Delta also has the oldest population among municipalities in 
the KPU region, with a median age of 42.8 in 2023, but this is only expected to reach 45.1 by 
2046, making Delta the slowest aging KPU region municipality. 

Figure 1.4 Estimated and Projected Population of Delta, 2001 to 2051 
Population estimates are solid lines. Population projections are dotted lines. 

Three projection scenarios are visualized, originating from BC Stats, Metro Vancouver, and the City of Delta. 
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Sources: BC Stats Population Projections; City of Delta 2024 Official Community Plan; Metro Vancouver Regional Data Projections 

4 Township of Langley: Agriculture: https://www.tol.ca/en/the-township/agriculture.aspx 
5 A New Economic Narrative for BC: Advancing BC’s Manufacturing Sector. 
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The business profile of Delta speaks to their advantageous location as a place of connection, 
through the port, rail, and airport, to their large investment and footprint in industrial lands. 
The industrial lands at Tilbury and Annacis Island represent the largest industrial areas in 
Metro Vancouver, and the industrial areas in Delta are growing. Delta is home to Canada’s 
largest container port and North America’s largest coal terminal, as well as the Tsawwassen 
Ferry Terminal linking Vancouver Island to the Mainland. Another key feature is the Boundary 
Bay Regional Airport which saw the most take-offs and landings of any airport in Canada in 
2020, since cargo flights were minimally-impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.6 Boundary Bay 
Airport is positioned as a hub for storage, care and maintenance of private and corporate 
aircraft, and a centre for flight training and helicopter maintenance. Much of the business and 
economic growth in Delta is driven by these major structures. 

Compared to Surrey and Richmond, Delta appears to be far more focused on building a sense 
of community through parks, greenspace, transportation infrastructure, and housing 
opportunities rather than positioning itself as a hub of innovation and business 
entrepreneurship.7 However, like these other municipalities, advanced manufacturing and 
agriculture are key sectors providing employment to Delta residents. 

Economic Profile of Indigenous Communities 

The KPU region overlaps with the unceded traditional and ancestral lands of several 
Indigenous Peoples. The qʼʷa:n̓ ƛʼən̓ (Kwantlen), q̓ ic̓ əy̓ (Katzie), xʷməθkʷəy̓ əm (Musqueam), 
sc̓ əwaθən məsteyəxʷ (Tsawwassen), SEMYOME (Semiahmoo), and Máthxwi (Matsqui) have 
communities and reserve lands within the KPU region in addition to their traditional lands. 

̓The kʷikʷəƛəm (Kwikwetlem) do not have reserve lands within the KPU region, but the region 
does overlap with their traditional and ancestral lands. 

The administration of each First Nation focuses much of their economic activity on providing 
services to members, such as housing, community restoration, health and social services, 
education, culture, and language. Most First Nations view economic self-sufficiency as an 
important part of self-determination and actively engage in partnerships that economically 
benefit their members. However, this economic activity does not always take place within the 
KPU region. The following economic profiles are based on information, such as development 
strategies, community plans, or annual reports, made publicly available by each First Nation. 

6 Western Aviation News: Toronto was not the busiest airport in Canada in 2020: 
https://westernaviationnews.com/toronto-not-busiest-airport-canada-2020/ 
7 City of Delta: Plans and Strategies: https://www.delta.ca/plans-strategies 
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Figure 1.5 – Indigenous Communities and Reserve Lands Within or Nearby the KPU Region 
Locations are approximate, and for informational purposes only. They are not meant to reflect any 

First Nation’s traditional lands or territorial claims. 

xʷməθkʷəy̓əm (Musqueam) kʷikʷəƛ̓əm (Kwikwetlem) q̓ic̓əy̓ (Katzie) 
sc̓əwaθən məsteyəxʷ (Tsawwassen) . qʼʷa:n̓ƛʼən̓ (Kwantlen) . 

SEMYOME (Semiahmoo) Máthxwi (Matsqui) 

sc̓əwaθən məsteyəxʷ (Tsawwassen) 

A major priority of the Tsawwassen First Nation is member needs, including the promotion of 
health, education, and cultural traditions. The construction of a cultural hub and residential 
development to provide members with affordable housing are key projects toward this 
priority. In 2021, there were 86 residential units in the Community (member) area, about three-
quarters of which were single-detached homes. In addition to providing building and 
renovation grants to members becoming homeowners, Tsawwassen completed building 36 
townhomes in an affordable housing complex bringing the total number of rental units 
available to members from 16 to 52 units. 

There is also substantial residential development in the Leasehold (non-member) area. As of 
2021, there were 1096 residential units in the Leasehold area, and this is expected to grow to 
3514 units by the end of 2024. The population living on Tsawwassen lands has grown 
substantially since 2016, and this trend is expected to continue over the next decade (see Figure 
1.6). While most of this growth will be among the non-member population, the number of 
members living on Tsawwassen lands is expected to increase from 221 to 310 (a 40% increase) 
between 2021 and 2026. 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 7 



    

   
 

 
  

      
    

  

    
          

     
      

  

  
  

  
    

  

 

     
 

   
  

     
    

    
        

   

Figure 1.6 Estimated and Projected Population of Tsawwassen, 2001 to 2051 
Population estimates are solid lines. Population projections are dotted lines. 
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Source: Tsawwassen First Nation Housing Needs Report 2021-2026 

Tsawwassen is in the process of updating their Land Use Plan and is developing an industrial 
lands strategy. The recent expansion of their Economic Development Department is expected 
to enhance the administration’s ability to support and develop Tsawwassen businesses. 

The Tsawwassen First Nation is positioned close to important transportation hubs. It operates 
the Deltaport Logistic Centre, a 90-acre industrial lot adjacent to Port of Vancouver Deltaport 
which currently contains about 2 million square feet of logistics warehouses, with another 200 
acres planned for development. Tsawwassen also operates the Tsawwassen Mills retail and 
entertainment centre (located along Highway 17 near the BC Ferries Tsawwassen Terminal). 

Together with Musqueam, Tsawwassen is developing the Lower Fraser šxʷkʷecxənəm 
Partnership. The initiative will promote responsible land and water stewardship to address 
the cumulative environmental effects of economic activity in the region, in collaboration with 
the Vancouver Fraser Port Authority, Metro Vancouver, the Province of British Columbia, and 
the Government of Canada. 

xʷməθkʷəy̓ əm (Musqueam) 

Musqueam provides several services to members, including substantial programs in 
education, training, health, and social development. 

In addition to the Lower Fraser šxʷkʷecxənəm Partnership, Musqueam operates the leləm̓ 

village residential development in Vancouver, a 22-acre community with approximately 1,250 
residential units and 30,000 square feet of commercial space planned, as well as several other 
commercial properties. Musqueam own a one-third stake in the MST Development 
Corporation, which oversees residential and commercial development on the Jericho, Marine 
Drive, and Heather lands in Vancouver, as well as the Willingdon lands in Burnaby. Most of 
Musqueam’s business activities are in Vancouver and Burnaby rather than the KPU region. 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 8 

https://tsawwassenfirstnation.com/pdfs/TFN-Program-Services/Business-Development/FINAL_TFN-HNA-Report_2021-2026.pdf


    

 

  
     

      
       

      
       

   

   
    

    
  

   
   

      

  

   
      

     
     

      

     
   

  

       
   

    
 

 

   
  

    
   

̓kʷikʷəƛəm (Kwikwetlem) 

Kwikwetlem’s Community Plan identifies housing and public works as major priorities for 
future development to ensure accessible housing is available for returning members, allow the 
development of sustainable energy infrustructure, and ensure health and wellness supports 
are available for members who need them. This includes the planning and construction of a 
community building with a fitness centre, other health-related services for members, and 
administrative space. Kwikwetlem recently accomplished the renaming of Colony Farm 

̓Regional Park to ƛéxətəm Regional Park. 

Kwikwetlem is currently developing the 97-acre Kwikwetlem Business Park, operates KFN 
Enterprises, and actively engages in business partnerships under the Saskay group of 
companies, providing construction, industrial, and professional services. However, most of 
Kwikwetlem’s business activities are located outside of the KPU region. 

Kwikwetlem identified co-management of the Coquitlam Watershed and salmon restoration 
as environmental priorities. They made significant progress developing a Sockeye Hatchery 
program in partnership with BC Hydro, Metro Vancouver, and Fisheries and Oceans Canada. 

q̓ ic̓əy̓ (Katzie) 

Katzie is currently involved in several development projects. These include the construction of 
the Eagle Meadows Business Park in Pitt Meadows, a 367,000 square foot industrial complex 
which is expected to open in the first quarter of 2025, planning for development of about 4 
acres of commercial space along Barnston Drive East in Surrey, and planning for development 
of walkable residential communities on both sides of the Fraser River. 

Katzie also operates the Katzie Early Years childcare centre, and the Katzie Development 
Limited Partnership, which provides archaeological and field support services to clients. 

qʼʷa:n̓ ƛʼən̓ (Kwantlen) 

Kwantlen operates the seyem group of companies that include construction, security and 
janitorial servcies, and engages in other economic partnerships to create meaningful 
employment opportunities for Kwantlen members and responsibly manage cultural and 
environmental assets. 

SEMYOME (Semiahmoo) 

Semiahmoo works with several organizations in Surrey to conserve and restore wildlife in the 
Little Campbell Watershed and Boundary Bay. They operate the Se-mi-ah-mu Development 
Corporation to develop business relationships that are beneficial to Semiahmoo, and have 
partnerships in construction, landscaping, security, and other industries. 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 9 



    

    

       
   

      
    

    

  
     

   
      

   
 

    
  

 
       

 
   

   
     

  
    

   
   

 
 

  
  

  
 

     
 

   
 

  
  

   
 

 
 

    
 

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

Key Sectors in the KPU Region 

The business and employment statistics for the KPU region speak to its key and emerging 
sectors. Trade and Invest BC provides information based on the Statistics Canada Business 
Register that estimates employment numbers by sector. The key sectors identified in BC’s 
Lower Mainland/Southwest economic region, which includes the KPU region, are: 

• Advanced Manufacturing: applying advanced technologies to improve the speed and 
efficiency of the manufacturing sector, including robotics, digitally connected 
machinery, data capturing equipment, and artificial intelligence; 

• Aerospace: aircraft manufacturing, advanced materials, maintenance, aerial 
firefighting, and aerospace education and simulation; 

• Agrifood and Seafood: the development and application of technology and innovation 
to the farm, food, and fish sectors to improve production, profitability, and 
sustainability; 

• Clean Technology: water and waste management, carbon capture/use/sequestration, 
clean transportation, energy management, efficiency and storage, fuel cells and 
hydrogen; 

• Digital Media and Entertainment: digital media firms, as well as film, television, 
visual effects, animation, and post-production companies; 

• Information and Communication Technology: enterprise software, Software-as-a-
Service (SaaS), cloud computing, information communications technology systems, 
Internet of Things (IoT), e-commerce, telecommunications, wireless devices, electronics 
manufacturing, and semi-conductors; and 

• Life Sciences: biotechnology, pharmaceuticals, and medical devices and technology. 

Estimates of employment numbers in Figure 1.7 – Estimates of Employment by Key Sector 
each key/emerging sector in the 
Lower Mainland/Southwest region 124,825 

for 2022 and 2023 are provided in 
Figure 1.7. Many of the key sectors Advanced Manufacturing: 
are relatively small compared to the 101,168 
region’s major employment sectors, 
and most experienced declines 
between 2022 and 2023 (years in 72,042 Info & Comm Tech: 

which many technology companies 69,920 68,548 
Agrifood and Seafood: 

laid off employees or experienced 67,183 
economic turmoil more generally). 
Declines were most prominent in 
advanced manufacturing, life 

30,923 sciences, and clean technology 
Life Sciences: 23,101 22,870 sectors, but the number of jobs in the Digital Media & Entertainment: 

aerospace sector increased over this 19,503 

period. 4,613 Clean Technology: 2,118 
1,333 Aerospace: 1,431 

Lower Mainland/Southwest region, 2022 and 2023. 

2022 2023 
Source: Trade and Invest BC. 
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Although the municipalities in the KPU region often identified the Lower Mainland/Southwest 
key sectors as being an important part of their own future economic development, a 
disproportionately small number of jobs are currently in these municipalities for most of these 
sectors. A breakdown of jobs in key/emerging sectors by municipality is provided in Figure 1.8. 
The KPU region dominates the aerospace sector, but this sector is relatively small. An 
overwhelming number of jobs in the clean technology, digital media and entertainment, 
information and communication technology, and life sciences sectors are presently located in 
Vancouver and Burnaby. This is not suprising, as Vancouver and Burnaby have long been 
centres of technological innovation, and characterizes the emerging nature of these sectors in 
most KPU region municipalities. All KPU region municipalities are currently major 
contributors to the advanced manufacturing sector, as well as to the agrifood and seafood 
sector. 

Figure 1.8 – Breakdown of Employment Estimates for Key Lower Mainland/Southwest Sectors 
By selected municipalities, 2023. Coloured bars indicate the relative proportion of each 

sector in a municipality, and labels indicate the estimated number of actual jobs. 

Surrey Richmond Langley Delta 
Advanced Manufacturing 

Aerospace 

Agrifood and Seafood 

Clean Technology 

Digital Media & Entertainment 

Info & Comm Tech 

Life Sciences 

Vancouver Burnaby Other 

111 121 

4819 

2491 

64 

14,209 

92 

7527 

13,211 

172 

7381 

10,195 

438 

7700 

10,486 

595 

6457 

13,523 

9242 

894 

14,762 

37,663 

9542 

10,799 

3701 

266 

2646 

10,934 

5198 

28,745 

25,175 

640 

1295 

10,335 

3714 

Source: Trade and Invest BC. 

Data on key/emerging sectors alone does not provide a full picture of employment in the Lower 
Mainland/Southwest economic region. According to Statistics Canada8, the top five 
employment sectors in this region for 2023 were: 

• 285,300 jobs in wholesale and retail trade; 
• 222,800 jobs in health care and social assistance; 
• 208,700 jobs in professional, scientific, and technical services; 
• 141,700 jobs in educational services; and 
• 140,400 jobs in construction. 

8 Statistics Canada. Table 14-10-0392-01 Employment by industry, annual (x 1,000). Annual estimates from 2023 Labour 
Force Surveys. 
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It is important to remember that the key/emerging sectors, while identified as important areas 
of future growth, only represent part of the region’s employment sources. 

High Opportunity Industries and Occupations 

Considering the existing large employment sectors, and the key emerging sectors, it is 
important to examine which industries (whether emerging or traditional) will see substantial 
growth in job openings. From the 2023 edition of the BC Labour Market Outlook9, about 625,610 
job openings are expected in the Lower Mainland/Southwest region between 2023 and 2033. 
The five industries with the largest projected growth in terms of employment in the region and 
the subsequent number of job openings from 2023 to 2033 are: 

• Computer systems design and related services: 62,420 openings; 
• Retail trade (excluding cars, online shopping, and personal care): 42,870 openings; 
• Hospitals: 37,020 openings; 
• Food services and drinking places: 35,060 openings; and 
• Ambulatory health care services: 27,220 openings. 

In terms of actual occupations, most of the employment growth in the Lower 
Mainland/Southwest region between 2023 and 2033 is expected to be in occupations that 
require post-secondary education. Based on the 2021 National Occupational Classification 
(NOC) TEER system, which ranks occupations by the combination of training, education, and/or 
experience required to enter them, among the twenty occupations expected to see the most 
growth (and representing 26% of all growth) between 2023 and 2033: 

• Seven are classified TEER 0 (management occupations); 
• Nine are classified TEER 1 (requiring a university degree); 
• Three are classified TEER 2 (requiring a diploma, or apprenticeship of two or more 

years); and 
• One is classified TEER 3 (requiring a diploma, or apprenticeship of less than two years). 

The ten highest opportunity occupations in the region classified as either TEER 1 or 2 account 
for almost 83,000 new jobs, or about 13% of the expected job growth in the region. The expected 
number of openings in each of these occupations over the next decade is provided in Figure 
1.9. Five of these jobs are in health care, social assistance, or educational services, and three 
are oriented toward technology and computer systems, reflecting the importance of these 
sectors for the regional economy. Nine of these occupations have a median income greater 
than the $44,000 median individual income for the region10, and seven have a median income 
in excess of $75,000; many are traditionally considered to be good non-managerial 
occupations, and align with existing KPU programs. 

9 British Columbia Labour Market Outlook: 2023 edition. 
10 Trade and Invest BC: Lower Mainland/Southwest, British Columbia: https://www.britishcolumbia.ca/about-british-
columbia-canada/regions/lower-mainland-southwest/ 
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Figure 1.9 – Projected Openings in the Ten Highest Opportunity TEER 1 and TEER 2 Occupations 
Lower Mainland/Southwest region, 2023 to 2033. 

Registered nurses & registered psychiatric nurses 15,839 

Software engineers & designers 10,738 

Social & communityservice workers 8,064 

Financial auditors & accountants 

Software developers & programmers 7,833 

7,810 

Early childhood educators & assistants 7,589 

Information systems specialists 

Elementary school & kindergarten teachers 7,550 

7,453 

Accounting techs & bookkeepers 5,394 

4,407Secondary school teachers 

Source: BC Labour Market Outlook: High Opportunity Occupations BC and Regions. 
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Financial Context 
This section provides an overview of KPU’s operating environment, financial condition and 
areas of financial risk, and the fiscal 2024 audited financial statements, which are here. 

Operating Environment and Governance 

KPU operates under the authority of the University Act of British Columbia and is a not-for-
profit entity governed by a Board of Governors, the majority appointed by the provincial 
government of BC. In accordance with the University Act, KPU has adopted principles relating 
to bi-cameral governance, with the management, administration and control of property, 
revenue and business affairs of the university vested within the Board and academic 
governance of the university vested within the Senate. 

As a publicly funded post-secondary institution, KPU must adhere to guidelines in accordance 
with the British Columbia post-secondary sector. The financial context for the British Columbia 
post-secondary sector is one that is tightly constrained by the provincial government. There 
are limited opportunities to increase tuition revenue as the provincial government has 
mandated a 2% per year limit on domestic tuition increases. While international tuition rate 
increases are not currently limited by government, discretion must be used when setting rates 
to ensure that they are competitive within the international student market, and provide 
predictability for international students.  

Operating Grants 

Each year, eligible public post-secondary institutions receive base operating funding from the 
provincial government. For many institutions, including KPU, the grant is calculated 
independently of government student full-time equivalent (FTE) targets, meaning that actual 
changes in student delivery FTEs do not necessarily result in changes to financial support. 

Institutions also generate revenue from different sources such as, but not limited to, tuition, 
ancillary services, federal grants, endowments and investments; however, the combination of 
the provincial operating grant and tuition represents the majority of funding for public post-
secondary institutions. 

Balanced Budget Legislation 

The British Columbia post-secondary education sector is subject to balanced budget legislation. 
This legislation requires that, in any given fiscal period there cannot be an operating deficit. 
This contributes to a complex operating environment, especially in times of economic 
uncertainty. Longer term planning is required to ensure the university is in a balanced 
financial position each year, regardless of historical surpluses or deficits. 

The Ministry issues a budget letter each year with information regarding KPU’s operating grant 
and student FTE targets, associated accountabilities, and roles and expectations for the 
upcoming year. KPU’s FY2024 budget letter indicated an operating grant of $85.0M with a year-
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over-year increase of $4.3M from FY2023. Subsequently, the university received an additional 
$13.9M of operating grant revenue for funding of wage increases under the Shared Recovery 
Mandate of the B.C. Government. 

There was an approved deferral of the operating grant of $23.0M in FY2023 for capital 
purposes and $83.0M in FY2024 for operating and capital purposes. The Ministry continues to 
provide the opportunity to the university, upon request, to present a deficit budget. Given its 
expected position, KPU did not request a deficit budget and KPU’s Board approved a balanced 
budget for FY2024. 

Financial Results 

As shown in Figure 1.10, revenues have grown by 64.4% from $210.3M in FY2020 to $345.6M 
in FY2024 and expenses have grown by 35.8% from $205.6M to $279.3M over the same time 
frame. The university has recognized an annual surplus in each of the past five years. The sale 
of a portion of land adjacent to the Cloverdale (Tech) campus, resulting in a gain-on-sale of 
$116.4M (referred to throughout as the “land sale”), contributed significantly to the revenue 
growth in FY2024. The university also deferred its FY2024 operating grant of $83.0M (FY2023 -
$23.0M). Figure 1.10 shows revenues after deferrals for each year. 

Figure 1.10 – Revenues (after deferrals) and Expenses by Fiscal Year (in 000s)11 

Total expenses Total revenue 
$345,608 

$205,658 $209,911 $230,245 
$255,017 

$279,291 
$210,273 $214,022 $230,807 

$262,679 

    

   
              

  

     
       

          
       
 

  

      
           

      
      

     
  

    

   

 

       
   

  
       

    
   

 
  

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

KPU concluded FY2024 with a surplus of $66.3M compared to an original budget surplus of $0 
due to incurring lower expenses than budgeted (see Figure 1.11) and the gain on the land sale 
which was partially offset by the operating grant deferral. Subsequent budget adjustments 
approved during the fiscal year are not reflected in the table as the budget is presented in 
accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (“PSAS”). Figure 1.11 shows 
revenues after deferrals for each year. 

11 Historical figures have been restated due to the adoption of PS3280 Asset retirement obligations on April 1, 2022. 
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Figure 1.11 – Consolidated Statement of Operations (in 000s) 

FY2024 
Budget 

FY2024 
Actuals 

FY2023 
Actuals 

Change in 
Actuals 

Total revenue (after deferrals) $289,777 $345,608 $262,679 $82,929 
Total expenses 289,777 279,291 255,017 24,274 
Annual surplus $- $66,317 $7,662 $58,655 

Financial assets represent the amount of resources that can be converted to cash to meet 
obligations or fund future operations. Financial assets present a year-over-year increase of 
$137.9M in FY2024 (see Figure 1.12). This increase is driven by higher cash and cash 
equivalents primarily due to the proceeds on the land sale of $117.6M and higher interest 
income earned on cash balances. 

Figure 1.12 – Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (in 000s) 

FY2024 FY2023 Change 
Financial assets $343,613 $205,751 $137,862 
Liabilities 387,916 308,605 79,311 
Net debt (44,303) (102,854) 58,551 
Non-financial assets 247,080 237,283 9,797 
Accumulated operating surplus $200,015 $133,698 $66,317 

Liabilities represent the obligations the university has to others arising from past transactions 
or events. Liabilities present a year-over-year increase of $79.3M in FY2024 (see Figure 1.12). 
This is the result of increased deferred contributions of $77.2M, mainly due to the deferral of 
$78.0M from the FY2024 operating grant for operating purposes. 

Net debt, the excess of liabilities over financial assets, decreased by $58.6M to $44.3M in FY2024 
(FY2023 - $11.3M) (see Figure 1.12). This was largely due to the annual surplus of $66.3M in 
FY2024. Net debt has been steadily decreasing for the past five years, providing evidence that 
the university’s liquidity and financial position are improving. 

Revenues 

Total revenue after deferrals increased by 31.6% to $345.6M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $262.7M) (see 
Figure 1.13), driven by a $116.4M gain on the land sale and a $7.1M year-over-year increase in 
investment income (FY2023 - $3.8M) due to higher interest on cash balances, partially offset by 
an $83.0M deferral of the operating grant in FY2024 (FY2023 - $23.0M deferral). 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 16 



    

   

 

  

     
    
    

       
    

        
 

   

 

      
        

      
   

        
     

   
    

    
   

 

        
           

Figure 1.13 – Revenues (after deferrals) by Source (in 000s) 

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 
$150,000 

$0 

$25,000 

$50,000 

$75,000 

$100,000 

$125,000 

Grants from the International Domestic tuition Revenue from Other revenue 
Province of British tuition and and student fees deferred 

Columbia student fees contributions & 
deferred capital 

contributions 

Grants from the province of British Columbia 

Grants from the province of BC are composed largely of the provincial operating grant, which 
represents KPU’s base funding. This category also includes provincial funding for specific 
purposes and projects. Comparative amounts for Operating Grants FY2024 over FY2023 
indicate a decrease due to KPU's Ministry-approved Operating Grant deferral of $83M at the 
FY2024 year end. Excluding deferrals, operating grant revenue totaled $98.9 million in FY2024, 
up from $85.5 million in FY2023. The FY2024 deferral was implemented with a focus on long 
term planning goals, support for equity, diversity and inclusion, student supports, indigeneity, 
and technology projects and services. 

Tuition and Student Fees 

Tuition and student fees represent all fees incurred by students to attend KPU for credential 
programs. International tuition and student fees are the university’s largest revenue source, 
increasing by $1.6M or 1.3% to $129.5M in FY2024 (FY2023 -$127.9M). The increase consists of 
a 2% increase in fees offset by a year-over-year decrease in international student FTEs of 8.0%. 
There was a large proportion of prior learning and assessment FTE’s in FY2023 and as a result 
the drop in FTE’s does not directly correspond to the year over year change in tuition. Tuition 
for international students is higher than that of domestic students because the government 
grant cannot be used to subsidize international student tuition. Domestic tuition and student 
fees increased to $39.2M (FY2023 - $36.6M), a 7.2% increase from FY2023. This corresponds 
with an increase in domestic student FTEs of 3.8%. 

Revenue from Deferred Contributions 

Revenue from deferred contributions represent the spending of externally restricted grants, 
as specified by the contributor. Revenue in this category increased by 8.7% to $11.5M in FY2024 
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(FY2023 - $10.5M). A significant contributor of this change was for research grant activity 
which continues to recover after being suppressed throughout the pandemic. 

Revenue from Deferred Capital Contributions 

Prior to use, contributions that are restricted for the purpose of acquiring capital are recorded 
as deferred capital contributions on the Statement of Financial Position. As capital projects are 
completed and the assets are put into use, the contributions are recognized into revenue from 
deferred capital contributions at the same rate that amortization of the tangible capital asset 
is recorded. In FY2024, there was a 14.6% increase to $12.1M (FY2023 - $10.5M), primarily 
driven by capital assets that were put into service in FY2024. 

Other Revenue 

Other revenue is composed of ancillary services revenue, investment income, miscellaneous 
income and the gain on the land sale, which was the driver of the significant increase in this 
revenue category in FY2024. 

Ancillary services revenue is composed of bookstore, parking and food services revenue. 
Overall, ancillary services revenue remained unchanged at $3.3M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $3.3M). 

Investment income includes interest revenue, dividends and realized gains and losses on the 
sale of investments. There has been a 117.3% increase to $13.2M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $6.1M). 
This increase is largely attributed to interest being earned on higher cash balances due to the 
land sale and higher average interest rates in FY2024 as the prime rate rose from 6.7% at the 
beginning of the year to 7.2% in July 2023. 

The remainder of the other revenue is composed of miscellaneous income such as space 
rentals, donations received, trades shop income and product sales and contract revenue. This 
increased by 7.8% to $4.3M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $4.0M). 

Expenses 

Expenses by Function 

Functional areas reflect areas of service provided by the university. The university spends the 
majority of its budget on ensuring quality education is delivered by investing in academic 
support, instruction and administration support. Remaining budget is allocated to 
administrative support and to supporting students, research initiatives and providing 
ancillary services. Figure 1.14 shows the expense amounts for each function over the past five 
fiscal years. 
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Figure 1.14 – Expenses by Function (in 000s) 

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 $160,000 

$0 

$20,000 

$40,000 

$60,000 

$80,000 

$100,000 

$120,000 

$140,000 

Academic support Student support Administrative Research Ancillary 
and instruction support 

Academic support and instruction increased by 9.7% to $153.3M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $139.7M). 
The majority of this increase resides in faculty salaries and benefits for existing programs, 
increases to the Entertainment Arts program, which rolled out in summer 2022, and, targeted 
increases to support academic strategic initiatives and institutional and faculty academic 
development. As KPU emerged from the pandemic, its focus shifted from maintaining core 
academic activities to furthering academic innovation and teaching excellence. 

Administration support represents the core support functions of the university which 
increased by 4.3% to $80.1M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $76.8M). In FY2024, the majority of the 
increase relates to increases in administrative salaries and wages as a result of salary and 
benefit wage increases and new strategic positions that were approved and filled over the past 
two fiscal years. In addition, there were new IT costs with the final phase of the information 
technology migration to the cloud. There were also higher costs related to the activities in KPU 
Communities Trust. These increases were offset by a $3.9M decrease in transfers to the KPU 
Foundation. 

Student support increased by 17.8% to $34.4M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $29.2M). The university 
made targeted investments to directly support students and the student experience by 
continuing to increase funding of student awards, which included the roll out of a new food 
security grant in FY2024. In both FY2023 and FY2024, the university has increased its holistic 
approach to supporting students to further enhance the educational and learning experience. 

Research increased by 13.5% to $7.0M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $6.1M). This is due to increased 
activity on short-term research grants. KPU continues to support the expansion of its research 
initiatives and in FY2024 donated $2.0M to the KPU Research Endowment in the KPU 
Foundation towards research activities at the university. Increasing by 94.9% since FY2020, 
the research function has demonstrated significant growth, driven by both internal and 
external grant activities. This growth reflects the university's dedicated efforts to support these 
activities, aiming to enrich experiential learning opportunities. 
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Expenses by Object 

Figure 1.15 shows the expenses by object for FY2024 and FY2023. Overall, expenses increased 
9.5% over this time period. 

Figure 1.15 – Expenses by Object (in 000s) 
Expenses by object (in 000s) FY2024 FY2023 
Salaries and benefits $194,744 $173,175 
Travel and professional development 4,159 3,334 
Supplies 4,971 5,121 
Student awards, bursaries and donations 8,685 11,600 
Fees and services 27,255 25,326 
Facilities 15,834 14,524 
Cost of sales 2,184 1,475 
Leases, property taxes, insurance 616 469 
Accretion 54 98 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 20,789 19,895 
Total expenses by object $279,291 $255,017 

Salaries and Benefits 

There are three main employee groups at KPU: faculty, staff and administration. Faculty are 
members of the Kwantlen Faculty Association (“KFA”) and staff are members of the B.C. 
Government and Service Employees’ Union (“BCGEU”). Administration staff are non-union. 

Salaries and benefits are KPU’s single largest expenditure representing 69.7% of KPU’s 
expenses in FY2024 (FY2023 – 67.9%), as shown in Figure 1.16. There was an overall increase 
in salaries and benefits of $21.6M or 12.5% year-over-year to $194.7M in FY2024 (FY2023 -
$173.2M) as a result of higher staffing levels, along with paid and accrued wage increases 
across all employee groups. The largest increase in salaries is in the faculty employee group, 
due to salary and benefit wage increases, the continuing rollout of the Entertainment Arts 
programs, and Health program expansions. Both BCGEU and Administrative salaries have also 
seen a large increase as a result of wage increases and positions that were approved and filled 
over the past two fiscal years. The relative proportion of salary expense by employee group 
has remained relatively stable over time. 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 20 



    

   

 

 

  
          

 
   

             
     

 

    
      

 

 

   
         

    

      
           

    
    

Figure 1.16 – Salary Expenses by Employee Group (in 000s) 

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 
Faculty $68,977 $70,269 $70,303 $79,526 $87,504 
Staff $26,842 $28,058 $28,329 $31,714 $36,297 
Administrative $18,587 $19,937 $21,225 $23,012 $28,471 
Other $3,203 $2,694 $3,844 $5,443 $5,305 
Total Salaries $117,609 $120,958 $123,700 $139,695 $157,577 

16% 16% 17% 16% 18% 
23% 23% 23% 23% 

23% 

59% 58% 57% 
57% 

56% 

Non-salary Expenses 

Non-salary expenses, including amortization, increased in FY2024 by 3.3% or $2.7M to $84.5M 
(FY2023 – $81.8M). In FY2024, non-salary expenses increased as a result of activity levels 
rebounding to pre-COVID levels, inflationary pressures, and an increase in amortization as a 
result of new asset additions. Significant new asset additions are discussed in the Non-
Financial Assets section in a later section. These increases were partially offset by a decrease 
of $3.9M in year over year transfers to the KPU Foundation. 

Financial Position 

The university is in a strong financial position with significant increases in financial assets and 
reductions in net debt. This position allows for more flexibility in long term strategic decision 
making. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets represent the amount of resources available that can be converted to cash to 
meet obligations or fund future operations (see Figure 1.17). During FY2024, financial assets 
increased by 67.0% to $343.6M (FY2023 - $205.8M). 

Cash and cash equivalents are the most significant component of financial assets at $301.1M 
or 87.6% of all assets (FY2023 - $160.2M or 77.8% of all assets). This saw a $140.9M year-over-
year increase (FY2023 – $24.3M increase), which was the result of cash of $117.6M received 
from the land sale, $7.1M in additional interest income earned on cash balances due to higher 
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interest rates, and funding received from the provincial government for retroactive wage 
increases for BCGEU and KFA employees after ratification of collective agreements. 

Figure 1.17 – FY2024 Financial Assets (in 000s) 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

$301,051 

Investments & endowment investments 
$37,029 

Accounts receivable 
$5,137 

Inventories for resale 
$396 

Investments and endowment investments are the next largest component of financial assets 
at $37.0M or 10.8% of financial assets (FY2023 – $33.9M or 16.5% of assets). The year-over-year 
change was mainly due to unrealized gains on investments. 

Accounts receivable represents $5.1M or 1.5% of the financial asset balance (FY2023 - $10.3M 
or 5.0% of assets), decreasing year-over-year by $5.1M (49.9%). This decrease was primarily 
due to receiving funds from the Ministry for collective agreement increases that had not yet 
been ratified and were therefore receivable in FY2023. 

Inventories for resale reflect various products held for resale in KPU’s bookstores. The balance 
in inventory remained relatively stable from FY2023 to FY2024. 

Liabilities 

Liabilities represent the obligations the university has to others arising from past transactions 
or events. Liabilities increased by 25.7% to $387.9M in FY2024 (FY2023 $308.6M) Figure 1.18 
shows a breakdown of liabilities for FY2023. 

Deferred capital contributions, which are contributions that are externally restricted for the 
purpose of acquiring capital, are the largest component of liabilities at 48.0% of total liabilities 
(FY2023 – 58.2% of total liabilities). This category increased by 3.6% to $186.2M in FY2024 
(FY2023 - $179.7M), largely due to a Ministry approved deferral of $5.0M of the university’s 
FY2024 operating grant for capital purposes. 

Deferred contributions represent the unspent externally restricted grants and contributions 
that will be used in future periods, as specified by the contributor. Deferred contributions, 
representing 22.5% of total liabilities (FY2023 – 3.3% of liabilities), increased significantly from 
FY2023 due to a $78.0M deferral of the FY2024 provincial operating grant for operating 
purposes. 
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Figure 1.18 – FY2024 Liabilities (in 000s) 

Accounts payable 
& accrued 
liabilities 
$62,759 Deferred 

revenues 
$47,715 

Deferred 
contributions 

$87,438 

Deferred capital 
contributions 

$186,202 

Obligations under 
capital lease 

$2,187 

Asset retirement 
obligations 

$1,615 

Deferred revenue represents tuition payments made by students for future courses. These 
prepayments are deferred and reported as revenue when course delivery has occurred. 
Deferred revenues, representing 12.3% of total liabilities (FY2023 – 21.8%), decreased by 29.1% 
to $47.7M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $67.3M). The reduction in deferred revenue represents a 
decrease in payments received from international students for both the summer term and 
terms not yet registered, in line with the reduction in international enrolment. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities reflect amounts owed to vendors and others for goods 
or services received by the end of the applicable fiscal year. Balances may include estimates of 
amounts owing where invoices have not yet been received. Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, representing 16.2% of total liabilities (FY2023 – 16.1% of total liabilities), increased 
by 26.1% to $62.8M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $49.8M). This increase is largely attributable to an 
increase in accrued salaries, benefits and wages payable as a result of the retroactive amount 
owing to employees when collective agreements were ratified, an increase in year-over-year 
vacation accruals as a result of increased employees and wage increases, and the timing of 
payments to vendors. 

Obligations under capital lease represent a capital lease the university entered into on 
September 1, 2023 to finance IT infrastructure for the Entertainment Arts program at an 
estimated cost of borrowing of 7.36% per annum (FY2023 – nil). 

Included in liabilities is an asset retirement obligation for the removal of hazardous material 
from some of the university’s buildings. The balance of asset retirement obligations at March 
31, 2024 was $1.6M (FY2023 - $1.6M). 

Non-financial Assets 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held to provide 
services in the future. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not 
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. Figure 1.19 shows total non-financial 
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assets by fiscal year, while Figure 1.20 provides a breakdown for the last two fiscal years. Total 
non-financial assets increased by 4.1% to $247.1M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $237.3M). 

Figure 1.19 – Non-financial Assets by Fiscal Year (in 000s)12 

$254,446 $248,186 $242,289 $237,283 $247,080 

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

Figure 1.20 – Non-financial Assets by Fiscal Year (in 000s) 
FY2024 

Tangible capital assets $240,411 $232,450 
Investments and endowment investments 2,817 2,817 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,852 2,016 
Total non-financial assets $247,080 $237,283 

Tangible capital assets include assets purchased or constructed by the university and assets 
that were fully or partially contributed by the provincial government and include land, 
buildings, major site improvements, major equipment, library holdings, technology 
infrastructure, furniture and equipment, computing equipment and leased capital assets. 
Figure 1.21 depicts tangible capital asset additions as a percentage of total revenue. This ratio 
measures the extent to which an organization is investing in tangible capital assets, and 
demonstrates the allocation of resources, strategic investment decisions, and the overall 
financial and operational health of the entity. 

Figure 1.21 – Tangible Capital Asset Additions as a Percentage of Total Revenue 
8.3% 

5.8% 6.4% 6.2% 6.0% 

    

     
    

   

 
 

   
   

    
   

   
   

  
 

 
    

        
   

   
    

     

 

 
  

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

12 Historical figures have been restated due to the adoption of PS3280 Asset retirement obligations on April 1, 2022. 
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Acquisitions between FY2020 and FY2023 have been near 6% of total revenues, comprised 
largely of routine furniture and equipment and computing equipment. In FY2024, acquisitions 
increased to 8% of total revenues as a result of significant additions related to renovations at 
the Richmond campus to support needs for programs targeting technology relevant skills, 
continued information technology and furniture and equipment refreshes and a new capital 
lease to support the information technology infrastructure for the Entertainment Arts 
program. 

Net Debt 

Net debt is the excess of liabilities over financial assets and in FY2024 was $44.3M, which 
decreased by $58.6M over the prior year (see Figure 1.22) due to the annual surplus of $66.3M 
in FY2024. The annual surplus was largely due to the proceeds on the land sale, offset by the 
deferral of the FY2024 operating grant from the Ministry. Net debt has been steadily decreasing 
for the past five years, providing evidence that the university’s liquidity and financial position 
are improving. 

Figure 1.22 – Net Debt (Financial Assets less Liabilities, in 000s)13 

$387,916 

$173,092 
$205,751 

$343,613 $236,393 $243,425 
$287,266 $308,605 

    

  
  

               
   

   
   
 

  

    
      

     
       
    

 

   

 

 

               
     

         
             

     

 
  

$122,880 $103,363 

-$44,303 

-$102,854 -$120,545 -$114,174 -$133,030 

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

Net Debt Financial Assets Liabilities 

Accumulated surplus 

The university is in an accumulated surplus position which means that it has net positive 
resources that, subject to direction of the province or Board of Governors, could be used to 
provide future services. For KPU, a substantial portion of this balance has been allocated either 
to provide future services through investments in capital assets or is reserved for specific 
purposes determined by the Board of Governors or external funding restrictions. The 

13 Historical figures have been restated due to the adoption of PS3280 Asset retirement obligations on April 1, 2022. 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 25 



university’s FY2024 accumulated surplus also includes $44.6M in unrestricted reserves 
(FY2023 - $35.7M) that are available to fund capital assets or other strategic initiatives. 

Figure 1.23 depicts the fiscal year-by-year accumulated operating surplus, which comprises 
the majority of the total accumulated surplus balance. 

Figure 1.23 – Accumulated operating surplus (in 000s)14 

$200,015 

$133,698 $121,362 $125,474 $126,036 

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

Cash Flows 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows reports on the sources and uses of cash during the 
year. The university’s overall cash position increased by $140.9M from $160.2M in FY2023 to 
$301.1M in FY2024 (see Figure 1.24). 

Figure 1.24 – Cash and Cash Equivalents (in 000s) 
$301,051 

$135,836 
$160,171 

$88,891 $72,217 

    

    
       

     
    

   

 

 

        
     

   

    

 

        
      

    
         

   
 

 
  

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

The primary source of cash in FY2024 was from proceeds of the land sale. Other sources of 
cash are from operations, specifically cash received for student tuition and fees and grants 
from the province, as well as contributions received for tangible capital assets. Cash is used to 
meet operational expenses, reduce liabilities and pay for the university’s investment in 
infrastructure. More detail is available on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows within the 
consolidated audited financial statements. 

14 Historical figures have been restated due to the adoption of PS3280 Asset retirement obligations on April 1, 2022. 
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Financial Indicators 

Figure 1.25 highlights certain key financial indicators for the university. Net debt equates to 
KPU’s financial assets less its liabilities, and reflects KPU’s ability to address university 
obligations as at a point in time. Specifically, the net debt to total revenue ratio identifies the 
percentage of revenue available to cover KPU's net debt. The year-over-year decreases in the 
percentage are favourable as they indicate higher revenues earned in relation to net debt. The 
significant reductions in FY2024 are due to the land sale. 

Figure 1.25 – Key Financial Indicators 
March 31 

2024 
March 31 

2023 
March 31 

2022 
(Restated) 

Net debt to total revenue ratio 13% 39% 49% 
Grant revenue from the province of BC to total 
revenue ratio 5% 24% 29% 
Own source revenue per student FTE (in 000s) $21.6 $12.4 $11.3 
Net debt per student FTE (in 000s) $3.1 $7.1 $8.8 

Grant revenue from the province of BC to total revenue ratio dropped significantly in FY2024 
due to the operating grant deferral of $83.0M in FY2024 (FY2023 - $23.0M) and the $116.4M 
gain on the land sale. 

Own source revenue per student FTE represents revenue the university has earned outside of 
grants from the province and other external contributions. The year-over-year increases 
indicate more money per student is being earned through the university’s own source 
revenues as discussed throughout. The increase in FY2024 is driven by the $116.4M gain on the 
land sale. 

Net debt per student represents the university’s debt in terms of the amount attributable to 
each student. The year-over-year decreases represent growth in resources for the university. 
The decrease in FY2024 is partly driven by the land sale. 

Overall, when reviewing the university’s financial condition, KPU is well-positioned. The 
university has continued to maintain surpluses each year, and successfully navigated its way 
through the uncertainties of the pandemic. The university has a strong cash balance that 
allows it to meet its day-to-day obligations and provide the cash flow required for strategic 
opportunities. Net debt, the excess of liabilities over financial assets, dropped again in FY2024 
and has been decreasing steadily over the past five years, indicating improved financial 
condition. It is noteworthy that KPU currently does not have any long-term debt obligations, 
apart from a minor capital lease. In addition, the university’s unrestricted accumulated 
surplus increased from $35.7M in FY2023 to $44.6M in FY2024. This amount is available to fund 
capital assets or other strategic initiatives. 
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Risks and Uncertainties 

KPU is operating in an increasingly complex environment—from competitive, financial, 
regulatory, research and scholarship and innovation perspectives. 

Revenue Stability and Diversity 

KPU has three-primary revenue sources— government grants, domestic tuition and fees and 
international tuition and fees. International tuition and fees is the largest single revenue 
source, the most volatile and KPU’s overall reliance on this revenue source is its largest 
financial risk. As demand for KPU’s programs grew internationally, so did the need for 
additional infrastructure and employees, and as revenues then grew (Figure 1.26), KPU 
became increasingly reliant on international student tuition revenue for long-term 
sustainability. A number of factors, including geo-political and immigration policy changes, 
can significantly impact this revenue source with little notice. This was evident in early 2024 
following the federal government's announcement of three substantial modifications to its 
immigration policies: 1) implementing a two-year cap on study permits, 2) doubling the cost-
of-living requirements, and 3) eliminating open work permits for spouses and partners of 
international students in undergraduate programs. These changes exacerbated the dampening 
in international student enrollment observed throughout FY2024. KPU is determining how the 
university’s new allocation of study permits will be incorporated into long-term strategic 
planning and budgeting approaches. Assessing the impact on future enrolment is challenging 
with the federal and provincial governments looking closely at international education 
policies. 

Domestic tuition and student fees are considered more stable revenue, however, the provincial 
government mandates that annual domestic tuition increases be capped at 2%. The only way 
to increase this revenue stream further is to increase the domestic student base. Figure 1.26 
highlights that KPU had been experiencing a decline in domestic student FTEs up to and 
including FY2023. Domestic FTEs increased by 3.8% from FY2023 to FY2024, reflecting a change 
in this trend. The university is optimistic that domestic FTEs will return to pre-pandemic levels. 

Figure 1.26 – International and Domestic Student Tuition and Fees (in 000s) 

Domestic International 
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$37,913 $37,196 $36,559 $39,188 

FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 
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Province of BC operating grants are also considered stable revenue and are a significant source 
of funding to the university’s operating budget. Operating grants received from FY2020 to 
FY202415 are provided in Figure 1.27. Grants received have increased steadily over the five-
year period. A post-secondary institution may request of the provincial government to defer a 
portion of its annual operating grant and therefore the revenue reflected in its financial 
statements may not equal the operating grant received. KPU requested and was approved to 
defer $83.0M of its operating grant in FY2024 (FY2023 - $23.0M). The university requests 
deferrals to help move forward and fund initiatives into the future that it couldn’t attend to in 
the current fiscal year that would otherwise have a significant impact on its operations. The 
deferrals allow the university to focus on strategic operating initiatives, deferred maintenance 
of aging infrastructure, refreshing aged information technology and furniture along with 
targeting planned university capital initiatives. This mitigation strategy supports the long-term 
financial stability of the university. 

Figure 1.27 – Actual Operating Grants (in 000s) 
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Overall, the university faces greater risk due to its reliance on less resilient sources of revenue, 
such as international tuition and fees, to meet ongoing obligations. Recognizing the risk of 
international revenue, KPU has implemented procedures to manage international enrolment 
through strategic enrolment planning. Through this, international recruitment has focused on 
diversifying the international student body, as reducing concentrations of students from any 
one country reduces the potential risk associated with barriers from that country, which would 
affect their intake. 

Inflation 

During FY2024, domestic and global inflation increased significantly which has had economic 
and social impacts for the university. The impacts are felt by students and employees with 
costs rising for food, housing and transportation, and by the university where inflation has put 
significant pressures on construction and operating costs due to the nature and geographical 
location of KPU’s multi-campus, asset-rich, environment. To mitigate these risks, the university 

15 Only four years are shown since international and domestic tuition were only separately disclosed in financial 
statement starting in FY2021. 

1. Strategic Direction and Context 29 



    

     
     

 

 

   
  

    
     

     
       

   
       

     
  

 

  
    

        
       

    
         

   
     

 

   

      
    

    
   

  

 
     

    
       

   
       

  
   

   

maintains a prudent approach to its finances, structuring its budget with ongoing and one-time 
components aligned with the nature of its revenues, and maintains a financial reserve to 
ensure it can respond to any unforeseen challenges. 

Employee Recruitment and retention 

KPU depends on faculty, administrators, support and operational employees to uphold its high 
standard of education. KPU recognizes that experienced and diverse faculty are essential for 
effective student instruction, and dedicated employees are crucial to supporting a wide range 
of administrative and operational functions. Both are vital for ensuring students have a 
successful university experience. However, KPU faces the ongoing challenge of recruiting and 
retaining skilled and experienced staff, which are critical for its operations. KPU addresses this 
risk by cultivating respectful learning and working environments that prioritize inclusivity 
and support fair and equitable treatment for all members of its diverse community. 
Additionally, KPU provides opportunities for both personal and professional growth, offers 
flexible hybrid work arrangements, and competitive benefits to its employees. 

Cybersecurity 

Cybersecurity risks, such as data breaches, ransomware attacks, and phishing scams, present 
significant threats to sensitive information and operational stability, including loss or 
exposure of data, disrupting academic and administrative functions within the university, 
and/or compromising research data integrity. Recent high-profile cyber incidents within the 
post-secondary sector highlight the critical need for proactive security measures. KPU 
prioritizes safeguarding its digital assets through regular security audits, extensive employee 
training, and the deployment of advanced threat detection technologies. Cultivating a culture 
of cybersecurity awareness among staff and students is essential in effectively mitigating 
evolving cyber threats. 

KPU Looking Forward 

As KPU continues to evolve, strategic enrolment management will continue to be an essential 
element in managing cost pressures and maintaining effective operations. Global economic 
uncertainties and higher inflation are a concern when assessing financial impacts for the 
institution; however, KPU remains committed to educational advancements, innovation and 
excellence for its students, employees and the learning community. 

The federal government’s two-year cap on international student study permit has restructured 
KPU’s share of provincial allocation into FY2025 to be approximately 3,500 international study 
permit applicants. However, with current application rates, international student applications 
over the next year are expected to be well below the cap as the government announcement 
has led to confusion globally, causing many to mistakenly believe that Canada is not currently 
accepting international students. KPU is actively addressing these misconceptions and working 
diligently to enhance international recruitment efforts, and is cautiously optimistic that 
domestic student numbers will continue to increase and international student application 
numbers will improve. 
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As the COVID-19 pandemic shifted educational delivery from primarily in-person classes to 
online delivery, KPU continues to assess the impacts of this evolutionary approach to learning 
and if there may be any long-term financial impacts to the university as a result. While this 
evolution has been enabled through enduring and high levels of faculty engagement, it has 
been sustained through increased investments in teaching and learning, including personnel, 
technologies and infrastructure. Currently, KPU has adopted a mixed approach to learning 
with both in-person classes and online instruction available in many study areas. 

KPU’s financial reporting, planning and budgeting processes incorporate the Vision 2026 
mandate, which clearly define the mission, vision, values and goals for the university, provides 
for growth, planning and accountability and helps guide and respond to challenges. The 
ongoing presidential search will also provide an opportunity for the university to consult, 
review and define key elements for the Office of the President, to ensure continuity and 
guidance for KPU’s future achievements. As KPU looks ahead to FY2025, integrated planning, 
innovative improvements and long-term resourcefulness will be at the forefront for KPU’s 
continued success. 

The KPU Communities Trust (the “Trust”) was created to generate revenue opportunities to 
support academic endeavors and enhance student experience and well-being for the 
university. Work is underway to establish priorities, policies and processes to guide its growth. 

Cautionary Note on Forward-looking Statements 

Some statements in this are forward-looking statements, which are based on assumptions and 
future events and conditions, and by nature may involve significant risks and uncertainties. 
Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements. 
Readers should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. The reader 
should refer to the Risks and Uncertainties section for information, but not limited to, on 
certain factors, that could cause results to differ materially from stated expectations. KPU does 
not undertake any obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date of this report, or to reflect the occurrence of 
unanticipated events, except by law. 
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2. KPU’s Strategic Priorities 
This section describes the work carried out in the past year on KPU’s priorities, including 
actions to advance KPU’s strategic plan, VISION 2026, and its 2023 Academic Plan. Also 
reported in this section are activities that address government priorities as outlined in KPU’s 
2023/24 mandate letter. 

Future Workforce Needs 
KPU is addressing BC’s StrongerBC Future Ready Action Plan in a number of ways, as follows. 

Technology-related Seat Expansion 

As part of the ministry’s technology-related seats expansion initiative, this year KPU developed 
and approved two new programs to launch in fall 2024. In the Cloud Architecture and Security 
Citation program, students learn how to establish secure network architectures to combat 
evolving cyber threats while adhering to industry best practices and compliance standards. 
This program is intended for those already working in the field, and will include an expedited 
prior learning assessment and recognition process in the admission process to recognize 
information technology knowledge acquired in the field. 

The Diploma in Front-End Development for Interactive Applications will combine design, 
coding, and technology skills and is designed for students new to both design and coding. 
Students are introduced to mobile and software contexts while focusing on web development. 
Additionally, students can apply their front-end coding skills to motion design and data 
visualization, enhancing their skills through dedicated portfolio projects. Students will also 
develop industry connections through mentorships that provide guidance and critiques 
intended to enhance learning outcomes, impart real-world insights, and refine coding skills. 
Graduates will be able to develop complex web applications, adhere to project management 
principles, and construct industry-ready portfolios. 

Training More Nurses 

LPN to BSN Pathway: Licensed Practical Nurses (LPN) receive advanced standing in the 
Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) program through prior learning assessment and 
recognition. This is a partnership with Fraser Health, where LPNs continue to work while 
studying. LPNs that meet admission requirements to the BSN program complete four semesters 
of the BSN program. After completion of the BSN program, graduates are eligible to write the 
licensing exam and apply for registration as a Registered Nurse (RN). Once RNs, they will be 
employed as RNs in the hospitals in which they were formerly employed as LPNs. The first 
cohort started admission requirement courses in summer 2024 and will commence the BSN 
courses in fall 2024. 

2. KPU’s Strategic Priorities 33 



    

   
   
     

          
     

      
  

  

      
   

      
         

      
  

  
    

      
     

      
   

 

       

   
     

     
    

   

    
     

   
      

    
   

   
 

Expansion of Nursing Seats: The Bachelor of Science in Nursing, Advanced Entry doubled the 
number of seats from one cohort of 40 to two cohorts of 40, starting in spring 2023. The 
Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing also doubled its seats from one cohort of 40 to two cohorts of 
40, starting in fall 2023. The Certificate in Graduate Nurse, Internationally Educated Re-entry 
has increased the number of seats in its spring intake from 35 to 70 starting in spring 2023. In 
total this program has three cohort intakes; two cohorts of 35 students and a cohort of 70 
students each year. 

Trades Training Partnerships 

KPU’s Faculty of Trades and Technology expanded its partnership with the Fraser Regional 
Correctional Centre. They have been collaborating for a number of years to deliver Canadian 
Welding Bureau-certified welding programming to inmates. As of the 2023/24 academic year, 
inmates are also able to complete introduction to carpentry courses delivered by KPU 
instructors. The skills learned will facilitate a more successful transition back into the 
community and support individuals to obtain meaningful employment. 

KPU also partnered with the Electrical Joint Training Committee (EJTC), the training and 
apprenticeship arm of the unionized electrical sector in BC’s Lower Mainland and Okanagan. 
When faced with the challenge of a facilities shortage to deliver training to its members, the 
EJTC approached KPU’s Faculty of Trades and Technology who delivered a training intake as 
part of a public-private partnership. The collaboration benefited EJTC members by reducing 
wait times for critical training and allowed KPU to make use of its available facilities and 
teaching staff. 

Trades Training for Indigenous Students and Communities 

KPU continues to offer courses at the Squamish Trades and Training Centre in North 
Vancouver, and for the Métis Nation at KPU Tech, through assistance from the Ministry of Post-
Secondary Education and Future Skills, the Ministry of Indigenous Relations and 
Reconciliation, and Skilled Trades BC (formerly the Industry Training Authority). In this past 
year, there were two intakes of Introduction to Carpentry and Carpentry Apprentice level 1. 

Additionally, Indigenous high school students from Abbotsford, Langley, Delta and Coquitlam 
were introduced to the automotive, millwright, plumbing and piping trades when a special 
event returned to KPU in 2022 after a three-year hiatus due to the pandemic. In October 2023, 
this sampler included carpentry, horticulture, electrical, and metal fabrication, and in 
February 2024 mechatronics, farrier, and electrical were offered. The event was sponsored by 
the Aboriginal Community Career Employment Services Society (ACCESS). ACCESS is a non-
profit organization that provides education and training services to Indigenous Peoples living 
in Greater Vancouver. 
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Microcredentials 

In 2023/24, KPU offered 34 microcredentials in a wide range of contexts – ranging from 
medication management (a Senate-approved microcredential in a credit course) to non-
credit microcredentials in teaching excellence, equity and diversity, open education, 
library research, and more. In 2024/25, KPU will produce its first microcredential on 
generative artificial intelligence use and is actively developing new use-cases for stackable 
microcredentials. 

Work-Integrated Learning 

KPU continues to grow its work-integrated learning (WIL) opportunities for students. In the 
2023/24 fiscal year, KPU offered 483 sections of various WIL opportunities, an increase from 
465 in the prior year. Most WIL opportunities are unpaid; in FY2023/24, there were 5,744 seats 
filled across unpaid WIL categories compared to 290 paid work placements. 

The total number of filled WIL seats are distributed across the following types: 
• Experiential learning courses: 2,309; 
• Mandatory practicum/clinical placements: 1,171; 
• Applied research courses: 796; 
• Apprenticeships: 763; 
• Practicum courses: 608; 
• Field schools: 97; 
• Paid Co-op work placements: 239; and 
• Paid Melville Business Strategy Internships: 51.16 

The increase in WIL at KPU stems from university-wide support for the initiative as well as the 
decision to create a new WIL-focused position in the Office of the Provost. In fall 2022, the 
position of KPU’s inaugural Lead Advisor, Work-Integrated Learning, was created to 
proactively support WIL at KPU. A policy and procedure on WIL was established and Service 
Learning Assistant positions were also created. The Office of the Provost position has enabled 
the following resources and supports: 

• Onboarding Academic Project Coordinator to support the WIL Lead Advisor; 
• Onboarding and support for over 60 Service Learning Assistants (SLAs), paid student 

leaders to support WIL. These SLAs provide: 
o Liaison support for partners, faculty, and students; and 
o On-call classroom support for any faculty member filling in WIL forms. 

• The Work-Integrated Learning Lead Advisor: 
o Completed over 50 individual one-on-one consults with faculty members to 

establish WIL courses; 

16 Internships for soon-to-graduate business students with paid work experience in their area of study that provides an 
opportunity to apply their knowledge in a real business setting. 
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o Visited twenty-five department meetings, from across all Faculties, to discuss KPU’s 
latest information on WIL, including available supports; and 

o Consolidated a group of practicum faculty members who meet once a term. 
• The following resources have been developed: 

o Work-Integrated Learning website, with searchable course feature and Faculty-
specific videos; 

o Guidebooks for faculty, students, and partners, available publicly on WIL website; 
o Learning outcomes for WIL, with templates for Pebble Pad; 
o WIL forms system, including intellectual property statements; and 
o Iterative reworking of emergent procedures, including occupational health and 

safety reporting, online photo waivers for partners and students, and 30-second 
videos to promote student health and safety in WIL. 

KPU is building a culture of sharing around work-integrated learning practices, with essential 
internal relationships, community building with external partners, regular communication 
with counterparts at other institutions, and the ready sharing of resources as requested. 
Starting in the fall of 2021, the Practicum Meeting Group has been convening to discuss WIL. 
Meeting every term, this community of practice brings together faculty members from across 
the university who are involved in experiential learning, applied research, field schools, and 
practica. The meeting in May 2024 had more than 20 faculty members in attendance, including 
two new hires who presented on their first-time experiences with WIL. A large majority of 
instructors aim to tailor student-partner matches to student needs, at times ‘going the extra 
mile’ to line up unique projects to meet student interest. Facilitated by KPU’s small class sizes, 
this is of direct value to the student experience. 

Externally, KPU is active in the broader work-integrated learning landscape, with involvement 
at the Community to University Partnerships Expo and in BC’s Association for Co-operative 
Education and Work-Integrated Learning (ACE-WIL) community. The university was also 
pleased to receive funding from Co-operative Education and Work-Integrated Learning 
Canada to launch the KPU Museum Lab, where students worked directly with partner 
museums and galleries. This program marks an important achievement in offering more WIL 
opportunities to KPU’s students, while advancing the career track for those interested in the 
heritage sector. KPU’s Museum Lab also marks the first time that the work-integrated learning 
outcomes were built into the course from the outset, with a new faculty member using every 
new WIL resource available, and then presenting to the Practicum Meeting Group. The 
initiative showed how to grow a WIL opportunity from start to finish, including providing 
learning opportunities for other faculty members. 

Graduate Studies at KPU 

In preparation for KPU’s first master’s program, in 2024 KPU completed the establishment of 
its Faculty of Graduate Studies, as well as the creation of its first policy on graduate studies and 
eight policy revisions in support of future graduate programming. With this framework in 
place, KPU is now ready to offer rigorous, innovative new programming at the master’s level. 
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Emphasizing a decolonized and polytechnic approach, KPU’s new policy foregrounds the 
student experience and rigorous, but distinct, approach to graduate studies. 

Future Skills Grant 

In fall 2023, KPU offered 13 programs as part of the Future Skills Grant: one from the Faculty 
of Science (Pest Management Module 1), one from the Faculty of Trades and Technology (Cross 
Connection Recertification), and 11 from the Faculty of Health (various nursing refresher 
courses). A total of 85 grants were given to students who enrolled in these short-term courses. 
There were 63 students who received funding, including 14 students who received multiple 
grants ranging from two to six per student. Overall, KPU students had a 99% completion rate 
in programs accessed using the Future Skills Grant. 

Student Access and Success 

Prior Learning 

KPU is nearing the completion of its first year of KPU Flex, an innovative drive to accelerate 
and deepen portfolio-based prior learning recognition at KPU. Two pilot programs, the Non-
Governmental Organizations and Nonprofit Studies Certificate and Computer-Aided Design 
and Drafting Diploma, will be issuing significant prior learning credit to 10 to 20 students. We 
are working to support the scaling of this program next year. This work is also allowing us to 
support a new Indigenous admission pathway, a new pathway for Trades students to receive 
undergraduate credit, and a new pathway for Licenced Practical Nurses to receive credit 
towards our nursing programs – a critical use of prior learning in support of in-demand jobs. 

K-12 Transition and Dual Credit Programming 

Academic Dual Credit 

In AY2023/24, 358 dual credit students from ten school districts were enrolled at KPU, a 43% 
increase in dual credit students compared to AY2022/23. More than half (59%) undertook 
trades training across nine foundation and two apprenticeship programs. The rest were 
enrolled in academic courses, covering a total of 19 unique courses. 

Youth Train in Trades 

KPU continued its engagement of local secondary students via the Youth Train in Trades 
initiative in the 2023/24 academic year. In addition to maintaining and expanding partnerships 
with local public school districts, KPU’s Faculty of Trades and Technology has also entered into 
partnerships with private school and homeschooling organizations to support exposure of 
their students to trades training at KPU. 
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Former Youth in Care 

In FY2023/24, KPU saw 75 Former Youth in Care (FYIC) benefit from the BC Government’s 
tuition waiver program, for a total of $265,872.68, representing an increase of 26% over last 
year. Additionally, KPU continues to offer several supports for FYIC as follows: 

• KPU supports Former Youth in Care students from the time of their application to KPU 
through a self-identifying question on EducationPlannerBC.  This initiative helps KPU 
representatives identify Former Youth in Care students and assist them in navigating 
the various supports available to them. 

• KPU promotes the expansion of the Provincial Tuition Waiver Program (PTWP) and the 
removal of the age restriction through promotional materials and university-wide 
email communication to students, to help increase awareness and access to the PTWP. 

• KPU has a Financial Aid Advisor dedicated to Former Youth in Care students to help 
navigate the various wrap around financial supports available such as government 
funding and KPU supplemental resources. 

• KPU has an Academic Advisor dedicated to Former Youth in Care students to support 
and guide them towards academic success throughout their studies. 

• Semesterly check-in events are coordinated by KPU’s Campus Navigator team to ensure 
Former Youth in Care student needs are being met and to help build community. 

• The involvement and participation of the Student Awards and Financial Assistance 
department in the Campus Navigator Community of Practice has equipped KPU with 
the knowledge of supports and resources for Former Youth in Care, and allowed for 
collaboration with partner institutions, sharing challenges, resources, and practices 
that best support students. 

Ellucian Advise CRM 

In partnership with IT Services, Academic Advisors at KPU are in the midst of implementing 
an exciting new platform, Ellucian Advise Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system: 
a comprehensive platform focussed on proactive student communication and support for 
increased student success. The platform streamlines student communication into a single 
dashboard providing access to all components of their education plan in one place. It also 
provides KPU with the opportunity to define and monitor student success factors for earlier 
communication and intervention. The initial launch of Ellucian Advise CRM went live May 17, 
2024. 

International Education 

International Education Strategic Plan 

KPU’s 2020-2025 international education strategic plan outlines the following key goals: 
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1. Manage growth and meet enrolment targets; 
2. Diversify KPU’s international student population; 
3. Enhance international student success; 
4. Increase cross-cultural engagement for students, staff, faculty, external partners, and 

communities; and 
5. Revitalize KPU community engagement in internationalization. 

In 2022, an ad hoc KPU Global Task Force was established that brought together faculty, 
administration, and students to explore the state of internationalization at KPU and to 
recommend our next steps, one of which included the establishment of a Global Education 
Advisory Committee. This committee began its deliberations in January 2024, to identify how 
our internationalization efforts can be enhanced through the development of a Global Strategy 
for KPU. The outcome will be a renewed Global Strategy for KPU that will: 

• Create a stronger shared understanding of the current state of global education at KPU; 
• Identify strategic priorities for internationalization at KPU; and 
• Recommend actionable next steps. 

The work of the committee envisions KPU as an important destination of choice for 
international students, a responsive local institution for domestic students, and a culturally 
rich place to work, because of and in pursuit of internationalization and global education. 
Equity, anti-racism, and decolonization have been underlying principles of the 
recommendations of the committee’s work, as part of our commitment to social justice 
outlined in VISION 2026. University consultation is currently underway, with the finalized 
Global Strategy expected in 2025. 

Supports for International Students 

KPU continues to implement initiatives and resources for international students to support 
their well-being and ensure their success while studying at KPU. The following is a summary 
of key initiatives to recruit better prepared students, provide supports to students prior to their 
arrival at KPU, and support students during their studies at KPU. 

Recruiting Better Prepared Students: 

• Agent performance: An agent performance report card was implemented and 
agreements with agents with less favourable performance are discontinued or not 
renewed, while agreements with reputable agents in target markets are sought to 
diversify the student population. Agents must complete mandatory online training and 
strictly adhere to contractual obligations for contracts to be renewed. 

• In-country KPU representatives in key markets: KPU has contracted local 
representatives in Brazil, China, Mexico, India, Philippines, and Vietnam to promote 
KPU’s programs, including attending marketing and recruitment events and agent open 
houses, hosting social and media events, and providing support to prospective students 
and parents in real time. Note that field representatives are not the same as agents as 

2. KPU’s Strategic Priorities 39 



    

    
    

       
       

    

     

  
    

      
          

 

    
    

          
 

    
    

  
   

      
     
       

     

    
      

      
      

  

          
  

    

    

    
   

       
       

          
          

       

the representatives only represent KPU, not other post-secondary institutions, and they 
are not paid on commission. 

• Pre-screen applicants for students from State Boards in India: Agents from India pre-
screen student applications and submit applications that have a higher high school GPA 
than what is required for high school graduation. 

Providing Supports to Students Prior to their Arrival at KPU: 

• Registration webinars: Prior to registration opening, webinars are held for new 
international students, providing advice on recommended courses for their program. 
They are also encouraged to register in Introduction to Higher Education for 
International Students and Writing for University to better prepare them for their 
academic studies. 

• Caseload advising: Every new international student is assigned a dedicated 
International Student Advisor, offering personalized support throughout their 
academic journey, starting before their first term and continuing while they study at 
KPU. 

• In-country predeparture workshops: In India and the Philippines, admitted students 
and their parents are invited to a workshop in their home country prior to coming to 
Canada. The workshops provide information on registration, academic integrity, 
classroom expectations, and answers to questions students have prior to their studies. 

• Online orientation: Prior to departure, an online orientation is offered to provide new 
students with an opportunity to prepare for their arrival. An online Moodle orientation 
course is also provided with information about starting their studies including how to 
get their books, services available to them, the u-pass, and medical insurance. 

• Preparing for the Canadian classroom: A new resource, “Preparing for the Canadian 
Classroom,” was designed to prepare international students to study in Canada. 

• Housing supports: KPU connects students with local accommodation providers, 
homestay options, student accommodations, rental market advice, as well as where and 
how students can find information about their rights: kpu.ca/international/housing. 

• iCent app: This app dedicated to serving incoming international students provides them 
with essential tools and information, to navigate their new environments, and guide 
them through the process of coming to Canada and KPU. 

Providing Supports to Students during their Studies at KPU: 

• International peer mentorship program: Each new student is matched with a student 
mentor trained to provide support to new students. This gives new students the 
opportunity to connect with an experienced student who will be their mentor prior to 
their arrival in Canada and throughout their first semester at KPU. The mentor connects 
the student to support staff and services available to them, and can answer questions 
about the Canadian classroom, living and studying in Canada, how to find resources, 
and what social supports are available for incoming students. 
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• KPU Welcomes You: On campus new student orientation that takes place the week 
before start of classes at each campus. This orientation is available for both domestic 
and international students. 

• Medical health insurance: Students are provided with temporary emergency health 
insurance through Guard.me. Students also have access to the BC Medical Services Plan 
once in Canada, and Kwantlen Student Association’s Health and Dental plans. 
Additionally, the Telus Health Student Support app provides all students 24/7 access to 
professional counsellors in the student’s preferred language and culture. Counsellors 
can provide immediate support and referrals to address a range of concerns. 

• Academic and immigration advising: Virtual advising and drop-in sessions are offered 
to support international students in their academic goals. All KPU International 
Advisors are certified as Regulated International Student Immigration Advisors. 
International Advisors help with course planning, program exploration, academic 
standing, registration, immigration related inquiries and more. 

• New online resources: Several online resources have been launched to support 
international students while at KPU, covering registration, academic success, and 
immigration as well as food security, nutrition, health and wellness. Additionally, the 
International Students Handbook provides valuable information for new students. 

• KPU 100: This is an Introduction to University course offered for free through the 
Learning Centre. It helps students gain familiarity with instructor expectations, key 
learning strategies, and Moodle and other technology tools. It also connects them with 
a range of services, the Learning Centre, tutors, and other students. 

• International student life events: On- and off-campus events and workshops are 
organized to help international students adapt to their new life in Canada and meet 
their peers. These encompass cultural immersion and academic success sessions, 
providing valuable resources and support for students to navigate their new 
environment with confidence and establish meaningful connections. 

• KPU virtual global learning opportunities: International students now can access 
virtual global learning opportunities where they can participate in internship 
programs that help enhance their learning experience and connections without having 
an impact on their study-permit requirements. International students can apply to the 
guard.me mobility fund to support these experiences. 

• International student scholarships and grants: International students have access to 
accommodation relief funds, emergency funding, entrance scholarships and merit 
scholarships. Between fall 2023 and spring 2024, a total of 2,957 awards were given out, 
for a total of $1,989,811 funded by KPU. 
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Social Justice 

Fostering Decolonization and Reconciliation 

Some of KPU’s initiatives in support of lasting reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples are 
highlighted in this section. Appendix A provides a compendium of KPU’s activities to address 
the Calls to Action of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC), as well as articles in the 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) and the In Plain Sight Report 
recommendations reporting for post-secondary institutions. 

KPU continues to expand its supports to provide culturally sensitive and safe learning 
environments for Indigenous learners. Many examples of this are provided in Appendix A. For 
example, the Faculty of Arts has an Indigenous Studies department that offers courses where 
students are exposed to elements of Indigenous teachings and traditional knowledge from 
various Indigenous perspectives, including those of Elders and local communities. KPU has 
also hired Indigenous designers, artists, and writers in residence. An Indigenous orientation 
session is provided for Indigenous students to help ease the transition into post-secondary 
studies and Indigenous supports, including peer support and mentorship, are provided from 
an Indigenous perspective. In addition, all new employees are required to take training to 
enhance our capacity to work with and support Indigenous students, fellow colleagues, and 
local Indigenous communities. Other examples follow. 

Indigenous Counsellor 

In fall 2023, KPU’s first Indigenous counsellor joined the university. Natashia Pellatt, a member 
of Stswecem'c Xgat'tem (Canoe creek/Dog Creek) First Nation, works alongside the counselling 
faculty and Indigenous services to provide mental health services for KPU students including 
1:1 counselling, group counselling, interactive workshops and talking circles, and communal 
connecting at the Gathering Place. 

First Nation Tuition Waiver 

The 2023/24 academic year saw the launch of several initiatives in support of the principles 
established in the xéʔelɬ KPU Pathway to Systemic Transformation framework, launched in 
June 2023. Notably, KPU was among the first post-secondary institutions in BC to introduce a 
tuition waiver for incoming and current KPU students who are members of the Kwantlen, 
Katzie, Semiahmoo, Musqueam, Tsawwassen, Qayqayt, and Kwikwetlem First Nations. In total, 
three students utilized the waiver in the first year. 
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New Moon Gala 

KPU hosted its inaugural New Moon Gala to address financial barriers to education by raising 
funds for Indigenous student scholarships. Held at KPU Surrey in January 2024, the gala 
showcased Indigenous performances and a silent auction, with all proceeds supporting 
Indigenous scholarships. Former B.C. Lieutenant-Governor and Officer of the Order of Canada 
the Honourable Steven Point was a special guest speaker. The event was attended by KPU 
alumni, university leaders, members of local First Nations, students, and members of the 
greater community. 

Global Indigenous Learning Exchange 

The Global Indigenous Learning Exchange is a global learning experience that takes place with 
Indigenous students from KPU and Indigenous students from our partner institution, Edith 
Cowan University (ECU), in Perth, Australia. This is a relatively new initiative that until the 
2023/24 academic year has been a virtual exchange as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
However, the first in-person exchange was in summer 2024. KPU students travelled to Perth to 
join their ECU classmates on a six-day cultural visit, hearing from Indigenous academics and 
exploring local historic sites. Then they returned to Vancouver with their ECU classmates and 
spent another six days here, visiting key First Nations cultural offices locally as well as join in 
on a day trip to Squamish. 
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Raising of Reconciliation Flag 

The Reconciliation Flag was raised at KPU’s Surrey campus in fall 2023. Dr. Alan Davis, KPU 
President and Vice-Chancellor, was joined by Elder in Residence Lekeyten, and the daughter 
of orange shirt artist Sylvia Simpson, in raising the flag in front of university staff, 
administration, faculty, and students. The flag celebrates and recognizes the resiliency of 
Indigenous communities, and is a visual reminder for KPU employees and students to reflect 
on their learning journey, to engage in courageous dialogue, and to build trusting relationships 
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous Peoples and their communities. The event included 
bannock and other snacks, and a performance by the Wild Moccasin Dancers. 

Advancing Anti-Racism Across KPU 

Black History Month Events 

The university continues to make progress addressing anti-racism at KPU. In February 2024, 
KPU’s Office of Equity & Inclusive Communities signified Black History Month in a number of 
ways. A presentation titled “An Overview of Black Canadian History” was held by Channon 
Oyeniran. The presentation provided an overview of the rich and expansive history and 
experiences of people of African descent in Canada over 400 years. It explored enslavement in 
Canada; stories and achievements of significant individuals and groups that have contributed 
to various aspects of Canadian society (e.g. science, business, politics, art, culture, etc.); 
segregation/Civil Rights Movement in Canada; legacies of enslavement, including anti-Black 
racism; and Channon Oyeniran’s studies/work in the community. The presentation was open 
to all KPU employees and students and provided an opportunity for attendees to think critically 
about the various experiences and contributions of Black people in Canada. 
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Second Annual Anti-Racism Symposium 

In March 2024, KPU’s Office of Equity & Inclusive Communities organized KPU’s second annual 
Anti-Racism Symposium. This annual event was an outcome of KPU’s Task Force on Anti-
Racism’s (TFA) October 2022 report, which recommended the establishment of an annual full-
day symposium to discuss and encourage confronting racism and to share internal and 
external research, scholarship, and creativity on racism/anti-racism. This year’s symposium 
explored the impact of Islamophobia on Muslim youth and featured keynote speaker Dr. 
Jasmine Zine, Professor of Sociology and Muslim Studies at Wilfrid Laurier University. 

Employee Anti-Racism Training 

Anti-racism training continues to be offered to KPU employees. Between April and June 2024, 
three workshops were delivered by Hook or Crook Consulting to deepen learning around anti-
racism. Topics included unpacking white supremacy, intersectional and justice-oriented 
leadership, and the impact of power on team dynamics, functioning, and collaboration. 

Advancing Equity, Diversity, Inclusion, and Accessibility 

Launch of KPU Accessibility Plan 

In October 2023, the university celebrated the launch of its first-ever Accessibility Plan, which 
identifies barriers to inclusion and accessibility for individuals with disabilities at KPU across 
seven categories: behaviours, assumptions, attitudes, and perception; teaching and learning; 
organizational barriers; KPU community and safety; financial barriers; physical and 
architectural barriers; and information and communication. 

The plan’s recommendations aim to mitigate identified barriers and promote a more accessible 
and inclusive environment at KPU. Recommendations are categorized under three key themes 
from KPU's VISION 2026: student and employee experience; creativity, innovation, teaching 
excellence, scholarship and research; and justice. Some steps already taken to address 
accessibility include ramps for disabled access, automatic doors, gender neutral changing 
stations, and barrier-free menstrual products in all washrooms. 

Rick Hansen Foundation Accessibility Certification 

In April 2024, KPU received Rick Hansen Foundation (RHF) Accessibility Certification, 
a national rating system that measures and certifies the level of meaningful access of buildings 
and sites. All KPU buildings received certification, which requires a score of 60-80%, with the 
Wilson School of Design receiving a Gold Certification (requires a score of in excess of 80%). 
The results of the RHF accessibility audit gives KPU the data to develop a practical plan to 
achieve Gold standard at each of its buildings and, more importantly, a roadmap to improving 
accessibility on all campuses for students, employees, and visitors. 
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Age-Friendly University Designation 

In fall 2023, KPU became the third university in BC to officially join a network of higher 
education institutions committed to age inclusivity with membership in the Age-Friendly 
University (AFU) Global Network. Adopting the Age-Friendly University Principles indicates an 
institution's commitment to serving learners across all ages, with specific focuses on 
identifying new ways to engage lifelong learners. It focuses on ensuring that institutions of 
higher education know about, recognize, and are preparing for a globally aging world. 

South Asian Arts Festival 

Dr. Sayed, Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies, with support 
from Faculty of Arts instructors, Gurp Sian and Daniella Da Cunha Gramani, organized the 
second annual South Asian Arts Festival. This initiative, which started with an artist residency 
in 2022, has evolved into a major platform for exploring South Asian literature, music, dance, 
and food. Dozens of KPU students performed at the festival, and many more participated. 

Environmental Sustainability 

Strategic Sustainability Leadership and Support 

Recognition for Sustainability Initiatives 

KPU received a silver prize in the Excellence in Sustainable Development category of the 2024 
Awards of Excellence, presented by Colleges and Institutes Canada (CICan), Canada’s largest 
post-secondary education network. The Excellence in Sustainable Development Award 
recognizes a college or an institute that has shown leadership in the implementation and 
advancement of the Sustainable Development Goals for the benefit of their learners and 
community, and contribute to the peace and prosperity of the world, now and into the future. 
This award recognizes institutional, rather than individual, achievements. 
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Climate Strategy Lead 

KPU’s Dr. Brett Favaro was appointed to the role of KPU’s first Climate Strategy Lead for the 
2024/25 academic year. In this role, Dr. Favaro will be tasked with creating KPU’s Climate 
Strategy, which will complement Campus and Community Planning’s sustainability work, the 
Climate+ Challenge and efforts to meet UN Sustainable Development Goals. This appointment 
leverages Dr. Favaro’s experience as a conservation scientist and advocate for sustainable 
development. Dr. Favaro’s publication record reflects broad expertise in biodiversity 
conservation and environmental policy, and his ability to communicate and mobilize this 
research has informed decision-making at the federal level. 

Dedicated Sustainability Funding 

KPU has allocated $5M to be spent over the next 3 years to advance sustainability goals at KPU. 
Earmarking this funding specifically for sustainability initiatives demonstrates KPU’s 
commitment to achieving its 2030 sustainability goals. 

On-Campus Sustainability Initiatives 

The Sustainability Hub 

KPU’s Office of Sustainability (OoS), formed in summer 2023, has developed a cross-
disciplinary, cross-departmental Sustainability Hub (the “Hub”). This is intended to be a 
platform for bringing together diverse members of the KPU community to collaboratively 
tackle sustainability challenges. The Hub is a space where faculty, staff, and students come 
together to collectively advance sustainability through dialogue, advocacy, and action. As both 
a virtual space and face-to-face advisory group, the Hub has seeded working groups to focus 
on tangible, inspiring projects that can demonstrate sustainability in action within a 
polytechnic setting. Since the Hub’s kick-off meeting, two “Sub-Hubs”, or project-specific 
working groups, have been formed. One Sub-Hub has provided input on KPU’s new institution-
wide definition of sustainability, while the other has been informing the framework for KPU’s 
first Annual Sustainability Report. 

Climate+ Challenge 

KPU continues to support various climate change-related initiatives through its Climate+ 
Challenge, a university-wide initiative that engages students, faculty, and administrators in 
learning about climate change through an empathetic and solutions-oriented lens. In the 
2023/24 academic year, initiatives have included, but were not limited to, the following: 

• Facilitated discussions on topics such as future water scarcity, climate change and 
women’s vulnerability in Bangladesh, and designing systems change for addressing 
climate change; 

• A virtual book club; and 
• Live performances (e.g., short plays about the climate crisis). 
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Teaching Excellence 

Generative Artificial Intelligence 

KPU’s response to generative artificial intelligence (AI) will continue in the coming year. KPU 
led the way by developing guidance on the use of generative AI that emphasizes privacy and 
academic integrity, and outlines factors to consider when deciding whether and how to use it 
in teaching. KPU is developing seven courses on applied use of generative AI so that all KPU 
undergraduate students will have access to interdisciplinary courses that teach both the use 
of, and key issues in, generative AI. These courses will launch in fall 2025. 

KPU has established a faculty-led community of practice that allows anyone at KPU using or 
interested in generative AI to share ideas and learn together. The community of practice was 
established in March 2024 and the first session focused on a review of the guidance. We have 
also convened an industry and non-profit advisory committee to create, in spring 2024, a 
curricular framework of key competencies in applied generative AI use, and anticipate making 
this framework accessible in fall 2024. 

Supporting Sustainable Development Goal Champions 

In spring 2024, the Teaching and Learning Commons supported six UN Sustainable 
Development Goal (SDG) Champions, faculty who were awarded time releases to work on 
projects to advance these goals. Projects varied in scope, but included a proposal for a UN SDG 
House where KPU can inform and engage with local communities, faculty-wide student 
performance indicators, and individual instructors incorporating UN SDGs into their teaching 
practices. The Champions program also provided an opportunity for interdisciplinary 
discussions to take place about barriers to incorporating SDGs into teaching practices, some 
strategies to encourage engagement, and collaborative projects. In fall 2024, the Commons will 
be supporting another group of Champions as well as creating a UN SDG Community of 
Practice where new and previous Champions, as well as interested faculty members, can 
connect with each other. In addition, the Commons will hire a faculty content developer for a 
resource site to support educators to embed UN SDGs in their teaching practices. 

Teaching Technology Enhancements 

A new lightboard studio has been installed at KPU’s Langley campus. A lightboard is a 
specialized illuminated glass that enables an instructor to create videos facing the audience 
and light up ideas as they write. Instructors can also interact with multimedia materials (i.e. 
PowerPoint, slides, images, videos, etc.). Lightboard is an effective flipped classroom 
alternative to creating talking head videos and can help to increase student engagement and 
performance. 

Additionally, KPU has created four new technology-enhanced e-classrooms, which are 
designed to provide more flexibility and inclusivity in the learning environment. These 
classrooms have both classroom capture and classroom streaming equipment that allow 
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faculty to support on- and off-campus learning. With the new additions this past academic 
year, KPU now has a total of six technology-enhanced e-classrooms that can be used for hybrid 
teaching where some students are in person and others are online at the same time. 

Research and Scholarship at KPU 

Literary and Cultural Research 

Re(Imagining) the Indian Ocean World: A Symposium on Literature and Culture: Dr. Asma 
Sayed organized an international symposium at KPU Surrey campus on October 14-15, 2023, 
on the theme of the literatures and cultures of the Indian Ocean world. The symposium, which 
was made available in a hybrid format, was attended by more than 200 scholars from around 
the globe. Thirty-six research papers were presented. The keynote speaker of the symposium 
was renowned Canadian author, M. G. Vassanji. As a concluding session, Vassanji’s latest novel, 
Everything There Is, was launched, and the author was interviewed on stage by Dr. Sayed. 

Studies in Canadian Literature: A Special Issue on The Ruptured Commons (Issue 48.1, 2023): 
Dr. Sayed has co-edited, with Dr. John C. Ball of the University of New Brunswick, a special 
issue of the journal Studies in Canadian Literature. The issue includes thirteen research articles, 
and an introduction written by the co-editors. 

Sustainability Research 

Sustainability has been a key theme of KPU faculty-led research, examples of which follow. 

Identifying Disease-Causing Bacteria Impacting Fish Health 

Backed by a $278,000 grant from the BC Salmon Restoration and Innovation Fund, KPU 
researchers with the Applied Genomics Centre are developing a test to identify disease-causing 
bacteria severely impacting the health of Canada’s salmonid population, a family of fish that 
includes salmon, trout, char, and whitefish. A lack of rigorous tests to identify pathogens has 
created a challenge in monitoring and managing bacteria that cause disease in fish. This is 
particularly true for Aeromonas salmonicida, a pathogenic bacterium that severely impacts 
salmonid populations. Working with the Animal Health Centre at the B.C. Ministry of 
Agriculture and Food, KPU researchers are developing advanced molecular tests to detect 
Aeromonas salmonicida and several other disease-causing bacteria. They aim to complete the 
project by the end of 2024 and make this cost-effective test available through the B.C. Ministry 
of Agriculture and Food diagnostic lab at the Animal Health Centre in Abbotsford. 

Year-Round Sustainable Berry Production 

KPU researchers are advancing plans to sustainably grow berries out of season in Canada with 
a $1-million award from the Weston Family Foundation. Led by Dr. Deborah Henderson and 
Dr. Majid Bahrami, the KPU team’s proposal is to grow strawberries and blackberries inside 
high-tech greenhouses in a pesticide-free, carbon-neutral environment with support from 
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industry collaborators and Simon Fraser University researchers. They have outfitted an 
Institute for Sustainable Horticulture greenhouse compartment at KPU Langley with a unique 
combination of cutting-edge technology focused on plant health and clean energy to create a 
prototype suitable for widescale rollout in greenhouses across Canada. Sensors and robotic 
technologies driven by artificial intelligence will control the growing environment while 
monitoring for pests and diseases, which will be treated with non-chemical solutions. Clean 
energy will be harvested and stored between seasons, waste heat will be recovered, and carbon 
dioxide will be extracted from the air to enrich the plant environment. 

Coquitlam Watershed Research 

The Kwikwetlem Nation and KPU’s Biology department, Environmental Protection 
Technologies (EPT) program, and Applied Genomics Centre are collaborating on a project to 
determine the effects of urban activity on watershed health. The project was launched in fall 
2023 with cultural heritage training delivered to KPU students, researchers, and 
administrators associated with the project, along with members of KPU’s Office of Research 
Services, to ensure the Kwikwetlem Peoples’ cultural knowledge and alternative ways of 
knowing are incorporated into the project. Consultation with Kwikwetlem Elders and 
representatives will continue throughout the duration of the initiative. 

Lab Produced Cellulose for Textile Applications 

A collaborative research project led by by Stephanie Phillips, Endowed Sherman Jen Research 
Chair in Next Generation Design, from KPU’s Wilson School of Design and UBC Associate 
Professor Feng Jiang, Tier II Canada Research Chair in Sustainable Functional Biomaterials, 
aims to enhance the functionality and performance of man-made cellulosic fibres derived 
from BC softwood pulp through modifications informed by lab and experiential data. By 
leveraging northern bleached kraft pulp, the project explores novel approaches to cellulose 
fibre production, including improved regenerated cellulose filament methods and the 
spinnability of lab-produced cellulose for textile applications. Expected outcomes include 
technological advancements, intellectual property applications, and trained personnel 
contributing to BC's textile and material economy, positioning the region as a leader in 
sustainable material development for the bioeconomy. Partnering closely with industry and 
providing training for student research assistants, this research bridges scientific expertise 
with practical industry needs, fostering economic growth and innovation in bio-based textile 
applications. As of spring 2024, this project is in its third and final phase. 

Research Impact 

KPU-led research has demonstrated significant impacts for our research partners. Westgen, a 
farmer-owned and -directed BC company that increases performance and profitability for 
dairy and beef farmers across Western Canada by providing genetics and reproduction 
solutions, has been collaborating with KPU’s Dr. Paul Adams and the Applied Genomics Centre 
since 2019. Specifically, the partnership has focused on efforts to develop qPCR testing for 
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treatment-resistant bacterium (Mycoplasma bovis) that spreads easily in cattle herds. In a 
testimonial provided in May 2024, Westgen reported the following: 

“We have found that working with KPU’s Applied Genomics Centre has been very 
beneficial. The goal of the centre to focus exclusively on applied research in 
agriculture is a major benefit to our industry. The practical outcome of our research 
and development projects with the centre are immediately relevant to applications 
in our industry. This is of major value to Westgen, our farmers, and other partners.” 

Van Belle Nursery, a wholesale nursery based in Abbotsford, British Columbia, has worked 
with KPU for over 12 years on various research initiatives. Regarding their collaboration with 
KPU, Van Belle Nursey provided the following testimonial in May 2024: 

“Work with Dr. Henderson in KPU’s Institute of Sustainable Horticulture has 
advanced our processes, especially with regard to integrated pest management and 
the use of biocontrols and more sustainable fungicide preventative treatments. Our 
work with the Applied Genomics Centre (AGC) has been very beneficial toward 
advancing our goal of being competitive in the production of new ornamental 
varieties. Having the opportunity to work with the AGC faculty, staff, and students 
has been a great experience. The practical nature of the research performed by the 
AGC provides meaningful outcomes for our industry.” 

Student and Employee Health and Well-Being 

Sexualized Violence and Misconduct Prevention 

KPU’s Student Rights and Responsibilities Office (SRRO) provides support and education to the 
KPU community on sexual violence and misconduct (SVM). The SRRO is not a sexual assault 
centre, nor is it exclusively focussed on sexualized violence. It has a broader mandate that 
includes addressing student non-academic misconduct and handling reports of students that 
display behaviours of concern, at times involving risk and threat assessment. 

The SRRO provides support and education to the KPU community relevant to the sexual 
violence and misconduct policy (Policy SR14). The office employs a victim-centred/trauma-
informed approach as per the guiding principles of the policy and engages in the following 
activities: 

• Sexual misconduct prevention: promotes awareness and delivers education and 
training workshops; 

• Sexual misconduct response: provides support, conducts investigations, facilitates 
accommodations (course considerations), applies restorative practices, and provides 
opportunity for informal, alternative, or restorative justice resolution; 

• Policy review; and 
• Data and reporting. 

The SRRO Director chairs KPU’s Sexual Violence and Misconduct Advisory Group, the 
Behaviour Intervention Team, and co-chairs the Threat Assessment Team. KPU’s Sexual 
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Violence and Misconduct Advisory Group meets once or twice per semester to review 
information, incidents, or practices related to sexual violence or misconduct. The advisory 
group considers sexual violence and misconduct in the context of federal, provincial, and local 
government legislation (existing and pending), alongside prudent and promising practices in 
the sector related to sexual violence and misconduct. 

The SRRO manages a webpage specific to sexual violence and misconduct and provides 
education and awareness; for example, the short video on “how to receive a disclosure” is 
available in English, Mandarin, and Punjabi. KPU also has a Health Promotion department and 
they have developed a Sexual Health and Wellness webpage, collaborating with the SRRO to 
provide content about consent and awareness of the role of SRRO. 

The SRRO can deliver on-demand workshops on the following: how to receive a disclosure, 
bystander awareness, consent and healthy relationships, or a condensed version of all three 
topics. Links to the SRRO webpage, which then links to the Sexual Violence and Misconduct 
webpage, are available on KPU’s Safe app, the Telus Health Student Support app and KPU 
International’s iCent app. 

The following are activities in 2023-24 specific to awareness and prevention. 

• Since April 2023, the Safer Campuses for Everyone asynchronous, online modules have 
been available to the KPU community. These modules are promoted to students via 
email each semester. A workshop focusing on these modules was conducted at the KSA 
Sexual Education eXplores Positivity and Openness (SEXPO) event in fall 2023. As of 
November 2023, the Safer Campuses for Everyone Moodle course is digitally badged. 
Students and employees who complete all four modules receive a digital badge. 

• KPU’s existing anonymous or confidential reporting system for sexualized violence was 
enhanced in two ways. Firstly, an anonymous reporting webpage was created where 
students and employees can submit information anonymously and an email is sent 
directly to the SRRO, which can respond offering supports, resources, and an invitation 
to connect (while still remaining anonymous) if the person reporting wants that. 
Secondly, the existing KPU Safe app was enhanced to include information about how to 
report sexual violence anonymously. With these two enhancements, KPU has provided 
five different ways individuals can report sexual violence anonymously on the 
anonymous reporting webpage. As part of this enhancement, four videos, close-
captioned in English, have been created, focusing on: 
o Anonymous reporting; 
o How the SRRO supports those who disclose/report sexual violence; 
o Promoting the Safer Campuses for Everyone online Moodle course; and 
o Safety on campus (promotes the KPU Safe app and KPU Security). 

• The existing resource titled “Helping Someone Who Discloses Sexual Violence: What 
You Can Do” was updated and a new resource titled “The Student Rights and 
Responsibilities Office: How We Can Support Those Impacted by Sexual Violence and/or 
Misconduct” was developed. The First Nation Health Authority Mental Health Provider 
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List was also added to the list of external community and support services available on 
KPU’s Sexual Violence and Misconduct Support and Services webpage. 

• The SRRO developed a social media plan and put out Instagram posts about the office 
on a monthly basis. Posts specific to sexual violence and misconduct included 
promoting the SRRO’s services and the SEXPO event, promoting the Safer Campuses for 
Everyone Moodle course, highlighting International Day for the Elimination of Violence 
Against Women, and promoting an event on restorative justice as a healing response to 
sexual violence. 

• A webpage and accompanying resources focused on intimate partner/relationship 
violence were developed. Infographics have been created and a webpage for this 
information is under development and expected to be launched in fall 2024. KPU is also 
investigating whether the iHeal app, a new resource developed to support women who 
have experienced intimate partner violence, is a resource that should be included on 
the webpage. 

• The SRRO and KPU instructor Alana Abramson co-hosted an event promoting 
restorative justice. Guest speaker Jane Piper came to KPU on March 14, 2024 to speak 
about her personal experience with restorative justice as a healing response to sexual 
violence. 

• The SRRO has tried holding scheduled workshops for several years but the lack of 
attendance indicates this is not an effective method for reaching students. As a result, 
it has changed its focus to developing videos and promoting awareness via social media. 
The SRRO also presents at new student orientation, new employee orientation, inviting 
classes, KPU Community Day, and KPU Thrive Week. These presentations are a general 
overview of the SRRO and the range of services provided; sexual violence and 
misconduct is mentioned but not the focus of these presentations. In 2023 it delivered 
the following: 
o Consent, Bystander Intervention, and How to Receive a Disclosure of Sexual 

Violence workshop, September 2023; 
o Consent workshop at SEXPO event, September 2023; and 
o Safer Campuses for Everyone modules, October 2023. 

The director of the SRRO, as a member of the ministry-led Sexual Violence Advisory Group, 
provided feedback on the ministry’s draft sexualized violence action plan. Additionally, the 
director participated in one of the March 2024 engagement sessions to validate the action plan 
and also provided feedback on the plan through a survey. The Sexualized Violence Action Plan, 
once finalized, will potentially inform legislative amendments to the Sexual Violence and 
Misconduct Policy Act. Such amendments are not expected before 2025. 

KPU’s sexual violence and misconduct policy came into effect April 22, 2017. KPU launched a 
formal review of the policy review on December 6, 2023. KPU’s review process requires a two-
phase approach. The first phase, which included posting the rationale for the review and 
inviting requests to be included in the consultation, was completed in January 2024. The 
second phase of the consultation process is expected to be completed in fall 2024. Once 
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consultation is finished, the revised policy will go through the governance approval process, 
which will be completed in 2025. 

Student-Focused Health and Well-Being Initiatives 

Formalization of Student Wellness Portfolio 

A new Director, Student Wellness position was created in February 2023, which includes the 
Student Health Promotion, Sport and Recreation, and the Multi-Faith Centre units. The director 
is an institutional leader of healthy university initiatives focused on planning and strategy to 
enhance organizational capacity, raise awareness, and develop a proactive, preventative 
approach for student-facing campus health and wellness initiatives, including mental health. 
Initiatives focus on programming that promotes student wellness, active lifestyles, nutrition 
and food security, community, social support, and inclusion. 

The director has been selected to participate in the Education Advisory Board (EAB) Rising 
Higher Education Leaders Fellowship. As part of the fellowship program she will work with an 
expert at EAB on a capstone project centred on finalizing KPU’s student mental health strategy 
and developing an implementation plan, in alignment with the goals set out in VISION 2026. 

Pride Peers Program 

With support from the Office of the Provost and Vice President, Academic, and the Office of 
Equity and Inclusive Communities, Student Health Promotion launched the Pride Peers 
Program in August 2023. This peer-led program focuses on offering social support and 
mentorship to 2SLGBTQIA+ students, provides resource navigation and referral, and advocates 
for enhanced equity, diversity, inclusion, and social justice at KPU. Based out of KPU’s Pride 
Society office space at KPU Surrey, the program is intended to broaden its presence to other 
KPU campuses in the 2024/25 academic year. 

Nutrition Month 

Student Health Promotion hosted a month-long nutrition campaign that involved a ‘grab and 
go’ breakfast program reaching approximately 3,600 students across all KPU campuses; the 
launch of a new KPU online resource focused on food, nutrition, and food security; and on-
campus engagement activities such as food workshops and information booths. 

Food Security Grant 

Coordinated through Student Awards and Financial Assistance, this grant program ran in 
conjunction with Nutrition Month and supported over 2,300 domestic and international 
students, 300 of whom were student parents with dependent children, with $500,000 in 
financial support targeted at food security needs. 
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Student Mental Health Fair 

Student Health Promotion hosted the 2nd Annual Student Mental Health Fair on January 2024 
at the Surrey Conference Center. The event aimed to support student mental health through 
activities like information booths, therapy dogs, low-sensory spaces, painting, video games, 
and free fitness classes. Over 250 students were in attendance. 

Mindful Campus Initiative 

The Wilson School of Design rolled out the Mindful Campus Initiative in fall 2023. Led by 
Ontario-based OCAD University in partnership with the Centre for Mindfulness Studies, it 
aimed to help students develop skills to support and maintain their mental health and well-
being. As part of the initiative, participating students (Peer Ambassadors), staff, and faculty 
completed mindfulness and resilience training. Students and staff also met weekly for short, 
facilitator-led, guided meditation sessions. Participants were served lunch following the 
sessions to encourage participation and provide a free meal to students who may be facing 
food insecurity. Other events hosted by the Peer Ambassador team included pilates, therapy 
dogs, mobile massage, and more. These events garnered a high level of engagement and 
positive feedback from students. 

Employee-focused Health and Well-Being Initiatives 

Mental Health Support 

KPU regularly runs workshops and provides resources for employees and managers in mental 
health first aid. These workshops are designed to recognize signs of decline in mental well-
being or crisis in themselves and others, and to understand supports available. In addition, 
KPU runs many workshops designed to support employee wellness such as healthy eating, 
building emotional intelligence, and practicing mindfulness and meditation. 

Expanded Health and Wellness Benefits 

The 2023/24 academic year saw significant enhancements to employee extended health 
benefits that reflect KPU’s commitments to inclusivity and decolonization, and to better 
support employee mental health. The following is a summary of key changes: 

• The collective agreements include an expanded definition of family as it applies to 
bereavement leave to include Indigenous Elders or other individuals that an 
Indigenous employee considers family, consistent with their Indigenous cultural 
practices. 

• The collective agreements include the establishment of a joint committee that will 
include Indigenous employees to identify areas of common interest in the collective 
agreements which could further efforts to decolonize and Indigenize working 
conditions. The committee will provide guidance to the parties prior to negotiating the 
next agreements. 

2. KPU’s Strategic Priorities 55 



    

       
     

   

       
    

         
          

     
  

• The collective agreements and the administrative terms and conditions include the 
establishment of an Employee Wellness Fund which provides financial support which 
encourages health and wellness. 

• Both the BCGEU collective agreement and the administrative terms and conditions 
include gender affirmation/transition treatment up to $30,000 per insured. 

• The Kwantlen Faculty Association collective agreement and administrative terms and 
conditions now include the provision for support for addictions up to $25,000, and 
eligibility for service providers providing mental health supports to include clinical 
counsellors, psychotherapists, and social workers. 
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3. KPU Profile 
KPU is a regional polytechnic university with a focus on teaching and learning. Serving a large 
and densely populated region in the Lower Mainland of BC, KPU has five campuses – 
Richmond, Surrey, Civic Plaza (also in Surrey), Langley, and KPU Tech in Cloverdale – spread 
across 42 kilometres south of the Fraser River. 

Figure 3.1 below shows the distribution of filled seats by campus, as well as online and off-site 
delivery.17 In March 2020, instruction pivoted to online delivery which continued throughout 
the following 2020/21 academic year. In the 2020/21 academic year, 93% of the student body 
had enrolled in online courses and only a limited number of classes were held on campus – 
those that required hands-on training to use technology or other forms of experiential 
learning. Since then, KPU has increased the number of on-campus classes significantly. While 
demand for online courses remains high post-pandemic, interest in in-person learning 
continues to increase. For example, 48,882 seats were filled by online courses in the 2021/22 
academic year, which converted to 39% of all seats filled in the academic year. The number 
dropped in both absolute and relative terms in AY2022/23 – 29,846 seats were filled by online 
courses, which were 23% of all seats filled. In the same academic year, more students were 
attending classes on KPU’s Surrey campus than online. 

Figure 3.1 – Number of Filled Seats at Each Campus 
Academic Years 2021/22 and 2022/23 compared 

2021/22 2022/23 

58,653 

19,908 

10,248 

6,108 

5,289 

29,846 

1,561 

Surrey 

Richmond 

Langley 

Civic Plaza 

Cloverdale 

Online 

Offsite 

17 Unless otherwise noted, all data in this report are drawn from internal KPU datasets. 
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Note, students can attend more than one campus, and take a mixture of in-person and online 
courses. In AY2022/23, 33% of the student body attended multiple campuses for classes (see 
Figure 3.2). The percentage was higher for international students compared to domestic 
students. 

Figure 3.2 – Proportion of Students Attending Multiple Campuses 
2022/23 Academic Year 

Total: 33% 

International: 39% 

Domestic: 30% 

KPU offers a wide range of programs from arts to trades, to academic upgrading, and 
continuing and professional studies. Annually, over 20,000 students take courses from a range 
of programs, including apprenticeship training, certificates, diplomas, associate and bachelor’s 
degrees, and post-baccalaureate and graduate credentials. As a polytechnic university, we 
combine academic excellence and hands-on, applied learning with a focus on producing job-
ready graduates who have the skills required to make valuable contributions to BC’s workforce 
and communities. 

Some of KPU’s unique programs include the Faculty of Arts’ Diploma in Advanced 3D 
Animation and 3D Modelling, the School of Business’ Graduate Diploma in Green Business 
Management, the School of Design’s Technical Apparel Design program, the Faculty of 
Science’s Brewing and Brewery Operations program, and the Faculty of Health’s Acupuncture 
Diploma. 

KPU Programming 

Faculty of Academic and Career Preparation 

The Faculty of Academic and Career Preparation (ACP) supports students who wish to improve 
their academic English language skills, and those who wish to learn employability skills for 
entry into the workforce. All students on the Pathway to Undergraduate Studies take ACP 
classes to upgrade their English. KPU’s Learning Centres, located at Surrey, Richmond, Langley, 
and KPU Tech campuses, are also part of ACP. Students can receive individualized learning 
assistance, help with study skills, English language support, and free one-to-one or small group 
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tutoring in a range of subjects. Students also have access to peer tutors who are active KPU 
students, recruited through faculty referral. The KPU Learning Centre Peer Tutor Training 
Program is a comprehensive three-phase learning opportunity that has won national 
accolades. 

In the English Language Studies department, students for whom English is an additional 
language can take academic English language classes at four different levels. These classes 
prepare students to meet KPU’s English proficiency requirement for academic programs or 
trades training, and enhance their success in undergraduate studies. 

The English Upgrading department offers courses designed for native English speakers who 
wish to meet KPU’s English proficiency admission requirements or the requirements for the 
BC Adult Graduation Diploma. The department also offers upgrading classes at the Phoenix 
Drug & Alcohol Recovery and Education Centre and at the Tsawwassen First Nation for the 
Nation’s members. In addition, the department offers a Literacy Communities course in which 
students with intellectual disabilities develop their skills in reading comprehension, computer 
literacy, and math, while building their social connections. 

The Access Programs department offers the Citation in Employment and Community Studies 
program, which is designed for students with diverse learning needs that hinder educational 
success. In this program, students engage in hands-on learning and work experience 
opportunities in community settings, while critically engaging with social justice and ableism 
issues that impact the lives of people with disabilities. 

ACP partners with five community-based organizations who deliver Community Adult 
Literacy programs in Richmond, Surrey, and Langley. These programs range from one-on-one 
tutoring with volunteer tutors, to group programs where parents and grandparents read with 
their children, and groups for those looking to improve their English skills in order to gain 
employment or move into further academic study. ACP also provides administrative support 
to Third Age Learning at Kwantlen, which provides adults age 50 and over with stimulating 
courses taught by subject matter experts, including many KPU faculty members. 

Faculty of Arts 

Almost all KPU undergraduate students will have contact with the Faculty of Arts over the 
course of their studies. The Faculty’s wide array of programs engages with a diverse range of 
social and cultural realities, equipping students with the analytical acumen, intellectual 
insight, and communicative capacity to translate thought into action. 

Key principles grounding the practice of the Faculty are social justice, community, equity, 
sustainability, and inclusion. These underlie and inform much of the Faculty’s teaching. The 
Faculty of Arts has also played a leading role in the development of Indigenous education 
initiatives and projects at KPU, including a Minor in Indigenous Community Justice, a Cree 
language course, the Indigenous Artists/Writers in Residence, as well as the launch of the 
Indigenous Studies department in 2023. 
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The Entertainment Arts (ENTA) programs are another recent addition to the Faculty. Launched 
in summer 2022, ENTA offers four credentials: Advanced Game Development Diploma, 
Advanced 3D Animation and 3D Modelling Diploma, Advanced VFX Diploma, and Foundation 
in Entertainment Arts Certificate, all focusing on digital arts and training students for careers 
in a flourishing global industry, particularly in Greater Vancouver. 

Experiential education is a foundational part of the pedagogy within the Faculty of Arts. The 
Faculty boasts a diverse range of service-learning courses, practica, field-schools, the Inside-
Out Prison Exchange program, and other community-engaged projects. 

Home to a Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies, as well as three 
multi-year Chancellor’s chairs, the Faculty of Arts is consistent in winning municipal, 
provincial, and national research grants. The Faculty believes a robust program of faculty and 
undergraduate student research is vital to the larger goal of educational excellence. The 
development of research and scholarship capacity is a priority within the larger institutional 
context, and the Faculty of Arts is working to deepen the connection between research and 
teaching by expanding the range of student opportunities available through course 
development; the “ArtsNet” online research hub; the annual Arts Speaker Series; and 
community initiatives, such as the South Asian Arts Festival, SideQuest: A Student-Led Game 
Creation team, and the Wake Up Social Justice Music Festival. 

The Faculty of Arts develops well-rounded, innovative, and critically-minded graduates. 
Programs offered by the Faculty empower graduates with skills in critical thinking, problem 
solving and innovation, effective communication, intercultural awareness, information and 
numerical literacy, social justice, professionalism, teamwork, and accountability. These are 
skills that students need to flourish and prosper, and skills that the local community and the 
world urgently demand. In nurturing these skills, the Faculty of Arts engenders a sense of 
social engagement and responsibility, and fosters a wider awareness of intricately 
interconnected human issues, empowering graduates to build meaningful and socially 
engaged lives, and a better world. 

Melville School of Business 

The Melville School of Business (MSB) is one of the largest business schools in Western Canada, 
offering 22 programs in undergraduate, post-baccalaureate, and graduate levels. There are 
programs in a range of disciplines such as accounting, marketing, human resources, business 
management, business administration, information technology, operations and supply chain 
management, cyber security, and business environmental sustainability. 

MSB’s leadership team regularly meets with community partners to ensure program 
curriculums remain competitive in the workforce. An example is the Human Resources 
Management program that was re-imagined with direct feedback from students, instructors, 
and industry including the Chartered Professionals in Human Resources of British Columbia 
and Yukon. The revised program was introduced for the fall 2022 semester. 
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MSB completed a strategic plan renewal in 2023 and is committed to meeting its four main 
goals: the pursuit of educational excellence, to transform experiences within Melville, 
reciprocal partnerships and relations, and excellence in applied scholarship. The initiative 
called “Melville Ideation Sessions” have been held regularly for staff and faculty to focus on 
the strategic plan initiatives and goals. Presentation examples include Indigenous Business 
Education, Decolonization in Higher Education, and Social Responsibility of Business 
Education. In addition, the MSB completed a first-year strategic report for distribution in June  
2024. 

The Business Strategy Internship program has supported local businesses with affordable 
talent while providing soon-to-graduate Business students with paid work experience in their 
area of study, a stepping stone for future employment opportunities, and the chance to apply 
their knowledge in a real business setting. The program was made possible by Mitacs’ funding 
of $670,000 in the first three years and an additional $500,000 (100 internships) for the next 
two years. The RBC Foundation’s contribution of $300,000 supports the hiring of three KPU 
student assistants to work with the Melville Business Internship team for four years, and 
subsidize even more business partners who hire our students under the age of 30 and 
traditionally underrepresented in the sector. Just since summer 2022, 148 students have been 
paired with 59 different industry partners, with some employers taking up to five students in 
one intake. 

Over the past few years, MSB has offered numerous dual credit sections to high school 
students. In fall 2023, seven dual credit sections were offered across the Computer Science and 
Information Technology, Entrepreneurial Leadership, Accounting, and Business Quantitative 
Studies departments. In spring 2024, six additional sections were offered between marketing 
and computer information systems. Over the past four summers, MSB has run a sessional dual 
credit cohort section, Litigation and Civil Procedure, dedicated to dual credit students in the 
Surrey School District. In spring 2022, computer information systems dedicated a cohort 
section, Systems Analysis and Design, to dual credit students from the Abbotsford School 
District. 

MSB has an annual scholarship of $30,000 over four years for one domestic student entering a 
BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership. The funding was established through the collective efforts 
of past students in the program. In addition, the MSB announced the first Business full-ride 
scholarship for any student entering the School, made possible through the generosity of 
George and Sylvia Melville and the Melville Foundation’s gift of $8 million in 2021. Starting fall 
2025, the first student will be awarded this scholarship and then one student each fall 
thereafter. 

MSB remains accredited by the Accreditation Council for Business Schools and Programs, an 
internationally recognized accreditation body, and continues offering a blend of face-to-face, 
hybrid, and online offerings to increase the flexibility for domestic and international learners 
alike. 
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Wilson School of Design 

The Wilson School of Design (WSD) offers programs that reflect the polytechnic nature of KPU. 
WSD offers certificate, diploma, degree, and post-baccalaureate programs in design 
foundations, fashion marketing, front-end development for interactive applications, fashion 
and technology, graphic design, product design, interior design, and technical apparel design. 
Students are engaged with industry through practicums and work experience placements, 
collaborative industry projects, and research and development. 

The newest Design program launches in fall 2024 with the first cohort of students in the 2-year 
Diploma for Front-End Development for Interactive Applications, described in the Strategic 
Priorities chapter. 

KPU's Fashion and Technology degree program gives students the opportunity to develop 
design concepts using practice-led research and creative and technical skills to work in the 
apparel industry. The Diploma in Fashion Marketing program prepares students to work 
across the apparel industry as entrepreneurs, leaders, and innovators, and they may also 
choose to ladder into KPU’s Bachelor of Business Administration program or other degree 
programs. 

The Product Design degree program focuses on the growing demand for the design of a broad 
range of products including technical soft goods, medical devices/equipment, and sustainable 
and ethical design solutions. Students in the Post-Baccalaureate Diploma in Technical Apparel 
Design program pursue advanced studies in strategic design innovation, technical textiles, 
human factors and user experience testing, production, capstone research, and global business 
strategies. 

The Graphic Design for Marketing degree program offers a balanced education in graphic 
design, marketing, business strategies, interactive technologies, and user experience, 
reflecting the conceptual and technical skills to tackle design challenges that impact society. 

The Interior Design degree program provides a rigorous education in the built environment 
where students learn the practical design and technical knowledge needed for a professional 
career as an interior designer. The program offers an honours option and is the first of its kind 
in Canada, providing selected participants with further depth in their capstone studies. 

In March 2024, Pamela Baker, a renowned Indigenous designer and fashion expert with 35 
years of experience, became the first Indigenous Designer in Residence at the Wilson School 
of Design. A highly accomplished Indigenous artist, designer, and entrepreneur, Baker has an 
impressive history of art and design accolades ranging from large-scale art installations, to 
Olympic regalia designs, to fashion show production. Baker has provided student 
consultations, guest lectures, workshops, and designer discussions. 

3. KPU Profile 62 



    

   

     
   

     
   

 

       
    

    
 

  
        

     
  

       
   

    
      

   

     
   

           
    

   

    
  

     

   
           

        
      

        
  

   

   

  
      

Faculty of Health 

The Faculty of Health makes significant contributions to health and community-related 
programming provincially, nationally, and internationally, serving both traditional and non-
traditional learners. The Faculty uses curricula that combine a foundation in theory with 
innovative, practical, and hands-on experience to ensure students’ knowledge can be put into 
action. 

The nursing degree programs, Diploma in Traditional Chinese Medicine – Acupuncture 
program, and Certificate in Health Care Assistant program have mandatory provincial 
recognition to ensure quality curriculum and experiences for students, as well as broad 
acceptance by employers. 

Programs integrate experiential learning through lab and practice placements. Practice 
placements provide real-world experiences for students to demonstrate existing skills and to 
develop advanced skills and critical thinking. These placements are supervised by an 
experienced faculty member who leads the student through real-world applications, 
expanding the student’s knowledge. Practice placements include hospitals, long-term care 
facilities, public health programs, global outreach, and other field work. Under the direction 
and supervision of well-qualified faculty, the traditional Chinese medicine students provide 
assessment and acupuncture treatments to the public in the student clinic at KPU’s Richmond 
campus and at Villa Cathay Care Home. 

KPU is an active partner with the Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills, the 
Ministry of Health, and the health authorities in addressing the critical shortage of health care 
assistants and nurses. To bolster and support the number of new nurses in BC, the Province 
invested in KPU to launch a Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN) to Registered Nurse (RN) Pilot 
Program starting summer 2024, as described in the Strategic Priorities chapter. 

KPU continues to deliver the Health Care Assistant Partnership program with the Fraser Health 
Authority. This partnership model integrates student learning and employment, adding more 
health care assistants to the health system where they are vitally needed. 

As well, over the last two years, KPU has implemented the expansion of its nursing programs 
to accommodate an additional 115 students on an ongoing basis. The labs at the Langley 
Campus have undergone significant renovations to accommodate this increase. The 
consolidation of two classrooms into a spacious lab and the addition of 12 advanced Laerdal 
manikins have enhanced the Faculty of Health’s dynamic approach and the hands-on learning 
experience. By innovating through theory and practice, learners are transformed into leaders 
who will ultimately change the face of their communities. 

Faculty of Science 

The Faculty of Science consists of nine departments, which include biology, chemistry, physics, 
mathematics, computer assisted design and drafting, environmental protection, brewing and 
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brewery operations, sustainable agriculture, and horticulture. Collectively, the Faculty offers 
29 academic credentials including citations, certificates, diplomas, and degrees. Additionally, 
the Horticulture department offers apprenticeship programs in landscape horticulture and 
arboriculture. Programs are offered on the campuses of Cloverdale, Langley, Richmond, and 
Surrey. KPU’s offerings in science cluster into three broad areas: agriculture and horticulture, 
job-ready diplomas and certificates, and applied science training at the bachelor’s level. All 
programs share a commitment to empiricism, and require students to engage in hands-on 
learning as part of their programs of study. 

There are several degree programs in the Faculty, including a Bachelor of Science in Biology 
and a Bachelor of Science in Health Sciences. The upper level courses are taught in the Surrey 
campus science labs. The Bachelor of Science in Physics for Modern Technology provides 
students with an applied program designed with the needs of local industry in mind, including 
a work placement component. The Bachelor of Science in Applications of Mathematics allows 
students to choose from streams in biomathematics, education, or computational mathematics. 
The highly innovative Bachelor of Applied Science in Sustainable Agriculture degree is 
partnering with the City of Richmond to develop a 20-acre organic research and teaching farm 
located 500 meters from the Richmond campus, and students can also learn and conduct 
research in the new KPU Seed Lab, assisting seed growers to improve quality and production 
efficiency. 

The KPU Applied Genomics Centre at the Surrey campus has state-of-the-art genomics and 
metabolomic tools that enable students in many programs to gain hands-on research 
experience, skills, and community engagement through faculty-led research projects. The 
School of Horticulture’s field lab, greenhouses, technical training shops, and a three-hole 
demonstration golf course provide students with opportunities for hands-on learning. 

Additionally, the Physics for Modern Technology program has a Cloud Lab, an online-based 
tool wherein students are able to conduct applied physics experiments remotely over an 
internet connection. 

The Computer-Aided Design & Drafting (CADD) Technologies Diploma program allows students 
to choose specialties such as architectural and structural as they prepare for a career as a 
CADD/Drafting Technician. There is also a first-year Engineering Certificate which provides a 
gateway into the second year of the major BC engineering schools, and there are also 
horticulture apprenticeship programs in landscape horticulture and arboriculture. 

The award-winning Diploma in Brewing and Brewery Operations program provides training 
in the science, art, business, and practical aspects of the brewing industry, with hands-on 
experience in the 4,500 square foot KPU Brewing Instructional Laboratory. 

Upgrading courses in biology, mathematics, and physics are offered through the Faculty of 
Science, joining the chemistry upgrading courses. These provide extra options and help to 
lessen gaps for students starting their university education. 

3. KPU Profile 64 



    

    

   
   
   

     

   
  
  
  
  
  
   
   
  
  

   
      

    
     

    

  
      

     

   
  

      
        

     
 

       
      

       
    

    
      

Faculty of Trades and Technology 

KPU’s Faculty of Trades and Technology programs and courses, including apprentice training, 
are primarily offered at the KPU Tech campus in Cloverdale. Programs focus on 
experiential/hands-on learning, where classroom sessions are coupled with practical applied 
skills. Many of the programs follow the SkilledTradesBC curriculum. 

Programs that follow the SkilledTradesBC curriculum modules include: 
• Appliance Service Technician; 
• Automotive Service Technician; 
• Carpentry; 
• Construction Electrician; 
• Metal Fabrication; 
• Millwright (Industrial Mechanic); 
• Parts and Warehousing/Partsperson; 
• Piping/Plumbing; and 
• Welding. 

Non-SkilledTradesBC programs that are Senate-approved include the Certificate in Farrier 
Science and the Diploma in Mechatronics and Advanced Manufacturing Technology. 

The Metal Fabrication Foundation program was successfully re-launched in spring 2023 and 
an additional offering began in spring 2024. The program is offered both as a standalone and 
a Youth Train in Trades option, and continues to see growth. 

The Automotive Service Technician program offered its first Zero Emissions Vehicle training 
in spring 2024 as a Continuing and Professional Studies add-on for in-service Automotive 
Service Technicians who have completed their Red Seal Certification. 

The Faculty has extensive and valued relationships with employers and industries through 
work-integrated learning opportunities. As described in the Strategic Priorities chatper, the 
Faculty also maintains close relationships with many school districts, offering Youth Train in 
Trades options to high school students in the majority of our programs. This is an opportunity 
for high school students to earn credits toward their high school diploma while also earning 
Level 1 of their technical trades training through the SkilledTradesBC. 

The Faculty continues to partner with the Squamish First Nation and has focused primarily on 
Introduction to Carpentry and Carpentry Level 1 offerings. The Faculty has continued to work 
closely with representatives from the Nation to customize training for their students’ wants, 
needs, and job market opportunities. Additionally, in partnership with Aboriginal Community 
Career Employment Services Society, the Faculty offered two intakes of Indigenous Trades 
Samplers where students had the opportunity to explore three to four trades at KPU Tech. 

3. KPU Profile 65 



    

  

     
  

 
   

  

       

       
  

      

 
     

    
   

 

   
       

    
       

  

       
   

   
 

   
       
     

   
  

      
    

Continuing and Professional Studies 

KPU’s Continuing & Professional Studies (CPS) provides continuous, innovative, and diverse 
educational programming. CPS’ mandate is to develop and offer ongoing opportunities for 
learners to engage in flexible, innovative, and high-quality, short-term, non-credit 
programming that is responsive to industry and community needs, and that supports 
upskilling, reskilling, career advancement, professional growth, and lifelong learning. 

CPS courses are offered through the Faculties, and include the following: 

The Faculty of Health offers courses for registered nurse and licensed practical nurse refresher 
training with courses such as Pharmacology, Canadian Nursing Theory and Practice, Nurse 
Ready, Psychomotor Skills Review, Professional Communication, Gerontology in Nursing, 
Introduction to the Canadian Health Care System, as well as clinical and assessment offerings. 

The Faculty of Trades and Technology works with industry associations and regulators to 
identify training needs to support workers and meet ever-changing industry needs. Through 
the integration of theoretical and technical hands-on training, the Faculty offers courses such 
as Cross Connection Certification and Recertification, Welding Upgrading, Automotive Inter-
Provincial Refresher, and Electric Vehicle Maintenance Training. 

The Faculty of Science has short-term courses taught by industry professionals. These include 
a selection of courses from Brewing Chemistry Basics for students entering the Diploma in 
Brewing and Brewery Operations program, to Small Batch Brewing Basics of Hobbyists for 
those interested in home brewing, and Professional Pest Management for those looking for 
applied skills in a new field. 

The Melville School of Business offers courses, such as Decoding Company Financial 
Statements for Non-Accountants, Startup Finances, Being a Creative Entrepreneur, Finding the 
Right Product, and Indigenous Entrepreneurship, for budding entrepreneurs, HR 
professionals, accounting novices, industry experts, and community partners. 

The Wilson School of Design has an array of courses for learners who are keen on broadening 
their knowledge of the fashion industry or who are enthusiasts who want to unleash their 
creativity and learn basic techniques and processes. These are courses such as Sewing Dresses, 
Adventure Pack Bag Making, Using Industrial Sewing Machines, Explore Fashion Careers, the 
Summer Design Foundation Academy, and more. 

Also new are courses such as Teaching Children to Read and a newly developed skill workshop 
on Generative Artificial Intelligence which will launch in fall 2024. 
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KPU Students 

Student Headcounts 

Figure 3.3 shows the trend of total student headcounts, and breakdowns by domestic and 
international status. Over the past five years, KPU’s international enrolments have grown 
while domestic enrolments have declined, resulting in total enrolments dropping to nearly 
19,000 in AY2020/21, and recovering in AY2021/22 due to a sharp increase in international 
enrolments. Changes in both domestic and international enrolments stabilized in AY2022/23 
when the total enrolments approached 21,000. In AY2022/23, just over two thirds of all KPU 
students were enrolled in programs in either the School of Business or the Faculty of Arts. For 
international students, 68% were enrolled in the School of Business, 23% were enrolled in the 
Faculty of Arts, and 13% were enrolled in the Faculty of Science. 

Figure 3.3 – Domestic and International Headcounts 
By Academic Year, 2018/19 to 2022/23 
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15,135 
13,503 13,005 12,830 

International 

Total 

Domestic 
8,003 7,524 

5,633 4,967 5,136 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

KPU offers a wide array of courses in all three terms each year. Although enrolment is highest 
in the fall term, just over half the student body studies in the summer term each year (Figure 
3.4), an increase from about 45% prior to the pandemic. The proportion of FTEs delivered in 
the summer is much lower than headcounts, reflecting the fact that more students study part-
time in the summer than in other terms. 
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Figure 3.4 – Proportion of Headcounts and FTEs Delivered in the Summer 
By Academic Year, 2018/19 to 2022/23 
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23% 24% 24% Headcounts 21%19% 
FTEs 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Students often take courses outside their home faculty. Figure 3.5 displays the number of 
students enrolled in programs in the faculty (program headcount), and the number taking 
courses offered by the faculty (course headcount). Faculty of Arts teaches more students 
through the courses it offers, but there are more students pursuing programs in the School of 
Business. Although only 1% of all students were registered in ACP programs, ACP delivered 
courses to 3% of all students in AY2022/23. 

Figure 3.5 – Distribution of Student Headcount by Course and Program Faculty 
2022/23 Academic Year 

Course Headcount Program Headcount 

12,582 
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1,075 
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6,054 

9,020 
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1,200 
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436 

328 

Arts 

Business 

Science 

Trades 

Health 

ACP 

Design 

CPS 

Although 79% of KPU students studied full-time in FY2022/23, as usual, the majority took less 
than a full load (usually defined as 15 credits per term). FTE enrolments, which convert student 
headcounts into the equivalent number of students studying with a full course load, are 
depicted in Figure 3.6. From FY2020/21, total FTEs have increased, peaking at 14,162 in 2023/24. 
Up to 2022/23, domestic FTEs were declining, but increased in 2023/24. After increasing for 
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four years, international FTEs declined in 2023/24. Since FY2019/20, KPU has had controls in 
place to limit the number of new international students admitted each year to ensure capacity 
remains for domestic students. 

Figure 3.6 – Domestic and International FTEs 
By Fiscal Year, 2019/20 to 2023/24 
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8,594 8,137 7,932 8,243 Total 

Domestic 

International 
6,087 5,920 

4,864 
3,371 3,559 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Student Profile 2022/23 

This profile of the KPU student body compares the characteristics of domestic and 
international students. International students made up 38% of all KPU in AY2022/23. Compared 
to domestic students, international students were more likely to be aged 19 to 22 years, be new 
to KPU, studying full-time, and pursue either undergraduate or graduate studies. 

Age Groups 

Domestic International 

18 and under 19% 14% 

19 to 22 37% 59% 

23 to 29 27% 20% 

30 to 39 12% 5% 

40 and above 6% 2% 
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<1% Graduate 4% 

3% Pathway 2% 

11% Vocational <1% 

2% Preparatory <1% 

84% Undergraduate 95% 

What Students Tell Us 

In fall 2023, over 5,000 KPU students responded to the annual Student Satisfaction Survey. 

KPU was first choice First-generation Working a paid job 
Student wanted to attend KPU Student’s parents did not attend Student worked in paid 
as their first-choice institution. post-secondary education. employment while attending KPU. 

100% 100% 100% 85% 
76% 

59% 

68%66% 

37% 

0% 
2019 2023 

0% 
2019 2023 

0% 
2019 2023 

Domestic International 
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Racial and ethnic background 

The majority of both domestic and international students identified as racialized. Indian, 
Filipino, and Chinese were the three largest racial groups in the student body. 

Total Domestic International 78% Racialized 

97% 

65% 

78% 

40% 

9% 

7% 

24% 

9% 

8% 

62% 

8% 

6% 

Indian 

Filipino 

Chinese 

Educational experience 

Satisfaction with overall educational experience has remained high among both domestic and 
international students since returning to campus after the COVID-19 pandemic. Over two-
thirds of students were enrolled in all the courses they wanted in fall 2023. 

Satisfied with overall educational experience Enrolled in all desired courses 

100% 100% 
83% 

73% 

78% 
68% 

0% 0% 
2019 2023 2019 2023 

Domestic International 
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4. Student Innovation and Research 
This chapter profiles some KPU student-led research and innovation projects. Some of this has 
been funded through KPU’s Student Research and Innovation Grants. Some of these projects 
have been conducted with or for external partners. 

Wilson School of Design students design tents to protect firefighters from 
wildfire smoke 

The prototype shelters, designed for use 
on fire lines and fire camps, aim to 
provide wildfire crews access to clean air 
in smoky environments. The shelters are 
easy to set up and equipped with a three-
layer air filtration system similar to 
advanced cabin air filters. The system 
removes a wide range of pollutants and 
creates a breathable environment within 
the tent. Multiple prototypes were 
designed and produced by students in 
the product design program. The BC 
Wildfire Service has plans to test these 
clean-air shelter prototypes at fire camps 
impacted by wildfire smoke this 
summer. 

“These professionals are often stationed 
far from their base camps and are 
constantly exposed to harmful smoke 
and poor air quality, even during 
breaks,” shared Kevin Kang, a third-year product design student. “Our goal was to create a 
clean-air shelter that could help reduce the immediate dangers of smoke inhalation and 
address the long-term health risks.” 

The theme of this year's project was inspired by John Valliant's book Fire Weather: The Making 
of a Beast, which is about wildfires in northern Alberta. 

Photo: Hunter Cuthbert (left) and Kevin Kang (right) assemble a 
prototype clean-air shelter in the field. 
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Wilson School of Design student upcycles old clothes into winning design 

Photo:  Clara Devina wearing her winning garment. 

A third-year student in the Fashion Design 
and Technology program, Clara Devina, 
won the Wilson School of Design’s 2024 
Upcycled Design Competition and $2000 
prize with a handmade dress-like crocheted 
garment that symbolizes the web of life. 
“We can go thrifting instead of shopping or 
donate clothes instead of letting them pile 
up,” said Devina. “Participating in this 
competition is one of my ways to support 
sustainability.” Devina used weaving and 
crocheting techniques to reflect the ideas of 
connectedness. The use of yarn is also very 
symbolic, as it represents the idea that 
everything in nature begins small. 

For the competition, participants were 
encouraged to incorporate environmental 
and social responsibility into their work, 
creating a three-dimensional design with 
recycled textiles and found objects. This 
year’s theme was Gaia, a term from Greek 
mythology meaning ‘mother of all life.’ It 
was inspired by scientist James Lovelock's 
theory that suggests all living organisms are 
connected and form synergetic, self-
regulated systems. 
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History student investigates media’s reporting of relationship between 
Canadian companies and Brazil’s military dictatorship 

Working with a team of sociology and 
history researchers at KPU, history 
student Nolan Jensen investigated the 
connection between Light/Brascan and 
Brazilian technocrats during the latter’s 
military regime (1964-1985). Jensen’s 
research was supported by a Student 
Research & Innovation Grant (SRIG), and 
he presented his results at KPU’s 
Empowering Minds Conference in March 
2024. “We spent months researching 
available primary and secondary source 
materials, wrote an in-depth report, and 
had the opportunity to present our 
findings for the Canadian Journal of 
Latin American and Caribbean Studies at 
the University of Toronto,” said Jensen. “I 
know that I will be able to call upon the 
experience in future endeavours in 
academia.” 

Business students explore applications of AI in supply chain and logistics 
to reduce carbon emissions 

Shoplan Aralova and Nichol Louis, 
post-graduate students in the 
Operations and Supply Chain 
Management program, worked with 
Business instructor Dr. Marcelo 
Machado to conduct research on 
how AI technologies can be 
integrated into supply chain 
operations to improve efficiency, 
while simultaneously minimizing 

Photo: Shoplan Aralova (left) and Nichol Louis (right). environmental impact. “We 
uncovered insights that challenge conventional notions,” said Aralova. “This experience has 
expanded my knowledge and fueled my passion for sustainable business practices in the 
supply chain. I am proud to have contributed to this important dialogue, and I look forward to 
seeing how our research influences future initiatives in the field.” 

Photo: Nolan Jensen presenting his research. 
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Brew Lab students craft beer with distinct Korean cultural flair 

Korean international students 
Ui Sun Hwang and Su Kim 
collaborated with KPU 
alumnus Donghwan Chang and 
domestic students Thomas 
Nickel and Hyorae Kim to 
create a one-of-a-kind beer. 
Named ‘Harvest Saison,’ the 
recipe calls for hops that smell 
like pears, apples, and melons – 
commonly associated with 
Korean alcohol – in addition to 
a combination of rice flakes, 
barley malt, wheat malt, and 
Saison yeast to create a beer 
reminiscent of Korean rice 
wines. 

“The addition of rice was 
chosen to give the beer a clean 

and smooth flavour, while also taking into account our cultural background,” said Hwang. “We 
wanted to combine Belgian-style beer with elements inspired by traditional Korean liquors 
and German hops to create a truly unique beer.” 

Applied Genomics student helps agriculture prepare for global warming 

In partnership with Thompson Rivers 
University and a ranch in Beaverdell, RJ 
Wester is studying the heat resistance of cattle 
at KPU’s Applied Genomics Centre (AGC). Using 
genetic tools, Wester is tracking the single 
mutation that causes cattle from the tropics to 
be heat resistant. He is also assessing the heat 
resistance capabilities of cattle with this 
mutation using gene expression and blood 
protein markers related to heat stress. The 
hope is to help breeders produce beef cattle 
that are better able to sustain Canada’s rising 
temperatures. The “experience has allowed 
me to open up my options for careers in the 
future,” said Wester. 

Photo: (From left to right) Ui Sun Hwang, Thomas Nickel, Donghwan Chang, 
and Su Kim in the KPU Brew Lab. 

Photo: RJ Wester working in the Applied Genomics lab. 
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Biology student explores new method for determining hop quality 

KPU student Damion Schonwetter is 
collaborating with the BC Hop 
Growers Association to help bridge 
the gap between the methods 
currently used by hop growers and 
beer brewers to determine hop 
quality with newer precision lab 
analysis methods. While traditional 
methods can acertain the aromatic 
total oil content, Schonwetter is 
using gas chromatography-mass 
spectroscopy to determine the exact 
aromatic compounds and their 
relative quantities. 

“Having this data ultimately allows 
you to better judge the quality of the 
hops, and the aromatic properties 
they imbue,” said Schonwetter. “This 

will result in less hop and beer waste by brewers having more accurate data.” Schonwetter’s 
research is part of the hop variety development project, which aims to develop locally-adapted 
hop plants and takes place in KPU’s Applied Genomics Centre, where many students have had 
the opportunity to participate in hands-on research. “This project has been an incredible 
experience for me,” said Schonwetter. 

Photo: Damion Schonwetter 
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Sociology student brings ethnographic methods to Drumheller 

Kamla Brown is working with Dr. 
Rebecca Yoshizawa to explore the social 
and cultural aspects of paleontology, 
including a visit to the Royal Tyrrell 
Museum in Drumheller, Alberta, and 
conducting interviews with museum 
staff. Brown aims to observe how 
paleontological knowledge actually gets 
produced, and determine the extent to 
which colonial attitudes remain present 
in contemporary museum exhibitions. 
“Paleontology participates in larger 
conversations and actions around land 
use, industry and resource extraction, 
Indigenous land sovereignty, and 
environmental destruction,” said 
Brown, who noted the ability of 
museum exhibits to both reproduce and Photo: Kamla Brown at the Royal Tyrrell Museum.

challenge social inequalities. “I have come to learn that everything can be a finding in 
research.” 

Sustainable Agriculture student compares bok choy growing methods to 
improve crop yield and generate renewable energy 

Amanda Tam received a Student 
Research & Innovation Grant to 
study bolt resistance and yield of 
different bok choy varieties at 
the KPU Farm in Richmond. Her 
research investigates whether 
plant variety, shading method, 
and planting date affect crop 
growth – but also utilizes solar 
panels as a source of shade. Tam 
hopes that her research can lead 
to more dual-purpose land use: 
as a source of food and 
renewable energy. Tam pointed 
out the importance of SRIG for 
enabling student research: “I was 
able to obtain valuable data fromPhoto: Amanda Tam with her bok choy crop. 

the funded materials, which otherwise would have imposed a personal financial burden.” 
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Psychology students investigate barriers faced by 2SLGBTQIA+ students 
within post-secondary institutions 

Fourth-year students Camille Bédard 
(applied psychology) and Liam Ruel 
(psychology) worked with alumna Kayla 
Garvin and Dr. Tara Lyons to examine 
the experiences of 2SLGBTQIA+ students 
in a teaching-focused post-secondary 
environment. The students conducted 
interviews with 43 2SLGBTQIA+ students 
at KPU, broadly exploring their 
educational experiences. They found 
that, overall, 2SLGBTQIA+ students don’t 
have the support, services, and 
educational environment they need to 
thrive. The students presented their 
findings to numerous internal and external audiences between November 2022 and March 
2024. Understanding the lack of 2SLGBTQIA+ community on campus, the students created the 
KPU Pride Society student group, and opened the Pride Centre space at KPU Surrey. 

One objective of the project was to develop participant-driven recommendations for KPU 
employees. Recommendations based on the research that have been implemented include 
revising the language on counselling demographics forms and providing funding to staff the 
Pride Centre. “In my field of study, it’s not often that you get the opportunity to combine 
research and advocacy, so I’m extremely grateful to be involved in this project,” says Bédard. 
Ruel, who has also previously done research as part of the Lifespan Cognition Lab, also 
reflected on his research experience: “I think we’ve helped people outside of the community 
understand just how prevalent anti-2SLGBTQIA+ prejudice is, and I hope we can use this work 
to advocate for further change.” 

Currently, the students are conducting a further mixed-methods study at teaching-focused 
institutions across the Lower Mainland to expand upon and enrich their research findings. 

Photo: Liam Ruel (left) and Camille Bédard (right), discussing the 
benefits of undergraduate research at Empowering Minds 2024. 
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5. Performance Measures, Targets, and Results
The following pages present KPU’s performance measures for assessing progress toward the 
goals in KPU’s strategic plan, VISION 2026. The 12 measures include the performance measures 
required by the ministry, as well as those for SkilledTradesBC (STBC). The glossary provides 
definitions of terms and sources used for the performance measures. 

Each measure has a performance target against which actual performance is assessed. For the 
BC Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills (PSFS) measures, the targets were 
set by the ministry and assessed using the method outlined in the Accountability Framework 
Standards Manual and Guidelines. Targets for the KPU measures were developed in 
consultation with the KPU Board of Governors. Alignment between VISION 2026’s themes and 
the ministry’s system objectives is shown below: 

VISION 2026 
Themes 
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   

Ministry Objectives 

Capacity Access Quality Relevance Efficiency 
A. Experience
B. Sustainability
C. Creativity
D. Justice
E. Quality



For each metric, the ministry objective is listed, where applicable, as well as the data source, 
the target, the assessment, and any noteworthy information. 

The table below contains a summary of the assessment on the 12 government (10 PSFS, 2 STBC) 
and 39 KPU performance measures, as well as the scale used to assess them. The scale 
incorporates both government and KPU assessment methods, which includes additional 
gradations marking progress toward achieving a target. In cases where multiple assessments 
are made for a single performance measure, the lowest of the assessments is assigned to the 
measure and reported in the table. 

Assessment (criteria) Gov’t KPU Total 
Achieved (100% or more of target) 4 7 11 
Substantially achieved (90% to 99% of target) 4 2 6 
Not achieved (between 60% and 89% of target) 2 1 3 
Not achieved (less than 60% of target) 2 2 4 
Not assessed (no data, no target, too few respondents, or 
margin of error too high) 0 27 27 

Appendix B contains the margins of error used in the assessments of five PSFS measures, as 
well as the results for all PSFS performance measures. 
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A. Experience

A1. Enhanced Student Experience 

1. Proportion of students reporting satisfaction with their educational experience

Fall 2020 Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Target 

Substantially achieved. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: Student Satisfaction Survey 
(SSS). 

2. Proportion of students who feel part of the KPU community

Fall 2020 Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Target 

3. Proportion of students reporting satisfaction with campus life

Fall 2024 Fall 2025 Fall 2026 Target 

4. Percentage of sections with zero textbook costs

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Target 

Achieved. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: KPU Student Information System. 

5. Work-integrated learning (WIL) opportunities

 

  

 

     

     

 
 

     

     

 

 

    

    

 
   

      

     

 

   

 
    

 
    

 

FY23 FY24 Target 

75% 79% 81% 80% ≥ 

56% 58% 63% 61% ≥ 

Substantially achieved. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: SSS. 

- - - ≥ 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: SSS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

14% 18% 17% 16% 23% 

Number of WIL 
465 483 TBD opportunities 

Number of WIL 
5,864 5,983 TBD students 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Relevance. Data source: KPU Student Information System. 
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A2. Enriched Employee Experience 

6. Proportion of employees who are satisfied with working at KPU

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - TBD 

Not assessed. Data source: Employee Feedback Survey (EFS). 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

A3. Support for Health and Wellness 

7. Student wellness scores

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - - TBD 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: SSS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

8. Employee wellness scores

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - - TBD 

Not assessed. Data source: EFS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

B. Sustainability

B1. Cultural, Social, and Environmental Sustainability 

9. Number of courses in the Climate+ Challenge

AY24 AY25 AY26 Target 

84 - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: KPU Climate+ Challenge website. 

10. Number of research projects that address sustainability

 

  

 

    
    

 
   

     

    
    

   

    
    

 
   

    

 

    

   

 

  

    

   

  
  

FY24 FY25 FY26 Target 

105 - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: KPU ROMEO Research System. 
Includes all projects that address one or more UN Sustainable Development Goals. 
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11. Greenhouse gas emissions from KPU buildings

CY22 CY23 Target 

2,383 TBD 

Not assessed. Data source: KPU Energy Records. 
The unit of measurement is metric tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents (tCO2e). 

12. Campus waste diversion rate

FY23 FY24 Target 

50% 55% 

Achieved. Data source: KPU Facilities Tracking System. 
The rate reflects all major sources of waste and waste diversion. Some less voluminous 
forms are not captured, such as electronics recycling, and lab chemical neutralizing. 

13. Proportion of students and employees using more sustainable transportation methods

 

 

   

   

 
 

   

  

 
 

  

  
    

    

  
    

 

  

 

     

    

 

Spring 2024 Spring 2025 Spring 2026 Target 

Students 69% - - 

Employees 33% - - 

• Employees |  Students
Not assessed. Data source: Sustainability Survey. 

B2. Integrated Planning 

14. Proportion of students reporting they have access to the courses they want

CY20 CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 

65% 62% 66% 68% 

Achieved. PSFS objective: Efficiency. Data source: SSS. 
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B3. Financial Sustainability 

15. Net operating revenues ratio

FY23 FY24 Target 

12% >7%

Achieved. PSFS objective: Efficiency. Data source: KPU Financial System. 
This provides an indication of the extent to which an institution is generating positive cash 
flow to be financially sustainable long-term. It is calculated as cash flow from operating 
activities divided by total revenues. Cash flow from operating activities is actual cash and 
represents the amount of cash an organization generates or consumes from carrying out its 
operating activities over a period of time. 
The financial statement total revenue figures used for this metric for FY24 include a gain of 
$116.4M from the sale of a land parcel (increase to revenues) and a deferral of KPU’s fiscal 
2024 operating grant of $83M (decrease to revenues). The ratios were normalized for these 
transactions. Before normalization, ‘Net operating revenues ratio’ for FY24 was 10%. 

16. Net income or loss ratio

FY23 FY24 Target 

3% 3% >1.5%

Achieved. PSFS objective: Efficiency. Data source: KPU Financial System. 
This measures the percentage of an institution’s revenues that contribute to its net assets. 
It provides insight into how well an institution is able to manage its overall expenses and 
its objective is to track trends in an institutions’ net earnings. The ratio is calculated as total 
revenues minus total expenses divided by total revenues. 
The financial statement total revenue figures used for this metric for FY24 include a gain of 
$116.4M from the sale of a land parcel (increase to revenues) and a deferral of KPU’s fiscal 
2024 operating grant of $83M (decrease to revenues). The ratios were normalized for these 
transactions. Before normalization, ‘Net income or loss ratio’ was 19%. 

17. Tuition revenue over all academic expenses

    

  
 

  

 

   

 
   

  
  

           
 

  
 
 

 

   

 

   

 
   

  
 

   
   

 
 
 

 

  
 
 

   

 
   

  
      

  
 

    
 

 

FY23 FY24 Target 

118% 111% ≥75% 

Achieved. PSFS objective: Efficiency. Data source: KPU Financial System. 
A decline in this ratio would demonstrate a decrease in revenues to cover expenditures 
especially if related expenses remain the same. It is calculated as total tuition revenue 
divided by academic support and instruction (all activities related to the support and 
delivery of education, including cost of instructors, academic management, support staff, 
and related support costs). 

5. Performance Measures, Targets, and Results 85 

3% 



C. Creativity

C1. Teaching Excellence and Innovation 

18. Proportion of teaching faculty indicating satisfaction with supports for teaching

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: Faculty Survey (FS). 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

19. Proportion of teaching faculty indicating satisfaction with supports for curriculum development

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: FS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

C2. Research Activity and Intensity 

20. Number of students that receive a Student Research and Innovation Grant

FY24 FY25 FY26 Target 

72 - - TBD 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: KPU ROMEO Research System. 

21. Proportion of students engaged in research

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: SSS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

22. Student satisfaction with opportunities to be engaged in research

    

  

    
 

   

 

     
    

  
   

   

 

     
    

 
   

    
 

     

 

    

 
    

  

  
      

    
 

   

   

 

     

    

 
   

  

 

     
    

 
   

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

- - - TBD 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: SSS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

23. Proportion of employees engaged in research

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - - TBD 

Not assessed. Data source: FS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 
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24. Proportion of employees who engage students in their research

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

- - TBD 
Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: FS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

25. Number of employees who received some course release to conduct research or scholarship

AY24 AY25 AY26 Target 

42 - - TBD 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: KPU ROMEO Research System. 
Course release includes educational leave for research, as well as internally funded course 
release, externally funded course release, and the 0.6 Professional Development course 
release used for research. 

26. Number of research partners

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

47 - - TBD 

Not assessed. Data source: KPU ROMEO Research System. 
Research partners include partners in the government, for-profit, and non-profit sectors 
that awarded research grants to, or signed research contracts and agreements with KPU 
researchers. 

C3. Creative Problem-Solving 

27. Proportion of employees who agree with the statement: I feel empowered to take calculated risks
to solve problems at KPU

    

  

 

    
 

    
 

   

  
     

 
    

  
 

  
 

   

 

    

 
    

 
    

          
 

  
 

   
 

 

    
 

    

 
   

 

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

- - - 

Not assessed. Data source: EFS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 
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D. Justice

D1. Decolonization and Reconciliation 

28. Progress on xéʔelɬ (KPU Pathway to Systemic Transformation)

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

- - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: KPU. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

29. Number of Indigenous student spaces (PSFS)

    

 

    
 

   

 

    
 

    
 

   

  
        
 

       

 
 

      

 
  

 
     

 
 

   

 

   

 
   

 
 

 

   

 

     
    

 
   

 
  

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 Target 

# of Indigenous 
student FTEs 337 270 272 243 N/A 

% of domestic FTEs 3.6% 3.1% 3.3% 3.0% ≥ 

Substantially achieved. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: PSFS. 
The metric is the percentage of domestic FTEs that are attributable to Indigenous students. 
The target is that this percentage is equal to, or greater than, the percentage in the previous 
year. Includes all students who have ever self-declared as Indigenous in the BC K-12 school 
system, or at KPU. 

30. Number of Indigenous graduates

AY22 AY23 Target 

69 36 

Not achieved (<60% of target). PSFS objective: Access. Data source: KPU Student Information 
System. 
Includes all graduates who have self-declared as Indigenous in the BC K-12 school system, 
or at KPU. 

31. Number of Indigenous employees

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 
- - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: EFS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 
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D2. Anti-Racism 

32. Progress on the recommendations from the Task Force on Anti-Racism

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: Office of Equity and Inclusive 
Communities. 
Each of the Task Force’s recommendations was rated from zero (no progress) to three 
(substantial progress/complete), with the target representing a score of three on all. 

D3. Equity, Diversity, Inclusion, and Accessibility 

33. Progress on developing the EDI Action Plan

    

 
 

  

 

    

 
    

 
 

 

  
 

  

 

    

 
    

 

   
     

   

 

  
       

 
 

  
 

   
  

 

    
 

   
  

   

 
    

  
  

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

50% - - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: Office of Equity and Inclusive 
Communities. 

34. Progress on implementing the Accessibility Plan

CY25 CY26 Target 
- - 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: Office of Equity and Inclusive 
Communities. 

35. 50/30 Challenge results

AY23 AY24 AY25 Target 

Senior 64%, 
- - 50%,

administrators 30% 30%

50%, 50%, Board members - -
90% 30% 

• Gender |  Other

Achieved. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: 50-30 Challenge Survey. 
Target is for both groups (senior administrators and members of the Board of Governors) 
to be made up of 50% gender minorities (i.e., women and trans people), and 30% other 
minoritized groups (i.e., 2SLGBTQIA+, disabled, or BIPOC). 
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36. Proportion of employees that perceive they are treated fairly at KPU regardless of…

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

Not assessed. PSFS objective: Access. Data source: EFS. 
New metric, data to be collected starting fall 2024. 

37. Proportion of students that perceive they are treated fairly at KPU regardless of…

    

    

 

     
    

 
   

    

       
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
       

 
 

 
 

 
 

CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 
Gender: 

73% 65% 69% ≥ peer trans/gender diverse, 
88% 89% 86% group cisgender 

Sexual orientation: 
LGBQ+, 83% 76% 76% ≥ peer 
non-LGBQ+ 87% 88% 86% group 

Ability: 
79% 80% 78% ≥ peer disabled, 
89% 90% 88% group non-disabled 

Age: 
82% 86% 81% ≥ peer 30 or older, 
87% 89% 87% group under 30 

Ethnicity: 
88% 89% 86% ≥ peer racialized, 
81% 79% 75% group non-racialized 

English skills: 
83% 89% 87% ≥ peer multilingual, 
77% 83% 82% group monolingual 

Religion: 

non-Christian 89% 91% 89% 
religious, ≥ peer 

group non-religious, 80% 75% 72% 
Non-Christian Christian 82% 83% 79% Non-religious 
Christian 

Not achieved: ≥10% gap between groups (achieved for ethnicity and English skills, 
substantially achieved for age). PSFS objective: Access. Data source: SSS. 
Categories are collapsed into binary breakdowns, with minoritized groups listed first in the 
table (trans/gender diverse, LGBQ+, disabled, 30 or older, racialized, multilingual, non-
Christian religious). Specific subgroups within each category score differently, and should 
not be treated as homogenous. For selected breakdowns, please see Appendix C. 
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E. Quality

E1. Program and Service Improvement 

38. Proportion of graduates that assess their quality of instruction positively (PSFS)

CY19 CY20 CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 

91% 90% 91% 87% ≥90% 

DAC 97% 93% 97% 97% 95% ≥90% 

91% 89% 90% 95% 95% ≥90% 

    

 

    
 

  
         
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
   

  
  

   

         
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
  

             
   

Trades 95% 90% 93% - - ≥90%

Achieved. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: BC Student Outcomes Surveys (BCSOS). 
BGS meets the target when taking margin of error into account. Trades was not reported 
for CY22 and CY23 as the number of survey respondents was too low. 

39. Proportion of graduates that report satisfaction with their education (PSFS)

CY19 CY20 CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 

BGS 94% 91% 92% 89% 88% ≥90% 

DAC 92% 91% 94% 92% 89% ≥90% 

APP 87% 84% 88% 91% 94% ≥90% 

Trades 94% 95% 93% - - ≥90%

Achieved. PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: BCSOS. 
BGS and DAC meet the target when taking margin of error into account. Trades was not 
reported for CY22 and CY23 as the number of survey respondents was too low. 
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40. Proportion of graduates who agree their education helped them develop skills (PSFS)

CY19 CY20 CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 

89% 87% 86% 84% ≥85% 

DAC 89% 87% 91% 90% 90% ≥85% 

85% 84% 82% 87% 89% ≥85% 

    

  
         
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
   

  
     

   

  
 

         
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

 
  

   
 

Trades 90% 89% 90% - - ≥85%

Achieved. PSFS objective: Relevance. Data source: BCSOS. 
BGS meets the target when taking margin of error into account. Trades was not reported 
for CY22 and CY23 as the number of survey respondents was too low. Results for each group 
on specific skills (e.g., writing, problem-solving) are provided in Appendix C. 

41. Proportion of graduates reporting their program-developed knowledge and skills are useful for
performing their job (PSFS)

CY19 CY20 CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 

BGS 90% 88% 90% 88% 84% ≥90% 

DAC 83% 86% 82% 83% 79% ≥90% 

APP 87% 91% 89% 90% 93% ≥90% 

Trades 93% 85% - - - ≥90% 

Substantially achieved (achieved for APP, not assessed for Trades). PSFS objective: 
Relevance. Data source: BCSOS. 
BGS meets the target when taking margin of error into account. Trades was not reported 
for CY21, CY22, and CY23 as the margin of error was too high or the number of survey 
respondents was too low. 

5. Performance Measures, Targets, and Results 92 

91% 

APP 

BGS 



42. Graduate unemployment rate (PSFS)

    

   
         
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
 

       

 
  

  
  

  
     

 
    

   
 

           
  

 

  
 

    
 

 

    
 

    

 
   

 

CY19 CY20 CY21 CY22 CY23 Target 

BGS 3.4% 8.5% 6.0% 3.3% 7.7% ≤8.8% 

DAC 5.9% 5.2% 5.9% 6.1% 8.0% ≤8.8% 

APP 1.1% 4.0% 3.1% 1.0% 2.2% ≤8.8% 

Trades 6.8% 11.1% - - - ≤8.8% 

Achieved. PSFS objective: Relevance. Data source: BCSOS. 
Trades was not reported for CY21, CY22, and CY23 as the margin of error was too high or 
the number of survey respondents was too low. 

43. Percentage of programs compliant with Policy AC3: Program Review

AY24 AY25 AY26 Target 

88% - - 100% 

Not achieved (within 60% of target). PSFS objective: Quality. Data source: KPU Program 
Review Tracking System. 
A program is compliant if it started on time as defined by policy AC3 and is progressing 
appropriately (i.e., it is on track to be completed within two years of its start date). 

E2. Internal Accountability 

44. Proportion of employees who agree that KPU promotes a culture of shared responsibility and
accountability

CY24 CY25 CY26 Target 

- - - 

Not assessed. Data source: EFS. 
New metric. Data to be collected starting fall 2024. 
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E3. External Accountability 

45. Proportion of friends who agree that KPU is being transparent and accountable

AY25 AY26 Target 

- - 

Not assessed. Data source: Partners Survey. 
New metric, data to be collected starting in AY2024/25. Friends include PAC members, WIL, 
co-op, clinical placement, and research partners. 

46. Number of credentials awarded annually to domestic students (PSFS)

    

  
 

     

 

   
 

   

  
  

  

  

        
 

      

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
  

 
     

 
 

      

 
  

   
  

 
 
 

  
 

 

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 Target 

Bachelor 975 1,034 963 921 ≥991 

Certificate 473 418 404 434 ≥432 

Diploma 348 367 327 324 ≥347 

Develop-
46 51 28 - ≥42mental 

Graduate 
& post- 34 28 27 22 ≥30 
bacc 

Short 
29 13 17 10 ≥20certificate 

Not achieved (<60% of target) is the lowest category for this metric, so that is the overall 
assessment. However, the target for the certificate category was achieved, and the target 
for the bachelor and diploma categories was substantially achieved. PSFS objective: 
Capacity. Data source: PSFS. 
Credentials awarded to international students are excluded, as are trades foundations and 
apprenticeships. The target is the average number of credentials awarded in the three most 
recent fiscal years. The metric was previously reported as a total rather than by type, 
therefore targets for previous years are not provided. 
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47. Number of domestic FTEs (PSFS)

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Target 

7,615 7,013 6,793 7,010 ≥9,290 

Not achieved (within 60% of target). PSFS objective: Capacity. Data source: PSFS. 
Domestic enrolment was negatively impacted by the pandemic and by demographic 
changes in the KPU region. Between 2019 and 2021, the population of 17-to-21-year-olds in 
the KPU region declined by 9%. It started to increase thereafter, exceeding 2019 numbers 
by 2023. This pattern of decline and increase is reflected in the FTE numbers. 

48. Number of health FTEs (PSFS)

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Target 

938 829 803 734 769 ≥889 

Not achieved (within 60% of target). PSFS objective: Capacity. Data source: PSFS. 
Health FTEs are affected by changes in the population, described above. In addition, 
changes in KPU nursing programs from a 4-year to a 3-year program meant that these 
programs generate lower FTEs than before. When these changes were initially made, 
students taking the first-year qualifying courses, called Health Foundations, were still 
captured as health FTEs, but changes made in AY2018/19 resulted in new students taking 
the first-year qualifying courses for nursing as part of the general student body, so they no 
longer generate health FTEs. As students in Health Foundations completed, the number of 
health FTEs they generated declined to zero. 

49. Number of developmental FTEs (PSFS)

    

   

 

      

 
      

 
  

 
 

  

  

 

      

 
      

 
 

   
 

 
  

 
 

  

  

 

      

 
      

 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 

 
  

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Target 

401 242 168 166 183 ≥318 

Not achieved (<60% of target). PSFS objective: Capacity. Data source: PSFS. 
Development FTEs are affected by changes in the population described under domestic 
FTEs above. Most of our developmental FTEs are generated by students in the KPU Pathway 
to Undergraduate Studies, an access pathway where students upgrade their English in order 
to meet the undergraduate admission English proficiency requirements. Prior to FY24, 
students didn’t apply to the Pathway but were given an offer to the Pathway if they didn’t 
meet the English proficiency requirements for undergraduate studies. Effective FY24, 
students can directly apply to the Pathway when they realize they won’t meet these 
requirements, resulting in a 10% increase in developmental FTEs. 
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50. Seat utilization for STBC-funded Foundation programs (STBC)

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Target 

- - 88% 92% 94.5% 

Substantially achieved. PSFS objective: Capacity. Data source: STBC. 
Data is not provided for FY21 and FY22 as targets were not set in those years. 

51. Seat utilization for STBC-funded Apprenticeship programs (STBC)

    

   

 

      

 
      

 
 

    

 

      

 
      

 
 

 

 

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Target 

94% - - 91% 88% 94.5% 

Substantially achieved. PSFS objective: Capacity. Data source: STBC. 
Data is not provided for FY21 and FY22 as targets were not set in those years. 
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Glossary of Terms 
APP: Apprentice Student Outcomes Survey administered by BC Stats after apprentices 
complete their final year of training 

AY: Academic year (i.e., September 1 to August 31) ); e.g., AY23 is Septemer 1, 2022 to August 
31, 2023 

BCSOS: BC Student Outcomes Surveys – the Baccalaureate Graduates Survey; Survey of 
Apprenticeship Students; Survey of Diploma, Associate Degree, and Certificate Students; and 
Trades Foundation and Trades-Related Vocational Student Outcomes Survey 

BGS: Baccalaureate Graduate Survey administered by BC Stats about two years after 
graduation 

CY: Calendar year (i.e., January 1 to December 31) 

DAC: Diploma, Associate Degree, and Certificate Outcome Survey administered by BC Stats 
about 9 to 20 months after program completion 

EFS: Employee Feedback Survey of all KPU employees, conducted approximately every two 
years; in 2018, it was called the Employee Engagement Survey and in 2021, it was called the 
Employee Insights Survey 

FS: Faculty Survey of all KPU faculty members, conducted approximately every two years 

FTE: Full-time equivalent: For students, FTE equates to number taking a full load of five courses 
per term for two terms 

FY: Fiscal year (i.e., April 1 to March 31); e.g., FY 2022 is fiscal year April 1, 2021 to March 31, 
2022 

PSFS: BC Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills, elsewhere referred to simply 
as “the ministry” 

SSS: Student Satisfaction Survey of all KPU students, conducted by KPU every year; prior to 
2019, the survey was conducted every other year 

STARS: The Sustainability Tracking, Assessment and Rating System, a voluntary, self-reporting 
framework for helping colleges and universities track and measure their sustainability 
progress 

STBC: SkilledTradesBC, which funds and oversees apprentice training (formerly known as the 
Industry Training Authority [ITA]) 
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Trades: Trades foundation and trades-related vocational (TFTRV) student grouping as part of 
the BC Student Outcomes Surveys 

If no source is specified, the data are from KPU administrative systems 
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Appendix A: Report on Reconciliation 
The following table summarizes KPU’s progress on implementing the Truth and Reconciliation 
Commission’s (TRC) Calls to Action, the post-secondary education-related articles of the United 
Nations Declaration (UN Declaration) on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and the post-secondary 
education-related recommendations of the In Plain Sight: Addressing Indigenous-specific Racism and 
Discrimination in B.C. Health Care Report. 

TRUTH AND RECONCILIATION COMISSION CALLS TO ACTION 

1: SOCIAL WORK 

   

     
    

   
        

   
 

 

       

 

 
 
 

  

 
    

  

 

  
  

    

   
  

   
 
 
 

 

 
  

 
 

   

 
 

We call upon the federal, provincial, territorial, and Indigenous governments to commit to 
reducing the number of Indigenous children in care by … Ensuring that social workers and others 
who conduct child-welfare investigations are properly educated and trained about the history 
and impacts of residential schools. ... Ensuring that social workers and others who conduct child-
welfare investigations are properly educated and trained about the potential for Indigenous 
communities and families to provide more appropriate solutions to family healing. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

N/A N/A 

12: EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION 

We call upon the federal, provincial, territorial, and Indigenous governments to develop 
culturally appropriate early childhood education programs for Indigenous families. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Completed In fall 2023, students were able to take Capilano University’s Early 
Childhood Care and Education Diploma (ECCE) program on the Surrey 
KPU campus. This new partnership between CapU, KPU, and Métis 
Nation British Columbia (MNBC) offers online and in-person learning. 
The ECCE Diploma gives students the competencies and knowledge 
required to work with children under the age of five in licensed 
preschools and childcare centres. 

Education courses in the diploma meet the requirements of the Early 
Childhood Educator Registry for the Early Childhood Education (ECE) 
Certificate to Practice; Infant/Toddler Certificate to Practice and/or the 
Special Needs Certificate to Practice. Students who successfully 
complete an ECCE Diploma are eligible to apply to the degree program. 

Discussion are underway with Capilano University about continuing 
the program. 
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In Progress Through a partnership between KPU, Metis Nation British Columbia 
(MNBC), and Ministry of Children and Family Development (now the 
Ministry of Education and Child Care), a day care facility will be built 
on the Surrey campus. The ministry is providing $6.1M in funding for 
this project, while the Métis Nation is providing $2M. The facility will 
provide 61 childcare spaces on the ground floor and an abutting 
ground-level outdoor play area. The second floor will provide space for 
an ECCE Diploma program and will provide integrated learning 
practicums. 

The purpose of the project is to provide young children with consistent, 
quality, and inclusive childcare in order to support the needs of 
families that work or study at KPU, members of the Metis Nation of BC, 
and the wider community. At the same time, with its proximity to the 
childcare spaces, students in the ECCE program will gain the knowledge 
and skills required to work with young children and their families in 
licensed childcare settings. 

KPU and MNBC will work to ensure that the program is culturally 
relevant. The building design will meet Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design (LEED) Gold standards and perform as a net-
zero building in terms of its greenhouse gas emissions. The facility is 
expected to open in June 2026. 

16: INDIGENOUS LANGUAGE DEGREE AND DIPLOMA PROGRAMS 

We call upon post-secondary institutions to create university and college degree and diploma 
programs in Indigenous Languages. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing The hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ Language Initiative seeks to embed the language into 
many features at KPU. Embedding the language will help encourage 
our communities to learn the traditional language of the territories and 
respect the visual representation of the land-based Nations. 
hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ is the language spoken by people of the Kwantlen, Katzie, 
Tsawwassen, Kwikwetlem, and Musqueam First Nations on whose 
traditional territories our university is built. hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ is also 
known as a Down River dialect of Halkomelem, under the Salishan 
language category. 

Signage has been installed at our campuses to include translations of 
the locations in the hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ dialect. QR codes were included to 
direct people to the pronunciation of the words along with other 
information. 

We believe it is our role and responsibility to listen and learn 
Indigenous languages and follow revitalization work led by Indigenous 
Language Keepers. We raise our hands in gratitude to Sesmelot Fern 
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Gabriel, hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ Language Instructor and Consultant from 
Kwantlen First Nation. 

Ongoing hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ is spoken by the Down River Peoples of the Fraser Valley, 
including the Musqueam, Tsleil-Waututh, Kwikwetlem, Tsawwassen, 
Katzie, and Kwantlen Nations. In early 2023, KPU academic leaders 
were given the opportunity to take an introductory course 
hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ , taught by hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ Language Teacher, Fern Gabriel 
— Sesmelot. Fern learned her language from the Musqueam Nation. 
Since 2023, this course for academic leaders has been offered three 
times. 

In Progress Discussions with the Musqueam Nation on the development of a 
hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm course are ongoing. 

Ongoing KPU developed its first Indigenous language course in Cree and offered 
it in fall 2020 for the first time. The course continues to be offered every 
fall and spring semester. 

Ongoing KPU continues to hire more Indigenous faculty members, both to teach 
Indigenous languages and Indigenous studies. See UNDRIP Article 14 
for information on the Indigenous Hiring Initiative. 

23: HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS 

We call upon all levels of government to increase the number of Indigenous professionals 
working in the health-care field, ensure the retention of Indigenous health-care providers in 
Indigenous communities, and provide cultural competency training for all health-care 
professionals. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

N/A N/A 

24: MEDICAL AND NURSING SCHOOLS 
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We call upon medical and nursing schools in Canada to require all students to take a course 
dealing with Indigenous health issues, including the history and legacy of residential schools, the 
United Nations Declaration (UN Declaration) on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and 
Indigenous rights, and Indigenous teachings and practices. This will require skills-based training 
in intercultural competency, conflict resolution, human rights, and anti-racism. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing Graduate Nurse, Internationally Educated Re-entry (GNIE )Certificate 
Program: Students continuously learn about the Indigenous Peoples 
and health related concerns. Students complete learning activities that 
require them to learn about Truth and Reconciliation. They discuss the 
document in great length in small groups and answer specific questions 
regarding the document. Students complete an 8-hour module on 
trauma informed care. They receive a certificate of completion and 
write a term paper based on Truth and Reconciliation and trauma 
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informed care. They watch a documentary on residential schools which 
is followed by a class discussion. Students complete case studies which 
include Indigenous patients and design care plans to best meet the 
needs of the patient. Exam questions are designed to test students’ 
understanding of the TRC Calls to Action. Students learn about cultural 
sensitivity throughout the program and they care for patients who are 
Indigenous and provide culturally safe care. 

Specifically, in the course GNIE 1328, each week, students demonstrate 
respect for the Indigenous land and share information about the 
thriving Indigenous communities in their area. In this course students 
focus on cultural humility and safety and use the following resources 
to share Indigenous-based knowledge: 

Mental health and the stigma around Indigenous mental health and 
substance use. Students watch the Northern Health Stigma and 
Addiction Video and then reflect on how to apply these concepts in 
real life. 

Cultural practices surrounding birth within Indigenous 
communities. These resources are used to inform and facilitate 
students' understanding regarding Indigenous practices around 
prenatal care and birth: 

Pediatric pain, and Indigenous-based resources to understand how 
to assess pain in the Indigenous pediatric population. 

Ongoing Bachelor of Science in Nursing, Advanced Entry (BSN-AE): Students 
integrate content related to Indigenous health, traditional knowledge 
and healing practices, cultural competence, safety and humility, ways 
of knowing, Elder roles, and working with Indigenous individuals, 
groups, families, and communities are included in all theory courses. 

In Semester 5, students complete an Indigenous course, and examine 
concepts related to health inequities and social justice in their theory 
course. 

Students in semester 6 complete global health projects at a variety of 
community agencies that serve Indigenous populations in the Lower 
Mainland, such as the Indigenous Wellness Training Society, the 
Women’s Health Collective, the Vancouver Health Society, the 
Downtown Eastside Women’s Centre, and the Downtown Eastside 
Neighbourhood House. The BSN-AE has established ongoing 
partnerships with several of these agencies and seeks to nurture these 
partnerships as we move forward. 

New Bachelor of Science in Nursing, Advanced Entry (BSN-AE): A new 
course is being developed to be offered in spring 2024. The course, 
Professional Role: Decolonizing Indigenous Health, has been added to 
semester two to support student in meeting the new BC College of 
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Nurses and Midwives (BCCNM) practice standard on Indigenous 
Cultural Safety, Cultural Humility, and Anti-Racism (2022). 

In this course, students strengthen their knowledge, awareness, and 
skills for working with and providing services to Indigenous People 
and their communities. They explore the importance of developing 
respectful, relationally engaged, culturally safe relationships with 
Indigenous clients. The historical and current impacts of colonialism 
on Indigenous Peoples and the importance of decolonizing these 
impacts is examined. 

Students also learn how Indigenous-specific racism, discrimination, 
stereotyping, and their impacts negatively affects Indigenous clients’ 
access to health care and health outcomes, and how they can actively 
apply anti-racism principles in their practice. They explore how 
strength-based, trauma-informed, culturally safe and humble care can 
improve health care experiences for Indigenous clients and their 
families, and strengthen Indigenous cultural safety in relationships, 
practices, and services. Students will recognize the importance of 
respecting a client’s use of traditional medicines, healers, ceremonies, 
and practices in their own self-care and healing practice. 

Ongoing Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN): Throughout the three years, 
Indigenous health content is presented, discussed, and examined. 
Semester 1 includes a focus on Truth and Reconciliation. Complex care 
courses and nursing applications courses in semesters 3, 4, and 6 
include Indigenous Peoples case studies focusing on strengths, culture, 
and resilience. Semester 4 nursing applications courses also include the 
First Nations Wellness Model with an assignment where students 
examine a particular Indigenous community in the Lower Mainland, 
with focus on the community’s culture and the ways that this supports 
wellness. 

The BSN program continues to integrate the new BCCNM practice 
standard, Indigenous Cultural Safety, Cultural Humility, and Anti-
Racism, which came into effect in February 2022, into the curriculum. 
This begins at recruitment where BSN participates in Open Doors, Open 
Minds, an event which gives Indigenous high school students an 
opportunity to learn more about the BSN program and becoming a 
Registered Nurse in an experiential workshop. 

Students in their first semester of the BSN are introduced to a Ministry 
of Children and Family Development family worker, who guides 
students in sharing thoughts on history and how to use it as a 
springboard for better understanding and improving future work with 
and for First Nations communities. Semester 1 clinical placements 
focus on community health promotion. This semester anchors the 
standard in the program through various forms of direct engagement 
with the Indigenous community and a truly unique partnership with 
the Kwantlen First Nation. Learning is mutual as students practice 
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community health promotion through client education and program 
design. Instructors guide students by implementing principles, 
building knowledge through education, and strengths-based and 
trauma-informed practice. Students engage in learning activities which 
require self-reflective practice regarding the principles of creating safe 
health care experiences and person-led care. Semester 2 students move 
into the acute care setting in maternity where they recognize they are 
engaging Indigenous clients at a vulnerable time. Students engage in 
direct practice and learning activities that address principles of anti-
racist practice. 

Students refine skills related to planning care in collaboration with the 
client and recognize the impact of mental wellness on individuals and 
families. In semester 3 and 4, students complete medical and surgical 
rotations. In theory, lab, practice settings, simulations, and preparatory 
activities, students must consider the Indigenous client’s personal 
strengths and recognize the potential for trauma. Students practice 
incorporating a trauma-informed care and strength-based approach 
and are provided multiple written and discussion opportunities to 
reflect on their practice and learning needs in this area. First Nations 
Health Authority Mental Health and Wellness content, case studies, and 
strategies for client centred and culturally safe care are also integrated 
into these semesters. 

In the final year, Semesters 5 and 6, students complete one semester of 
consolidation with a focus on pediatric populations and a final 
preceptorship. Semester 5 students hear first-hand experiences from 
survivors of the Canadian residential school system, learn about 
different types of traumas, and consolidate learning on how to provide 
trauma-informed care. Students consider Indigenous ways of 
experiencing pain and engage in reflective learning activities on types 
of resilience in the Indigenous pediatric population. Students 
consolidate principles in a final preceptorship orientation where a BSN 
faculty member and a cultural safety consultant guide students 
through a review of BCCNM standards and materials on culturally safe 
practice. During the preceptorship, they host reflective discussions and 
encourage planning around culturally safe practice at site visits with 
the student and preceptor. 

New In 2024 the BSN program received KPU’s Teaching & Learning 
Innovation Fund (TLIF) Awards – Indigenous Foci. The purpose of this 
fund was to engage students across the various faculties such as Trades, 
Arts, Science and Horticulture. The TLIF funds were used to “expand 
Nation and Elder led programming with a focus on traditional healing 
gardens.” The project focused on re-cultivating the gardens and 
refurnishing the beds at North Otter School with traditional fruits and 
medicinal plants used by First Nations in the region, originated from 
an idea shared by the aboriginal support worker, Alicia Hiebert. 
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Hiebert has a vision that she would like to use the gardens as a teaching 
venue for all students to learn about the history and traditional ways 
of First Nations regarding health and healing practices. 

With the support and leadership of Dr. Joan Boyce, Faculty of Health, 
BSN nursing students, horticulture and trades students embarked on 
an “Indigenous project” focused on “Design Thinking” in an 
interdisciplinary, intersectoral, innovative, service learning hands on 
experience. The garden was completed and a celebration lead by Elder 
Karen Gabriel was held on April 10th, 2024. 

Completed BSN faculty conducted two projects using time release made possible 
from KPU’s Teaching & Learning Innovation Fund (TLIF) Awards – 
Indigenous Foci: 

2021-2023: Aligning the Fraser Health 48-6 Model of Care with Isolated 
Indigenous Elders and the BSN Curriculum 

BSN community health nursing students visit isolated Elders each week 
and bring “their” Elder a meal. Together, they build a relationship, 
engaging in conversations around components in the Fraser Health 48-
6 Model of Care aimed to support Elders in a smooth transition 
(continuity of care) from hospital to home (when applicable) and to 
encourage self-management using relevant, individualized 
information and resources. 

The intent of this experience is to improve health outcomes for 
Indigenous Elders, reduce hospital readmissions and provide a 
consistent approach to addressing six key areas of care that are known 
to have interrelated impacts on health for many Elders including: pain 
management, medications, nutrition-hydration, elimination, mobility, 
and cognition (thinking, mood & memory). 

2023-2024: KPU BSN Strengthening our Relations with Kwantlen First 
Nation (KFN) and Katzie First Nation (KaFN) 

The BSN program has used TLIF grant funds to build the relational 
bridge with the Kwantlen First Nations and expand this to include the 
Katzie First Nation, both with KPU students and faculty to meet, share, 
learn, and grow together in class and in First Nation communities to 
engage in a lived experience of (true) truth and (real) reconciliation 
that includes: 

One on one student-Elder health promotion and meal sharing 

Pow Wow – Sto: lo Nation (hosted by KFN at the Langley Events 
Centre) annually, in September 

KFN Elder-led, in-class: Indigenous Plants, Therapies & Traditions 

KFN Elder & community-led: Growing medicinal plants/herbs in 
garden boxes/horticulture 
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Community welcomes & feasts, bi-annual 

Chief & Council and Cultural Committee sharing circles 

Inter-sectoral collaboration creation of a “KFN Elders Lodge” 

Work to establish a KPU “Indigenous Health Care Assistant” cohort 
for the KFN community 

Building an Indigenous community garden together. KFN 
community alongside BSN nursing students and senior secondary 
wood-working “shop” students build planter-boxes to specifications 
with and for KFN Elders and their community to establish (and 
learn about) Indigenous plants & medicines 

Participate in Elder-led Indigenous story-telling, meals and 
activities in class, on site, and outdoors 

Support and engage health promotion initiatives with a) 
children/teacher in the Head Start Program and b) Elders and 
interested community members in the Long House and Health 
Centre. 

Ongoing Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing: Cultural safety and health of 
Indigenous Peoples are threaded throughout the program. Students are 
required to take a First Nations Health course in semester 4 of the 
program. Upon program completion, they invite an Elder to their 
Graduation Tea who guides them through a smudging ceremony, and 
discusses with them their role as new graduates in supporting health 
and well-being of Indigenous Peoples, while respecting and valuing 
their culture and practices. 

Ongoing Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing: The BPN program continues a 
commitment to integrating not only Indigenous content into 
curriculum, but to have it as the fabric of our courses. The BPN program 
curriculum committee and faculty are developing new curriculum 
which integrates Indigenous content into each semester and courses as 
per the BCCNM practice standard, Indigenous Cultural Safety, Cultural 
Humility, and Anti-Racism. In the current version of the program and 
in the proposed revised version of the program, the BPN has integrated 
cultural safety and trauma-informed care into our core mental health 
nursing programs. This includes a full spectrum of trauma responses, 
including awareness of communication strategies, understanding 
trans/intergenerational trauma (specific to Indigenous communities, 
however covering all forms of trauma). Trauma-informed care, 
background theory and a deep exploration of history will be the core 
content integrated into a suite of 2 communications classes established 
for our revised program. The new curriculum started in fall 2023 and 
content is revised term by term. 
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Ongoing Health Care Assistant program (HCAP): Students learn about and 
research the impact of social determinants on health, and cultural 
safety and humility. Students take part in cultural presentations, 
including on First Nations cultures. Students visit with an Elder, visit a 
museum to learn about First Nations art and cultures, and visit the KPU 
Gathering Place. 

The program has a commitment to ensure students know the 
importance of culturally safe care for Indigenous populations in long 
term, complex care and home health care settings. Students are 
required to complete the KPU Indigenous Awareness Modules, and 
then complete a reflective assignment on the knowledge they have 
learned and how they will integrate culturally competent care for 
Indigenous Peoples into their care plans in the care setting. 

Spefically, in the Concepts for Practice course, the learning outcomes 
include; 

Discuss diverse practices in health and healing, including the role 
of traditional medicines, healing practices, and alternative forms of 
healing. 

Define cultural safety and cultural humility. 

Describe how to provide culturally safe and sensitive care, 
including how to consider Indigenous history, cultural practices, 
traditional healing practices and medicines, and different 
community norms and protocol. 

This is further reinforced in the course: Life Style and Choices. 

Completed The HCAP program had been directed by the BC Care Aide Registry to 
begin incorporating concepts of Indigenization into the curriculum. 
Faculty within HCAP have been given release time to incorporate 
language and learning outcomes related to Indigenous content. This 
ensures Health Care Assistants are able to provide appropriate and 
respectful person-centred care to Indigenous clients and their families. 

Completed Traditional Chinese Medicine Diploma (TCM): The TCM program 
incorporated the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners 
& Acupuncturists of BC practice standard on Indigenous Cultural 
Safety, Humility, and Anti-Racism with six core concepts that have been 
added into the existing Acupuncture Communication & Ethics course. 

Students in their 4th semester of the program will be introduced to the 
practice standard. Instructors will guide students by implementing 
principles, building knowledge through education, and strengths-
based and trauma-informed practice. Students engage in learning 
activities which require self-reflective practice regarding the principles 
of creating safe health care experiences and person-led care. Students 
engage in direct practice and learning activities that address principles 
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of anti-racist practice throughout their supervised practices (semester 
4-6). 

28: LAW SCHOOLS 

We call upon law schools in Canada to require all law students to take a course in Indigenous 
Peoples and the law, which includes the history and legacy of residential schools, the UN 
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and Indigenous rights, Indigenous law, 
and Indigenous–Crown relations. This will require skills-based training in intercultural 
competency, conflict resolution, human rights, and anti-racism. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

N/A N/A 

   

 
 

 

  
  

  
  

 
    

  

 

 
    

 
 

 
    

  
 
 
 

  
      

  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 

  
 
 

  
 
 
 

57: PUBLIC SERVANTS 

We call upon federal, provincial, territorial, and municipal governments to provide education to 
public servants on the history of Indigenous Peoples, including the history and legacy of 
residential schools, the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and 
Indigenous rights, Indigenous law, and Indigenous–Crown relations. This will require skills-
based training in intercultural competency, conflict resolution, human rights, and anti-racism. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing KPU Indigenous Dialogue Series: The series is intended to bring together 
all members of the KPU community—students, employees, affiliates, 
and the general public-settler and Indigenous Peoples—to listen, learn, 
and engage with Indigenous scholars, activists, and leaders. Invitations 
are sent to all local First Nations, the Métis Nation BC, Indigenous 
education representatives with school districts, the Surrey Urban 
Indigenous Leaders Committee, and others. 

KPU hosted the first event of the series in November 2020 with 
renowned Indigenous scholar, Dr. Jo-ann Archibald, Q'um Q'um Xiiem; 
KPU Chancellor, Kwuntiltunaat (Kim Baird); KPU governor, Rhiannon 
Bennett; and KPU student, Samantha Jack, moderated by President and 
Vice-Chancellor, Dr. Alan Davis. In 2021/22, there were four events in 
the series, which included speakers Len Pierre Pul-ee-qwe-luck, Dr. 
Marie Battiste, OC., Chief Dr. Robert Joseph, OC, OBC, and Dr. Pam 
Palmater. More information is provided in Chapter 1, in the section on 
Supporting Lasting and Meaningful Reconciliation with Indigenous 
Peoples. 

The first event in 2023 was held in May and featured Dr. Lorna 
Wánosts'a7 Williams, whose talk was titled Nqwalútenlhkalha, Our 
Languages: Language Revitalization in the UN International Decade of 
Indigenous Languages. Dr. Lorna Wanosts'a7 Williams is a Professor 
Emerita of Indigenous Education, Curriculum and Instruction at the 
University of Victoria and Canada Research Chair in Education and 
Linguistics. She built her career on the principle that quality education 
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for Indigenous children must be characterized by strong cultural 
teachings alongside a Euro-Western education. 

In November 2023, Dr. Verna St. Denis spoke on Nqwalútenlhkalha, 
Our Languages. Verna St. Denis is a professor of education and special 
advisor to the president on anti-racism/anti-oppression at the 
University of Saskatchewan, where she has taught undergraduate and 
graduate courses in integrated anti-racist education for many years. 
She is both Cree and Metis and a member of the Beardy’s and Okemasis 
First Nation. Her research and scholarship are in anti-racist and 
Indigenous education, and she has published extensively on these 
topics. 

In March, 2024, Kahérakwas Donna Goodleaf, Ed.D. gave a workshop 
entitled, What does it mean to Decolonize and Indigenize Curriculum 
and Pedagogy in Academia? Practical Strategies for Faculty and Senior 
Leadership to Consider. The aim of this workshop was to unpack and 
examine what decolonizing and Indigenizing curriculum and 
pedagogy means within the context of university programs. Concrete 
examples of decolonized and Indigenized course syllabi were explored. 
As well, participants heard from a Concordia UniversityAssociate Dean 
in Fine Arts and a faculty member in the Communications department 
in relation to their experiences, successes, challenges, and 
opportunities in moving forward Concordia University's commitment 
to decolonizing and Indigenizing curriculum and pedagogy university-
wide. 

Implemented Senior leaders at KPU attended a seven session education series based 
on Pulling Together: A Guide to Indigenization of Post-Secondary 
Institutions, led by some of the developers of the guide. These sessions 
focused on the Guide for Leaders and Administrators. In addition, staff 
in the Teaching and Learning Commons participated in training 
sessions focused on the Guide for Curriculum Developers. The guides 
are intended to support systemic change occurring across BC post-
secondary institutions through Indigenization, decolonization, and 
reconciliation. 

Ongoing The following are examples of health-related cultural activities offered 
in the 2023/24 year: 

Taste the Forest Tea where KPU staff and students visited the Gathering 
Place in spring 2024 to connect and learn about various Indigenous teas 
and their healing properties. 

Two-spirited LGBTQIA+ KPU community group for students, a 
therapeutic group open to KPU students who identify with 2SLGBTQIA+ 
This ran in fall of 2023. 
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Nature Based Healing: Students participate in nature walks and 
address wellness through Indigenous principles of nature-based 
healing. This is ongoing and occurred in spring and summer 2024. 

Completed Indigenous Peoples Month: Across June 2021, Indigenous Services for 
Students hosted several events on topics such as Indigenous language 
revitalization, Indigenous story-telling, and wellness to celebrate 
National Indigenous Peoples Month. 

June 2022, KPU launched the xéʔelɬ Pathway to Systemic 
Transformation. This framework will guide KPU on important work 
towards reconciliation. To celebrate this day there were Indigenous 
performances by actors, singers, and a pow wow dance group. 

In June 2022, in addition to hosting the Indigenous Dialogue Series 
speaker on June 21, KPU hosted two workshops: 

Ribbon Skirt Workshop (open to Indigenous students only). This 
workshop was held at the Wilson School of Design at the KPU Richmond 
campus. There was no cost to students and fabric and ribbon were 
provided. 

Medicine Pouch Workshop (open to all KPU student, faculty, and staff). 
This workshop was held on the KPU Surrey campus and a limited 
number of medicine pouch kits were available to Indigenous students. 

KPU promoted other events, both in person and online, that recognize 
and celebrate Indigenous cultures, languages, resilience, and diversity. 

Completed In Fall 2023, KPU held an Indigenous Remebrance Day workshop 
honoring the First Nations, Inuit & Metis men and women who 
volunteered in the major wars. 

Completed In 2019/20, KPU hosted several film screenings of Invasion, a film about 
the Unist’ot’en Camp, Gidimt’en checkpoint, and the larger 
Wet’suwet’en Nation’s continued fight against colonial violence, 
followed by a facilitated discussion on topics of colonialism, Indigenous 
sovereignty, allyship, and solidarity with Indigenous Peoples. 

Ongoing Employee training: All KPU employees are expected to take online 
Indigenous Awareness training. This training was updated in 2022 and 
now consists of the following four modules: 

Module 1: Pre and Early Contact introduces the learner to the 
Indigenous way of life before contact with European settlers and 
identify differences between Indigenous and European 
worldviews. 

Module 2: Colonization expands the learner’s knowledge of 
colonization and its legacy in Canada. It also highlights important 
events that continue to define the relationship between Indigenous 
and non-Indigenous people. 
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Module 3: Resistance, Resilience, and Reconciliation identifies 
major events in Indigenous resistance and discuss the ongoing 
journey towards reconciliation. Additionally, this module describes 
some of the ways by which Indigenous Peoples are regaining their 
rightful place and are thriving. 

Module 4: Situating Oneself identifies local First Nation and 
Indigenous Organizations. Additionally, this module provides 
specific methods for supporting decolonization. 

62: TEACHER EDUCATION 

We call upon the federal, provincial, and territorial governments, in consultation and 
collaboration with survivors, Indigenous Peoples, and educators, to: … Provide the necessary 
funding to post-secondary institutions to educate teachers on how to integrate Indigenous 
knowledge and teaching methods into classrooms. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Planning Teacher Education: Discussions had been initiated with the ministry to 
determine the feasibility of offering unique and niche area teacher 
education programs servicing critical areas of need in the province. It 
is recognized that there is a need for Indigenous K-12 teachers and a 
need to focus teacher education from an Indigenous perspective. 
Discussions with the ministry and with other key parties about teacher 
education were put on hold due to the pandemic, but resumed in 2023. 
Discussions with universities that offer teaching education are 
underway in 2024. 

   

 
 
 

  
 

  
  

  

 

 
  

 
  

    

  
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

    

 
 

   
  

 
  

  
 

 

86: JOURNALISM AND MEDIA SCHOOLS 

We call upon Canadian journalism programs and media schools to require education for all 
students on the history of Indigenous Peoples, including the history and legacy of residential 
schools, the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and Indigenous rights, 
Indigenous law, and Indigenous–Crown relations. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing Introduction to Indigenous Studies: The KPU Bachelor of Journalism 
program requires students to take Introduction to Indigenous Studies 
(INDG 1100 - 3 credits). Students learn about the histories, cultures, and 
contemporary situations of Indigenous Peoples in North America, with 
special attention to Indigenous Peoples in Canada. They examine pre-
contact histories and cultures, and critically examine and challenge 
assumptions acquired from colonial culture. Students develop 
informed views on Indigenous cultures and histories. Students are 
exposed to elements of Indigenous teachings and traditional 
knowledge from various Indigenous perspectives, including those of 
Elders and local communities. 
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92: BUSINESS SCHOOLS 

We call upon the corporate sector in Canada to … Provide education for management and staff 
on the history of Indigenous Peoples, including the history and legacy of residential schools, the 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and Indigenous rights, Indigenous 
law, and Indigenous–Crown relations. This will require skills-based training in intercultural 
competency, conflict resolution, human rights, and anti-racism. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing Employment resources for Business Indigenous students: Continuing 
deployment of a webpage with resources to help Indigenous students 
find employment, which can be found here. It includes links to job 
banks and employment programs specifically for Indigenous Peoples. 
The success of this method for connecting Indigenous students with 
employers is under evaluation while resources continue to be added. 

Completed Young Indigenous Leaders program: Three faculty members from the 
Melville School of Business supported four 6th-grade elementary 
school teams from the district of Maple Ridge in a mini case 
competition with the goal to support their fellow Indigenous students. 
The winning team drafted the idea of an update to the school’s bagged 
lunch program. Prior to the pandemic, at-risk kids would get lunch bags 
privately, but during the pandemic, students stayed in their classrooms 
while deliveries occurred. The under-privileged students were obvious 
as the bagged lunches were handed out to only a certain number of 
students in the classroom. The new idea was that everyone got one and 
those that could pay would pay separately so that no student was 
singled out. 

Ongoing Decolonization, Indigenization & Reconciliation Champions: Three 
faculty members in the Melville School of Business received time 
releases (25% each) from September 2023 to August 2024 for 
Decolonization, Indigenization & Reconciliation Champions. 

The work of this role built on past release efforts and continues the 
journey toward meeting Indigenous determinants of educational 
success, Indigenous pedagogy in the post-secondary context, and 
increasing Indigenous student engagement in the School. 

Their work has included the following: 

Identified current perceptions, gaps and barriers to decolonization 
within Melville School of Business 

Meetings with VP Indigenous to educate ourselves on Pathway to 
Systemic Transformation and other strategic KPU-wide initiatives 

Supported new program development to weave Indigenous content 
and practices into the curriculum. 
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Listening to and starting to build relationship with Indigenous 
Elder (member of Elder Council at NVIT) and Indigenous students 
(NVIT) Leadership team and faculty members. 

Mentor individual MSB faculty to embed Indigenous content and 
practices into the classroom. 

Started building and creating a resource repository for Indigenous 
content accessible to educators and leaders. 

Launched a dialogue series for Indigenous community members, 
faculty and administration. 

Two faculty members will continue this work with rsearch in the fall 
and spring semesters in 2024/25. 

Completed Champion to increase awareness: Since September 2018, the Melville 
School of Business has supported two 0.25 one-year releases for a 
Faculty Champion to lead initiatives to increase Indigenous awareness 
and decolonization of the classrooms and curriculum. In the most 
recent time release, a January 2022 workshop entitled Principled 
Engagement with Indigenous People was provided to 20 Melville 
School faculty. The session was designed to support instructors’ 
ongoing awareness and commitment to decolonizing antiracism work. 
The School of Business is committed to creating a safe, inclusive, and 
inviting learning environment for Indigenous students. 

Ongoing The Melville School of Business hosts workshops and sessions on 
various topics relevant to making changes in the School to better 
address the TRC calls to action. These events include: 

MSB Faculty Team attending and presented as panelists at the 7th 
Principles of Responsible Management Education (PRME) Chapter 
North America biennial meeting in Victoria, in spring 2024,  regarding 
how to incorporate Indigenous ways of learning and being in the 
classroom, curriculum, and community-based business initiatives. 

In May 2023, the School partnered with the Greater Vancouver Board 
of Trade and had Michelle Bryant-Gravelle present “Bold Leadership 
through an Indigenous Lens” to 20 KPU students. Michelle is the Senior 
Director, Indigenous Relations for the City of Vancouver, and 
conducted an enriching discussion with students. 

In 2022/23, the School held ideation sessions every Wednesday for staff 
and faculty to focus on the School’s strategic plan. Goal 3 of the plan is 
“Reciprocal Partnerships and Relations” and has an initiative to 
“Engage, listen to, and collaborate with Indigenous communities, with 
the intent of delivering Indigenous informed business education.” 
Focus groups comprised of faculty and staff meet during (and 
sometimes outside of) this time block to further discuss learning, 
reflecting, understanding these issues. 

Appendix A: Report on Reconciliation 113 



   

   
   

 
  

 
        

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

   

 

  
 

   
  

  
 

 
 

  
  

      
    

 

 
 

 
 

    

   
  

Also in 2022/23, the School held a workshop titled “Principled 
Engagement with Indigenous Peoples". The workshop was facilitated 
by Rain Daniels and Chelsea Branch, who provide workshops on 
Indigenous antiracism. The workshop examined past and present 
realities, applied framework connecting the relationship between 
beliefs and actions impacting Indigenous Peoples, identified links 
between individual and systemic responsibilities, and taught tools for 
engagement, safe service, and equity 

In February 2021, the School welcomed Mary Jane (MJ) Brownscombe 
as a keynote speaker at the Faculty-wide Reading Break event. 
Brownscombe is Founder and Chief Executive Officer of SHEanalytics, 
an enterprise that generates thought leadership to advance inclusion 
and success for women and Indigenous Peoples. Brownscombe 
provided an inspirational perspective on how business education and 
business schools are important influencers for positive change in the 
business world. 

In September 2021, MSB partnered with Chartered Professional 
Accountants of British Columbia to present a Fundamentals of Anti-
Oppression workshop. 

Completed In May 2022, the Melville School of Business hosted an event for faculty 
and staff entitled Recognizing Indigenous Voices in Business 
Classrooms: Mentorship, Research and More, presented by Dr. Keith G. 
Brown and Mary Beth Doucette, the authors of the Indigenous Business 
in Canada: Principles and Practices textbook from Cape Breton 
University. 

Mary Beth Doucette is the Purdy Crawford Chair in Indigenous 
Business Studies in the Shannon School of Business at Cape Breton 
University. Dr. Keith G. Brown is a former Purdy Crawford Chair. The 
Purdy Crawford Chair in Indigenous Business Studies focuses on the 
research of Indigenous business models, best practices in Indigenous 
economic development, case studies profiling Indigenous businesses, 
as well as national and international comparative analysis. The 
purpose of the Chair is to promote interest in studying business at the 
post-secondary level among Canada’s Indigenous Peoples, as well as to 
encourage applied research specific to their communities. 

Ongoing Advanced Business Match is about connecting Indigenous and non-
Indigenous communities, sectors, and businesses with qualified 
decision-makers representing a diversity of business and investment 
interests. People attend Advanced Business Match to develop new 
opportunities and partnerships. In 2019, Kwantlen First Nation and the 
Township of Langley, in partnership with Raven Events, hosted the 
third annual Advanced Business Match – Lower Mainland. Members of 
the Melville School of Business attended, and plan to attend future 
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events to network with Indigenous business owners, but have not been 
able to attend since due to the pandemic. 

Completed Open Education Resource (OER) for Business Communications 
(Indigenous focus): A KPU Applied Communications instructor 
received a grant to work on an OER for Business Communications. With 
this grant, the instructor created a textbook for Business 
Communications that includes Indigenous voices, experiences, and 
business protocols by engaging with members of different Nations in 
the Coast Salish region. 

Completed Open Education Resource for Consumer Behaviour: A Melville School 
of Business Marketing instructor developed an Open Education 
Resource (OER) for Consumer Behaviour. As a recent grant recipient, 
the instructor hired Indigenous KPU students to help with this project 
and obtained Indigenous content contributors to include fundamental 
traditional knowledge often ignored or erased by business writers. This 
project was accepted into the United Nations Educational, Scientific 
and Cultural Organizations (UNESCO) Open Learning for a Better 
World program as an OER project serving the Sustainable Development 
Goals articulated by the United Nations. The instructor, a Faculty 
Champion of decolonization and Indigenization in the School of 
Business, presented to over 80 Business faculty on approaching 
reconciliation, Indigenization, and decolonization in 2019. This text 
remains in use in the School. 

Completed Event planning – Indigenous Awareness Month: A KPU faculty member 
taught two sections of an Entrepreneurial Leadership (ENTR) course in 
spring 2019 that involved students in the organization and 
management of an event. This year students collaborated with KPU 
Indigenous Services for Students on the Open Door, Open Minds STEM 
Forum for Indigenous high school students (described below), in 
recognition of Indigenous Awareness Month. The instructor has 
developed a collaboration with KPU corporate partner, RICOH, who 
will be providing technology for various events. 

Ongoing Bursary for Indigenous students enrolled in Business: In 2019, faculty 
members from the Melville School of Business set up an ongoing 
bursary for Indigenous students enrolled in Business programs. One 
instructor allocated the award money she received for Teaching 
Excellence from the Accreditation Council for Business Schools and 
Programs (ACBSP), and another member donated the payment 
received for peer-reviewing a textbook. Several faculty members 
continue to contribute to the bursary through their KPU pay, all of 
which is matched by the institution. 

Scholarship for Indigenous students enrolled in Business: Two KPU 
Applied Communications Business instructors have developed a 
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scholarship for Indigenous students studying in the Melville School of 
Business. The first scholarship award was given in 2018. 

Ongoing Faculty Learning Community (FLC): In summer 2019, the Melville 
School of Business launched a Faculty Learning Community for 
decolonization, reconciliation, and Indigenization. The FLC continues 
to meet regularly to read articles and papers by Indigenous authors and 
discuss their learnings and applications in the post-secondary 
environment. While the FLC started in the School of Business, 
participants also come from other faculties across KPU. Meetings were 
suspended during the pandemic. 

Ongoing Curated site for sharing Indigenous resources: Essays, book 
suggestions, guides, podcasts, videos, etc. are curated to provide the 
Melville School of Business community with useful resources to 
support personal and professional progress around reconciliation and 
decolonization. This online site contains resources for Melville School 
of Business faculty, administrators, staff, and others to access in order 
to enrich their learning and application of Indigenization and 
decolonization practices. The site was launched in spring 2019. 

UNITED NATIONS DECLARATION ON THE RIGHTS OF INDIGENOUS 
PEOPLES IMPLEMENTATION 

ARTICLE 14 
1. Indigenous Peoples have the right to establish and control their educational systems 

and institutions providing education in their own languages, in a manner appropriate 
to their cultural methods of teaching and learning. 

2. Indigenous individuals, particularly children, have the right to all levels and forms of 
education. 

PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing Indigenous Studies department: In spring 2022 the University Senate 
and the Board of Governors approved the establishment of a new 
department called Indigenous Studies (INDG) in the Faculty of Arts, 
effective April 1, 2022. In fall 2023 KPU celebrated the formal launch of 
the department with a celebration that included Indigenous artists, 
performers, and speakers. 

While KPU has been offering courses in the growing field of Indigenous 
studies, along with a well-subscribed minor in Indigenous Community 
Justice, since 2017, this new department further strengthens the 
university’s ability to support Indigenous Peoples. Introduction to 
Indigenous Studies is among the department’s course offerings. 
Students learn about the histories, cultures, and contemporary 
situations of Indigenous Peoples in North America, with special 

Appendix A: Report on Reconciliation 116 



   

  
 

 

  
 

   
 

 
 
 
 

 

  
 

    
     

 
   

   
  

      
  

 
 

  
  

  

  
 
 

      
   

  
  

 
 
 

 

attention to Indigenous Peoples in Canada. The department offers four 
other courses, covering topics of sexuality and gender, families and 
healing, perspectives on settler colonial societies, and activism. 

In the fall semester of 2023, the Faculty of Arts hosted a celebration to 
formally launch the Indigneous Studies department, an event which 
included invited guests, performers, and members of the local First 
Nations. 

The INDG department continues to develop new curriculum. The 
department worked closely with the Faculty of Science to create a new, 
cross-listed course: INDG/BIOL 1492: Indigenous Perspectives in 
Biology, which was approved in 2024 and will be offered in the fall 2024 
semester for the first time. 

Ongoing In 2022, KPU received approval from the BC Office of Human Rights in 
response to a special program application to attract and retain 
Indigenous faculty, administrative employees, and support staff. The 
aim is to hire 10 faculty, 5 admin, and 7 support staff who self-identify 
as Indigenous, including First Nations, Métis, and Inuit by February 
2027. A guide and process has been created for this special hiring 
program and the hiring iniatitive was launched in April 2024. 

Ongoing Indigenous faculty hires in the Faculty of Arts: In Creative Writing, two 
Non-Regular Type 2 faculty members were hired in summer 2023. 
Another Indigenous person was hired onto Music’s Qualified Faculty 
List that year. 

The Indigenous Studies department hired a Regular faculty member in 
the summer 2023 semester, in addition to two Non-Regular Type 2 
faculty members previously hired in the department. The department 
hired a new full-time Regular faculty member and two part-time Non-
Regular Type 2 faculty members in the summer 2024 semester. 

Ongoing The Indigenous Advisory Committee (IAC) includes invited 
representation from the local First Nation communities. Additionally, 
the Métis Nation of BC and Surrey Urban Indigenous Leadership 
Committee take part in the meetings. The district leads for Indigenous 
educational services from each local school district also participate. 
Various KPU staff and faculty join the meetings and students from the 
Indigenous Student Council take part. The IAC meets about every 2-3 
months with regular attendance of about 25-30 people, including the 
University Chancellor (and former Tsawwassen First Nation Chief) 
Kwuntiltunaat (Kim Baird) and Board governor Rhiannon Bennett. The 
meetings are co-chaired by Cheryl Gabriel (Kwantlen Nation) and Len 
Pierre (Katzie Nation/KPU’s Special Advisor, Indigenous Leadership, 
Innovation and Partnerships). The meetings are open, and guests are 
welcome to bring forward agenda items and topics of interest. 

Appendix A: Report on Reconciliation 117 



   

   
 

  
 

  
 

       
    

 

  
  

 
 
 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

        
 

  

 
  

 
  

 
     
   

 
  

    
  

  
  

  
 
 

The IAC plays an advisory role and can provide input on initiatives 
under consideration at KPU. The IAC was reignited in 2017 after it had 
not met for several years. Topics for discussion include the initial stages 
in the development of an Indigenous strategic plan, campus master 
planning, the expansion of the Elders’ program, Indigenous Peoples’ 
Month events, updates from community and KPU members, 
development of a resource repository through the university library, 
and input on other key initiatives. The Vice President, Students, 
coordinates the IAC. 

Ongoing In 2022, KPU hired its first Associate Vice President in Indigenous 
Leadership, Innovation, and Partnerships. This role will provide 
leadership and support KPU’s efforts towards truth and reconciliation, 
and provide senior advice and guidance on how KPU can work towards 
decolonizing and Indigenizing the university’s structure. To support 
this role, hiring is underway to fill two new positions, Manager of 
Indigenous Leadership, Innovation, and Partnerships, and another 
position that is under development. 

The xéʔelɬ Pathway Framework will guide KPU as it continues its 
important work with systems change. 

The restructured Indigenous Advisory Committee continues to guide 
and support initiatives brought to the advisory table. Currently, not all 
of the local seven First Nations actively participate with the IAC. The 
goal is to increase their participation. 

Ongoing KPU enhanced its Indigenous Peer Mentor program, whereby senior 
Indigenous students provide support to students. Peer mentors 
complete the Certified Peer Educators (CPE) training program, through 
NASPA, the association of Student Affairs Administrators in Higher 
Education. This CPE designation provides a more robust foundation for 
peer mentor training and development. A Coordinator, Indigenous 
Student Transitions and Engagement has been hired to further 
enhance the efforts of the student mentor to build community and a 
sense of belonging for Indigenous students. The goal is to continue to 
increase opportunities for connecting with Indigenous students 
through social media platforms, virtual lounge chats, and in-person 
engagement activities in the Gathering Place. 

Ongoing Naut'sa Mawt: One Heart, One Mind is a multi-year educational and 
community building initiative, funded by the Irving K. Barber Fund 
and led by a Faculty of Arts faculty member. The initiative involves 
sustained Indigenous student leadership and participation, Elder 
guidance and mentorship, and interdisciplinary, interactive, on-the-
land learning opportunities for underserved learners strongly in need 
of inspiration and opportunity. It also builds the capacity of staff, 
faculty, and administrators to provide an accessible and inclusive 
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environment for students, and engage in community outreach beyond 
KPU. 

ARTICLE 15 

Indigenous Peoples have the right to the dignity and diversity of their cultures, traditions, 
histories and aspirations which shall be appropriately reflected in education and public 
information. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

New In March 2024, Pamela Baker, a renowned Indigenous designer and 
fashion expert with 35 years of experience, became the first Indigenous 
Designer in Residence at the Wilson School of Design. A highly 
accomplished Indigenous artist, designer, and successful entrepreneur, 
Baker has an impressive history of art and design accolades ranging 
from large-scale art installations, Olympic regalia designs, to fashion 
show production. Throughout the 2024 spring term, Baker provided 
student consultations, guest lectures, workshops, and designer 
discussions. 

New The Melville School of Business Human Resources Management 
(HRMT) department integrated an indigenous knowledge learning 
objective in Human Resources Management I. In addition, HRMT 
integrated indigenous informed learning in the course Human 
Relations in Organizations (two-eyed seeing and the medicine wheel/EI 
connection) and in the course Leadership and HR Consulting (land 
acknowledgement assignment). 

New The Melville School of Business will offer a new Indigenous 
entrepreneurship course in 2024, developed by the Martin Family 
Initiative, which works in collaboration with Indigenous communities 
to advance family, educational, and economic well-being outcomes of 
First Nations, Inuit, and Métis children and youth. This course is for 
Indigenous youth interested in starting their own business. The first 
section will be offered Fall 2024 and taught by an Indigenous business 
faculty member. 

Ongoing In the 2022/23 academic year, the Faculty of Arts initiated its 
Indigenous Artist and Writer-in-Residence initiative. 

During the fall 2022 semester, the Faculty welcomed Molly Cross 
Blanchard, Indigenous Writer-in-Residence, and Á’a:líya Warbus, 
Indigenous Artist-in-Residence. They were both extended for the spring 
2023 semester. During the 2023/24 academic year, Molly Cross 
Blanchard was subsequently hired as faculty to teach in the Creative 
Writing and Indigenous Studies departments. As of summer 2024, She 
is in a one-year contract to teach in the Indigenous Studies department
and Á’a:líya Warbus is now on the qualified faculty list and eligible to 
teach in the Music department. 
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Molly Cross Blanchard is a White and Métis writer, editor, and educator 
born on Treaty 3 (Fort Frances, ON), raised on Treaty 6 (Prince Albert, 
SK), and lives on the unceded territories of the Musqueam, Squamish, 
and Tsleil-Waututh Peoples, colonially known as Vancouver. Molly’s 
poetry chapbook is I Don’t Want to Tell You (Rahila’s Ghost Press, 2018) 
and her debut full-length book of poetry is Exhibitionist (Coach House 
Books, 2021), which was shortlisted for the ReLit Award for Poetry. Her 
poem “First Contact: Métis” was shortlisted for a 2022 National 
Magazine. 

Á'a:líya Warbus is Stó:lō with roots in the xʷməθkʷəy̓ əm, Sema: th, 
Sq’éwlets and Sts’ailes First Nations. She is focused on writing, 
directing, and being a mom to her three young children. Á’a:líya’s 
narrative short fiction and short documentaries examine themes of 
Indigenous culture, Indigenous matriarchs, and the effects of 
colonization on her family and community. Her stories are a mix of 
both modern and traditional themes driven by her experience growing 
up in both worlds simultaneously. 

Joining KPU in spring 2023 were Brandi Bird, Indigenous Writer-in-
Residence, and Brandon Gabriel, Indigenous Artist-in-Residence. Their 
residency work included consultations; in-class visits; events; and 
student, faculty, and staff engagement. Brandon Gabriel also created a 
large-scale mural which is permanently on display in the KPU library 
on the Surrey campus. 

Brandon Gabriel has since been placed on the qualified faculty list and 
eligible to teach in the Indigenous Studies department. He taught one 
course during the fall 2023 semester. 

Brandi Bird is an Indigiqueer Saulteaux, Cree and Métis writer from 
Treaty 1 territory. They live and learn on the land of the Squamish, 
Tsleil-Waututh & Musqueam Peoples. Their work has been published 
in The Puritan, Poetry is Dead, Room Magazine, Brick Magazine, Prism 
International, and others. Their first book, "The All + Flesh,” was 
released with House of Anansi Press in fall 2023. 

Brandon Gabriel is Kwantlen First Nation and was educated in cultural 
anthropology, visual art, and marketing at KPU and then received his 
Bachelor’s Degree in Visual Art from Emily Carr University of Fine Art 
and Design. Brandon is a multi-talented contemporary mixed media 
artist who specializes in painting, drawing, graphic design, 
architectural design concepts, and public art installations. He was one 
of the three artists who created the new social justice mural in the 
Surrey campus library, described above. 

During the second year of this Faculty of Arts’ initiative, Napatsi Folger 
joined KPU as an Indigenous Artist- and Writer-in-Residence in fall 
2023. The Inuk literary artist is known for her creative writing in 
genres of comic art, fiction, and nonfiction, with themes of Indigeneity 
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and family relationships prominent in her writing. Born in Iqaluit, 
Nunavut, Folger moved to North Vancouver as a child and grew up 
hungry for stories from her family and community. Inuit, she says, are 
excellent storytellers. And as an oral storytelling culture, Inuit have a 
different way of structuring those stories. 

Folger holds a Master of Fine Arts Degree in Creative Writing from the 
University of British Columbia. Among her published works is a 2011 
children’s book about growing up in Nunavut called Joy of Apex. 
Working with students in the Faculty of Arts, Folger kept regular office 
hours, offered drop-in virtual writing sessions, and hosted in-person 
events on campus. Classroom visits were also on her calendar for the 
term. In the spring 2024 semester, Napatsi Folger was hired to work in 
the Indigenous Student Services unit at KPU. 

Joining KPU for the spring and summer 2024 semesters are Selina Boan, 
Indigenous Writer-in-Residence, and Richard Pierre, Knowledge 
Keeper in Residence. 

Selina Boan is a white settler-nehiyaw (Cree) writer and educator living 
on the traditional, unceded territories of thexʷməθkʷəy̓ əm 

̓(Musqueam), səlilwətaɁɬ (Tsleil-waututh), and sḵwx̱wú7mesh 
(Squamish) Peoples. Her debut poetry collection, Undoing Hours, won 
the 2022 Pat Lowther Memorial Award and the Indigenous Voices 
Award for Published Poetry in English. Her work has been published 
widely, including The Best Canadian Poetry 2018 and 2020. She is a 
poetry editor for CV2 Magazine and a beadwork artist. Selina is a 
passionate educator and believes learning requires the exploration of 
identity in relationship to how we are connected to one another, to the 
community, and to the land. Her teaching philosophy centres on 
fostering a learning space that celebrates who students are, where they 
come from, and the unique perspectives, stories, and ideas they bring 
to a learning space. 

Richard Pierre, Sdemokeltel, is from Katzie First Nation on his father's 
side, and Tsawout First Nation on his mother's side. Richard is an Elder 
and Cultural Advisor at Len Pierre Consulting. He enjoys sharing 
traditional Coast Salish family values, culture, beliefs, history, 
language, and contemporary issues. Richard has over 20 years of 
experience working in the education sector, including public K-12, 
university, and professional training programs. He is passionate about 
making reconciliation a reality in this country and looks forward to 
helping the next generation transition into "walking together" like we 
should have been doing all along. 

Sept 22, 2023, the Kwikwitlem First Nation held a Cultural Heritage 
Workshop at KPU Civic Plaza. The faculty host was Dr. Layne Myhre. 
This event was associated with a research project being done in the 
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Kwikwetlem River watershed by the Biology department and some 
Environmental Protection Technology students. 

Ongoing The Global Indigenous Learning Experience (GILE) is a collaborative 
online virtual study program co-developed by Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University (Canada) and Edith Cowen University (ECU) (Australia), 
marking a first of its kind collaboration between Indigenous Student 
Services (KPU), Kurongkurl Katitjin (ECU) and respective International 
departments. 

The program's development began in 2019 and transitioned to an 
online format in 2022 due to the impact of the pandemic and was 
offered again in summer 2023. Students from both institutes 
participate in weekly synchronous virtual sessions with a small cohort, 
providing them with the opportunity to learn with and engage in 
storytelling and dialogue on topics related to Indigenous culture and 
history, language revitalization, Indigenous resurgence, and 
scholarship. 

July 2024 was the very first physical exchange of Indigenous students 
with Edith Cowen University. Indigenous students from KPU flew to 
Perth Austrailia in early July, and Perth students visited KPU in mid-
July. 

Ongoing The updated Bachelor of Arts Framework includes a category called 
Arts Aspirations, that is, a set of objectives that will be integrated into 
programs. A key Arts ambition is Indigenous perspectives, according to 
which all departments will work towards learning about the diversity 
of Indigenous Peoples, cultures, and histories, and engaging 
respectfully with Indigenous ways of knowing; identifying and 
articulating the impacts of historical and ongoing colonization in 
Canada; and reflecting on the social, political, economic, and cultural 
factors that have and continue to inform Indigenous-settler relations. 
As programs undergo program review, they are putting in place quality 
assurance plans, which include Indigenization and decolonization of 
the curriculum. 

Department chairs have been sharing their approaches, and some have 
formed Indigenization and decolonization committees for dedicated 
time and efforts in their respective departments. The Dean’s office also 
has regular, dedicated meetings on this topic to ensure Indigenization 
and decolonization are ongoing prirorities in the Faculty, including 
through inititiatives like cultural safety training for faculty and staff. 
The Academic Planning and Priorities subcommittee of the Arts Faculty 
Council continues to gather resources and developing 
recommendations for the purpose of helping departments realize this 
ambition. 

Ongoing Indigenous Community Justice (ICJ) Minor: Changes to the Indigenous 
Community Justice Minor were implemented in September 2020 to 
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make the minor more flexible and to expand the list of upper-level 
courses from which students may choose to meet the requirements. 
The ICJ Minor is now overseen by the Chair of the new Indigenous 
Studies department, who will connect with students declared into the 
program and liaise with other departments in Arts that offer courses 
(some of which are cross-listed as INDG courses) that are part of the 
minor. 

Ongoing KPU’s Environmental Protection Technology diploma program 
continues to work on bringing Indigenous Peoples’ perspectives into 
course materials. For example, in ENVI 1121 Environmental Issues, 
news articles on the lack of safe drinking water in numerous First 
Nations reserves across Canada, and specific examples of Indigenous 
perspectives on resource extraction, are presented. In many courses 
(ENVI 1121 Environmental Issues, ENVI 2310 Solid Waste Management, 
ENVI 2410 Water Resources Protection, and ENVI 2405 Environmental 
Legislation), faculty encourage and support students who wish to 
pursue Indigenous issues for their term papers. Recently, students have 
looked at access to clean water on reserve land; others looked at 
environmental racism (including racism towards Indigenous Peoples) 
as manifested in siting of old garbage dumps. 

Indigenous law and its relationship to Canadian law is examined in 
depth in ENVI 2405 Environmental Legislation, and lawyers from a law 
firm specializing in Indigenous and environmental law recently gave a 
guest lecture on the implications of BC's Declaration on the Rights of 
Indigenous Peoples Act, and its implications for environmental law 
more generally in British Columbia in 2020/21. The ongoing 
development of an open textbook for ENVI 1121 Environmental Issues 
includes chapters on environmental racism and environmental 
impacts on Indigenous Peoples. 

In Progress The Criminology department completed its Open Educational Resource 
(OER), an introductory Criminology textbook edited by Shereen Hassan 
and Dan Lett. Leah Ballantyne, LLB LLM, a Cree lawyer from the 
Mathias Colomb Cree Nation in Pukatawagan, Manitoba, provided 
expert Indigenous consultation/editing for this textbook. 

This OER was jointly funded and supported by BCcampus and the 
Justice Institute of BC. In addition to its adoption in criminology courses 
at KPU, this OER has been adopted by a number of post-secondary 
institutions and is mandatory in courses at the Justice Institute of BC. 

Ongoing Indigenous Perspectives on Settler Colonial Societies (INDG 3155 – 3 
Credits): Students learn about Indigenous perspectives on settler 
colonial societies and the consequences of ongoing colonial occupation 
for Indigenous nations. Students draw upon critical Indigenous Studies 
scholarship, Indigenous traditional knowledge, narrative accounts, 
and oral histories. Students reflect on the misattribution and denial of 
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Indigenous contributions to human social development and analyze 
strategies for decolonization, Indigenization, and self-determination. 

Indigenous Activism (INDG 4245 – 3 Credits): Students examine 
historical and contemporary Indigenous activism in the Americas. 
They critically assess government and corporate intrusion on 
Indigenous rights and lands, and Indigenous Peoples collective 
resistance and attempts to protect inherent rights and lands. Students 
study Indigenous mobilization, political organization, self-
determination, resurgence, and regeneration of communities and 
cultures. They examine collective strategies and tactics, specific 
examples of struggle, community social relations, and visions of social 
alternatives (e.g., anti-capitalist, anti-statist, anti-colonial). 

In progress The Biology department is in the process of co-developing an 
Indigenous Biology course that would be cross listed across both 
biology and Indigenous studies. This exciting new course will be co-
taught by both an Indigenous studies and biology instructor, and its 
first offering is likely to be January 2025. 

In progress The Sustainable Agriculture department is co-developing an 
Indigenous Agriculture course, again that would be cross-listed across 
both agriculture and Indigenous studies departments. This is in early 
stages of development so a launch date isn’t yet established. 

Completed KPU’s Teaching and Learning Commons added an Education 
Consultant for Indigenization to the Teaching and Learning team 
through a 50% faculty time release for the 2021/22 academic year. This 
person supported the further development of KPU educators in 
acquiring competencies related to designing learning experiences and 
environments that support Indigenization and decolonization of the 
curriculum. More specifically, this consultant provided advice to 
colleagues, facilitated workshops and/or communities of practice, 
reviewed research for evidence-based practices, and developed 
resources and training (e.g., infographics, webinars, handouts) for 
educators. 

In progress The Brewing and Brewery Operations department held a meeting on 
March 1, 2024 with KPU’s Associate Vice President in Indigenous 
Leadership to consult on how to Indigenize the curriculum of this 
department’s offerings. 

Ongoing KPU’s new Foundations in Teaching Excellence program, a 
comprehensive yet flexible framework for faculty development, 
includes a focus on Indigenization within the context of inclusive 
teaching. These modules were developed during summer 2021 and 
launched in fall 2021. 
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Implemented Indigenous Resources for Virtual Classrooms: A series of asynchronous 
video resources have been developed by KPU Library's Indigenous 
Engagement and Subject Liaison for integration into course materials. 
These resources cover respectful use of Indigenous information with 
the Indigenous Information Literacy video playlist, special topic 
support through the Indigenous Studies guide for areas such as Truth 
and Reconciliation, Indigenous literature, and more. When initially 
developed, workshops facilitated by KPU Library's Indigenous 
Engagement and Subject Liaison were held on how to integrate these 
resources and discussion to help generate ideas for optimal classroom 
use. 

Implemented Indigenous Services for Students, in partnership with KPU Library, 
launched the first Indigenous Book Club, which is open to students, 
faculty, and staff. Fall 2020 featured the book, Potlatch as Pedagogy, by 
Dr. Sara Davidson and Robert Davidson, her father and internationally 
renowned Haida artist and carver. In spring 2021, participants read Dr. 
Kim Anderson’s book, Native Women and Life Stories. In the 2021/22 
academic year the following books were featured: Sara Davidson’s 
Potlach as Pedagogy: Learning Through Ceremony, Life Stages and 
Native Women, by Kim Anderson, and Memory Serves by Lee Maracle. 

Ongoing In January 2020 the Faculty of Academic & Career Preparation began a 
series of Indigenous Reading Circles. All ACP faculty and staff are 
invited to participate in the reading of Indigenous materials and to 
discuss the learnings and the impact of the readings. 

To generate hearty discussion, readers consider questions during their 
reading about what they learned about the Indigenous community, and 
about the intersection of Indigenous community and Canadian culture 
and institutions. Readers are also asked to reflect on how the readings 
affected them and whether it shifted their thinking and how they view 
the world. 

Implemented χʷəχʷéy̓ əm means oral storytelling in the hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ language 
spoken by the Kwantlen First Nation. χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous Collection 
centres Indigenous knowledge, culture, and heritage by being a 
designated collection of Indigenous authors, writers, and knowledge. 
The χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous Collection was curated by Rachel Chong, 
Indigenous Engagement and Subject Liaison Librarian. 

As of 2024, all four campus libraries now have designated space for the 
χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous Collection. The first was opened on the Surrey 
campus in 2022 (see below). The collections are part of efforts towards 
Indigenization at the university. While physical books by Indigenous 
authors are most of the collection, there are plans for oral storytelling 
recordings by KPU Elder in Residence Leyketen and others to be 
accessible through a QR code in the future. 
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Métis artist Jennifer Lamont, a graduate of the Wilson School of Design 
and now Coordinator of Indigenous Student Transitions and 
Engagement at the university, created a fabric design on chairs that will 
be a part of the Indigenous Collection spaces at all KPU libraries. The 
design features a powwow dancer print on the arm rests. 

On temporary display in 2022 was an eye-catching dress designed by 
Lamont. The dress brings awareness of murdered and missing 
Indigenous women as symbolized by the use of hand patterns and its 
red colour. 

KPU library continues to develop, collect, and add resources to the 
χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous Collection on an ongoing basis. The space 
continues to be used for Indigenous events, learning opportunities, and 
gatherings as needed. 

Implemented The first χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous Collection and resource space opened 
at KPU’s Surrey library in 2022. The space is framed by circular 
shelving and brings together Indigenous books, art, fabric and displays. 
Pole wraps in the library and the sign for χʷəχʷéy̓ əm feature an eagle 
design by KPU graduate Roxanne Charles of Semiahmoo First Nation. 

The library plans to use the space for Indigenous events and to make 
oral storytelling recordings available through QR codes on the shelves. 
A selection of recordings in hən̓ q̓ əmin̓ əm̓ is available on the KPU 
website, including the pronunciation of χʷəχʷéy̓ əm. 

In 2022, the χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous Collection hosted Tea & Bannock 
sessions with Indigenous Curriculum Consultant for Arts, Jennifer 
Anaquod. Faculty met to discuss the joys and challenges in decolonizing 
and Indigenizing curricula. 

KPU Library's Indigenous Engagement and Subject Liaison provides 
tours of the space, sharing the purpose of the collection, how it has been 
selected, and how it is arranged to acknowledge the respectful use of 
Indigenous information. The tour includes ample time for discussion to 
help generate ideas for optimal classroom use of the collection. 

Circular shelves emphasize the importance of circle learning and 
sharing. On those shelves are books by Indigenous authors classified in 
a localized version of the Brian Deer classification system. Deer was a 
Kahnawake Mohawk librarian who developed an Indigenous library 
classification system in the 1970s that focuses on Indigenous ways of 
knowing and relating to the world, one which centres on relationship 
and land. The KPU Library is using a version updated by Métis librarian 
Ashley Edwards for Simon Fraser University’s Indigenous Curriculum 
Resource Centre. 

Jennifer Lamont, of Métis Nation, designed the upholstery used on the 
seating in the space in her final year as a student in the Wilson School 
of Design. The space also features four display boxes that regularly 
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house χ pey ̓ əɬ p (cedar) weavings, and may also include special 
Indigenous displays on occasions, as well as an art piece of a stylized 
salmon by Susan Sparrow Point of Musqueam First Nation. Also on 
display is a piece titled Kwantlen, featuring stylized salmon by Susan 
Sparrow Point, of the Musqueam First Nation, which was gifted by Jim 
Cohoon, family of long-time employee Doug Cohoon who worked in 
Facilities prior to retiring. 

Ongoing Indigenous Repository: KPU is compiling an Indigenous Repository, a 
living digital resource highlighting information relevant to Indigenous 
Studies. This includes a Special Topics section offering introductory 
information on pertinent topics, such as the Truth and Reconciliation 
Commission, Indigenizing education, UNDRIP, Indigenous languages, 
and more. Each special topic includes links for further research 
including web resources, DVDs and streaming material, and books. 
This section is to aid interdisciplinary course work. 

Another section of the repository is on respectful research and 
highlights some cross-cultural complexities, including varying 
Indigenous notions of intellectual property, expanding notions of 
citation and references to encompass Elder knowledge, and a section 
on Indigenous research methods, where Indigenizing research 
methodology and the Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct 
for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2) are emphasized. An eight-part 
series of instructional videos were added in early 2021. These videos 
feature an introduction, tips for evaluating Indigenous resources, tips 
for using the KPU Library catalog to locate Indigenous voices in our 
collection, resources for TCPS2 and respectful research, tips for 
respectfully engaging with Elders and Knowledge Keepers, and finally, 
three videos for Elder and Knowledge Keeper citation in APA, MLA, and 
Chicago styles. 

More resources are added to the site on a regular basis. 

Ongoing Cataloguing & Metadata: KPU Library has completed the first step in 
decolonizing metadata related to Indigenous Peoples by replacing 
outdated/harmful subject headings used for Indigenous Peoples in 
Canada. Building on work from other libraries across Canada, 
including Library and Archives Canada, the Manitoba Archival 
Information Network, UBC’s X̱ wi7x̱ wa Library, and the Greater Victoria 
Public Library, KPU Library is working on decolonizing name and 
subject terms for Indigenous groups and topics. The first and second 
phases are now complete, and ongoing maintenance is underway. 

The first phase of the project involved changing headings for the names 
of First Nations in BC in our catalogue to reflect the preferred terms by 
Indigenous nations themselves (for example, the heading ‘Kwakiutl 
Indians’ changed to ‘Kwakwaka'wakw’). The second phase of the 
project involved modifying subject headings used for Indigenous 
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Peoples in Canada from outdated terms (such as ‘Native peoples’ and 
‘Indians of North America – Canada’ to ‘Indigenous Peoples’ and ‘First 
Nations – Canada’). This change is reflected in over 4,600 bibliographic 
records related to Indigenous studies in Canada and represents many 
hours of detailed hard work and diligence. 

The next step is to integrate National Indigenous Knowledge and 
Language Alliance (NIKLA’s) First Nations, Métis, and Inuit – 
Indigenous Ontology to our bibliographic records and cataloguing 
practices. NIKLA is currently developing a Respectful Terminology 
Platform that will enable a dynamic, multilingual set of terminologies 
applied to Indigenous Peoples, places, heritage, tradition, knowledge 
and cultures. The results from the project will be adapted by KPU 
Library as it fits in the collection. 

Another project that KPU Library is currently working on is adding 
local subject headings for ‘Indigenous authors.’ To accomplish this, 
library staff collaborated to manually review and identify Indigenous 
voices to over 5,000 titles in our print and digital collection. This project 
will enhance access to materials by Indigenous voices in our catalogue. 
In addition, the library is starting to add Homosaurus subject headings 
specifically for Indigenous identities such as: Two-Spirit. 

Finally, KPU Library is also using a modified Brian Deer Indigenous 
Classification (BDC) to organize materials in the χʷəχʷéy̓ əm Indigenous 
Collection. The library  adapted and modified Simon Fraser 
University’s ICRC modified BDC to fit our collection. KPU’s modified 
BDC Version 1 is now published on the library’s website, and being 
reviewed annually by the Metadata & Discovery Librarian, Indigenous 
Engagement Librarian, and Cataloguing & Metadata Technician. 

There is more work to be done, but this is a significant step towards 
Indigenizing/decolonizing our library practices, allowing students to 
navigate Indigenous world views. 

Ongoing The Amazon Interdisciplinary Field School: This is a partnership 
between KPU and the Calanoa Project, a nongovernmental 
organization in Colombia. The field study site, Calanoa Natural Reserve, 
is a private natural reserve located at the heart of the Amazon 
Rainforest and on the banks of the Amazon River. Calanoa, an initiative 
by Colombian-Canadians, Marlene and Diego Samper, is committed to 
the conservation of the biological and cultural diversity of the Amazon 
Rainforest and has initiated long-term community development 
projects with six Indigenous villages that share their traditional 
territory with the Amacayacu National Park in the Colombian Amazon. 
These projects, which are interdisciplinary by nature, are focused on 
issues such as education and cultural memory, identity and arts 
revival, community health, materiality, traditional uses of medicinal 
plants, food security, and innovative design solutions for sustainable 
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livelihoods. The field school was suspended during the pandemic, but 
resumed in 2023. 

New & Ongoing The Institute for Sustainable Food Systems (ISFS) at KPU is recognized 
as a Canadian academic leader in applied food system research (new 
knowledge generation) and extension (i.e. knowledge mobilization and 
adoption) programming to advance regenerative farming and local-
regional food system as integral elements of a sustainable society. As 
part of its work, the ISFS has prioritized serving and supporting 
Indigenous Nations and communities to achieve their food sovereignty 
aspirations. The following is a description of some of that activity: 

Indigenous Housing Society Partnership: The BC Indigenous Housing 
Society (BCIHS) is partnering with KPU’s ISFS in the creation of a farm 
school for its member residents. The program will bring together 15 
Indigenous residents of BCIHS with ISFS staff to begin a seven-month 
training program that will be an immersion into regenerative 
vegetable production, starting in spring 2024. The program emphasizes 
culturally appropriate and safe experiential learning, providing 
Indigenous residents of BCIHS an opportunity to be student farmers, 
learning the principles and practices of regenerative farming, that 
includes an Indigenous food ways perspective. It focuses on hands on, 
experiential learning alongside sector professionals, supported by 
classroom learning and the establishment of a small farm by BCIHS 
residents, for BCIHS residents. 

Indigenous Foodways Community Outreach Facilitator: A new position 
was included to the ISFS team to lead the work on Indigenous food 
sovereignty and outreach initiatives. This position was intially filled by 
a member of the Squamish Nation; in 2024 it is filled by someone from 
Klahoose Nation. An additional position has been added to support 
outreach and is filled by someone from the Metis Nation. 

Indigenous Advisory Circle: ISFS recognizes Indigenous voices through 
food sovereignty work. The Indigenous Advisory Circle (the Circle) is 
established to guide the ISFS and ensure that ISFS’ partnerships with 
Indigenous communities, projects and research reflect our 
commitment to reconciliation and decolonization. Members of the 
Circle represent the diversity of First Nations, Metis and Inuit people 
across the province, with representation from on-reserve and urban 
populations. 

Sik-E-Dakh Band: This is the fourth year that the ISFS is partnered with 
the Sik-E-Dakh band to deliver a virtual training and hands on farming 
program to band members. The program starts with online learning in 
Nov each year. The practicum training starts the following April 
through Oct. The program has more than 30 members participating in 
the training over the four-year period. Several band members are now 
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employed with KPU to care for the community farm, producing and 
delivering food to community members. 

Sea Bird Island Band: Seabird Island Band (SIB) envisions aligning 
farming practices on leased lands with the Band's firmly held 
sustainability and ecological stewardship values. By managing the 
administration of their land, resources and development of related 
programs and policies, as their ancestors once did, SIB hopes to restore 
a self-reliant and culture-rich Seabird Island food system that sustains 
the health of our territories and people. They have sought support from 
ISFS for this project and other related initiatives for our experience, 
technical capacity, alignment of values and our deep respect for 
Indigenous ways of knowing and being. 

Xwisten Band: Xwisten (Bridge River) Band commits to strengthening 
food security and create a community-focused food system 
enterprise(s) that connects people with the lands, way of life and each 
other. ISFS is support the band to develop a sustainable food security 
business allowing the band to produce, package and sell locally grown 
agricultural products in the area while creating employment and 
providing healthy food to the community. The business model will 
consider land selection, water sourcing, equipment acquisition, crop 
selection and employee training. The project will be a 3-year phased 
approach to allow for the business model to makes its way towards 
financial sustainability and refining its operations. 

Completed The Tsawwassen First Nation Farm School has been a collaboration 
between the Tsawwassen First Nation (TFN) and KPU’s Institute for 
Sustainable Food Systems for a number of years, and is temporarily on 
hold. The School fused sustainable agriculture and traditional 
Indigenous food systems as tools to build community and create 
dialogue around land stewardship for the future. The program took 
place at our 20-acre certified organic working farm on traditional TFN 
lands. The farm boasts a traditional medicine garden, a mixed fruit 
orchard, a market garden, livestock including chickens, pigs and ducks, 
and incubator plots on which program graduates can launch their farm 
businesses. The farm was a gathering place to learn about human 
scaled alternative food production systems. The School program was 
open to all interested in how to feed a growing population while 
restoring the land. 

Student intakes for the 2020 season were cancelled due to the 
pandemic, but the institute continued to fully operate the farm and 
produce as much food as possible. Over the 2020 season, the farm was 
a vendor at four farmers’ markets, had a 150-person community 
supported agriculture vegetable box program, sold to various 
wholesale food suppliers in Metro Vancouver, produced 40-50 dozen 
eggs weekly, sold about 40-50 bouquets of fresh cut flowers weekly and 
sold all 25 pigs to the general community. 
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To support the Tsawwassen First Nation’s food security initiatives, the 
farm supplied 32 vegetable boxes for 20 weeks from June to October 
(value of $15,000), extra bulk vegetables when available, gift cards for 
Superstore worth $2,500, and various pork products worth $1,200 
toward TFN’s food security initiatives. 

In addition to providing fresh produce to the TFN community, the 
School also collaborated with two other organizations: 

Kekinow Native Housing Society: Supplied 8 vegetable boxes for 20 
weeks from June to October 

Pacific Immigrant Resources Society: Supplied five vegetable boxes for 
20 weeks from June to October 

The Farm School started the 2021 season on April 14, 2021 and went 
until the end of October, with a cohort of 14 students. The farm was in 
full production, growing mixed vegetables and cut flowers on 3-4 acres, 
raising 99 laying hens and 15 pigs. As a working farm, the students 
participated in harvesting and selling the vegetables. 

The Farm School team was also involved in helping the TFN develop a 
smaller community garden plot for their members to use. Due to the 
pandemic, the farm did not host any community events in the 2021 
season. 

For the 2021 season, the farm donated a total of 20 weekly vegetable 
boxes to TFN’s Food Stability program for pandemic relief. The food 
went to low income households, Elders and other families in need. The 
sales revenues that year included, but are not limited to, 150 veggie 
boxes to the general public, participating in three farmers’ markets in 
Metro Vancouver, and some sales to wholesale distributors and grocery 
stores. 

Completed The following are examples of past projects done in partnerships 
between the Institute for Sustainable Food Systems (ISFS) and First 
Nations. 

The Farm to Healthy Communities Project: Key objectives of this project 
are to: develop, test and implement a produce delivery model from 
local farms to at-risk families; inform and train a new generation of 
community-focused farmers; and create meaningful linkages between 
local food producers and consumers, restoring community connections 
to land, food and health. These objectives were achieved through a 
partnership-based approach in collaboration with Stó:lō Nation 
(Chilliwack), Tsleil-Waututh First Nation (North Vancouver) and 
Kekinow Native Housing (Surrey). Project outcomes provide a 
framework to understand how food system conditions interplay with 
community health and development, and establish pathways to utilize 
these as social innovation avenues to reduce health disparities. We 
propose an innovative approach to bridge systemic and individual-
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level challenges of our failing food system (food supply, accessibility, 
nutritional quality, and affordability) and to demonstrate the impact of 
improved access to nutritious foods. 

Musqueam Indian Band: ISFS is working with Musqueam Indian Band 
on creating an agriculture development plan for their land in Delta. It 
is a 150-acre parcel that they want to develop into an agriculture social 
enterprise with a community farm that can supply free food to all their 
Nation members as well as agri-tourism activities to generate revenue. 

Naut’sa mawt Tribal Council: ISFS has been in partnership with Naut’sa 
mawt Tribal Council since 2015 and continue to collaborate on 
meaningful projects that benefit its 11-member Nations and beyond. 
ISFS has worked with the Tribal Council on large grant applications, 
most significantly a $300,000 grant with Real Estate Foundation of BC 
to establish the TFN Farm School farm and programming, and a 
$270,000 grant with Agriculture and Agrifood Canada in the integrated 
hog and vegetable crop project. This is in addition to smaller projects 
such as hosting webinars for their 11-member Nations on community 
farm development topics. 

Skowkale First Nation (Stó:lō Service Agency): As a result of the vision 
of a TFN Farm School alum, the ISFS was invited to work with member 
Nations of the Stó:lō Service Agency to develop a research project to 
link new entrant farmers to vulnerable families in their communities 
and evaluate the impacts on health and dietary changes. 

ARTICLE 21 

Indigenous Peoples have the right, without discrimination, to the improvement of their economic 
and social conditions, including, inter alia, in the areas of education, employment, vocational 
training and retraining, housing, sanitation, health and social security. 
PROGRESS NEW AND/OR CONTINUING INITIATIVES AND PARTNERSHIPS 

Ongoing An Indigenous Student Orientation has been designed to help ease the 
transition to post-secondary studies for new Indigenous students and 
build a community of support on campus whereby students feel a sense 
of belonging and connection. Both an online orientation and live 
orientation, for students, friends, family, and Elders, is run by 
Indigenous Services for Students. The online orientation started with 
the fall 2020 intake and is still available for students, in addition to in-
person orientation activities. 

Ongoing Indigenous Services for Students is expanding opportunities for 
Indigenous students to connect with those not able to visit the 
Gathering Place on a regular basis. Peer support and mentorship, from 
an Indigenous perspective, is provided with a focus on health and well-
being, cultural safety, and honouring Indigenous identities and diverse 
cultures. 

Appendix A: Report on Reconciliation 132 



   

     
  

        
  

 
  

  
  

        

  
 

  
  

  
   

  
  

     
 

   
   

 
 

 

 
       

 

 
  

 
         
    
  

 
   

  
   

 
  

 

Completed In 2017, Arts 3200, ‘The Inside-Out Prison Exchange’ course, brought 
together incarcerated Kwìkwèxwelhp students with an equal number 
of outside students from KPU in a peer-to-peer learning exchange 
within the context of an Indigenous healing village that is steeped in 
Indigenous approaches to knowing, and characterized by participation 
in their healing rituals and traditions, including smudging ceremony, 
and drumming and song circles. The program was the recipient of the 
TELUS Community Innovation Award and was also supported by 
funding from the Irving K. Barber Foundation. 

Ongoing ̓ ̓kʷam̓ kʷəm̓ kʷθə šxʷqʷeləwən ct ʔə tə n̓ a xeɬ: Open Doors, Open Minds 

Following a hiatus during the pandemic, KPU’s annual Open Doors, 
Open Minds Event returned for spring 2022 and was held again in 
spring 2023. The event introduces Indigenous high school students to 
KPU through exciting hands-on workshops offered by faculty within 
our diverse polytechnic environment. The day’s activities included an 
opening protocol ceremony, workshops, a keynote presentation, and 
performance. Lunch was included. 

For 2024, the keynote presentation was by Madelaine McCallum, a 
gifted dancer, motivational speaker, facilitator, and MC — a true, multi-
faceted creative individual. She is from Ile a la Crosse, Saskatchewan 
and brings passion with a gentle yet powerful presence to the stage. 
While life was not always easy for Madelaine, she left her home 
community with the goal to break unhealthy cycles of addiction — her 
story of survival is inspiring. When Madelaine dances, you feel her 
connection. When she speaks, you feel her authenticity. She shows you 
and helps you feel the invisible lines of connection we all share, 
through her stories and her life experiences. 

The keynote speaker for 2023 was Simon Baker, a 
Squamish/Haida/Cree actor and producer based in Metro Vancouver. 
Baker has numerous acting roles to his credit. He’s known for playing 
Charlie Muskrat in the TV series North of 60, portraying Young Thomas 
Builds-the-Fire in the film Smoke Signals, hosting the documentary 
series Native Planet, and recently starring in the long-running TV series 
Outlander. He also produced and acted in the new film Hey Viktor!, 
which is set to premiere in June at the Tribeca Festival in New York. 
Baker encouraged Indigenous youth to set goals – both short- and long-
term – and not to be afraid to ask for help. 

In 2022, the event included keynote speaker, Angela Sterritt. Sterritt is 
an award-winning journalist, author, and artist from the Gitanmaax 
community of the Gitxsan Nation on her dad’s side and from Bell 
Island, Newfoundland on her maternal side. Sterritt has worked as a 
journalist for close to 20 years and has worked with the CBC since 2004. 
She is currently the host of the CBC original podcast Land Back, 
released in June 2022. Sterritt has worked as a multi-platform reporter 
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with CBC Vancouver since 2016. The event also featured the Pil’alt 
Warrior Canoe Family – Skway First Nation youth dancers and 
drummers. 

Ongoing In 2020, KPU entered into a partnership with the Native Education 
College in Vancouver, which will allow students in the college’s 
Indigenous Land Stewardship Certificate program to transfer their 
credits into KPU’s Horticulture Urban Ecosystems Bachelor’s degree 
program, thus facilitating access to the degree program. 

Completed In 2019/20 and 2020/21, KPU offered an intake of the highly popular 
Computer-Aided Design and Drafting Access program for Indigenous 
Peoples with the Native Education Centre and Fraser Region 
Indigenous Friendship Centre. 

Ongoing Indigenous Trades Sampler: Indigenous high school students from 
Abbotsford, Langley, Delta and Coquitlam were introduced to the 
automotive, millwright, plumbing and piping trades when a special 
event returned to KPU in 2022 after a three-year hiatus due to the 
pandemic. In October 2023, this sampler included Carpentry, 
Horticulture, Electrical, and Metal Fabrication, and in February 2024 
Mechatronics, Farrier, and Electrical were offered. 

The event was sponsored by the Aboriginal Community Career 
Employment Services Society (ACCESS). ACCESS is a non-profit 
organization that provides education and training services to 
Indigenous people living in Greater Vancouver. 

Completed The Faculty of Trades and Technology received a Community 
Workforce Response Grant (CWRG) from the Provincial Government 
for 2020/21. The Province of British Columbia introduced the CWRG 
program to assist communities, sectors and industries to respond to 
emerging, urgent labour market needs by providing skills and supports 
to unemployed and precariously employed British Columbians and 
connecting them to good-paying jobs in their communities. The Faculty 
of Trades and Technology offered an Electrical Foundation program, 
with priority access being offered to Indigenous students and to 
women. 

Ongoing KPU continues to offer courses at the Squamish Trades and Training 
Centre in North Vancouver, and for the Métis Nation at KPU Tech, 
through assistance from the Ministry of PSFS, the Ministry of 
Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation, and Skilled Trades BC 
(formerly the Industry Training Authority). In this past year, there 
were two intakes of Introduction to Carpentry and Carpentry 
Apprentice level 1 
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New Starting in the 2024/25 academic year, Indigenous applicants who meet 
the entrance requirements will be given priority access to seats in all 
Trades Foundation classes. 

IN PLAIN SIGHT REPORT RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION 

RECOMMENDATION 8 

List of all Health programs offered by KPU and accreditation standards that relate to cultural 
safety and humility training (‘N/A’ indicates the program does not have a related standard). 
PROGRAM NAME ACCREDITATION STANDARD DETAILS 

TCM Practice standard on Indigenous cultural safety, humility and anti-
racism, as described above. 

BSN/BPN/ BSNAE Practice standard on Indigenous cultural safety and humility, as 
described above. 

GNIE Practice standard on Indigenous cultural safety and humility, as 
described above. 

HCAP HCA is not a regulated profession however the BC Care Aid Registry 
provide Program Learning Outcomes required by HCA Program 
Provincial Curriculum, as describe above. 

RECOMMENDATION 14 

List of new, ongoing, or completed actions that have supported the recruitment of Indigenous 
individuals to senior positions to oversee and promote system change, and the quantitative 
impact of these actions. 
PROGRAM PROGRESS ACTIONS 

Indigenous hiring 
initiative 
(reported above) 

Onoging In 2022, KPU received approval from the BC Office of 
Human Rights in response to a special program 
application to attract and retain Indigenous faculty, 
administrative employees, and support staff. The aim 
is to hire 10 faculty, 5 admin, and 7 support staff who 
self-identify as Indigenous, including First Nations, 
Métis, and Inuit by February 2027. A guide and process 
has been created for this special hiring program and 
the hiring initiative was launched in April 2024. 

Removing 
barriers to hiring 
Indigenous people 

Ongoing In January 2024, KPU’s four administrative search 
policies and procedures were updated. As part of this 
process, HR partnered with the Diversity Institute at 
Toronto Metropolitan University to ensure equity, 
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diversity, and inclusion principles were embedded 
within the documents. 

As part of each search process, search advisory 
committee members are asked and encouraged to 
complete the training course, Uncovering Unconscious 
Bias in Recruiting and Interviewing, which explores an 
important factor that can affect the success of hiring 
practices—bias. This course is made available to all 
KPU employees. 

Improving New Letters of Understanding were included in the most 
working recent round of bargaining for both our faculty and 
conditions for support staff to establish joint subcommittees in 
Indigenous support of Indigenous employees. The purpose of these 
employees subcommittees is to further efforts to decolonize and 

Indigenize employees’ working environment. 

In addition, during the most recent round of 
bargaining, changes were made to the collective 
agreements to recognize the traditions and cultural 
protocols of Indigenous employees. This includes 
updates to bereavement leave language to include 
Indigenous Elders or any individual an Indigenous 
employee considers family, consistent with their 
cultural practices. As well, for faculty, Indigenous 
employees are now eligible for up to five days of paid 
leave per calendar year to organize and/or attend 
Indigenous cultural events. 

Equity training Ongoing The Office of Equity and Inclusive Communities 
regularly schedules training sessions for all KPU 
employees to deepen learning around equity, 
diversity, and inclusion practices. Recent examples 
include Unpacking White Supremacy, Intersectional 
and Justice-Oriented Leadership, and Power is 
Everywhere. These types of workshops help create 
safer and more welcoming spaces. 

Training about 
Indigenous People 
of Canada 

Ongoing To enhance our capacity to work and support 
Indigenous students, fellow colleagues, and the local 
Indigenous communities whose territories KPU's 
campuses are located on, all new employees are 
required to take training to understand the context of 
Indigenous Peoples in Canada. The course includes 
four modules that cover Indigenous ways of life before 
contact, colonization and its legacy, major events in 
Indigenous resistance and the ongoing journey 
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towards reconciliation, and methods for supporting 
decolonization. 

RECOMMENDATION 18 

Strategies, targets, and outcomes related to the identification, recruitment, and graduation of 
Indigenous students, including increasing the safety of the learning environment for Indigenous 
students. 
STRATEGIES TARGETS BY PROGRAM AREA OUTCOMES 

Open Doors, Open Minds, as 
reported above 

Indigenous high school 
students from across the KPU; 
held once a year. 

Learn about post-secondary 
possibilities after high school; 
develop goals for the future 
and gain comfort in asking for 
help. 

New Moon Gala (described in 
the Strategic Priorities 
section) 

N/A Raise Funds for Indigenous 
scholarships to address 
financial barriers to 
education. 

Tuition waiver for Indigenous 
students who are members of 
the First Nations in our 
region. 

Members of the Kwantlen, 
Katzie, Semiahmoo, 
Musqueam, Tsawwassen, 
Qayqayt, and Kwikwetlem 
First Nations. 

Removing financial barriers to 
post-secondary education. 

Trades Training for 
Indigenous students (reported 
in the Strategic Priorities 
section) 

Indigenous Peoples in the 
Squamish First Nation 

Develop skills in carpentry 

Indigenous Trades Sampler 
for high school students 
(described in the Strategic 
Priorities section) 

Indigenous students 
interested in trades 

Learn about various trades 
training programs at KPU 

Indigenous Designer and 
Artists in Residence, as 
reported above 

Students in Design and in Arts 
(Fine Arts and Writing) 

Provide Indigenous role 
models for Indigenous 
students, and exposure to 
Indigenous ways of knowing 
for all studnets 

New Indigenous Councilor, 
described in the Strategic 
Priorities section of the report 

KPU Indigenous students Provide culturally appropriate 
mental health support to 
Indigenous students 
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RECOMMENDATION 21 

List of Health programs by whether mandatory cultural safety and humility training components 
(including knowledge of Indigenous-specific racism, colonialism, trauma-informed practice, 
Indigenous health and wellness, and the requirement of providing service to meet the minimum 
standards in the UN Declaration) are new this year, ongoing, or fully implemented. 
PROGRAM PROGRESS ACTIONS 

Bachelor of Ongoing and in Cultural safety and humility, Indigenous health and 
Science in progress wellness, and trauma informed practice are woven 
Nursing throughout the curriculum in theory, labs and clinical 

placements 

Program to review TRC recommendation #23 and 
identify placement of knowledge of Indigenous-
specific racism, colonialism, the history and legacy of 
residential schools, and the United Nations Declaration 
(UN Declaration) on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, 
Treaties and Indigenous rights. 

Bachelor of 
Science in 
Nursing, 
Advanced Entry 

Implemented and 
ongoing 

Professional Role: NRSG 3555 Decolonizing Indigenous 
Health embedded in the program 

Certificate in 
Graduate Nurse, 
Internationally 
Educated Re-entry 

Implemented and 
ongoing 

Ongoing as reported above 

Health Care Ongoing Program to review TRC recommendation #23 and 
Assistant identify placement of knowledge of Indigenous-

specific racism, colonialism, the history and legacy of 
residential schools, and the United Nations Declaration 
(UN Declaration) on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, 
Treaties and Indigenous rights. 

Traditional In progress Program to review TRC recommendation #23 and 
Chinese Medicine identify placement of knowledge of Indigenous-

specific racism, colonialism, the history and legacy of 
residential schools, and the United Nations Declaration 
(UN Declaration) on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, 
Treaties and Indigenous rights. 

Bachelor of Implemented and Cultural safety and health of Indigenous Peoples are 
Psychiatric ongoing threaded throughout the program. Students are 
Nursing required to take a First Nations Health course in 

semester 4 of the program. 
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Appendix B: Performance Measure Results 
Table 1. Performance Measure Results 

Reporting year 
Performance measure1 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 

Actual Target Actual Assessment 
Student spaces2 

Total student spaces 6,793 9,290 7,010 Not achieved 
Nursing and other allied 
health programs 734 889 769 Not achieved 

Developmental programs 166 318 183 Not achieved 
Credentials awarded3 

Total Credentials 1,766 - 1,714 Not assessed 

Bachelor 963 ≥ 991 921 Substantially 
achieved 

Certificate 404 ≥ 432 434 Achieved 
Developmental 28 ≥ 42 * Not achieved 

Diploma 327 ≥ 347 324 Substantially 
achieved 

Graduate, First Professional 
and Post-Degree 27 ≥ 30 22 Not achieved 

Short Certificate 17 ≥ 20 10 Not achieved 
Indigenous student spaces4 

Total Indigenous student 272 (3.3% of 243 (3.0% of Substantially 
Indigenous FTEs as % of spaces domestic FTEs) domestic FTEs) achieved 

total domestic FTEs >Ministry (PSFS) 202 174previous year 
SkilledTradesBC 70 69 
Student satisfaction with education5 

% +/- % +/-
DAC 92.3% 1.5% 89.5% 2.0% Achieved 
Trades N/A N/A N/A N/A Not assessed ≥ 90% APP 90.8% 2.6% 93.8% 2.9% Achieved 
BGS 89.3% 2.2% 87.8% 2.9% Achieved 
Student assessment of the quality of instruction5 

% +/- % +/-
DAC 97.2% 0.9% 94.6% 1.4% Achieved 
Trades N/A N/A N/A N/A Not assessed ≥ 90% APP 94.7% 2.1% 94.5% 2.8% Achieved 
BGS 90.7% 2.1% 87.2% 3.0% Achieved 
Student assessment of usefulness of knowledge and skills in performing job5 

    

   
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
     

     

     
 

     

      
 

      
       

      
 

      

      
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

    
    

 
       

   

  

   
      

      
      

 
       

   

  

   
      

      
      

 
       

   

  

   
 

      
      

      
 

 

% +/- % +/-
Substantially DAC 83.4% 2.4% 79.2% 3.0% achieved 

Trades N/A N/A N/A N/A Not assessed ≥ 90% APP 90.5% 2.8% 93.3% 3.3% Achieved 
Substantially BGS 87.5% 2.6% 84.1% 3.7% achieved 
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Unemployment rate5 

% +/- % +/-
DAC 6.1% 1.4% 8.0% 1.8% Achieved 
Trades N/A N/A N/A N/A Not assessed ≤ 8.8% APP 1.0% 0.9% 2.2% 1.9% Achieved 
BGS 3.3% 1.3% 7.7% 2.5% Achieved 
Student assessment of skill development5 
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% +/- % +/-
DAC 90.2% 1.4% 89.7% 1.5% Achieved 
Trades N/A N/A N/A N/A Not assessed ≥ 85% APP 86.9% 3.1% 89.5% 3.7% Achieved 
BGS 86.5% 2.0% 84.0% 2.6% Achieved 

Table 2. Skill Development Results 
Reporting year Detailed assessment of skill 

2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24development 
Actual Target Actual Assessment 

DAC % +/ % +/ 
Skills development (avg. %) 90.2% 1.4% ≥ 85% 89.7% 1.5% Achieved 
Written communication 90.7% 1.7% 91.4% 1.9% 
Oral communication 91.9% 1.6% 85.6% 2.4% 
Group collaboration 88.5% 1.8% 86.5% 2.2% 
Critical analysis 90.8% 1.6% 91.6% 1.8% 
Problem resolution 88.4% 1.8% 90.7% 1.9% 
Learn on your own 92.1% 1.5% 92.5% 1.7% 
Reading and comprehension 90.8% 1.6% 91.7% 1.8% 

Skills development (avg. %) N/A N/A ≥ 85% N/A N/A Not assessed 
Trades % +/ % +/ 

Written communication N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Oral communication N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Group collaboration N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Critical analysis N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Problem resolution N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Learn on your own N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Reading and comprehension N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Skills development (avg. %) 86.9% 3.1% ≥ 85% 89.5% 3.7% Achieved 
APP % +/ % +/ 

Written communication 76.7% 5.9% 86.0% 6.0% 
Oral communication 81.7% 5.0% 85.3% 5.5% 
Group collaboration 82.9% 3.8% 88.6% 4.2% 
Critical analysis 93.1% 2.4% 91.8% 3.4% 
Problem resolution 90.4% 2.8% 90.2% 3.7% 
Learn on your own 89.0% 3.0% 88.1% 4.0% 
Reading and comprehension 89.5% 2.9% 93.0% 3.2% 

Skills development (avg. %) 86.5% 2.0% ≥ 85% 84.0% 2.6% Achieved 
BGS % +/ % +/ 

Written communication 87.4% 2.5% 83.8% 3.4% 
Oral communication 86.3% 2.5% 84.5% 3.3% 
Group collaboration 88.0% 2.4% 81.9% 3.5% 
Critical analysis 91.9% 2.0% 89.6% 2.7% 
Problem resolution 80.6% 2.9% 77.4% 3.8% 
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Learn on your own 88.6% 2.3% 85.7% 3.2% 
Reading and comprehension 83.6% 2.7% 85.2% 3.2% 

Notes: 

1 Please consult the 2023/24 Standards Manual for a current description of each measure. 

2 Results from the 2023/24 reporting year are based on data from the 2023/24 fiscal year; results 
from the 2022/23 reporting year are based on data from the 2022/23 fiscal year. Only ministry-
funded Full-Time Equivalents are included. 

3 Annual performance is measured using a rolling three-year average of the most recent fiscal 
years; e.g. results from the 2023/24 reporting year are based on data from the 2022/23 fiscal 
year, and targets for the 2023/24 reporting year are a three-year average of the 2020/21, 
2021/22, and 2022/23 fiscal years. Numbers less than 10 have been masked with an *. 

4 For Indigenous Student Spaces, results for the previous fiscal year are reported. Results from 
the 2023/24 reporting year are based on data from the 2022/23 fiscal year; results from the 
2022/23 reporting year are based on data from the 2021/22 fiscal year. Both ministry- and STBC-
funded Full-Time Equivalents are included. Institutions provide their own target and 
assessment for Indigenous Student Spaces. 

5 For Student Outcomes Measures, results from the 2023/24 reporting year are based on 2023 
survey data; results from the 2022/23 reporting year are based on 2022 survey data. For all 
survey results, if the result plus or minus the margin of error includes the target, the measure 
is assessed as achieved. In all cases, the survey result and the margin of error are used to 
determine the target assessment. Survey results are not assessed if the number of respondents 
is fewer than 20 or the margin of error is greater than 10%. 

Target assessment scale Description 

    

       
       

 

   

       
      

 

    
            

    
      

             
         

           
           

  

           
     

   
       

    
   

 
  

  
  

  

   
 

 

 

 

Achieved 100% or more of the target 
Substantially achieved 90% to <100% of the target 
Not achieved <90% of the target 

Not assessed (N/A) Measures without targets or survey results with fewer than 20 
respondents or a margin of error of 10% or greater 

Appendix B: Performance Measure Results 141 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/post-secondary-education/institution-resources-administration/accountability-framework


 

 

 

 



Appendix C: Selected Metric Breakdowns 
Metric #37 reports the proportion of students that perceived they were treated fairly at KPU 
regardless of various background characteristics. In multiple instances, reporting the data in 
a collapsed manner obscures substantial differences within the group. Examples of such 
differences for religion, English skills, cultural/racial/ethnic background, and ability are 
provided in the tables below. 

% who agree they’re treated fairly at KPU regardless of their religion 
by the student’s religious, spiritual, or belief tradition 

by language the student speaks well enough to conduct a conversation 

   

    
            

          
     

   
 

  
     

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

  
   

    
    
    
    
   
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

  

Sikhism 93% 
Hinduism 89% 
Buddhism 84% 
Islam 83% 
Christianity 79% 
Traditional Chinese spirituality 73% 
None/non-religious 72% 
Another religion not listed 65% 
Indigenous spirituality 63% 

% who agree they’re treated fairly at KPU regardless of their English skills 

Punjabi 93% 
Hindi 92% 
Tagalog 90% 
Urdu 90% 
Another language not listed 87% 
English 86% 
Spanish 84% 
Mandarin 83% 
Monolingual English 82% 
Farsi 81% 
French 81% 
Arabic 79% 
Vietnamese 77% 
Cantonese 74% 
Japanese 74% 
Korean 71% 
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% who agree they’re treated fairly at KPU regardless of their cultural/ethnic/racial background 

Indian 90% 
Filipino 86% 
Latin American 86% 
Japanese 84% 
Another South Asian identity 83% 
Métis 82% 
West Asian 81% 
Chinese 81% 
Another East Asian identity 80% 
Vietnamese 79% 
African or Caribbean 77% 
First Nations and Inuk 77% 
Another Southeast Asian identity 76% 
European 75% 
Pacific Islander 74% 
Korean 73% 
Another identity not listed 70% 
Arab 69% 
Central Asian 68% 

% who agree they’re treated fairly at KPU regardless of their ability (e.g., physical, cognitive, 
sensory, etc.) 

No disability/condition 88% 
Another condition not listed 86% 
Mental health condition 78% 
Deaf/hard of hearing 74% 
Chronic health condition 73% 
ADHD 73% 
Autism 71% 
Drug or alcohol addiction 71% 
Learning disability 70% 
Blind/visually impaired 70% 
Physical disability 60% 

by student’s racial identity 

by student’s disability/condition type 

Appendix C: Selected Metric Breakdowns 144 



   

    
    

     
    

 
    

    
    
    

    
    
    

    

 

Metric #40 reports the proportion of graduates who agree their education helped them 
develop skills. This is based on their results on specific questions on the BC Student Outcomes 
Surveys. The 2023 results for each skill are provided below. Note that Trades is excluded 
because the number of survey respondents was too low. 

Skill BGS DAC APP 

Written communication 84% 91% 86% 
Oral communication 84% 86% 85% 
Group collaboration 82% 86% 89% 
Critical analysis 90% 92% 92% 
Problem resolution 77% 91% 90% 
Learn on your own 86% 92% 88% 
Reading and comprehension 85% 92% 93% 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS - REGULAR MEETING 
Agenda Number: 9.2 

Meeting Date: September 25, 2024 
Presenter(s): Brent Elliott 

1 / 3 

AGENDA TITLE: REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL - PLANNING AND TECHNICAL STUDIES TO 
SUPPORT KPU COMMUNITIES TRUST 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: 

THAT the Board of Governors approve that staff be authorized to initiate a Negotiated Request for 
Proposals process to evaluate and select the necessary consultant support to advance the 
required planning and technical studies in support of KPU Communities Trust, where any amount 
in excess of $750,000 shall be subject to 2026/27 budget availability, as recommended by the 
Board Finance Committee.  

COMMITTEE REPORT 

On September 17, 2024, the Board Finance Committee received, reviewed and recommended that the 
Board of Governors approve that staff be authorized to initiate a Negotiated Request for Proposals 
process to evaluate and select the necessary consultant support to advance the required planning 
and technical studies in support of KPU Communities Trust.  

Context and Background 

In June 2022, KPU Communities Trust (KPUCT) was established as a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU or the University), with the goal of transforming KPU's campuses 
into vibrant, sustainable, and inclusive spaces consistent with the KPU2050 Official Campus Plan. 
KPUCT has been operational since August 2022. 

In September 2023, the Board received an updated presentation from KPUCT, that provided insights 
into the key activities being undertaken by KPUCT, including engagement with the KPU community, 
Indigenous outreach and partnerships, and the broadening of its good governance practices.  

In March 2024, the Board received for information the results from a joint Campus and Community 
Planning (CCP) and KPUCT-University-wide engagement process intended to raise awareness of KPUCT 
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and to provide an overview of how KPUCT can support the delivery of the KPU2050 Official Community 
Plan. As well, the process sought feedback on the proposed leasing of portions of KPU’s campuses to 
KPUCT and the preferred potential benefits that KPU should consider prioritizing.  

Discussion 

To further advance KPUCT and to inform our ongoing discussions with the Ministry of Post-Secondary 
Education and Future Skills related to the leasing of portions of KPU campuses to KPUCT, CCP has 
identified that a number of technical studies are now needed, before any redevelopment of KPU’s 
university campuses occurs. Such studies will also establish the basis for the future regulatory role KPU 
will need to provide to KPUCT and its development partners.  

Specifically, CCP proposes a 24-month planning process that will encompass three phases and include 
the delivery of: 1) hydrogeological assessments leading to the preparation of stormwater management 
plans; 2) a number of site servicing studies to assess the condition and capacity of existing services; 3) 
updates to environmental and geotechnical assessments; 4) and an assessment of potential shadowing 
and view impacts to inform subsequent planning and design efforts. In addition, KPU will also require 
the preparation of a series of campus-specific performance codes (similar to municipal zoning bylaws), 
based on the outcomes from the planning and technical assessments, to guide any construction efforts 
undertaken by KPUCT. 

The estimated budget needed to complete the above scope of work is up to $1,275,000, and will span 
over two fiscal years. The first phase of the project is anticipated to cost approximately $750,000 and is 
proposed to be accommodated through a combination of FY24/25 mid-year funding and departmental 
operating budgets. The funding needed for the subsequent second phase will be accommodated 
through the FY26/27 budget process.  

The first phase will see the majority of the technical studies completed to facilitate and inform the 
preparation of various plans in the subsequent phases. The process will also include as part of its final 
deliverables, possible updates to the KPU2050 Official Campus Plan and its built form, open space, 
sustainability, and transportation frameworks. Further, and aside from supporting KPUCT and its 
initiatives, the proposed planning and technical studies once completed will equally support any 
academic capital projects that KPU may wish to undertake in the future on its campus lands.  

Key Messages 

1. In order for the Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills to support the lease of lands 
to KPUCT, and to establish the basis for the future regulatory role KPU will need to provide to
KPUCT, CCP has identified a number of planning and technical studies that now need to be
completed.

2. The process to complete such works is envisioned to span 24-months and include three phases, the 
results of which may also include updates to the KPU2050 Official Campus Plan.

183



3 / 3 

Resource Requirements 

Should portions of KPU’s campuses be leased to KPUCT, CCP will be required to act as a regulator and 
a liaison between KPUCT and the University. The regulator role is required to ensure any development 
by KPUCT adheres to KPU’s plans and expectations, which need to be identified in advance.  

Implications/Risks 

Given the complexity of any land lease arrangement, along with the financial implications inherent to 
any form of development/construction, there is a potential reputational risk to KPU should KPUCT act 
in a manner that is inconsistent with the expectations and goals of the University. The proposed 
planning process is intended to mitigate such risks. 

Consultations 

Consultations to-date have been completed with KPU students, Faculty members, as well as with the 
Office of Planning and Accountability, General Counsel and external legal counsel, Communication and 
Media Relations, Indigenous Leadership, External Affairs, Student Services, International Student 
Services, the Registrar’s Office, Finance, Procurement Services, Facilities and Ancillary Services, Risk 
and Security, IT, Marketing, and Library Services.  

Attachments 

None   

Submitted by 

Brent Elliott, Associate Vice President, Campus & Community Planning 

Peter Smailes, Vice President, Administration 

Date submitted 

September 17, 2024 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS - REGULAR MEETING 
Agenda Number: 9.3 

Meeting Date: September 25, 2024 
Presenter(s): Chervahun Emilien 

1 / 2 

AGENDA TITLE: STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION (SOFI) PUBLIC BODIES REPORT 
AS OF MARCH 31, 2024 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) Public Bodies 
Report as of March 31, 2024 for submission to the Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and 
Future Skills, as recommended by the Board Finance Committee. 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

On September 17, 2024, the Board Finance Committee received, reviewed and recommended that the 
Board of Governors approve the Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) Public Bodies Report as of 
March 31, 2024 for submission to the Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills. 

Context and Background 

KPU’s Board Governance Manual states that the Finance Committee has a responsibility to review all 
public reporting by KPU to ensure that it represents a complete, accurate, and balanced picture of 
KPU’s performance and financial situation (Section 14).  

The Financial Information Act, administered by the Ministry of Finance, requires the University to 
submit a report each year that contains prescribed schedules of information including the audited 
financial statements and other unaudited financial information.  

Key Messages 

1. The included audited financial statements have been previously presented by the external auditors 
and management and approved by the Board.

2. Unaudited financial information has been prepared collaboratively by the finance and payroll
teams and were reviewed by senior finance personnel.

3. The University is required to make the report accessible during business hours and to provide
copies as requested for a prescribed free of $5.00.
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Resource Requirements 

N/A 

Implications/Risks 

N/A 

Consultations 

1. KPMG LLP

Attachments

1. Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) as at March 31, 2024

Submitted by 

Chervahun Emilien, Chief Financial Officer 

Date submitted 

September 17, 2024 
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Statement of Financial Information Approval 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Financial Information Act, all statements and schedules in this 
Statement of Financial Information have been reviewed and approved by the Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University Board of Governors. 

 

 

 

 

Ivy Chen 
Chair, Board of Governors 
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Management Report 

The consolidated financial statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the 
Financial Information Act (the “Act”) have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles and Treasury Board direction outlined in Note 2(a). The integrity 
and objectivity of these statements are management’s responsibility. Management is also responsible for 
the accompanying statements and schedules required by the Act, and for ensuring that this information 
is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained in the consolidated financial statements. 

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to 
provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced. 

The Board of Governors (the “Board”) is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of 
its financial reporting and internal control responsibilities and for approving the consolidated 
financial statements and exercises this responsibility through the Finance and Audit Committees of the 
Board. The Finance and Audit Committees (the “Committees”) meets with management and external 
auditors twice per year to discuss the financial reporting process, auditing matters, financial 
reporting issues, and recommends approval of the consolidated financial statements to the Board. 
The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the University’s external 
auditor. 

The University’s internal auditor has the responsibility for assessing the management systems 
and practices of the the University. 

The University’s external auditors, KPMG LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. Their examination does not relate to the other schedules and statements required 
by the Act. Their examination includes a review and evaluation of the University’s system of internal 
control with appropriate tests and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the 
consolidated financial statements are presented fairly. The external auditors have full and free access 
to the Committee and meet with it twice a year or as needed.  

On behalf of Kwantlen Polytechnic University, 

Dr. Alan Davis 
President and Vice-Chancellor 

Chervahun Emilien 
Chief Financial Officer 

Dated: September ____, 2024 
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Management’s Statement of Responsibility 
 

To the Board of Governors of Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024, including responsibility for significant 
accounting judgments and estimates in compliance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of 
the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This responsibility 
includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the 
measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required. 

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial 
statements, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related 
internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are 
safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

The Board of Governors (the “Board”) and the Finance and Audit Committee (the “Committee”) are 
composed primarily of those who are neither management nor employees of the University. The Board 
is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities 
and for approving the consolidated financial statements. The Committee has the responsibility of 
meeting with management and external auditors to discuss the financial reporting process, auditing 
matters, financial reporting issues, and recommends approval of the consolidated financial statements 
to the Board. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the University’s 
external auditor. 

KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Professional Accountants, is appointed by the Board to 
audit the consolidated financial statements and report directly to them through the Committee. The 
external auditor has full and free access to, and meets periodically and separately with, both the 
Committee and management to discuss their audit findings. 

 
 
 

On behalf of Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
 
 
 
 

Dr. Alan Davis Chervahun Emilien 
President and Vice-Chancellor Chief Financial Officer 



 
 
 
KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 
 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Board of Governors of Kwantlen Polytechnic University, and to the Ministry of  

Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills, Province of British Columbia 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kwantlen Polytechnic University (the “Entity”), 
which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2024 

 the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated operating surplus for the year then 
ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses for the year then ended 

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024 of 
the Entity are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of 
Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
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Emphasis of Matter – Financial Reporting Framework 

We draw attention to Note 2(a) to the financial statements which describes the applicable financial 
reporting framework and the significant differences between that financial reporting framework and 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the 
Province of British Columbia, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 
May 22, 2024 
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KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2024 (In thousands of dollars)

Contractual obligations (Note 18)
Contingent liabilities (Note 19)
Contractual rights (Note 20)

Ivy Chen Chervahun Emilien
Chair, Board of Governors Chief Financial Officer

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2024
$

2023
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 301,051 160,171
Accounts receivable (Note 5, 21) 5,137 10,253
Inventories for resale 396 414
Investments and endowment investments (Note 6) 37,029 33,856
Asset held-for-sale (Note 7) - 1,057

343,613 205,751

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8) 62,759 49,760
Deferred revenue 47,715 67,293
Deferred contributions (Note 10) 87,438 10,271
Deferred capital contributions (Note 11) 186,202 179,720
Obligations under capital lease (Note 12) 2,187 -
Asset retirement obligations (Note 13) 1,615 1,561

387,916 308,605

Net debt (44,303) (102,854)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 15) 240,411 232,450
Investments and endowment investments (Note 6) 2,817 2,817
Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,852 2,016

247,080 237,283
Accumulated surplus 202,777 134,429

Accumulated surplus is comprised of:
Accumulated operating surplus 200,015 133,698
Accumulated remeasurement gains 2,762 731

(Note 16) 202,777 134,429
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KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating Surplus 

Year ended March 31, 2024 (In thousands of dollars) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Budget 
$ 

2024 
$ 

2023 
$ 

(Note 2(n)) 

Revenue: 
Grants from the Province of 

British Columbia 
(Note 21) 

89,095 16,238 63,850 

Revenue from deferred contributions (Notes 10, 21) 6,572 11,455 10,540 

International tuition and student fees 133,882 129,487 127,869 

Domestic tuition and student fees 38,455 39,188 36,559 
Ancillary services 3,049 3,343 3,301 

Investment income 3,560 13,155 6,055 

Gain on sale of land (Note 7) - 116,394 - 

Other revenue 3,515 4,296 3,987 
Revenue from deferred capital 

contributions 
(Notes 11, 21) 

11,649 12,052 10,518 

289,777 345,608 262,679 

Expenses: (Notes 21, 22, 23) 

Academic support and instruction 162,120 153,319 139,713 
Student support 32,516 34,443 29,243 

Administrative support 85,386 80,149 76,809 

Research 6,460 6,957 6,127 
Ancillary services 3,295 4,423 3,125 

289,777 279,291 255,017 

Annual surplus - 66,317 7,662 

Accumulated operating surplus, 
beginning of year 133,698 133,698 126,036 

Accumulated operating surplus, end 
of year 133,698 200,015 133,698 
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KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt 
 
Year ended March 31, 2024 (In thousands of dollars) 

 

 

  
Budget 

$  
2024 

$  
2023 

$ 
 

  (Note 2(n))     
 

Annual surplus   -  66,317  7,662 

        

Acquisition of tangible capital assets, net of write-offs   (36,343)  (28,750)  (15,885) 

Transfer of asset held for sale (Note 7)   -  -  1,057 

Amortization of tangible capital assets   21,508  20,789  19,895 

   (14,835)  (7,961)  5,067 

Acquisition of prepaid expenses and deposits   -  (1,836)  (61) 

Net remeasurement gains (losses)   -  2,031  (1,348) 

Change in net debt   (14,835)  58,551  11,320 

Net debt, beginning of year   (102,854)  (102,854)  (114,174) 

Net debt, end of year   (117,689)  (44,303)  (102,854) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended March 31, 2024 (In thousands of dollars) 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

  2024 
$  

2023 
$ 

   

Operating activities:     

Cash received from:     

Student tuition and fees  150,593  159,969 

Grants and contributions  110,555  68,215 

Sale of goods and rendering of services  4,720  4,471 

Interest and investment income  12,494  5,507 

User fees, fines, penalties and other fees  1,900  1,614 

  280,262  239,776 

Less cash for:     

Employee payments  (152,616)  (137,922) 

Supplier payments  (84,413)  (80,845) 

Interest paid  (102)  (37) 

Student awards  (5,596)  (4,600) 

Transfers to the KPU Foundation  (2,029)  (7,000) 

  (244,756)  (230,404) 

Cash provided by operating activities  35,506  9,372 

     

Capital activities:     

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets  (28,750)  (15,885) 

Proceeds on sale of land  117,600  - 

Cash provided by (used in) capital activities  88,850  (15,885) 

     

Financing activities:     

Contributions received for tangible capital assets  18,139  33,053 

Principal payments on capital lease obligations  (473)  - 

Cash provided by financing activities  17,666  33,053 

     

Investing activities:     

Increase in investments  (1,142)  (2,205) 

Cash used in investing   (1,142)  (2,205) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  140,880  24,335 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  160,171  135,836 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  301,051  160,171 
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KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 
 
Year ended March 31, 2024 (In thousands of dollars) 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

  2024 
$  

2023 
$ 

     

Accumulated remeasurement gains, beginning of year  731  2,079 

Unrealized gains (losses) generated during the year from:     

Fixed income pooled investments  677  1,027 

Pooled equity investments  1,406  (2,042) 

Foreign currency translation  1  (58) 

Remeasurement (gains) losses realized and reclassified to the     

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus from:     

Pooled investments, mortgage-backed securities and mutual funds  (50)  (345) 

Foreign currency translation  (3)  70 

Net remeasurement gains (losses) for the year  2,031  (1,348) 

Accumulated remeasurement gains, end of year  2,762  731 
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1. Authority and purpose 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University (the “University”) operates under the authority of the University Act 

of British Columbia. The University is a not-for-profit entity governed by a Board of Governors, the 

majority of which are appointed by the Province of British Columbia. The University is a registered 

charity and is exempt from income taxes under section 149 of the Income Tax Act.  

The University offers career, vocational, developmental and academic programs from its 

Richmond, Langley and three Surrey campuses located in southwestern British Columbia. The 

academic governance of the University is vested in the Senate. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of accounting  

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Budget 

Transparency and Accountability Act (“BTAA”), which requires application of generally 

accepted accounting principles for senior governments in Canada, supplemented by the 

following Province of British Columbia Treasury Board regulations (“Regulations”): 

• Regulation 257/2010 requires that all taxpayer supported organizations adhere to the 

Public Sector Accounting Standards (“PSAS”) without any public sector 4200 elections. 

• Regulation 198/2011 requires that: 

o restricted contributions received or receivable for acquiring or developing a depreciable 

tangible capital asset or contributions in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset 

are to be deferred and recognized in revenue at the same rate that amortization of the 

related tangible capital asset is recorded. 

o contributions restricted for specific purposes other than those for the acquisition or 

development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as deferred 

contributions and recognized in revenue in the period when the stipulation or restriction 

on the contributions have been met. 

The Regulations result in revenue being recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 

Operations and Accumulated Operating Surplus and certain related deferred capital 

contributions being recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position differently 

than with application of the PSAS alone: 

• PSAS requires unrestricted government transfers to be recognized as revenue by the 

recipient when approved by the transferor and the eligibility criteria have been met in 

accordance with PS 3410. The BTAA / Regulations allow government transfers to be 

recognized as revenue when received or receivable.  

• In contrast to Regulation 198/2011, PSAS requires externally restricted contributions to 

be recognized in revenue in the period when the resources are used for the purpose 

specified in accordance with PS 3100. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of 

organizations which are controlled by the University. On May 22, 2022, KPU Communities 

Corporation (the “Corporation”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the University, was incorporated 

under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia and on June 1, 2022, a trust deed 

was executed and appointed the Corporation as sole trustee of KPU Communities Trust (the 

“Trust”). The purpose of the Trust is to create revenue generating opportunities to support 

academic endeavors and enhance student experience and well-being for the University. The 

Corporation and the Trust are fully consolidated into these statements and all inter-entity 

balances and transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of three 

months or less at the date of purchase. They are subject to insignificant risk of change in value. 

(d) Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are classified into two categories: fair value or cost.  

(i) Fair value category: The University manages and reports performance for groups of 

financial assets on a fair-value basis. Investments, including endowment investments, are 

reflected at fair value as at the reporting date. The carrying amounts are shown at fair value 

based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets. Sales and purchases of 

investments are recorded on the trade date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of 

investments are recorded as an expense. Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets 

except for those related to restricted endowments are recognized in the Consolidated 

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until such time that the financial asset is 

derecognized due to disposal or impairment. At the time of derecognition, the related 

realized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and 

Accumulated Operating Surplus and related balances reversed from the Consolidated 

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Unrealized gains and losses on 

endowment investment assets, where earnings are restricted as to use, are recorded as 

deferred contributions and recognized in revenue when disposed of or when the related 

expenses are incurred. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Cost category: For accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, the 

carrying amount generally approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these 

instruments. Valuation allowances are made when collection is in doubt. 

(e) Inventories for resale 

Inventories for resale, including new and used textbooks, course manuals, stationery, art 

supplies, clothing, and crested and non-crested giftware, are recorded at the lower of cost or 

net realizable value.  

Cost includes the original purchase cost, plus shipping and applicable duties. Net realizable 

value is the estimated proceeds on sale less any costs to sell. Inventories are written down to 

net realizable value when the cost of inventories is estimated not to be recoverable. 

When circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written down below cost no 

longer exist, the amount of write-down previously recorded is reversed.  

(f) Contaminated sites 

A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when the following criteria are met: 

(i) an environmental standard exists; 

(ii) contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

(iii) the University is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

(iv) it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and, 

(v) a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of costs directly attributable to 

remediation activities, including the cost of post-remediation operation, maintenance and 

monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site. 

(g) Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 

provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not 

intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital asset acquisitions are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. 

The cost, less the residual value, of the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-

line basis over their estimated useful lives as shown below. Land is not amortized as it is 

deemed to have a permanent value. Work in progress is not amortized until the asset is 

available for productive use.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Non-financial assets (continued) 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued) 
 

  Term 

   
Buildings  40 years 
Major site improvements  10 years 
Major equipment  10 - 20 years 
Library holdings  10 years 
Technology infrastructure  8 years 
Furniture and equipment  5 years 
Computing equipment  4 years 
Leased capital assets  lesser of 5 years or lease term 

 

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer 

contribute to the University’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of 

future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net 

book value.  

(ii) Leased tangible capital assets 

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 

property are accounted for as obligations under capital lease and are reflected as part of 

tangible capital assets in the financial statements. All other leases are accounted for as 

operating leases and the related payments are expensed as incurred.  

(h) Employee future benefits 

The University and its employees make contributions to the College Pension Plan and 

Municipal Pension Plan, which are multi-year employer joint trustee pension plans. These plans 

are defined benefit plans, providing a pension on retirement based on the member’s age at 

retirement, length of service and highest earnings averaged over five years. 

As the assets and liabilities of the plans are not segregated by institution, the plans are 

accounted for as defined contribution plans and any contributions of the University to the plans 

are expensed as incurred. 

The University’s sick leave benefits do not vest or accumulate and related costs are expensed 

as incurred. The University accrues vacation for employees as earned. The University accrues 

a supplemental employment benefit for maternity and parental leave upon commencement of 

the related leave. Retirement allowances, where applicable, are accrued upon approval. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Asset retirement obligations  

The University recognizes an asset retirement obligation, as at the financial reporting date, 

when there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset, 

the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred, it is expected that future 

economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The estimate of the asset retirement obligation includes costs directly attributable to the asset 

retirement activities and is recorded as a liability and increase to the related tangible capital 

asset. The amount capitalized in tangible capital assets is amortized using the amortization 

accounting policy outlined in note 2(g)(i). 

The carrying value of the liability is re-evaluated at each financial reporting date with changes 

to the timing or amount of the original estimate of cash flows recorded as an adjustment to the 

asset retirement obligation liability and tangible capital assets. 

(j) Revenue recognition 

Tuition and student fees, ancillary revenues, and sales of other goods and services are 

reported as revenue when (or as) KPU satisfies a performance obligation by providing the 

promised goods or services to a payor. A performance obligation is an enforceable promise 

made by a public sector entity.  

Unrestricted donations and grants are recorded as revenue if the amounts can be estimated 

and collection is reasonably assured. Pledges from donors are recorded as revenue when 

payment is received by the University or the transfer of property is completed. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Revenue recognition (continued) 

Restricted donations and grants are reported as revenue depending on the nature of the 

restrictions on the use of the funds by the contributors as follows: 

(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital 

asset or in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset, in each case for use in 

providing services, are recorded and referred to as deferred capital contributions and 

recognized in revenue at the same rate that amortization of the tangible capital asset is 

recorded. The reduction of the deferred capital contributions and the recognition of the 

revenue are accounted for in the fiscal period during which the tangible capital asset is 

used to provide services. 

(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than for those to be held in perpetuity 

or the acquisition or development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as 

deferred contributions and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or 

restriction on the contribution have been met.  

(iii) Contributions restricted to be retained in perpetuity, allowing only the investment income 

earned thereon to be spent are recorded as endowment donations and as deferred 

contributions for any unspent restricted investment income earned thereon. 

Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis, dividends recorded as 

declared, and realized gains and losses on the sale of investments.   
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Functional classification of expenses 

The University has identified the following functions and associated groups of activities based 

upon the functional areas of service provided by various departments: 

(i) Academic support and instruction 

Academic support and instruction includes the activities related to the support and delivery 

of education including cost of instructors, academic management, support staff and related 

support costs. 

(ii) Student support 

Student support includes direct supports for students including Student Affairs, Alumni 

Relations, International Education, The Learning Centre, Library Resources and the Office 

of the Registrar. 

(iii) Administrative support 

Administrative support includes expenses that relate to the activities that support the 

University, consisting of Campus and Community Planning, Campus Safety and Security, 

Office of Equity and Inclusive Communities, External Affairs, Facilities, Financial Services, 

General Counsel, Human Resources, Indigenous Leadership, Innovation and 

Partnerships, Information Technology, Marketing and Communications, Office of the 

President, Governance, and Planning & Accountability. 

(iv) Research 

Research consists of the Office of Research Services which assists researchers with 

proposal preparation, administration of sponsored projects and active research activities. 

(v) Ancillary services 

Ancillary services represent the business activities that support the University’s campus 

life. It consists of the bookstore, food services and parking and transit services. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, related 

disclosures, and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 

the reporting period. Areas where management has made estimates and assumptions include 

those related to the determination of useful lives of tangible capital assets for amortization and 

the amortization of related deferred capital contributions, accrued liabilities, valuation of 

accounts receivable, provisions for contingencies, and discount rate and future cash flows 

associated with asset retirement obligations. Where actual results differ from these estimates 

and assumptions, the impact will be recorded in future periods when the difference becomes 

known. 

(m) Foreign currency translation  

The University’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. Transactions in foreign currencies 

are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and non-monetary assets 

and liabilities which are designated in the fair value category under the financial instrument 

standard are reflected in the financial statements in equivalent Canadian dollars at the 

exchange rate in effect on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date.  

Any gains or losses resulting from a change in rates between the transaction date and the 

settlement date or Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date is recognized in the 

Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. In the period of settlement, the 

related cumulative remeasurement gain/loss is reversed in the Consolidated Statement of 

Remeasurement Gains and Losses and the exchange gains or losses in relation to the 

exchange rate at the date of the item’s initial recognition is recognized in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating Surplus.  

(n) Budget figures 

Budget figures have been provided for comparative purposes and have been derived from the 

2023-2024 University Budget approved by the Board of Governors on February 1, 2023. The 

budget is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating 

Surplus and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt. 

(o) Assets held-for-sale 

Assets held-for-sale are valued at the lower of cost or expected net realizable value. 
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3. Changes in accounting policy 

(a) Private Public Partnerships 

On April 1, 2023, the University adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standard PS 

3160, Public Private Partnerships (“PS 3160”). The new accounting standard addresses the 

recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of infrastructure procured by public 

sector entities through certain types of public private partnership arrangements. Management 

has assessed that there is no impact of adopting PS 3160 on the consolidated financial 

statements of the University. 

(b) Purchased intangibles 

On April 1, 2023, the University adopted Public Sector Guideline PSG-8, Purchased 

Intangibles, applied on a prospective basis (“PSG-8”). PSG-8 defines purchased intangibles as 

identifiable non-monetary economic resources without physical substance acquired through an 

arm’s length exchange transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no 

compulsion to act. Intangibles acquired through a transfer, contribution, or inter-entity 

transaction, are not purchased intangibles. Management has assessed that there is no impact 

of adopting PSG-8 on the consolidated financial statements of the University. 

(c) Revenue 

On April 1, 2023, the University adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standard PS 

3400, Revenue (“PS 3400”). Under the new accounting standard, there are two categories of 

revenue – exchange and unilateral. If the transaction gives rise to one or more performance 

obligations, it is an exchange transaction. If no performance obligations are present, it is 

unilateral revenue. Management has assessed that there is no impact of adopting PS 3400 on 

the consolidated financial statements of the University. 

4. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Cash  297,978  157,182 
Cash equivalents  3,073  2,989 

  301,051  160,171 

5. Accounts receivable 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Student  2,987  3,004 
Trade and other  3,719  8,584 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (1,569)  (1,335) 

  5,137  10,253 
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6. Investments and endowment investments 

Investments and endowment investments recorded at fair value are comprised of the following: 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Designated to the fair value category (Level 2)     

Fixed income pooled investments  21,674  20,996 
Canadian equities pooled investments  7,788  7,087 
International equities pooled investments  7,796  6,375 
Guaranteed investment certificate  1,049  1,000 

     
Total Level 2 category investments  38,307  35,458 
     
Designated to the fair value category (Level 3)     

Infrastructure pooled investments  26  82 
Real estate pooled investments  1,513  1,133 

     
Total Level 3 category investments  1,539  1,215 

     
Total investments  39,846  36,673 
Less endowment investments  (2,817)  (2,817) 

Investments  37,029  33,856 

 

The financial instruments measured at fair value held within each investment are classified 

according to a hierarchy which includes three levels, reflecting the reliability of the inputs involved 

in the fair value determination. The different levels are defined as follows:  

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (KPU has 

no Level 1 investments) 

• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 

• Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 

The following table reconciles the changes in the fair value of investments classified as Level 3 

during the year. 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Balance, beginning of year  1,215  742 
Purchases  246  727 
Dispositions  -  (302) 
Income distribution  -  34 
Unrealized gain  78  14 

Balance, end of year  1,539  1,215 
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7. Asset held-for-sale 

The Board of Governors previously approved the sale of a portion of land at the Cloverdale (Tech) 

campus to Fraser Health Authority. The sale was completed during the year for proceeds of 

$117,600 and resulted in a gain on sale of land in the amount of $116,394. In the comparative 

period, land with a cost of $1,057 was classified as asset held-for-sale.  

8. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  27,830  24,822 
Salaries, benefits and wages payable  20,298  12,410 
Accrued vacation payable  14,631  12,528 

  62,759  49,760 

9. Employee future benefits 

(a) Pension benefits  

The University and its employees contribute to the College Pension Plan and Municipal 

Pension Plan (jointly trusteed pension plans). The boards of trustees for these plans, 

representing plan members and employers, are responsible for administering the plans, 

including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plans are multi-employer 

defined benefit pension plans. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at August 

31, 2023, the College Pension Plan has about 17,200 active members, and approximately 

10,700 retired members. As at December 31, 2022, the Municipal Pension Plan has about 

240,000 active members, including approximately 7,000 from colleges. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the 

plans and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined 

employer and member contribution rate to fund the plans. The actuary’s calculated contribution 

rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of 

member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants 

to the plans. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus 

and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the College Pension Plan as at August 31, 2021, 

indicated a $202,000 surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 
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9. Employee future benefits (continued) 

(a) Pension benefits (continued) 

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated 

a $3,761,000 funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The University paid $13,217 for employer contributions to the plans in fiscal year 2024 (2023 – 

$11,932). 

The next valuation for the College Pension Plan will be as at August 31, 2024. The next 

valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan will be December 31, 2024. 

Employers participating in the plans record their pension expense as the amount of employer 

contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This 

is because the plans record accrued liabilities and accrued assets for each plan in aggregate, 

resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 

individual employers participating in the plans. 

(b) Maternity or parental leave  

The University provides supplemental employee benefits for faculty, staff and administration on 

maternity or parental leave. For the duration of the leave, employees on maternity or parental 

leave receive a supplemental payment added to employment insurance benefits. Employer-paid 

benefits also continue to be paid on the employees’ behalf. The University has expensed $1,215 

in the current year (2023 – $982). As at March 31, 2024, the University has an obligation of $977 

(2023 – $452) which has been included in salaries, benefits and wages payable. 

10. Deferred contributions 

Deferred contributions represent the unspent externally restricted grants and contributions that will 

be used in future periods primarily for academic programming, as specified by the contributor.  
 

  2023 
 

$  

Amounts 
received 

$  

Recognized 
as revenue 

$  

2024 
 

$ 

Provincial  6,047  83,094  (6,308)  82,833 
Federal  2,023  1,524  (1,640)  1,907 
Other sources  2,201  4,004  (3,507)  2,698 
  10,271  88,622  (11,455)  87,438 
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11. Deferred capital contributions 

Contributions that are restricted for the purpose of acquiring capital are recorded as deferred capital 

contributions. Amounts are recognized into revenue at the same rate that amortization of the 

tangible capital asset is recorded. 

Changes in deferred capital contributions balance are as follows: 
 

  2023 
 

$  

Amounts 
received 

$  

Recognized 
as revenue 

$  

2024 
 

$ 

Provincial  156,803  18,498  (10,781)  164,520 
Federal  8,417  36  (771)  7,682 
Other sources  14,500  -  (500)  14,000 
  179,720  18,534  (12,052)  186,202 

12. Obligations under capital lease 

The University entered into a capital lease on September 1, 2023 to finance technology 

infrastructure at an estimated cost of borrowing of 7.36% per annum (2023 - nil). The principal and 

interest payments are as follows: 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
2025  984  - 
2026  984  - 
2027  411  - 

Total minimum capital lease payments  2,379  - 
     
Less amounts representing interest  (192)  - 

     
Present value of net minimum capital lease payments  2,187  - 

Total interest payment on capital leases for the year was $102 (2023 - nil). 
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13. Asset retirement obligations 

The University has recorded asset retirement obligations for the removal of hazardous material 

from some of the University’s buildings.  

The following is a reconciliation of the changes in the asset retirement obligations during the year: 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
     
Balance, beginning of year  1,561  1,463 
Accretion expense  54  98 

Balance, end of year  1,615  1,561 

The undiscounted estimated cash flows required to settle the obligations are approximately $2,169 

(2023 - $2,169) to be paid during the fiscal years 2032 to 2034. The estimated cash flows were 

discounted using the credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 3.5% (2023 - 3.2%) per annum. 

14. Line of credit 

The University has the ability to draw on a line of credit with a commercial bank for $7,500 (2023 - 

$7,500). As at March 31, 2024, the University has not utilized the available line of credit. 
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15. Tangible capital assets 

 
 

 

 Land Buildings Major 
site 

improve
-ments 

Major 
equipment 

Library 
holdings 

Technology 
infrastruc-

ture 

Furniture & 
equipment 

Computing 
equipment 

Leased 
capital 
assets 

Work in 
progress 

(WIP) 

2024 2023 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

             
Cost             
Opening balance 20,428 267,414 49,041 18,584 9,936 3,866 88,567 16,257 - 9,013 483,106 468,278 

Additions - - 6,609 642 228 1,005 5,526 2,018 2,660 10,062 28,750 15,885 
Transfer to asset held for sale - - - - - - - - - - - (1,057) 
Transfer to/(from) WIP - - 7,078 328 - 270 - - - (7,676) - - 

Closing balance 20,428 267,414 62,728 19,554 10,164 5,141 94,093 18,275 2,660 11,399 511,856 483,106 

Accumulated amortization             
Opening balance - (116,269) (30,309) (4,310) (8,333) (3,097) (75,795) (12,543) - - (250,656) (230,761) 

Amortization - (6,687) (4,254) (1,361) (354) (524) (5,304) (1,788) (517) - (20,789) (19,895) 

Closing balance - (122,956) (34,563) (5,671) (8,687) (3,621) (81,099) (14,331) (517) - (271,445) (250,656) 

Net book value 20,428 144,458 28,165 13,883 1,477 1,520 12,994 3,944 2,143 11,399 240,411 232,450 
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16. Accumulated surplus 

The accumulated surplus is comprised of the following: 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
     
Investment in tangible capital assets  84,479  88,984 
Endowments (Note 6)  2,817  2,817 
Internally restricted reserves  68,071  6,170 
Unrestricted reserves  44,648  35,727 
Accumulated remeasurement gains  2,762  731 

  202,777  134,429 

During the year ended March 31, 2024, the Board of Governors approved $61,901 in internal 

restrictions of the University’s total accumulated surplus, for the establishment of the Indigenous 

Fund of $16,901, Student Award Fund of $20,000 and Capital Reserve Fund of $25,000 (2023 – 

nil).  

17. Financial risk management 

The University has exposure to certain risks from its financial instruments. 

The Board of Governors ensures that the University has identified its major risks and ensures that 

management monitors and controls them. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the University if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Such risks arise principally from certain 

financial assets held by the University consisting of cash and cash equivalents and accounts 

receivable.   

Credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents is minimized by ensuring that these 

assets are held at financial institutions with a high credit quality. The University holds the 

majority of its cash and cash equivalents in a Canadian Chartered bank. 

Management believes the credit risk associated with accounts receivable is limited as the 

balance largely consists of receivables from the Province of British Columbia and student 

accounts receivable that are closely monitored and managed to limit further enrollment until 

payment is made.  
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17. Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Market risk and interest rate risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the 

University’s income. The objective of market risk management is to control market risk 

exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. 

The University manages its market risk and interest rate risk on investments with established 

investment guidelines for its investment management companies to follow in managing its 

investment portfolios. The guidelines limit investments to those with BBB- or greater credit 

rating. The University does not invest in any derivatives. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 

they become due. 

The University manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash 

flows from operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far as 

possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 

normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 

the University’s reputation.  

(d) Foreign exchange risk  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows 

associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 

University is exposed to foreign exchange risk on investments that are dominated in foreign 

currencies.  

The functional currency of the University is the Canadian dollar. The University is also exposed 

to risk at it conducts some transactions in foreign currencies, particularly the U.S. dollar. The 

University maintains a U.S. dollar denominated bank account to minimize foreign exchange 

risk on these transactions. 
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18. Contractual obligations 

The nature of the University’s activities can result in multi-year contracts and obligations whereby 

the University will be committed to make future payments. Significant contractual obligations related 

to operations that can be reasonably estimated are as follows: 
 

  2025 

 

$ 

 2026 

 

$ 

 2027 

 

$ 

 2028 

 

$ 

 2029 

 

$ 

 There-

after 

$ 

Capital commitments  7,372  31  -  -  -  - 

Operational commitments  21,892  11,184  6,866  4,120  3,335  9,067 

  29,264  11,215  6,866  4,120  3,335  9,067 

19. Contingent liabilities  

The University may, from time to time, be involved in legal proceedings, claims, and litigation that 

arise in the normal course of operations.  

There are several lawsuits pending in which the University is involved. It is considered that the 

potential claims against the University resulting from such litigation would not materially affect the 

financial statements of the University.  

20. Contractual rights 

The University may, from time to time, enter into contracts or agreements in its normal course of 

operations that will result in the realization of assets and revenues in future fiscal years.  

The University enters into multi-year research funding agreements with various federal, provincial 

and municipal funding agencies whereby it has the opportunity to earn revenue in future years by 

incurring qualified expenditures. These research funding agreements do not abnormally impact the 

University’s financial position. 

 

 



KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Year ended March 31, 2024 (All figures in thousands of dollars) 

 

24 

21. Related party transactions  

The University has entered into certain transactions and agreements in the normal course of 

business with certain of its related parties. These transactions are measured at the exchange 

amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

Significant related party transactions not disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, are as follows: 

Revenue and expenses: 
 

Included in revenue  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills grants  16,238  63,850 
Other provincial government entities – grants and revenue 

recognized from deferred contributions (Note 10)  6,308  6,799 
Other provincial government entities – grants and revenue 

recognized from deferred capital contributions (Note 11)  10,781  9,145 

  33,327  79,794 

 

Included in expenses  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills  347  318 
Other provincial government entities  1,718  1,408 
Other provincial universities  485  384 

  2,550  2,110 

 
Receivables and payables: 
 

Included in accounts receivable  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills  798  6,098 

 

Related party transactions with key management personnel: 

During the year, key management personnel, comprised of the Board and the University’s 

Executives, have nil (2023 – nil) related party transactions with the University. 
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22. Expense by object 

The following is a summary of expenses by object: 
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
     
Salaries and benefits  194,744  173,175 
Travel and professional development  4,159  3,334 
Supplies  4,971  5,121 
Student awards, bursaries and donations  8,685  11,600 
Fees and services  27,255  25,326 
Facilities  15,834  14,524 
Cost of sales  2,184  1,475 
Leases, property taxes, insurance  616  469 
Accretion   54  98 
Amortization of tangible capital assets  20,789  19,895 

  279,291  255,017 

23. Kwantlen Polytechnic University Foundation 

The Kwantlen Polytechnic University Foundation (the “Foundation”) was established on July 14, 

2000 and is registered under the Societies Act (British Columbia). The Foundation is a registered 

charity under the Income Tax Act of Canada. The purpose of the Foundation, is the solicitation and 

management of donations and endowments for the purpose of providing awards and grants to 

students of the University and to advance the University’s engagement with and within communities 

it serves. The Foundation is governed by an independent board of directors, the voting members 

of which can include employees and officers of the University. The University does not exercise 

control over the Foundation.  

During the year, as part of its ordinary course of business, the University committed certain funds 

to the Foundation.  
 

  2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

     
KPU Research Endowment  2,000  4,000 
KPU Food Endowment  -  1,000 
KPU Financial Aid Endowment  1,000  - 
KPU Financial Barrier Reduction Fund  60  2,000 
KPU Other Transfers  29  - 

  3,089  7,000 

 

The University also provides administrative, management and staff resources to the Foundation at 
no charge. As at March 31, 2024 the University has a payable of $1,060 (2023 - nil) to the 
Foundation. 

24. Comparative information 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year consolidated 

financial statement presentation. These changes do not affect prior year’s annual surplus. 
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Schedule of Board Members’ Remuneration and Expenses 

 

The remuneration and expenses of the President, Faculty and Staff who are also members of KPU’s 
Board of Governors, are listed in the Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses. 

 

  $ $ 
Board Member Position Remuneration Expenses 

    
Baird, Kim Ex Officio/Chancellor - - 
Bennett, Rhainnon Appointed Member/Vice Chair - - 
Chang, Michael Appointed Member - - 
Chen, Ivy Appointed Member/Chair - - 
Choi, Paul Appointed Member - - 
Davis, Alan Ex Officio/President - - 
Davis, Bob Elected Faculty Member - - 
Frederick, Amanda Kelly Appointed Member - - 
Goyal, Ishant Elected Student Member - 76 
Kalia, Aryan Elected Student Member - - 
Kambere, Amos Appointed Member - - 
Mahabub, Mohammed Appointed Member - - 
Malik, Muhammed Afzal Appointed Member - - 
Passmore, Lyndsay Appointed Member - - 
Ross, Rodney Appointed Member - - 
Sato, Takashi Elected Faculty Member - - 
Singh, Harman Preet Elected Student Member - - 
Smith-Weston, Amanda Appointed Member - - 
Taiwo, Waheed Support Staff Representative - - 
Wong, Jack Appointed Member - - 

    
Total  - 76 
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Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

 
 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Abbaszadeh, Elias 74,481 738 
Abiew, Francis 103,350 - 
Abramson, Alana 103,907 2,144 
Adams, Jennifer 85,953 - 
Adams, Michael 103,350 - 
Adams, Paul 127,582 20,877 
Adebayo, Dada 106,752 - 
Aderemi, Taiwo 106,474 833 
Affleck, Monika 77,434 5,281 
Aguilera, Laura 103,210 3,820 
Ahluwalia, Seema 103,457 2,886 
Ahuja, Rishab 86,960 597 
Akbar, Mohammad 104,106 - 
Al-Ani, Mayyadah 114,123 513 
Alger, Martha 102,622 1,656 
Ali, Khairunnisa 103,137 638 
Ali, Laila 79,646 3,627 
Al-koubaisi, Zainab 123,013 20,001 
Allen, Anita 85,380 2,234 
Alm, Kirsten 89,649 - 
Alsaid, Mohammed 110,757 - 
Alvarado Barraza, William 91,106 4,992 
Amlani, Alym 103,741 3,605 
Anaquod, Jennifer 81,960 - 
Anderson, Bradley 106,540 60 
Anderson, Jim 96,068 538 
Andreone, Dominic 82,134 270 
Andrews, Kenneth 104,669 1,761 
Andrews, Wayne 102,622 1,586 
Androsiuk, Mary 115,417 133 
Angelina, Maria 103,977 3,472 
Anvari, Daniel 103,962 - 
Arce Gonzalez, Enrique 82,945 - 
Areekadan, Jose 83,793 3,695 
Armitage, Nancy 107,535 3,130 
Arneson, Laura 81,473 5,655 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Arruda, Gustavo 116,261 535 
Ash, Kristan 105,117 5,396 
Ashenhurst, Erin 104,324 9,750 
Ashman, Melissa 110,544 3,273 
Assogba, Dossou 98,208 215 
Au, Chui Fung Jackie 109,486 2,662 
Au, Jennifer 103,350 1,266 
Azad, Tanjeem 100,392 1,791 
Azami, Faezeh 82,235 - 
Azaron, Amir 105,520 - 
Aziz, Rabia 119,494 403 
Bagshaw, Kimberly 103,137 538 
Baillie, Lyndsey 72,386 6,591 
Bains, Daljit 85,480 764 
Bains, Gurinder 103,457 - 
Bajwa, Rajwinder 94,590 440 
Bakshi, Parm 76,861 4,595 
Ball, Robert 136,556 9,046 
Ballarin, Richard 90,160 548 
Barenscott, Dorothy 103,486 15,306 
Barnes, Sarah 79,783 5,287 
Bartnik, Dawn 89,561 538 
Basi, Harinder 86,042 1,276 
Basil, Robert 103,137 - 
Bassani, Cherylynn 93,615 2,050 
Bayntun, Jessica 102,203 220 
Bayrock, Mark 119,055 5,282 
Baz, Christine Rosalie 78,039 - 
Beasleigh, Sarah 143,851 1,130 
Beavington, Lee 88,633 456 
Bedard, Gayle 159,570 4,816 
Begalka, Aimee 168,518 5,534 
Behme, Christina 116,979 1,354 
Belisle, John 103,350 458 
Benevides, Judith 108,771 606 
Berger, Brittany 105,703 1,143 
Bernard, Dominic 91,852 3,379 
Bernstein, Daniel 103,737 12,374 
Besel, Lana 78,929 233 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Beveridge, Lynda 121,570 3,334 
Bhagat, Meena 107,850 161 
Bhaika, Pushpinder 79,751 261 
Bhardwaj, Uttkarsh 113,948 1,395 
Bhatt, Gira 103,951 2,694 
Bicep, Judith 103,137 505 
Bige, Melinda 124,627 3,586 
Biln, Kalbir 110,522 5,669 
Binuya-Barros, Norwinda 105,528 2,259 
Bisher, Ahmad 110,649 2,062 
Bishop, Barbara 103,137 - 
Blackett, Danielle 100,162 5,769 
Bland, Melanie 80,366 2,150 
Blemings, Jayne 74,954 525 
Blenkhorn, Deborah 103,137 - 
Boboricken, Tanya 103,291 - 
Bohinska, Elzhbeta 103,682 9,073 
Bolton, Dustin 103,960 3,538 
Bomford, Michael 103,937 1,120 
Bordbar, Ali 95,976 - 
Boroumand-Jazzi, Sepand 89,701 1,087 
Boulton, Adrienne 103,137 1,850 
Bourgeois, Helen 103,377 142 
Bourke, Patrick 82,579 16,848 
Bowles, Tracey 88,773 538 
Boyce, Joan 88,519 2,401 
Boyd, Shelley 170,962 21,199 
Boydell, Carroll 104,357 1,197 
Braaksma, Anita 104,475 2,151 
Bransford, Nickolas 98,306 4,245 
Brar, Vicky 103,571 2,290 
Bratch, Tejinder 103,587 1,102 
Bratic, Zeljko 80,749 5,093 
Brennan, Ryan 87,979 1,884 
Brent, Alexandra 76,333 624 
Bright, Gillian 103,350 94 
Brinkerhoff, Celia 103,457 100 
Broderick, George 104,582 1,760 
Broderick, Paula Jean 75,218 3,012 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Broser, Jenny 102,658 941 
Brown, Nicole 92,098 725 
Brucks, Kimiko 93,962 509 
Bruins, Henrietta 103,507 - 
Bryce, Laura 103,447 1,437 
Bryja, Bogdan 103,324 - 
Buis, Alena 128,696 6,597 
Bumann, Ernest 102,825 - 
Burchha, Amarpreet 78,341 693 
Burke, Phaedra 96,595 2,353 
Burns, Christine 101,420 515 
Burns, David 199,844 23,388 
Burnstein, Cheryl 103,580 12,325 
Cabral, Raquel 103,592 - 
Cahill, Shawn 112,833 1,268 
Calao, Carlos 117,160 883 
Callaghan, Fergal 103,380 - 
Campbell, Jeffrey 103,122 731 
Cannon, Roger 107,369 220 
Capulong, Ann-Margaret 101,657 4,144 
Carpenter, Katherine 124,291 2,191 
Cathcart, Jillian 105,740 1,565 
Chahal, Satwinder 77,354 2,856 
Champagne, Marc 75,588 - 
Champion, Amanda 97,840 1,800 
Chan, Elian 117,178 2,229 
Chan, Gregory 100,807 5,455 
Chan, Josephine 121,696 3,934 
Chan, Kin 94,328 1,650 
Chana, Devinder 86,739 625 
Chanyungco, Teresa 82,116 1,107 
Charania, Shiraz 120,783 1,423 
Charlton, Peter 102,622 606 
Cheema, Harleen 116,037 - 
Chen, Ni 102,369 - 
Chia, Jacqueline 103,855 2,403 
Chin, Kenward 103,834 - 
Chiou, Ted 102,825 578 
Choi, Jin Woo 103,462 2,545 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Chong, Jane 103,350 250 
Chong, Rachel 94,392 1,467 
Choubdar, Niloufar 77,616 - 
Chow, Bob 106,603 - 
Chow, Catherine 103,052 225 
Chuang, Ying-Yueh 104,217 1,747 
Chun, Henry 84,332 588 
Clancy, Laurie 223,425 8,033 
Clark, Heather 83,209 4,037 
Clayton, Lindsay 106,477 1,619 
Cobb, Gordon 114,424 2,419 
Cober, Michael 108,220 903 
Coburn, Patricia 120,110 1,536 
Cochand, Sharolyn 96,160 518 
Connop Price, David 129,908 9,065 
Conroy, Amy 106,979 - 
Conversi, Grant 103,404 1,507 
Conway, Sean 103,137 1,275 
Cook Bondy, Robin 126,756 1,212 
Coombes, Michael 103,457 196 
Coulter, Donald 103,137 1,050 
Crisp, Dianne 103,950 325 
Croda, Christopher 82,295 4,791 
Cross-Blanchard, Molly 76,786 1,773 
Crothers, Simon 100,611 - 
Cserepes, Dana 103,290 1,346 
Culham, Eugenia 102,782 3,503 
Cunningham, Kelly 118,270 2,208 
Curman, Andrea 105,944 - 
Currin, Jennifer 103,137 2,064 
Cuthill, Melissa 87,160 210 
Cyr, Heather 109,347 2,497 
Da Silva Teixeira, Vinicius Tadeu 107,036 10,490 
Dale, Denise 103,457 928 
Daley, Joanna 103,457 - 
Dallas, Laura 107,884 2,020 
Daniels, Caroline 103,137 807 
Danielson, Donna 102,825 98 
Danielson, Sheldon 75,799 - 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Dastur, Farhad 109,101 2,400 
Davis, Alan 274,568 79,277 
Davis, Robert 103,507 1,368 
De Boer, Monica 104,194 6,123 
De Silva, Santhiyago 119,115 1,260 
Dearle, Gillian 103,832 456 
Dearle, Robert 94,029 90 
Dehghani Estarki, Maryam 105,837 - 
Del Rio Torres, Laura 84,876 2,483 
Dempsey, Liam 104,712 - 
Denker, Julia 125,534 1,721 
Dennis, Drew 80,738 1,506 
Detwiler, Laurie 103,457 2,453 
Dewan, Kriti 103,137 - 
Dhariwal, Parvinder 97,892 3,169 
Dickens, Charles 102,373 - 
Dieno, Leland 122,462 6,687 
Diotte, Mark 103,507 100 
Dixon, Frank 103,617 - 
Djokic, Mirela 103,457 343 
Dobrowolsky, Robert 96,767 450 
Dobud, Pablo 142,640 5,005 
Dockery, Stephen 106,836 693 
Dodd, Rebecca 93,151 - 
Dolling, Sarah 96,751 831 
dos Santos, Pedro 84,960 137 
Doudkine, Peter 103,945 839 
Doustmohammadi, Afshin 80,769 - 
Dowell, Damian 81,284 4,988 
Doyle, Kelly 104,132 1,600 
Driver, Simon 113,451 829 
Drury, Melissa 100,307 830 
Dube, Catherine 176,759 6,616 
Duffy, Patrick 103,137 629 
Dukewich, Kristie 107,637 - 
Dunbar, Colleen 113,786 580 
Duncan, Sarah 103,137 7,013 
Dunn, Sarah 86,853 7,232 
Dunster, Katherine 93,717 3,930 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Duprey, Jennifer 180,180 11,424 
Dyck, Jeffery 142,806 4,111 
Ebrahimi, Shora 105,375 1,078 
Edmonds, Eve 88,886 102 
Edwards, Timothy 103,747 2,137 
Edwards, Warren 103,137 - 
Egi, Aleksandar 103,457 2,558 
Eigenfeldt, Catriona 104,511 1,050 
El Sayad, Ismail 116,003 - 
Elgert, Caroline 79,087 794 
Eliason, Erika 75,411 3,994 
Elliott, Brent 175,381 2,149 
Emilien, Chervahun 227,682 10,653 
Erickson, Shawn 108,220 788 
Estate of Neil Kennedy 103,362 - 
Eva, Maryanne 81,947 11,154 
Fairbairn, Grant 76,744 - 
Fairburn, Susan 103,332 17,989 
Falcus, John 124,553 1,035 
Favaro, Brett 160,702 9,279 
Felder, Alysha 108,060 1,692 
Feldman, Carmen 103,384 830 
Fengstad, David 113,519 322 
Fenske, Wayne 103,864 1,079 
Ferens, Ralph 77,504 - 
Ferrarez da Mata, Felipe Augusto 86,893 - 
Ferrari, Semone 85,316 1,928 
Fessenden, Sarah 105,193 1,114 
Findler, Patrick 107,637 - 
Finlay, Natalia 91,924 5,171 
Fong, Petti 77,087 929 
Ford, Richard Michael 103,507 6,798 
Formisano, Colleen 103,834 3,908 
Forslund, Coral 91,576 1,318 
Forward, Clint 103,457 - 
Fralick, Reid 121,227 9,651 
Francis, Darren 118,426 314 
Francis, Susan 103,457 - 
Francisco, Maria Rosario 79,398 - 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Franco, Elena 106,711 1,470 
Frank, Andrew 75,387 917 
Frazer, John 103,260 2,071 
Froc, David 105,162 2,050 
Fuhr, Robert 102,825 1,900 
Fung, Christina 79,517 1,205 
Furlong, Mark 87,396 - 
Gagnon, Nathalie 103,353 250 
Galbraith, Cody 81,016 1,794 
Gao, Jianying 98,304 850 
Garcha, Jaisun 104,582 2,265 
Garcia, Sarah 105,080 7,961 
Garrecht, Maryam 78,950 6,835 
Garrett, Brian 100,089 - 
Gatzeva, Mariana 103,137 233 
Gauvreau, Laurence 110,291 1,100 
Gava, Alessandra 75,308 19,359 
Gavilanez, Paola 76,188 11,100 
Gedak, Lisa 75,669 10,036 
Gelineau, Robert 103,137 250 
Gerlich-Fitzgerald, Krista 113,047 6,063 
Ghazanfari Hashemi, Samaneh 103,137 2,707 
Giles, Christopher 107,026 - 
Gill, Rajdeep 103,137 3,843 
Gingell, Jessica 92,733 560 
Ginter, Emily 105,510 158 
Girard, Daniela 199,610 14,842 
Gnyp, Jessica 104,162 4,060 
Gocer, Izgy 75,790 1,616 
Godber, Anjela 103,430 1,903 
Goddyn, Bonita 74,443 1,510 
Goelman, Ari 104,057 997 
Goh, Lina 116,560 - 
Gomes, Ana 93,895 - 
Gooding, Elizabeth 103,350 242 
Goodman, Aaron 109,212 17,912 
Gorjipour, Mitra 130,192 12,547 
Goundrey, Andhra 174,464 31,787 
Gradowski, Tomasz 80,529 799 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Grant, John 97,350 2,304 
Greenlaw, Duncan 103,137 - 
Greer, Sarah 106,098 - 
Greig, Taryn 108,897 9,935 
Grewal, Alexy 114,469 10,927 
Grewal, Gurinderjit 91,061 600 
Grey, Amanda 80,957 3,341 
Gugliotti, Damaris 86,522 1,729 
Guild, Lorraine 106,256 1,399 
Guirguis, Mazen 109,437 1,176 
Gupta, Deepak 96,963 10,099 
Gurm, Balbir 111,142 4,209 
Haaf, Meredith 122,435 4,873 
Hadfield, Janine 108,346 1,886 
Hagan, Dervla 78,450 6,118 
Hakik, Sajidah 102,749 764 
Hammond, Karen 107,287 4,588 
Han, Lu 107,947 9,932 
Hannas, Paula 122,884 555 
Hans, Manmohan 96,898 647 
Harbut, Rebecca 103,457 1,106 
Hardwick, Jennifer 104,748 2,805 
Harrington, Jennifer 159,098 3,380 
Harris, Anthony 84,072 184 
Harrison, Heather 139,655 10,183 
Harwood, Nicola 90,509 1,109 
Hassan, Shereen 105,402 5,528 
Hassanlou, Ali 105,634 - 
Hauta, Christopher 95,616 555 
Hayes, Jack 103,260 2,980 
Hayes, Michael 103,137 728 
He, Jingying 71,618 8,650 
He, Xiao Xuan 106,881 413 
He, Yu Bin 101,594 4,816 
Hearty, Kathleen 96,019 5,219 
Hedley, Cara 87,036 - 
Heidt, Randall 235,436 29,033 
Heinrick, Christina 103,384 381 
Heltzel, Christina 79,251 2,184 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Hemsworth, Lesley 103,447 2,813 
Henderson, Deborah 150,090 5,953 
Henwood, Nadia 150,836 12,001 
Hernandez De la Rocha, Diego 90,848 2,298 
Herrmann, Shari 108,255 90 
Hesse, Cassandra 100,701 4,377 
Higashi, Lisa-Kei 101,940 14,007 
Higgitt, Ryan 103,270 - 
Higo, Travis 113,755 11,055 
Hirschmann, Paula 95,087 2,022 
Ho, Ho Man 100,120 1,130 
Ho, Philip 103,137 680 
Hoang, Betty 125,765 2,802 
Hodgkinson, Carley 111,675 10,793 
Hogan, Melinda 107,100 1,229 
Hollaway, Rachelle 107,015 250 
Hosseinyazdi, Mahboobeh 103,457 - 
Hotti, Allison 109,614 830 
Howes, Stephanie 180,216 4,064 
Hoyland, James 103,137 216 
Hsiao, Wan-Ju 86,281 0 
Hubick, Lisa 86,832 293 
Huestis, Amy-Claire 96,902 2,344 
Hunter, Aislinn 77,534 5,846 
Hunter, Andrea 103,587 2,666 
Hunter, Dale 114,076 - 
Hunter, Iain 146,978 1,087 
Hunter, Kimberly 92,228 613 
Huppmann, Robin 103,457 1,116 
Huynh, Kimberly 71,350 8,288 
Hyare, Gagandip 83,151 20 
Immell, Tara 103,137 14,576 
Improta, Giuseppe 82,526 - 
Imran, Hazra 103,324 - 
Indurugalla, Deepani 103,507 - 
Inglis, Peter 104,377 - 
Ip, Pamela 103,350 3,204 
Iwanchuk, Andre 103,507 560 
Jackson, Alicia 85,470 - 
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 $ $ 
Employee Name Remuneration Expenses 
Jackson, Daniel 123,676 792 
Jackson, Kyle 103,457 5,900 
Jahn, Christy 97,596 889 
Jakir, Omar 82,633 1,108 
Jamshid Nejad, Masomeh 78,902 - 
Jankovic, Branka 83,263 2,750 
Janzen, Jeffrey 114,255 - 
Jarvis, Jeremy 102,852 1,668 
Jauernig, Nina 103,350 - 
Jdanova, Liudmila 105,162 730 
Jenion, Gregory 106,024 - 
Jeon, Hye Won 103,333 25,474 
Jeon, So Hyun 77,983 917 
Jewell, Clerissa 75,729 31 
Johal, Gurpreet 106,275 1,880 
Joller, Marlis 86,892 3,089 
Jonas, Petra 112,290 1,853 
Jordan, Jennifer 113,300 7,793 
Jordan, Mary 87,559 - 
Joseph, Chani 132,215 3,800 
Ju, Susan 89,762 241 
Jurado, Robert Paul 84,797 - 
Kaan, Philomena 93,576 - 
Kalkat, Jaswant 82,895 683 
Kaminski, June 104,675 516 
Kampschuur, Marc 105,824 3,690 
Karaush, Iryna 109,813 7,173 
Kargut, Sigrid 103,244 2,899 
Karr, Lori 76,180 693 
Kaur, Harinder 93,674 3,168 
Kaur, Harleen 116,384 1,715 
Kaur, Ravnit 91,377 3,547 
Kazymerchyk, Stanley 89,041 827 
Kean, Shelly 108,184 139 
Kerti, John 91,928 1,340 
Kesler, Sarah 91,537 250 
Kestler, Ulrike 81,119 2,410 
Keys, Christine 95,924 4,712 
Khakbaznejad, Abdolreza 188,917 4,922 
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Khalwati, Merwise 103,164 247 
Khoshaien, Azadeh 106,950 815 
Khun-Khun, Baljit 104,112 4,559 
Kidd, Kristine 151,562 850 
Kietaibl, Anton 103,764 445 
Kilina, Maria 124,936 18,011 
King, Conrad 103,350 250 
Kinik-Dicleli, Melike 105,528 2,216 
Kinney, Tracey 99,935 1,634 
Kiraly, Michael 94,456 - 
Kirsch, Mairi 110,900 4,622 
Kitt, Lisa 100,723 3,230 
Kleis, Landon 103,507 903 
Klimek, Connie 113,718 4,295 
Knickerbocker, Madeline 103,507 2,024 
Ko, Po-Chen 127,358 932 
Ko, Steve 103,457 - 
Koch, Johannes 103,137 3,497 
Kooner, Asha 83,488 699 
Korman, Laurette 106,084 - 
Koskinen, Paivi 77,454 1,637 
Kozak, Romy 103,186 1,888 
Kozlowski, Kaitlin 77,385 1,116 
Krahn, Melissa 86,744 3,474 
Krishnan, Parthiphan 104,807 - 
Kwadzovia, Thomas 146,529 3,219 
Kwan, Benjamin 114,341 2,677 
Lafreniere, Robert 108,227 2,752 
Lagoutin, Raphael 103,507 250 
Lai, Hong 84,506 5,786 
Laird, Meredith 97,232 7,536 
Laird, Ross 103,353 105 
Lait, Cameron 106,336 920 
Lamont, James 103,733 988 
Lang, Jaret 366,062 38,005 
Lange, Christian 90,136 - 
Lantinova, Vera 103,137 799 
Laplante, Robert 95,283 2,828 
Larsen, Michael 109,570 - 
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Lauron, Maria Theres Cleire 85,800 5,374 
Law, Andy 146,203 3,583 
Law, Victor Hung Yan 91,405 1,052 
Le Grand, Richard 107,625 446 
Le, Steven 96,847 3,018 
Lee, Ada 103,917 27,418 
Lee, Chi Chi Andrew 103,404 - 
Lee, Kyungjae 114,341 - 
Lee, Lisa 97,626 711 
Lee, Sarah 104,819 1,298 
Lee, Sharmen 170,936 7,997 
Lee, Sue Shu-Hsien 103,457 940 
Leigh, Charles 113,838 1,062 
Lett, Daniel 118,534 3,192 
Leung, Cheuk Man 81,486 538 
Leung, Mou Kit 103,430 2,010 
Leung, Robin Ying Kit 83,951 656 
Lewarne, Steve 172,584 4,754 
Li, Pak Ki Jacky 104,330 830 
Li, Pengfei 100,149 16,031 
Li, Puqun 103,667 243 
Li, Wei 103,260 298 
Lian, Minli 104,262 1,328 
Lichimo, Marie 103,072 1,108 
Ling, Laurence 110,458 3,870 
Linnyk, Olga 87,255 - 
Liu, Alex 104,465 869 
Liu, Chunling 79,197 190 
Liu, Randy 104,952 250 
Liu, Xin 103,324 276 
Lloyd, Michael 150,408 - 
Lo, Edward 103,137 607 
Lo, Tak-Shun 156,640 3,547 
Longair, Holly 98,208 8,062 
Loodu, Sarbjit 125,879 2,618 
Lopes, Evandro 110,889 - 
Lopez Castellanos, Cesar 117,824 5,702 
Lopez, Marga 107,313 1,082 
Lucas, Michaela 107,637 - 
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Lymburner, Jocelyn 106,379 3,023 
Lyon, Alexandra 103,430 3,045 
Lyon, David 123,386 1,213 
Lyons, Russell 96,798 - 
Lyons, Tara 112,084 1,507 
Ma, Bojiang 103,507 - 
Ma, Hao 81,991 1,534 
Ma, Li 80,791 203 
Ma, Michael 106,084 2,896 
Ma, Praise 104,937 3,194 
Ma, Ying 145,605 1,639 
MacDonald, Leanne 103,137 47 
MacDougall, Kari 103,457 1,111 
Machado, Marcelo 126,176 3,465 
MacKenzie, Joyce 97,059 182 
MacLean, Carla 107,412 7,557 
MacLeod, Colin 103,353 100 
MacRitchie, Adrienne 107,939 2,888 
MacTaggart, Alison 103,137 828 
Magee, Kaylee 103,457 - 
Maguire, Gidgit 82,909 1,020 
Mah, Jaime 103,168 - 
Mahapatra, Chinmaya 103,482 226 
Mah'd Alsaleh, Rushdi 84,732 2,247 
Majano, Paulo 103,796 1,450 
Malabanan, Emmie 80,407 755 
Mallay, Nadia 125,745 3,386 
Malli, Jasjit 77,189 5,018 
Malyon, Donna 103,457 955 
Manalaysay, Jocelyn 98,076 2,423 
Manhas, Indra 113,790 5,613 
Mann, Michael 104,401 558 
Marcotte, Megan 103,457 3,039 
Marlow, JoAnne 91,187 - 
Martin, Eryk 106,885 - 
Martin, John 103,470 1,507 
Martinez, Victor 103,137 5,722 
Marzouk, Zahia 103,587 592 
Masilamani, Logan 103,137 - 
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Mason, Frederick 103,270 796 
Mater, Deborah 94,134 2,363 
Mathewson, Donald 103,350 2,176 
Matskiw, Christopher 170,540 1,410 
Matsuba, Kyle 104,965 23,899 
Matthews, Megan 76,834 468 
Maultsaid, Deirdre 98,762 1,944 
Mawani, Serena 88,927 - 
Maydan, Catherine 102,869 266 
McAuley-Bax, Shauna 111,912 222 
McBride, Scott 103,137 - 
McCannell, Lesley 103,368 8,498 
McClinton, Brian 103,475 189 
McConill, Casey 103,912 - 
McConnell, Keiron 107,751 1,800 
McDonald, Laura 161,126 20,066 
McEachern, Joan 110,166 603 
McElroy, Lori 184,442 8,014 
McGill, Kimberley 107,547 4,188 
McGonigal, Donald 88,950 105 
McLellan, Ann-Marie 103,880 127 
McLeod, Desiree 95,494 3,186 
McMullen, Marla 112,895 12,158 
McPherson, Kathy 103,507 3,871 
Medina, Erick 103,507 978 
Meijer, Karen 104,041 2,678 
Menzies, Robert 107,337 7,294 
Messer, Ron 102,825 2,175 
Meyers, Jeffrey 104,037 3,417 
Mihell, Lana 122,274 2,478 
Miks, Edward 102,825 252 
Millard, Gregory 105,870 187 
Milner, Cynthia 132,861 10,256 
Minhas, Gurjeet 102,825 764 
Minosky, Shayna 109,685 1,976 
Mirchandani, Mackenzie 92,279 903 
Mirfakhraie, Amir 99,254 2,094 
Mitchell, Joshua 176,064 8,444 
Mitchell, Kyle 104,350 1,657 
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Mitchell, Zena 225,510 44,593 
Moffat, Nicole 87,717 3,615 
Moffatt, Debra 99,194 1,778 
Mohammed, Mustafa 106,596 13,797 
Mokkonen, Mikael 103,447 3,693 
Molander, Justin 106,805 - 
Monchalin, Lisa 108,198 979 
Moosa, Lubna Yusuf 105,418 1,424 
Morkunas, Vida 96,225 235 
Morris, Janice 103,137 2,897 
Motiu, Christian 84,470 - 
Motut-Firth, Monique 88,737 333 
Moulds, Emma 116,181 - 
Mouli, Srividhya 103,137 2,514 
Mroczek, Jolanta 103,137 - 
Muhammad, Kabeer 116,226 223 
Mullinix, M. Kent 154,186 20,487 
Mundle, Todd 168,883 4,315 
Munro, Sydney 66,310 14,437 
Murley, Shelley 75,373 769 
Murphy, Joshua 104,712 - 
Murphy, Julia 103,457 949 
Murray, Joel 142,517 17,021 
Murray, Ronald 103,457 18,052 
Musil, Debbie 105,409 1,300 
Myhre, Johnathan 110,064 3,181 
Naderinajafabadi, Sara 85,344 - 
Nambudiri, Abhilash 100,684 5,391 
Nand, Analita 83,876 3,812 
Nasitwitwi, Mungandi 103,350 - 
Nayar, Kamala 103,137 4,925 
Neuhold, Bernie 105,417 - 
Newton, Samuel 77,170 1,029 
Nguyen, David 85,756 1,048 
Nicholson, Victoria 103,827 3,512 
Nickerson, William 124,715 571 
Nijjar, Jatinder 103,164 1,784 
Nijjar, Navjeet 129,323 1,364 
Nilsson, Joakim 105,102 6,000 
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Niosi, Andrea 103,137 4,321 
Nishihara, Alison 103,377 - 
Norman, Nancy 103,270 2,476 
Norris, Lindsay 116,213 6,600 
North, Kari 81,959 250 
Nyaeme, Bassam 89,401 - 
Nyenhuis, Michael 103,137 242 
Ohler, Paul 108,149 5,600 
Olaguer, Edgar Jose 76,699 - 
Olson, Harmeet 120,019 794 
Oman, Leslie 98,753 - 
Onusko, Geoffrey 87,107 550 
Openshaw, Katie 78,926 2,451 
Orban, Levente 107,412 2,050 
Osifo, Victor 76,699 625 
Ostrowski, Paul 102,678 - 
Ozols-Mongeau, Lucas 101,967 1,374 
Page, Christina 103,457 1,108 
Pang, Philip 102,031 538 
Pankratz, Debra 106,964 1,961 
Pannu, Kamaldeep 74,755 1,050 
Pannu, Mandeep 146,590 10,518 
Parolin, Maria 106,144 1,793 
Paschen, Jeannette 103,364 1,103 
Paschen, Ulrich 103,137 231 
Pasha, Hasan 79,820 314 
Pasquini, Robert (Confidential) 103,682 - 
Paudel, Sunaina 73,178 2,976 
Paul, Joseph 103,137 187 
Pearce, Suzanne 128,326 8,075 
Pedersen, Cory 115,736 2,011 
Pegg, Brian 103,137 4,528 
Penner, Kurt 106,832 1,317 
Perera, Nishan 138,670 10,758 
Peters, Kevin 103,457 277 
Peters, Teniola 91,775 2,089 
Petersen, Karl 103,010 - 
Petrillo, Larissa 103,905 4,305 
Pezzot, Mathew 73,705 3,254 
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Piluk, Tanis 111,995 628 
Pink, Ross 103,137 3,000 
Podrouzek, Wayne 105,997 1,800 
Polasub, Wallapak 106,028 6,846 
Pollard, Lesley 94,002 9,002 
Poole, Nicole 96,217 3,497 
Poon, Michael 103,457 4,738 
Pope, Michael 103,737 1,926 
Popoff, Richard 103,457 389 
Porteous, Donna 78,955 803 
Poulin, Andrew 118,906 - 
Pradhan, Dolagobinda 105,429 1,850 
Prince, Katharina 105,762 5,679 
Pritchard, Mark 85,821 972 
Purewal, Gurpreet 78,690 100 
Purewal, Satwant 94,205 2,775 
Purvey, Diane 234,920 27,458 
Qu, Yan 103,457 1,700 
Qu, Yanfeng 106,837 4,367 
Radcliffe, Duane 106,964 8,336 
Rai, Raveena 103,137 250 
Rai, Sabrina 104,385 8,035 
Ramadan, Hisham 103,575 - 
Rambharat, Clarence 103,137 242 
Ramnarine, Sasha 118,588 5,265 
Ramsey, Jason 103,457 1,948 
Rana, Sonayna 88,544 2,305 
Randhawa, Lakhbir 78,850 4,261 
Rapa, Alina 110,694 - 
Raza, Imran 103,507 176 
Reese, Garrity 103,350 8,035 
Rehmat, Khalil 102,589 838 
Reimer, Steven 105,286 - 
Reyimjan, Raheem 103,270 3,007 
Rhodenizer, Lawrence 103,385 5,365 
Riabkova, Anastasia 89,561 1,477 
Richardson, Allison 103,137 518 
Richter, Kimberly 102,825 25 
Riel, David 80,031 93 
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Roberts, Neil 106,984 - 
Robles, Ana 76,918 - 
Rohde, Sven 103,137 3,217 
Rojas-Primus, Reya 94,055 - 
Rose, John 104,734 250 
Roth, Aaron 85,003 1,346 
Rowland, Sharli 78,741 - 
Rozell, Allyson 115,643 - 
Ruiz Oliveras, Flavio 105,257 877 
Ruloff, Colin 106,287 - 
Rumpeltes, Michael 119,750 - 
Rupert, John 77,950 135 
Ryan, Angela 103,507 - 
Sacho, Brad 102,735 1,000 
Sadhra, Avtar 103,145 413 
Sadoway, David 94,041 1,709 
Sahota, Moninder 104,058 2,075 
Sahota, Ranveer 113,572 1,723 
Saint, Susan 103,270 2,750 
Salih, Qussay 124,008 99 
Salumbre, Daniel 93,281 3,070 
Salumbre, Winnie 113,326 2,927 
Sampath, Kamalakannan 76,918 - 
Sanaei, Asiyeh 104,454 2,513 
Sandhu, Harjinder 124,979 1,534 
Sandhu, Herraj 127,555 794 
Sandhu, Simren 119,515 2,862 
Sandhu, Swatantra 84,658 - 
Sandoval, Carlos 112,418 339 
Sangha, Anita 103,758 250 
Sato, Takashi 103,457 6,240 
Saunders, Joanne 176,809 11,298 
Sayed, Asma 181,209 25,601 
Schanz, Michael 102,825 29 
Scheuneman Scott, Isabel 81,118 7,000 
Schlamp, Kristine 108,244 - 
Schram, Melinda 113,073 10,962 
Schuetz, Mathias 103,457 7,929 
Schulz, Briar 77,499 101 
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Schwartz, Andreas 103,827 100 
Schwichtenberg, Catherine 103,270 1,878 
Sears, Christopher 102,838 378 
Sehgal-Bhalla, Tanya 96,496 2,113 
Sen, Abhijit 102,622 1,016 
Seo, Jinyoung 80,276 3,970 
Shepherd, John 109,856 1,809 
Sherlock, Tracy 97,203 1,692 
Shokoohian, Hamideh 105,150 - 
Shorthouse, Christina 110,238 3,383 
Shortridge, Lori 171,703 - 
Shukla, Amit 148,537 14,648 
Sian, Gurpreet 75,516 - 
Sidhu, Amandeep Singh 174,992 5,913 
Sidhu, Navneet 113,599 3,458 
Siermacheski, Peter 136,700 8,560 
Sikora, Karen 91,027 934 
Simmons, Dianne 103,602 672 
Simmons, Gregory 106,798 2,724 
Sindhar, Beant 103,350 2,177 
Singer, Stefanie 133,681 1,038 
Singh, Gurkeerat 76,016 - 
Singh, Kris 103,137 1,850 
Singh, Rajinder 103,353 250 
Singh, Sucheta 89,426 2,186 
Singh, Vinshu 103,457 15,838 
Siriban, Nadine 90,726 659 
Skelton, Chad 103,244 503 
Smailes, Peter 223,190 8,364 
Smith, Melissa 76,654 3,105 
Smith, Sean 101,430 3,423 
Smolkin, Doran 111,912 - 
Soe, Naing 115,201 5,565 
Solano Bielen, Martina 77,445 4,274 
Somji, Alia 122,170 6,847 
Song, Hyun Suk 75,430 17,669 
South, Cluny 116,547 1,976 
Spalding, Elizabeth 103,430 574 
Speirs, Theresa 108,464 4,944 
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Spidel, Alicia 117,046 1,600 
Spindler, Keri 96,589 319 
St Loe, Stephanie 82,830 5,700 
St. Laurent, Carole 171,886 96,108 
Stanwood, Ian 103,137 - 
Stark, Kenneth 103,137 3,085 
Steel, Charissa 84,660 646 
Stein, Justin 100,603 5,091 
Stensrud, Craig 88,564 1,432 
Stewart, Roderick 172,934 3,245 
Stonehouse, Catherine 83,787 1,922 
Strand, Elisebeth 103,137 1,151 
Stratton, Sabine 77,439 1,632 
Strimbold, Shelley 84,000 2,397 
Stuart, Naomi 94,986 5,395 
Sturari, Tatiana 75,485 692 
Sud, David 103,430 460 
Sudlow, Gillian 103,502 210 
Sultana, Taranum 114,642 2,870 
Sumal, Al 143,210 90 
Sundquist, Glenda 116,130 575 
Sveinson, Laurie 103,457 1,050 
Swail, Brian 103,164 89 
Swaminathan, Gopinath 77,095 2,523 
Swanink, Melissa 103,507 3,194 
Sweeney, Sherilyn 112,552 2,256 
Tahani, Kianoosh 105,711 2,954 
Tahriri Adabi, Sepideh 76,572 2,579 
Takacs, Seanna 128,175 41 
Tanafranca, Enrico Basilio 94,802 - 
Tarry, Hammond 108,987 - 
Tauber, Mark 87,733 1,838 
Taylor, Terri 119,722 9,923 
Tebb, Richard 102,942 1,088 
Teja, Chiragveer 108,701 3,535 
Tekatch, Terry 120,136 1,978 
Telo, Fabricio 104,030 4,626 
Teters, Cheryl 93,969 794 
Thangapandy, Angeline Abraham 83,764 5,652 
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Thibodeau, Joyce 107,526 473 
Thiessen, Randal 103,290 - 
Thompson, Susan 107,422 1,974 
Thomson, Christopher 74,622 850 
Tiessen, Esther 104,952 - 
Tomiak, Kim 103,507 100 
Tomkins, Melissa 108,646 8,967 
Tong, Chun Kuen Rick 84,520 100 
Tong, Clement 105,016 - 
Toohey-Wiese, Elizabeth 106,622 3,323 
Tourand, Kyle 78,448 538 
Towler, Christopher 82,684 - 
Tracey, Donald 103,384 - 
Tracy, Dale 103,137 1,839 
Traynor, Christopher 103,507 250 
Tritchew, Panteli 78,264 - 
Trujillo-Pisanty, Ivan 118,736 - 
Truong, Khoi 72,581 18,722 
Tsui, Tyron 103,350 - 
Tunbridge, Nicole 103,457 3,879 
Tuncbilek, Nukhet 103,812 464 
Tutlewski, Wiktor 106,490 1,920 
Uppal, Bill (Balbir) 92,957 1,054 
Valana, Maria 106,933 34 
Valle Anaya, Tiffany 70,126 5,274 
Van der Gucht, Diane 103,507 539 
Van Der Merwe, Ernest 128,946 2,654 
Vanan, Shalini 121,396 2,532 
Vanderkist, Brett 103,137 2,785 
Varaich, Sundeep 126,791 2,283 
Vardy, Mark 103,587 1,363 
Velazquez, Cayley 103,457 1,450 
Verna, Joseph 101,557 - 
Vezina, Valerie 103,962 2,320 
Vidal, Claudio 101,704 - 
Villalba, Luis Fernando 85,440 5,226 
Virgilio, Michel 104,261 - 
Voorsluys, Theresa 77,279 15,450 
Vosburgh, Joseph 111,110 - 
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Vujovic, Sinisa 111,456 - 
Vytasek, Jovita 103,431 1,174 
Waddington, Leeann 168,826 29,261 
Wadkar, Prashant 113,812 880 
Walia, Shivangi 87,782 590 
Wall, Luka 99,923 2,006 
Wall, Orlando 103,137 252 
Walsh, Diane 103,507 - 
Wang, Yu-Jen 108,270 - 
Wang, Zehua 112,801 - 
Wanniarachchi, Kavinda 103,457 199 
Ward, Stephen 103,457 - 
Warner, Leona 107,105 - 
Warren, Collin 110,339 3,216 
Warren, Valerie 130,087 1,448 
Watkins, James 77,523 - 
Wegener, Lisa 87,480 952 
Wei, Siqi 96,765 191 
Wellicome, Justin 126,045 2,594 
Weston, Catherine 81,897 127 
Whitmore, Michael 81,766 - 
Whittemore, Joel 103,384 1,028 
Whittington-Walsh, Fiona 103,507 3,334 
Wiebe, Christopher 77,167 - 
Wijnsma, Kristina 103,137 3,409 
Wilding, Daniel 135,749 1,036 
Williams, Jennifer 103,457 439 
Wilton, Mary 103,137 - 
Wong, Bess 103,901 5,080 
Wong, Richard 104,637 2,253 
Wong, Winnie 98,186 4,981 
Wood, Kathryn 107,336 3,586 
Wood, Lindsay 103,430 3,024 
Wood-Wiens, Natalie 88,289 679 
Wrench, Danny 103,297 - 
Wright, Jason 95,180 4,183 
Wright, Thomas Craig 73,351 3,097 
Wu, Aihua 112,572 - 
Wu, Ying Sheng 98,407 1,150 
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Xia, Susan 73,913 3,906 
Xu, Aizhe 72,359 6,213 
Yang, John 104,037 2,815 
Yang, Ke 80,276 739 
Yazdizad, Arsham 95,619 - 
Yeung, Yanny 103,640 1,286 
Yindok, Tenzin 105,387 - 
Yip, Shu Kam 138,950 8,314 
Yoshida, Sara 103,507 2,028 
Yoshizawa, Rebecca 104,615 4,484 
Yu, Yunzhijun 107,740 - 
Yuan, Wenting 133,923 6,492 
Yuill, Garry 103,682 - 
Yusuf, Ali 103,957 1,629 
Zhang, Bo 103,575 228 
Zhang, Guoren 106,382 1,328 
Zhang, Kongwen 104,892 - 
Zhao, Ping 103,244 4,663 
Zhou, Shiqu 103,362 241 
Zhou, Yuan 78,546 1,032 

   
Total Employee Remuneration and Expenses  95,906,502 2,752,132 of $75,000 or more 
   
Total Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

55,190,352 745,915 
under $75,000  
   
Grand Total Employee Remuneration and Expenses* 151,096,854 3,498,047 

 

 

* The total expenses reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating 
Surplus differs from the totals on the Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses and the Schedule 
of Payments to Suppliers of Goods and Services. The reconciliation of these differences can be found in 
the Reconciliation to Financial Statements found on page 76 of this report. 
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  $ 
Supplier Name  Payment 
3CP Energy Utility Ltd  134,660 
4imprint Inc  39,208 
4th Utility Inc  5,251,394 
A. Craig & Son Ltd  135,023 
AccessSMT Holdings Ltd  35,847 
Action Electric Ltd  346,367 
Ad Astra Information Systems, L.L.C.  141,435 
AES Engineering Ltd.  103,643 
Affinity Group  37,147 
Ainsworth Inc  260,693 
Air Canada  33,090 
Alarmtron (BC) Ltd  43,008 
Alder Auto Parts Ltd  25,193 
Alfred Horie Construction Co Ltd  497,577 
Altis Recruitment & Technology Inc  31,667 
Alvis Tsui (FSS) Inc.  65,729 
Amazon  223,307 
Amazon Web Services, Inc.  1,218,060 
Anthology Inc. of Missouri  38,583 
ApplyBoard Inc  731,215 
AppsAnywhere Inc.  120,718 
Arcadis Professional Services (Canada) Inc  99,291 
Archetype Consulting  41,606 
Argus Control Systems Ltd  54,532 
Arora Immigration & Education Consultants (AIEC)  36,287 
Arsalan Construction Ltd  42,789 
Associated Health Systems Inc.  93,586 
Australia Education Victoria Pty Ltd  66,744 
AVI-SPL Canada Ltd.  313,642 
Ball Superior Ltd  46,314 
BC Cancer Agency  39,508 
BC Event Management  210,723 
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  $ 
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BC Hydro  1,209,902 
BC Pension Corporation  13,284,082 
BCNET  1,720,016 
BitTRACK Consultants Pvt.Ltd.  319,018 
Blackbaud Inc.  41,246 
Blindside Networks Inc.  86,493 
Boston Construction Corp.  167,631 
Bouthillette Parizeau Inc  75,337 
C&W Facility Services Canada Inc.  1,313,574 
Canada Chairlines Ltd  35,541 
Canada Post Corporation  38,921 
Canada Wide Media Limited  36,750 
Canadian Edge International Corp.  64,306 
Canadian Research Knowledge Network  362,821 
Canam Consultants Limited  732,755 
Can-Design Enterprises Ltd  53,125 
Canstar Restorations  110,057 
Canucks Intercambio Services Inc  37,997 
Cascade Capital Machine Sales Inc  154,634 
CAUBO  29,070 
CC&L Investment Management Ltd.  200,783 
CDW Canada Corp  57,261 
Cengage Canada  147,898 
Charms Education Services  219,932 
Charter Telecom Inc  1,206,568 
Chernoff Thompson Architects  34,883 
Children Care Uganda  57,400 
Cineplex Media  25,497 
City of Langley  52,522 
City of Richmond  76,389 
City of Surrey  132,689 
Clark Wilson LLP  361,767 
Colliers Strategy & Consulting Inc  126,727 
Comar Electrical Services Ltd  1,335,884 
Community Fire Prevention Ltd.  137,246 
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Compass Group Canada Ltd.  764,564 
Compugen Inc  3,171,736 
Concord Parking Ltd  433,065 
Consulab Educatech Inc  31,227 
Council of Prairie & Pacific University Libraries  61,836 
Creative Pacific Education Partners Inc  1,325,929 
CSA Group  58,345 
CTV British Columbia - Bell Media Inc.  76,407 
CWB Group - Industry Services  42,529 
CWB Group Industry Solutions  45,271 
DA Architects + Planners  81,225 
Davies Park & Associates (Vancouver) Inc. dba Leaders Int'l  52,500 
Dell Canada  170,365 
DIALOG BC Inc.  605,409 
Diego Samper  45,100 
Digital Postage on Call  42,000 
DIVERSEcity Community Resources Society  39,908 
Donald Flooring Contract Sales Ltd.  176,108 
EAB Global, Inc.  129,154 
Eaton Industries (Canada) Company  56,511 
EB Horsman & Son Ltd  79,474 
Ebsco Canada Ltd  80,077 
ECC Hive Inc  25,443 
Ecoation Innovative Solutions Inc.  46,917 
EDU Danmark ApS  26,536 
Ellucian Technologies Canada ULC  722,602 
EM Visual Productions Ltd  46,725 
Employer Health Tax  2,818,621 
Energy Network Services Inc  1,495,821 
Enlightened Education Holdings Inc  73,574 
Entity Mechanical Ltd.  117,458 
eStruxture Data Centers Inc  31,387 
Excel Drapery Installation Ltd  67,064 
eXplorance Inc.  26,650 
Finlink Construction Ltd  494,763 
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Fisher Scientific Ltd  190,245 
Forte Law Corporation  68,147 
FortisBC Energy Inc  196,857 
Fraser Shading Systems  27,959 
Fraser Valley Steel & Wire Ltd  170,467 
Frequency Foundry Inc.  236,132 
Froude Management Inc.  164,527 
Fulcrum Management Solutions Ltd.  43,057 
Gaspard & Sons  91,022 
Genumark Promotional Merchandise Inc  104,634 
Gervais Law Corporation  36,923 
GFL Environmental Inc.  47,102 
Glacier Communications Inc.  32,256 
GoCo Technology LP  312,723 
Gocool International  174,824 
Google LLC  219,184 
Gordon Harris  46,050 
Goreto Educational Consultancy Pvt. Ltd.  28,937 
guard.me International Insurance  2,189,480 
Harris & Company  508,696 
Heritage Food Service Group of Canada Ltd.  71,306 
Heritage Office Furnishings Ltd.  2,029,669 
Herschel Supply  25,066 
Hi Bonjour Inc  26,460 
Holmes & Brakel (BC) Inc  1,992,145 
Homewood Health Inc.  77,441 
Horizon Overseas Studies  27,038 
Hosted Advantage Services Ltd  901,584 
HUB International Canada West ULC  47,250 
IB Consulting & Technologies Ltd  25,725 
IBIS World Inc.  25,399 
ICEF  38,027 
IDP Education Ltd  917,949 
IDRG  45,873 
Imperial Dade Canada Inc.  49,724 
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  $ 
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Introba Canada LLP  73,095 
iYuhak Education Inc  42,508 
Jacob Bros Construction  26,522 
Jacquie de Aguayo Arbitration and Mediation Services  38,307 
Jain Overseas Services Inc.  612,833 
John Wiley & Sons Canada Ltd  53,677 
Johnson Controls Ltd V4020  823,804 
Jordan Tinney Consulting Inc  57,149 
Jordao Duarte Costa Me, Marina  59,155 
KC Overseas Education Private Ltd  602,459 
KDS Construction  98,358 
keep.meSAFE by guard.me  184,771 
Key Innovations Inc.  49,896 
KMBR Architects Planners Inc  151,308 
KMS Tools & Equipment Ltd  32,330 
KnowBe4 Inc  31,801 
Kone Inc  74,978 
KPMG LLP  40,425 
KPU Communities Corp  31,500 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University Foundation  46,450 
Kwantlen Student Association  43,758 
Kwela Leadership and Talent Management Inc.  34,499 
Laerdal Medical Canada Ltd  319,700 
Lamar Companies  214,589 
Landmark Immigration Consultants Pvt. Ltd.  111,365 
Langley School District Foundation  64,315 
Leap GeeBee Edtech Pvt Ltd  581,041 
Leepfrog Technologies Inc  46,358 
Life Technologies Inc.  69,196 
Lime Painting Ltd  179,088 
Linde Canada Inc  272,642 
LinkedIn Ireland Unlimited Co  126,107 
Lordco Parts Ltd  63,935 
Luo, Yajie  97,371 
Luxury Transport Inc.  469,195 
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Manulife Financial  9,461,969 
Maple In'l Education Pvt Ltd  45,459 
Maple Leaf Disposal  128,635 
Marine Roofing (1996) Ltd.  296,746 
Marsh Canada Limited  151,425 
Matrix Video Communications Corp. (MVCC)  647,008 
Maxwell Floors (1980) Ltd  37,763 
McGowan Digital Group Inc  311,361 
McGraw Hill Ryerson Limited  153,893 
Mega Maintenance Ltd.  40,425 
Megamind Consultants Pvt. Ltd.  558,064 
Microserve  905,596 
Microsoft Canada Inc.  106,414 
Millennium Computer Systems Ltd  112,835 
Minister of Finance  285,786 
Mitacs Inc  50,850 
Molina, Regine Mae  55,681 
Montala Limited.  31,024 
Morrison Hershfield Limited  69,435 
MPS/Holtzbrinck Publishers LLC  150,062 
National Air Technologies  36,833 
Noravera Visuals Ltd  48,119 
North Stream Contracting Ltd  669,587 
OH! Study Education Consulting Center  29,813 
Omicron Canada Inc.  85,782 
Open Doors Travel Concepts Ltd  38,880 
Open Road Auto Group Ltd  56,439 
Opti-Tech Scientific Inc.  41,345 
Oracle Canada ULC  318,026 
Osier Consulting Ltd  95,550 
Ovou Inc.  71,680 
Oxford University Press  64,778 
Paladin Risk Solutions Inc  107,965 
Paladin Security Group Ltd.  2,070,218 
Pangu Design & Build Inc.  82,137 
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Pattison Outdoor Advertising  125,444 
Pearson Education Canada  296,979 
PebblePad LLC  106,574 
PeopleFirst Accessibility Solutions  38,168 
Pioneer Immigration & Education Consultancy Pvt Ltd  146,761 
PJS Systems  313,815 
PolarisCan Consulting Inc  29,207 
Polytechnics Canada  103,357 
Post-Secondary Employers' Association  47,931 
Preston Chevrolet Oldsmobile Ltd  44,950 
Prins Greenhouses Ltd  100,369 
PrismRBS, LLC  110,878 
PrivacyWorks Consulting Inc  35,831 
Process Pathways Inc  29,569 
Progressive Intercultural Community Services Soc.  30,408 
Promo Plus Advertising Inc.  124,350 
Promote Me  51,228 
ProQuest Canada  178,124 
Psychometrics Canada Ltd  31,557 
Public Architecture + Design Inc  151,962 
PV CP City Paris Buttes Chaumont  35,117 
Pyramid-e Services Pvt. Ltd.  526,056 
R.F. Binnie & Associates ltd.  42,122 
Raeyco Lab Equipment Systems Management Ltd.  32,265 
RAM Engineering Ltd  69,746 
Raven Roofing Ltd  69,631 
Ravens Agri-Services & Products Inc  26,293 
READ Surrey/White Rock Society  30,408 
Reality Based Leadership, LLC  73,684 
Receiver General of Canada  8,579,394 
Reclaim Hosting  26,376 
Reichert and Associates Inc  42,614 
Resolver Inc.  28,346 
RFS Canada  71,959 
Richmond Women's Resource Centre  31,584 
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Ricoh Canada Inc.  353,358 
RJS Construction Ltd  4,084,617 
RMS Software Inc  25,381 
RNF Industries Corporation  25,961 
Robert Half Canada  53,647 
Rogers Media, Inc.  75,622 
Rogers Wireless  51,944 
Ron Sons Torch Repairs & Sales Ltd  63,270 
Roper Greyell LLP  167,494 
Rowe Event & Show Services Ltd  279,837 
Saga Studies Pvt. Ltd.  33,340 
Santa Monica Study Abroad Pvt. Ltd.  139,961 
SDL Atlas  52,143 
Sehdev Travel & Educational Services  316,121 
Shell Energy North America (Canada) Inc.  344,287 
Sheraton Vancouver Guildford Hotel  41,656 
ShowTech AVL Systems Inc  48,160 
SidMac Engineering & Manufacturing Inc.  37,136 
Siemens Canada Limited  79,889 
Simon Fraser University  427,160 
SirsiDynix  66,807 
Skyline Immigration Consultants  26,961 
Slava Micic  31,551 
Sollum Technologies Inc  42,762 
Sonya International Education Centre  68,767 
Sophiya Consultants  31,769 
Southern Butler Price LLP  213,098 
Spectrum Painting and Restorations Ltd.  99,356 
Spicers Canada ULC  51,873 
Spit Polished Repair & Maintenance Ltd  117,408 
StackAdapt Inc  25,899 
Stantec Architecture  85,377 
Stantec Consulting Ltd  65,779 
Staples Professional Inc.  447,888 
Stevens Co Ltd  38,697 
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Strata Information Group Inc  28,835 
Studiothink (514085 BC Ltd)  50,187 
STUDY 2020 Consulting Inc  69,009 
Sunrise Immigration Consultants Pvt. Ltd.  136,661 
Superior Signs and Graphics  118,173 
Sure Shot Immigration Consultants Ltd  94,728 
Surrey Board of Trade  29,895 
Surrey Centre Hotel Ltd Partnership as Civic Hotel  132,131 
Taylor & Francis  38,176 
Terralink Horticulture  26,659 
TForce Logistics Canada Inc.  115,426 
The Home Depot  81,697 
TIKTOK ADS  62,840 
TopHat Monocle Corp  36,844 
Tormax Canada Inc  25,195 
Toronto Metropolitan University  32,117 
TransACT Communications, LLC dba The rSmart Group  55,558 
Triton Canada Inc.  50,838 
Truffles Fine Foods Catering & Kitchens  50,174 
TypeWell  36,890 
Uline Canada Corporation  80,100 
UniFirst Canada Ltd  42,124 
Universal Consultancy Services  47,890 
Universities Canada  96,580 
University of British Columbia  67,264 
University of the Fraser Valley  80,702 
V.V.S.S. Consulting Ltd  32,612 
Vertiv Canada ULC  63,314 
Vistek  28,203 
Viv's International Education Centre Pty Ltd  31,895 
VWR International, Ltd  55,675 
Wallwisher, Inc  40,000 
Watt Consulting Group Ltd  40,323 
Wavefront Centre for Communication Accessibility  211,288 
WeldCor Supplies BC  91,846 
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WestGrow Biological Solutions Inc.  27,989 
Westland Insurance Group Ltd  46,381 
Westport Manufacturing Company Limited  83,581 
White Star Property Services Ltd  422,240 
Will Creative Inc.  83,816 
Wilson M. Beck Insurance Services (FV) Inc  25,417 
WonderMaple Inc  52,427 
WoodTech Millwork & Display Ltd  59,487 
Worksafe BC  387,196 
Xportia Global Services Ltd  40,201 
Zoom Video Communications Inc  61,788 

 

  $ 
   
Total paid to suppliers who received aggregate payments of more than $25,000  106,069,960 
   
Total paid to suppliers who received aggregate payments of $25,000 or less  8,613,748 
   
Grants and Contributions Paid   
Kwantlen Polytechnic University Foundation  2,029,000 
   
Grand Total Paid to Suppliers and as Grants and Contributions*  116,712,708 

 

* The total expenses reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating 
Surplus differs from the totals on the Schedule of Employee Renumeration and Expenses and the Schedule 
of Payments to Suppliers of Goods and Services. The reconciliation of these differences can be found in 
the Reconciliation to Financial Statements found on page 76 of this report. 
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Statement of Severance Agreements 

 

There were five (5) severance agreements under which payments commenced between Kwantlen 
Polytechnic University and its non-unionized employees during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. 

 

These agreements represent 21 months of compensation*. 

 

*Compensation means the agreements were determined based on salary and benefits. 
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Schedule of Debts 

 

 Expiry  
date 

Interest 
rate 

Balance 
March 31, 

2023 

Balance 
March 31, 

2024 

Annual 
payment 

      
   $ $ $ 
      
Obligations under capital lease August 31, 2026 7.36% - 2,187,382 984,730 
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Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements 

The following is a list of financial guarantee and indemnity agreements in force as at March 31, 2024: 

1. Ad Astra Information Systems, L.L.C
2. Adobe Inc.
3. Amazon Web Services Canada, Inc.
4. American Type Culture Collection
5. Anthology Inc.
6. Arete Safety and Protection Inc.
7. BC Indigenous Housing Society
8. British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority
9. Canada Broadcasting Corporation
10. Canadian Collegiate Athletic Association
11. China Maple Leaf Educational Systems Ltd (Maple Leaf Education North America MLENA)
12. Cineplex
13. City of Richmond
14. Colleges and Institutes Canada
15. Colleges and Institutes Canada (CICan)
16. Compass Group Canada Ltd.
17. Creative Pacific Education Partners Inc. is a British Columbia company, a wholly owned subsidiary

of Enlightened Education holdings Inc.
18. Dana Hospitatlity
19. Ecoation Innovative Solutions
20. ESHA Research Inc.
21. eStruxture Data Centers Inc.
22. Famsea Corporation
23. First Nations Health Authority
24. Flywire Canada Inc.
25. Google Ireland Limited
26. Grand Challenges Canada and Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada represented by the

Minister for International Development of Global Affairs Canada acting through The Department
of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development of Global Affairs Canada (hereinafter "DFATD")

27. Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District (GVS&DD)
28. Green River College
29. Health Care Protection Program (HCPP) covered entities
30. His Majesty the King in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Advanced Education and

Skills Training
31. His Majesty the King in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Post-Secondary Education

and Future Skills
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32. His Majesty the King in right of the Province of British Columbia, represented by the Minister of
Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills

33. His Majesty the King in the Right of Canada as represented by Minister of Foreign Affairs,
Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development

34. His Majesty the King in the Right of Canada as represented by the Minister of Fisheries and Oceans
Canada

35. Hosted Advantage Services Ltd.
36. International Volunteer HQ Limited
37. L'Alliance Boviteq
38. Ledcor industries Inc.
39. Leepfrog Technologies Inc.
40. LPS Holdco LLC/Marq
41. Lumivero LLC
42. Meloche Monnex Inc.
43. Millennium
44. Mitac
45. Mitacs Inc.
46. Moneris
47. Moneris Solutions Corporation
48. Naylor (Canada) Inc.
49. Schneider Electric Canada Inc.
50. School of Business Internship program MBSIP
51. Sik-E-Dakh
52. Sollum Technologies Inc
53. Speaker's Spotlight
54. Titanium
55. Various Architects
56. Various Consultants
57. Weston
58. Wild Coast Biologics Ltd.
59. Wilfred Laurier University



Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
Statement of Financial Information 
Year ended March 31, 2024 

Prepared pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 6(3) and 7 

P a g e  | 76 

Reconciliation to Financial Statements 

$ 
Statement of Financial Information Payments 
Schedule of Board Members’ Remuneration and Expenses 76 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 154,594,901 
Schedule of Payments to Supplier of Goods and Services 116,712,708 
Total Statement of Financial Information Payments 271,307,685 

Reconciling Items 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (28,750,000) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 20,789,000 
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,999,000 
Student awards and bursaries 5,596,000 
Change in prepaid expenses (1,836,000) 
Change in obligations under capital lease 2,187,000 
Tax rebates (2,353,000) 
Other adjustments* (648,685) 
Total Expense per Consolidated Statement of Operations and 
Accumulated Operating Surplus 

279,291,000 

* Other adjustments includes smaller reconciling items including changes in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position accounts between fiscal year-ends (i.e. inventories for resale), non-cash expenses
(i.e. bad debt expense), severance payments and expense recoveries.



BOARD OF GOVERNORS - REGULAR MEETING 
Agenda Number: 9.4 

Meeting Date: September 25, 2024 
Presenter(s): Chervahun Emilien 
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AGENDA TITLE: RBC BANKING RESOLUTION 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION 

THAT the Board of Governors approve the RBC Banking Resolution, which grants signing authority 
to certain individuals to act on behalf of Kwantlen Polytechnic University, as recommended by 
the Board Finance Committee. 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

On September 17, 2024, the Board Finance committee received, reviewed and recommended that the 
Board of Governors approve the RBC Banking Resolution. 

Context and Background 

The RBC Bank Resolution honors the authority of certain individuals to act on behalf of the university 
as approved by the Board of Governors. 

The current RBC Banking Resolution requires updates to reflect personnel changes in the Finance 
department and the University, and to align with the university’s current signing authority policy (GV4) 
which states:  

1. Authority to establish this policy is derived from the Section 27 of the University Act (British
Columbia) which gives the Board of Governors the following powers with respect to signing
authority: 
a. “(2) (c) to appoint a secretary and committees it considers necessary to carry out the

board’s functions, …, and to confer on the committees power and authority to act for the
board”

b. “(2) (s) to enter into agreements on behalf of the university”.

c. Authorities are clearly assigned, properly approved and that delegation instruments are
regularly updated;
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d. The responsibilities and duties of those with signing authority are clearly communicated
and understood;

2. Transactions and commitments are only entered into with appropriate authority.

3. The university’s activities are conducted in a manner that provides sound financial
accountability and control of public funds entrusted to the university in accordance with
appropriate policies, laws and regulations.

Key Messages 

1. A new Director, Financial Services (Operations & Systems) joined the Finance Department on
September 9, 2024 and is added as an approved signing authority on behalf of the university. As
per Schedule A of the GV4 Signing Policy, banking documents require one signature of the
President & Vice Chancellor or Chief Financial Officer, and one signature of the Director, Financial
Operations (now Director, Financial Services).

2. The Pro Tem title in the previous version of both attachments have been updated to Provost & VP,
Academic.

3. The Interim Director, Financial Operations title in the previous version of the Signature Card Form
has been updated to reflect the new title of Director, Financial Services (Reporting and Budgeting).

4. An update to the RBC banking resolution confirming these changes along with an updated signature 
card is being presented.

Resource Requirements 

N/A 

Implications/Risks 

N/A 

Consultations 

N/A 

Attachments 

1. RBC Banking Resolution

2. RBC Master Client Agreement for Business Clients Signature Card Form

Submitted by 

Chervahun Emilien, Chief Financial Officer 

Date submitted 

September 17, 2024 
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Royal Bank of Canada

Resolution Regarding Banking
For use by Cities, Towns, Villages, Muncipalities, Hospitals, Regional Health 
Authorities, School Districts, Divisions and Regional Divisions, 
Self-Governed First Nations, and Treaty Nations

Legal Name

KWANTLEN POLYTECHNIC          UNIVERSITY (the "Customer")

SRF No.

869856401

Address

12666 72 AVENUE SURREY BC V3W 2M8

RESOLVED: 

1. THAT ROYAL BANK OF CANADA ("Royal Bank") is appointed banker for the Customer.

2. THAT ANY ONE OF THE PRESIDENT & VICE CHANCELLOR, PROVOST & VICE PRESIDENT ACADEMIC, OR
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER ALONG WITH ONE ADDITIONAL SIGNATORY are authorized on behalf of the
Customer from time to time:

(Where possible, use titles only. If two or more must act together, use words showing joint action required, e.g. "the Mayor and the Treasurer jointly" or "the Mayor, the Treasurer and the 
Secretary or any two of them". If one of two or more may act alone, add "or any one of them.")

(a) to withdraw or order transfers of funds from the Customer's accounts by any means including the making,
drawing, accepting, endorsing or signing of cheques, promissory notes, bills of exchange, other orders for
the payment of money or other instruments or the giving of other instructions;

(b) to sign any agreements or other documents or instruments with or in favour of Royal Bank, including
agreements and contracts relating to products or services provided by Royal Bank to the Customer; and

(c) to do, or to authorize any person or persons to do, any one or more of the following:

(i) to receive from Royal Bank any cash or any securities, instruments or other property of the Customer
held by Royal Bank, whether for safekeeping or as security, or to give instructions to Royal Bank for the
delivery or other transfer of any such cash, securities, instruments or other property to any person named
in those instructions;

(ii) to deposit with or negotiate or transfer to Royal Bank, for the credit of the Customer, cash or any
security, instrument or other property, and for those purposes to endorse (by rubber stamp or otherwise)
the name of the Customer, or any other name under which the Customer carries on business, on any
security or instrument;

(iii) to instruct Royal Bank, by any means, to debit the accounts of third parties for deposit to the credit of
the Customer; and

(iv) to receive statements, instruments and other items (including paid cheques) and documents relating to
the Customer’s accounts with or any service of Royal Bank, and to settle and certify the Customer’s
accounts with Royal Bank.

3. That all instruments, instructions, agreements (including contracts relating to products or services provided by
Royal Bank) and documents made, drawn, accepted, endorsed or signed (under the corporate seal or otherwise)
as provided in this Resolution and delivered to Royal Bank by any person, shall be valid and binding on the
Customer, and Royal Bank is hereby authorized to act on them and give effect to them.
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4. That Royal Bank be furnished with:

(a) a copy of this Resolution; and

(b) a list of the names of the persons authorized by this Resolution to act on behalf of the Customer, and with 
written notice of any changes which may take place in such list from time to time, and with specimens of 
the signatures of all such persons;

each certified by the (1) CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER and (2) PRESIDENT & VICE CHANCELLOR of the Customer; and

(1) Insert "Mayor", "Chairman", etc. as the case may be.
(2) Insert "Clerk", "Secretary", "Treasurer", etc. as the case may be.

(c) in writing, any authorization made under paragraph 2(c) of this Resolution.

5. That any document furnished to Royal Bank as provided for in paragraph 4 of this Resolution shall be binding 
upon the Customer until a new document repealing or replacing the previous one has been received and duly 
acknowledged in writing by the branch or agency of Royal Bank where the Customer has its account.
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YYYY MM DD

YYYY MM DD

CERTIFICATE

We hereby certify that the above is a true copy of a resolution passed at a meeting of the BOARD of the Customer duly 
convened and regularly held in accordance with the law governing the Customer on                                .

Authorized Person's Signature

                     

Name: CHERVAHUN EMILIEN
Title: CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Date:

Authorized Person's Signature

                     

Name: ALAN DAVIS
Title: PRESIDENT & VICE CHANCELLOR
Date:

(SEAL)

®/TM Trademark(s) of Royal Bank of Canada.
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SENATE 
Meeting Date: June 24, 2024 

Presenter: Catherine Schwichtenberg 
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Vice Chair’s Report to Board of Governors 

Notes from the Senate Meeting of June 24, 2024, to the Board of Governors 

This last meeting of the Academic Year was a full one, followed by Senate Engage. 

Dr. Davis and Dr. Purvey provided substantive reports, and then Dr. Purvey introduced the proposal 
for the New Academic Plan 2027 (NAP2027) via Dr. Kinney. The Senate heard a broad overview of the 
Plan, its relationship to Vision 2026, the broad consultations held across KPU students, staff, and 
faculty, and the plan for Senate committee reviews in the fall. 

Senate Approvals: The Senate heard that the following three curriculum motions were not discussed 
at SSCC either because the committee did not meet the quorum or because the issue was emergent. 
Program changes to the Bachelor of Applied Science in Sustainable Agriculture, Citation in Metal 
Fabrication, and an admission change to the Diploma of Technology in Environmental Protection 
were subsequently approved. 
Senate Executive Committee Update. The Senate was advised that bylaw 2.5.1 will come into effect 
for the summer break when the Senate is not in session. Senators were also made aware that they are 
welcome to attend any Senate Executive Committee meeting called during this time. 

SGNC chair Sharmen Lee provided a full report, and then the Senate approved the nominations of 14 
Student Senators, Student representatives, Deans, delegates, and Faculty representatives to Senate 
Committees.  The Faculty of Science bylaws were approved to reflect the name change from the 
Faculty of Science and Horticulture to the Faculty of Science.  This change to the bylaws is one of 
many changes being made to reflect the name change approved by the Senate in 2023.  The Senate 
approved the creation of the Subcommittee on Pathway Courses, which included the proposed 
mandate and membership, effective September 1, 2024.  This item was discussed at SSCTL and SSCC 
but was not approved by SSCC as the quorum was unmet.  The Senate was assured the pathway 
committee had been thoroughly discussed in committee meetings this past spring. 

SSCAPP: Chervahun Emilien, the Chief Financial Officer, provided a Financial Update as of March 2024. 
Senate then received an overview and endorsed the FY 2025-26 University Draft Budget Principles and 
Priorities. The 2025/2026 budget update was also presented and discussed.   

SSCT: Policy and Procedure ST1 Student Awards, effective June 24, 2024, was approved.  This policy 
will ensure fair and equitable application of student awards principles and practices across the 
University. 
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SSCPR: The Senate received an update, and Dr. Davis thanked the committee, OPA, and Chair Donna 
Danielson for their work on this important committee. 

Registrar: Nadia Henwood provided a Notice of Fall Byelection for three Senate sets (FESD, WSOD, and 
MSOB).  A list of graduates was approved for June 2024, an error was corrected from the May list of 
graduates, and a late addition was made to the June 12 list of graduates. 

The Senate Vice Chair conducted a year-in-review questionnaire using Mentimeter. Senators were 
asked a series of questions about their Senate work. Their anonymous responses will be shared with 
SGNC to improve processes and Senate effectiveness. 

Lastly, the chair thanked outgoing Senators Ishant Goyal, Guntas Kochar, Navleen Kaur, Syeda Hafsa 
Fiona Whittington-Walsh, Andre Iwanchuk, Katherine Carpenter, Michael Cober, and Shelley 
Strimbold for their work, commitment, and service to the university. 

Respectfully submitted 

Catherine Schwichtenberg 
Vice Chair, Senate 
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TO:  KPU Board Members 

FROM: The Board Office 

DATE: September 2024 

SUBJECT: Senate Meeting Dates 2024-25 

SENATE MEETING DATES 

Board members are encouraged to attend at least one meeting during the governance year as a non-voting 
member. Meeting dates are as below for your review and consideration: 

• Monday, October 21, 2024
• Monday, November 18, 2024
• Monday, December 16, 2024
• Monday, January 27, 2025
• Monday, March 3, 2025
• Monday, March 31, 2025
• Monday, April 28, 2025 – in person (Surrey Cedar Room)
• Monday, May 26, 2025
• Monday, June 23, 2025

Please let the Board Office know if you are able to attend a meeting. Once the Board Office receives 
confirmed dates, the office will coordinate with ‘Volunteer Board member’ and the Senate Office to ensure 
meeting materials are distributed. 

MEMORANDUM 
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